Form 1-A Issuer Information

FORM 1-A

Name

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 1-A REGULATION A OFFERING STATEMENT UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933

OMB APPROVAL

OMB Number: 3235-0286

Estimated average burden hours per response: 608.0

1-A: Filer Information	
Issuer CIK	0001627282
Issuer CCC	XXXXXXXX
DOS File Number	
Offering File Number	024-12540
Is this a LIVE or TEST Filing?	● LIVE □ TEST
Would you like a Return Copy?	
Notify via Filing Website only?	
Since Last Filing?	
Submission Contact Information	
Name	
Phone	
E-Mail Address	
1-A: Item 1. Issuer Inform	ation
Issuer Infomation	
Exact name of issuer as specified in the issuer's charter	CaliberCos Inc.
Jurisdiction of Incorporation / Organization	DELAWARE
Year of Incorporation	2014
CIK	0001627282
Primary Standard Industrial Classification Code	INVESTMENT ADVICE
I.R.S. Employer Identification Number	47-2426901
Total number of full-time employees	80
Total number of part-time employees	0
Contact Infomation	
Address of Principal Executive Offices	
Address 1	8901 E. Mountain View Rd. Ste. 150
Address 2	
City	Scottsdale
State/Country	ARIZONA
Mailing Zip/ Postal Code	85258
Phone	480-295-7600

Provide the following information for the person the Securities and Exchange Commission's staff should call in connection with any prequalification review of the offering statement.

Thomas Poletti

Address 1	
Address 2	
City	
State/Country	
Mailing Zip/ Postal Code	
Phone	
Provide up to two e-mail addresses to wh offering statement. After qualification of t	ich the Securities and Exchange Commission's staff may send any comment letters relating to the he offering statement, such e-mail addresses are not required to remain active.
Financial Statements	
The following table does not include all of nortgages, and similar obligations. To de 03(b)(1) of Regulation S-X. For companies	recent period contained in this offering statement to provide the following information about the issuer. If the line items from the financial statements. Long Term Debt would include notes payable, bonds, termine "Total Revenues" for all companies selecting "Other" for their industry group, refer to Article 5-selecting "Insurance", refer to Article 7-04 of Regulation S-X for calculation of "Total Revenues" and sts and Expenses Applicable to Revenues".
Industry Group (select one)	☐ Banking ☐ Insurance ⑥ Other
Balance Sheet Information	
Cash and Cash Equivalents	\$ 3805000.00
Investment Securities	\$ 3338000.00
Total Investments	\$
Accounts and Notes Receivable	\$ 36598000.00
Loans	\$
Property, Plant and Equipment (PP&E):	\$ 207128000.00
Property and Equipment	\$
Total Assets	\$ 299432000.00
Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities	\$ 20622000.00
Policy Liabilities and Accruals	\$
Deposits	\$
Long Term Debt	\$ 117736000.00
Total Liabilities	\$ 233414000.00
Total Stockholders' Equity	\$ 66018000.00
Total Liabilities and Equity	\$ 299432000.00
Statement of Comprehensive Income Info	rmation
Total Revenues	\$ 90937000.00
Total Interest Income	\$
Costs and Expenses Applicable to Revenues	\$ 108750000.00
Total Interest Expenses	\$

Depreciation and Amortization	
	\$ 550000.00
Net Income	\$ -12703000.00
Earnings Per Share - Basic	\$ -0.63
Earnings Per Share - Diluted	\$-0.63
Name of Auditor (if any)	Deloitte
Outstanding Securities	
Common Equity	
Name of Class (if any) Common Equity	Class A Common Stock
Common Equity Units Outstanding	15056356
Common Equity CUSIP (if any):	13000T109
Common Equity Units Name of Trading Center or Quotation Medium (if any)	The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC
Common Equity	
Name of Class (if any) Common Equity	Class B Common Stock
	Class B Collillion Stock
Common Equity Units Outstanding	7416414
Common Equity CUSIP (if any):	000000N/A
Common Equity Units Name of Trading Center or Quotation Medium (if any)	000000N/A
Common Equity	
Name of Class (if any) Common Equity	Common Warrants
Common Equity Units Outstanding	23200
Common Equity CUSIP (if any):	000000N/A
Common Equity Units Name of Trading Center or Quotation Medium (if any)	000000N/A
Common Equity	
Name of Class (if any) Common Equity	RSUs
Common Equity Units Outstanding	5094382
Common Equity CUSIP (if any):	000000N/A
Common Equity Units Name of Trading Center or Quotation Medium (if any)	000000N/A
Preferred Equity	
Preferred Equity Name of Class (if any)	Series A Preferred Stock
Preferred Equity Units Outstanding	100000
Preferred Equity CUSIP (if any)	00000N/A
Preferred Equity Name of Trading Center or Quotation Medium (if any)	000000N/A

or Quotation Medium (if any) 1-A: Item 2. Issuer Eliqibi	
Debt Securities Name of Trading Center	000000N/A
Debt Securities CUSIP (if any):	000000N/A
Debt Securities Units Outstanding	168295
Debt Securities Name of Class (if any)	Convertible Notes

Issuer Eligibility

Check this box to certify that all of the following statements are true for the issuer(s)

- Organized under the laws of the United States or Canada, or any State, Province, Territory or possession thereof, or the District of Columbia.
- Principal place of business is in the United States or Canada. Not subject to section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
- Not a development stage company that either (a) has no specific business plan or purpose, or (b) has indicated that its business plan is to merge with an unidentified company or companies.
- Not an investment company registered or required to be registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940. Not issuing fractional undivided interests in oil or gas rights, or a similar interest in other mineral rights. Not issuing asset-backed securities as defined in Item 1101 (c) of Regulation AB.

- Not, and has not been, subject to any order of the Commission entered pursuant to Section 12(j) of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. 78I(j)) within five years before the filing of this offering statement.
- Has filled with the Commission all the reports it was required to file, if any, pursuant to Rule 257 during the two years immediately before the filing of the offering statement (or for such shorter period that the issuer was required to file such reports).

1-A: Item 3. Application of Rule 262

Application Rule 262

Check this box to certify that, as of the time of this filing, each person described in Rule 262 of Regulation A is either not disqualified under that rule or is disqualified but has received a waiver of such disqualification.

Check this box if "bad actor" disclosure under Rule 262(d) is provided in Part II of the offering statement.

1-A: Item 4. Summary Information Regarding the Offering and Other Current or Proposed

Offerings	
Summary Infomation	
Check the appropriate box to indicate whether you are conducting a Tier 1 or Tier 2 offering	○ Tier1 ◎ Tier2
Check the appropriate box to indicate whether the financial statements have been audited	□ Unaudited
Types of Securities Offered in this Offering	Statement (select all that apply)
▼Equity (common or preferred stock)	
Does the issuer intend to offer the securities on a delayed or continuous basis pursuant to Rule 251(d)(3)?	
Does the issuer intend this offering to last more than one year?	© Yes [®] No
Does the issuer intend to price this offering after qualification pursuant to Rule 253(b)?	● Yes ○ No
Will the issuer be conducting a best efforts offering?	
Has the issuer used solicitation of interest communications in connection with the proposed offering?	
Does the proposed offering involve the resale of securities by affiliates of the issuer?	● Yes ● No
Number of securities offered	800000
Number of securities of that class outstanding	0

The information called for by this item below may be omitted if undetermined at the time of filing or submission, except that if a price range has been included in the offering statement, the midpoint of that range must be used to respond. Please refer to Rule 251(a) for the definition of "aggregate offering price" or "aggregate sales" as used in this item. Please leave the field blank if undetermined at this time and include a zero if a particular item is not applicable to the offering.

The portion of the aggregate offering price attributable to securities being offered on behalf of the issuer	\$ 20000000.00		
The portion of the aggregate offering price attributable to securities being offered on behalf of selling securityholders	\$ 0.00		
The portion of the aggregate offering price attributable to all the securities of the issuer sold pursuant to a qualified offering statement within the 12 months before the qualification of this offering statement	\$ 0.00		
The estimated portion of aggregate sales attributable to securities that may be sold pursuant to any other qualified offering statement concurrently with securities being sold under this offering statement	\$ 0.00		
Total (the sum of the aggregate offering price and aggregate sales in the four preceding paragraphs)	\$ 20000000.00		
Anticipated fees in connection with this o	ffering and names of service providers		
Underwriters - Name of Service Provider		Underwriters - Fees	\$
Sales Commissions - Name of Service Provider	ARKap Markets, LLC.	Sales Commissions - Fee	\$ 1600000.00
Finders' Fees - Name of Service Provider		Finders' Fees - Fees	\$
Accounting or Audit - Name of Service Provider	Deloitte & Touche, LLP	Accounting or Audit - Fees	\$ 50000.00
Legal - Name of Service Provider	Manatt, Phelps & Phillips, LLP	Legal - Fees	\$ 150000.00
Promoters - Name of Service Provider		Promoters - Fees	\$
Blue Sky Compliance - Name of Service Provider		Blue Sky Compliance - Fees	\$
CRD Number of any broker or dealer listed:			

1-A: Item 5. Jurisdictions in Which Securities are to be Offered

\$ 17865000.00

Jurisdictions in Which Securities are to be Offered

Estimated net proceeds to the issuer

Clarification of responses (if necessary)

Price per security

Using the list below, select the jurisdictions in which the issuer intends to offer the securities

\$ 25.0000

Selected States and Jurisdictions	ALABAMA
	ALASKA
	ARIZONA
	ARKANSAS
	CALIFORNIA
	COLORADO
	CONNECTICUT
	DELAWARE
	FLORIDA
	GEORGIA
	HAWAII
	IDAHO
	ILLINOIS
	INDIANA
	IOWA
	KANSAS
	KENTUCKY
	LOUISIANA
	MAINE
	MARYLAND
	MASSACHUSETTS
	MICHIGAN
	MINNESOTA
	MISSISSIPPI
	MISSOURI
	MONTANA
	NEBRASKA
	NEVADA
	NEW HAMPSHIRE
	NEW JERSEY
	NEW MEXICO
	NEW YORK
	NORTH CAROLINA
	NORTH DAKOTA
	OHIO
	OKLAHOMA
	OREGON
	PENNSYLVANIA
	RHODE ISLAND
	SOUTH CAROLINA
	SOUTH DAKOTA
	TENNESSEE
	TEXAS
	UTAH
	VERMONT
	VIRGINIA
	WASHINGTON
	WEST VIRGINIA
	WISCONSIN
	WYOMING
	DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA
	PUERTO RICO
	ALBERTA, CANADA
	BRITISH COLUMBIA, CANADA
	MANITOBA, CANADA
	NEW BRUNSWICK, CANADA
	NEWFOUNDLAND, CANADA
	NOVA SCOTIA, CANADA
	ONTARIO, CANADA
	PRINCE EDWARD ISLAND, CANAD
	QUEBEC, CANADA
	SASKATCHEWAN, CANADA

Using the list below, select the jurisdictions in which the securities are to be offered by underwriters, dealers or sales persons or check the appropriate box

YUKON, CANADA CANADA (FEDERAL LEVEL)

1-A: Item 6. Unregistered Securities Issued or Sold Within One Year

Unregistered Securities Issued or Sold Within One Year

None 🔲

Unregistered Securities Issued	
As to any unregistered securities issued by	the issuer of any of its predecessors or affiliated issuers within one year before the filing of this Form 1-A, state:
(a)Name of such issuer	CaliberCos Inc.
(b)(1) Title of securities issued	Series A Preferred
(2) Total Amount of such securities issued	100000
(3) Amount of such securities sold by or for the account of any person who at the time was a director, officer, promoter or principal securityholder of the issuer of such securities, or was an underwriter of any securities of such issuer.	0
(c)(1) Aggregate consideration for which the securities were issued and basis for computing the amount thereof.	2,000,000
(2) Aggregate consideration for which the securities listed in (b)(3) of this item (if any) were issued and the basis for computing the amount thereof (if different	
from the basis described in (c)(1)).	
Unregistered Securities Issued	
As to any unregistered securities issued by	the issuer of any of its predecessors or affiliated issuers within one year before the filing of this Form 1-A, state:
(a)Name of such issuer	CaliberCos Inc.
(L)(4) Till	
(b)(1) Title of securities issued	Common Stock Warrants
(2) Total Amount of such socurities issued	
(2) Total Amount of such securities issued	23200
(3) Amount of such securities sold by or for the account of any person who at the time was a director, officer, promoter or principal securityholder of the issuer of such securities, or was an underwriter of any securities of such issuer.	0
(c)(1) Aggregate consideration for which the securities were issued and basis for	0
computing the amount thereof.	
(2) Aggregate consideration for which the securities listed in (b)(3) of this item (if any) were issued and the basis for computing the amount thereof (if different from the basis described in (c)(1)).	
Unregistered Securities Act	
(d) Indicate the section of the Securities Act or Commission rule or regulation relied upon for exemption from the	Rule 506(c)
registration requirements of such Act and state briefly the facts relied upon for such exemption	

Part II- Offering Circular

As submitted to the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 27, 2025

AN OFFERING STATEMENT PURSUANT TO REGULATION A RELATING TO THESE SECURITIES HAS BEEN FILED WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION. INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS PRELIMINARY OFFERING CIRCULAR IS SUBJECT TO COMPLETION OR AMENDMENT. THESE SECURITIES MAY NOT BE SOLD NOR MAY OFFERS TO BUY BE ACCEPTED BEFORE THE OFFERING STATEMENT FILED WITH THE COMMISSION IS QUALIFIED. THIS PRELIMINARY OFFERING CIRCULAR SHALL NOT CONSTITUTE AN OFFER TO SELL OR THE SOLICITATION OF AN OFFER TO BUY NOR MAY THERE BE ANY SALES OF THESE SECURITIES IN ANY STATE IN WHICH SUCH OFFER, SOLICITATION OR SALE WOULD BE UNLAWFUL BEFORE REGISTRATION OR QUALIFICATION UNDER THE LAWS OF ANY SUCH STATE. WE MAY ELECT TO SATISFY OUR OBLIGATION TO DELIVER A FINAL OFFERING CIRCULAR BY SENDING YOU A NOTICE WITHIN TWO BUSINESS DAYS AFTER THE COMPLETION OF OUR SALE TO YOU THAT CONTAINS THE URL WHERE THE OFFERING CIRCULAR WAS FILED MAY BE OBTAINED.

Preliminary Offering Circular, Dated February 27, 2025

CaliberCos Inc.
8901 E. Mountain View Rd. Ste. 150
Scottsdale, AZ 85258
(480) 295-7600;
www.calibercos.com

UP TO 800,000 SHARES OF SERIES AA CUMULATIVE REDEEMABLE PREFERRED STOCK

CaliberCos Inc. (which we refer to as "we," "us," "our", "Caliber" or "our company") is offering up to 800,000 shares of Series AA Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock, which we refer to as the Series AA Preferred Stock, at an offering price of \$25.00 per share, for a maximum offering amount of \$20,000,000.

The Series AA Preferred Stock being offered will rank, as to dividend rights and rights upon our liquidation, dissolution, or winding up, senior to our Common Stock and pari passu with our Series A Preferred Stock. Each share of Series AA Preferred Stock will have an initial stated value equal to \$25.00, subject to appropriate adjustment for certain events. Holders of our Series AA Preferred Stock will be entitled to receive cumulative monthly cash dividends at a per annum rate of 9.5% of the stated value (or \$0.198 per share each month based on the initial stated value). Upon a liquidation, dissolution or winding up of our company, holders of shares of our Series AA Preferred Stock will be entitled to receive, before any payment or distribution is made to the holders of our Common Stock, a liquidation preference equal to the stated value per share, plus accrued but unpaid dividends thereon. Shares of Series AA Preferred Stock will be redeemable by us or by the holders under certain circumstances described elsewhere in this offering circular. The Series AA Preferred Stock will have no voting rights (except for certain matters). At the third anniversary of the issuance date of a share of Series AA Preferred Stock will have no voting rights (except for certain matters) withheld, to convert all or any portion of such then outstanding shares of Series AA Preferred Stock held by it into that number of shares of our Class A Common Stock determined by dividing the then Stated Value of such shares by the closing price of our Class A Common Stock as quoted on the Nasdaq Capital Market (the "NCM") on the day prior to such date but in no event less than the closing price of our Class A Common Stock as quoted on the NCM on the day prior to the initial Closing Date. See "Description of Securities" beginning on page 93 for additional details.

There is no existing public trading market for the Series AA Preferred Stock, and we do not anticipate that a secondary market for the stock will develop. We do not intend to apply for listing of the Series AA Preferred Stock on any securities exchange or for quotation in any automated dealer quotation system or other over-the-counter market. Our Common Stock is quoted on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol "CWD."

This offering will begin as soon as practicable after this offering circular has been qualified by the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC" or the "Commission").

Investing in our securities is highly speculative and involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the information set forth in the Risk Factors" section beginning on page 14 before deciding to invest in our securities.

	Per	r Share	Maximum Offering
Public offering price	\$	\$	
Selling commissions and reallowance fee ⁽¹⁾⁽³⁾			
Managing dealer fee and wholesaling fee (2)(3)	\$	\$	
Proceeds to us, before expenses	\$	\$	

- (1) This includes (a) selling commissions of up to 5.00% of gross offering proceeds and (b) a reallowance fee of up to 1.00% of gross offering proceeds. The selling commissions and reallowance fee are payable to the participating broker dealers and may be waived in such participating broker dealer's sole discretion.
- (2) This includes (a) a wholesaling fee of 1.00% of gross offering proceeds and (b) a managing dealer fee of 1.00% of gross offering proceeds. The wholesaling fee is payable to the managing dealer and the managing dealer may reallow all or a portion of such wholesaling fee to a participating broker dealer in its sole discretion.
- (3) The combined selling commissions and managing dealer fees for this offering will not exceed 8.00% of the aggregate gross proceeds of this offering.

The managing dealer of this offering is ARKap Markets, LLC. The managing dealer is not required to sell any specific number or dollar amount of shares but will use its "reasonable best efforts" to sell the shares offered. The minimum permitted purchase is generally \$5,000 but purchases of less than \$5,000 may be made at the discretion of the managing dealer.

This offering is being conducted pursuant to Regulation A of Section 3(6) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act, for Tier 2 offerings. This offering will terminate at the earlier of: (1) the date at which the maximum amount of offered Series AA Preferred Stock has been sold, (2) the date which is one year after the offering statement of which this offering circular forms a part is originally qualified by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC, subject to an extension of up to an additional one year at the discretion of our company and the managing dealer, or (3) the date on which this offering is earlier terminated by us in our sole discretion.

Generally, no sale may be made to you in this offering if the aggregate purchase price you pay is more than 10% of the greater of your annual income or your net worth. Different rules apply to accredited investors and non-natural persons. Before making any representation that your investment does not exceed applicable thresholds, we encourage you to review Rule 251(d)(2)(i)(C) of Regulation A. For general information on investing, we encourage you to refer to www.investor.gov.

THE UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION DOES NOT PASS UPON THE MERITS OR GIVE ITS APPROVAL OF ANY SECURITIES OFFERED OR THE TERMS OF THE OFFERING, NOR DOES IT PASS UPON THE ACCURACY OR COMPLETENESS OF ANY OFFERING

CIRCULAR OR OTHER SOLICITATION MATERIALS. THESE SECURITIES ARE OFFERED PURSUANT TO AN EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION WITH THE COMMISSION; HOWEVER, THE COMMISSION HAS NOT MADE AN INDEPENDENT DETERMINATION THAT THE SECURITIES OFFERED ARE EXEMPT FROM REGISTRATION.

We are an "emerging growth company" as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 and have elected not to comply with certain reduced public company reporting requirements. In addition, as a "smaller reporting company" within the meaning of Rule 405, we are following the Form S-1 disclosure requirements for smaller reporting companies. This offering circular follows the disclosure format of Part I of Form S-1 pursuant to the general instructions of Part II(a)(1)(ii) of Form 1-A.

ARKap Markets, LLC, as Managing Dealer

The approximate date of commencement of proposed sale to the public is [*], 2025.

CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This offering circular and the documents included herein contain, in addition to historical information, certain "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, that include information relating to future events, future financial performance, strategies, expectations, competitive environment, regulation and availability of resources. These forward-looking statements include, without limitation: statements concerning projections, predictions, expectations, estimates or forecasts for our business, financial and operating results and future economic performance; statements of management's goals and objectives; trends affecting our financial condition, results of operations or future prospects; statements regarding our financing plans or growth strategies; statements concerning litigation or other matters; and other similar expressions concerning matters that are not historical facts. Words such as "may," "will," "should," "could," "would," "predicts," "potential," "continue," "expects," "anticipates," "future," "intends," "plans," "believes" and "estimates," and similar expressions, as well as statements in future tense, identify forward-looking statements.

Forward-looking statements should not be read as a guarantee of future performance or results and will not necessarily be accurate indications of the times, or by which, that performance or those results will be achieved. Forward-looking statements are based on information available at the time they are made and/or management's good faith beliefs as of that time with respect to future events and are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual performance or results to differ materially from those expressed in or suggested by the forward-looking statements. Important factors that could cause these differences include, but are not limited to:

- · estimates of our expenses, future revenues, capital requirements and our needs for additional financing;
- · our estimates of the size of our market opportunities;
- · our ability to effectively manage our growth;
- · our ability to successfully enter new markets, manage our growth expansion and comply with any applicable laws and regulations;
- · the effects of increased competition from our market competitors;
- significant disruption in, or breach in security of, our information technology systems and resultant interruptions in service and any related impact on our reputation;
- · the attraction and retention of qualified employees and key personnel;
- · the effectiveness of our internal controls;
- · changes in laws and government regulation affecting our business;
- · the impact of adverse economic conditions;
- · the sufficiency of our cash and cash equivalents to meet our liquidity needs and service our indebtedness;
- · outcomes of legal or administrative proceedings; and
- those risks and uncertainties referenced under the caption "Risk Factors" contained in this offering circular.

Potential investors should not place undue reliance on any forward-looking statements. Except as expressly required by the federal securities laws, there is no undertaking to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events, changed circumstances or any other reason. Potential investors should not make an investment decision based solely on our company's projections, estimates or expectations.

The specific discussions herein about our company include financial projections and future estimates and expectations about our company's business. The projections, estimates and expectations are presented in this offering circular only as a guide about future possibilities and do not represent actual amounts or assured events. All the projections and estimates are based exclusively on our company management's own assessment of its business, the industry in which it works and the economy at large and other operational factors, including capital resources and liquidity, financial condition, fulfillment of contracts and opportunities. The actual results may differ significantly from the projections.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	<u>Page</u>
<u>SUMMARY</u>	<u>2</u>
THE OFFERING	<u>8</u>
SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL DATA	<u>12</u>
RISK FACTORS	<u>14</u>
<u>USE OF PROCEEDS</u>	<u>36</u>
DETERMINING OF OFFERING PRICE	40

DIVIDEND POLICY	<u>40</u>
MARKET FOR COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS	<u>41</u>
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS	<u>42</u>
<u>BUSINESS</u>	<u>73</u>
MANAGEMENT CONTROL OF THE PROPERTY OF THE PROP	<u>78</u>
SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT	<u>86</u>
TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PERSONS	<u>88</u>
DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES	<u>93</u>
PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION	<u>103</u>
LEGAL MATTERS	<u>110</u>
EXPERTS	<u>110</u>
WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION	110
INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	F-1

Please read this offering circular carefully. It describes our business, our financial condition and results of operations. We have prepared this offering circular so that you will have the information necessary to make an informed investment decision.

You should rely only on the information contained in this offering circular. We have not, and the managing dealer has not, authorized anyone to provide you with any information other than that contained in this offering circular. We are offering to sell, and seeking offers to buy, the securities covered hereby only in jurisdictions where offers and sales are permitted. The information in this offering circular is accurate only as of the date of this offering circular, regardless of the time of delivery of this offering circular or any sale of the securities covered hereby. Our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects may have changed since that date. We are not, and the managing dealer is not, making an offer of these securities in any jurisdiction where the offer is not permitted.

For investors outside the United States: We have not, and the managing dealer has not, taken any action that would permit this offering or possession or distribution of this offering circular in any jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required, other than in the United States. Persons outside the United States who come into possession of this offering circular must inform themselves about, and observe any restrictions relating to, the offering of the securities covered hereby or the distribution of this offering circular outside the United States.

This offering circular includes statistical and other industry and market data that we obtained from industry publications and research, surveys and studies conducted by third parties. Industry publications and third-party research, surveys and studies generally indicate that their information has been obtained from sources believed to be reliable, although they do not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of such information. We believe that the data obtained from these industry publications and third-party research, surveys and studies are reliable.

WE HAVE NOT AUTHORIZED ANY DEALER, SALESPERSON OR OTHER PERSON TO GIVE ANY INFORMATION OR REPRESENT ANYTHING NOT CONTAINED IN THIS OFFERING CIRCULAR. YOU SHOULD NOT RELY ON ANY UNAUTHORIZED INFORMATION. THIS OFFERING CIRCULAR IS NOT AN OFFER TO SELL OR BUY ANY SECURITIES IN ANY STATE OR OTHER JURISDICTION IN WHICH IT IS UNLAWFUL. THE INFORMATION IN THIS OFFERING CIRCULAR IS CURRENT AS OF THE DATE ON THE COVER. YOU SHOULD RELY ONLY ON THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS OFFERING CIRCULAR.

SUMMARY

This summary highlights selected information contained elsewhere in this offering circular. This summary is not complete and does not contain all the information that you should consider before deciding whether to invest in our securities. You should carefully read the entire offering circular, including the risks associated with an investment in our company discussed in the "Risk Factors" section of this offering circular, before making an investment decision.

OUR COMPANY

General

Over the past 15 years, Caliber has grown into a leading diversified alternative asset management firm, managing more than \$2.9 billion in assets under management ("AUM") and assets under development ("AUD"). Caliber's primary goal is to enhance the wealth of accredited investors seeking to make investments in middle-market assets. We strive to build wealth for our clients by creating, managing, and servicing middle-market investment funds, private syndications, and direct investments. Through our funds, we invest primarily in real estate, private equity, and debt facilities. We market and fundraise to private investors, family offices, and institutions ("Direct Channel") and to registered investment advisers and independent broker-dealers ("Wholesale Channel").

We believe that we provide investors attractive risk-adjusted returns by offering a balance of (i) structured offerings and ease of ownership, (ii) a pipeline of investment opportunities, primarily projects that range in value between \$5.0 million and \$50.0 million, and (iii) an integrated execution and processing platform. Our investment strategy leverages the local market intelligence and real-time data we gain from our operations to evaluate current investments, generate proprietary transaction flow, and implement various asset management strategies.

As an alternative asset manager, we offer a full suite of support services and employ a vertically integrated approach to investment management. Our asset management activities are complemented with transaction and advisory services, including development and construction management, acquisition and disposition expertise, and fund formation, which we believe differentiate us from other asset management firms. We earn the following fees from providing these services under our asset management platform (the "Platform"):

- · Fund set-up fees are a one-time fee for the initial formation, administration, and set-up of the private equity real estate fund. These fees are recognized at the point in time when the performance under the contract is complete.
- Fund management fees are generally based on 1.0% to 1.5% of the unreturned capital contributions in a particular fund and include reimbursement for costs incurred on behalf of the fund, including an allocation of certain overhead costs. These customer contracts require the Company to provide management services, representing a performance obligation that the Company satisfies over time. With respect to the Caliber Hospitality Trust, the Company earns a fund management fee of 0.7% of the Caliber Hospitality Trust's enterprise value and is reimbursed for certain costs incurred on behalf of the Caliber Hospitality Trust.
- Financing fees are earned for services the Company performs in securing third-party financing on behalf of our private equity real estate funds. These fees are recognized at the point in time when the performance under the contract is complete, which is essentially upon closing of a loan. In addition, the Company earns fees for guaranteeing certain loans, representing a performance obligation that the Company satisfies over time.

- Real estate development revenues are generally based on 4.0% of the total expected costs of the development or 4.0% of the total expected costs of the construction project for services performed as the principal developer, which include managing and supervising third party developers and general contractors with respect to the development of the properties owned by the funds. Prior to the commencement of construction, development fee revenue is recognized at a point in time as the related performance obligations are satisfied and the customer obtains control of the promised service, including negotiation, due diligence, entitlements, planning, and design activities. During the construction period, development fee revenue is recognized over time as the performance obligations are satisfied.
- Brokerage fees are earned at a point in time at fixed rates for services performed related to acquisitions, dispositions, leasing, and financing transaction.
- Performance allocations are an arrangement in which we are entitled to an allocation of investment returns, generated within the investment funds which we manage, based on a contractual formula. We typically receive 15.0% to 35.0% of all cash distributions from (i) the operating cash flow of each fund, after payment to the related fund investors of any accumulated and unpaid priority preferred returns and repayment of preferred capital contributions; and (ii) the cash flow resulting from the sale or refinance of any real estate assets held by each fund, after payment to the related fund investors of any accumulated and unpaid priority preferred returns and repayment of initial preferred capital contributions. Our funds' preferred returns range from 6.0% to 12.0%, typically 6.0% for common equity or 10.0% to 12.0% for preferred equity, which does not participate in profits. Performance allocations are related to services which have been provided and are recognized when it is determined that they are no longer probable of significant reversal, which is generally satisfied when an underlying fund investment is realized or sold.

We have a number of development, redevelopment, construction, and entitlement projects that are underway or are in the planning stages, which we define as AUD. This category includes projects to be built on undeveloped land and projects to be built and constructed on undeveloped lands, which are not yet owned by our funds. Completing these development activities may ultimately result in income-producing assets, assets we may sell to third parties, or both. As of September 30, 2024, we are involved in the development of 1,796 multifamily units, 697 single family units, 3.7 million square feet of commercial and industrial, and 3.5 million square feet of office and retail. If all of these projects are brought to completion, the total cost capitalized to these projects, which represents total current estimated costs to complete the development and construction of such projects by us or a third party, is \$2.1 billion, which we expect would be funded through a combination of undeployed fund cash, third-party equity, project sales, tax credit financing and similar incentives, and secured debt financing. We are under no obligation to complete these projects and may dispose of any such assets at any time. There can be no assurance that AUD will ultimately be developed or constructed because of the nature of the cost of the approval and development process and market demand for a particular use. In addition, the mix of residential and commercial assets under development may change prior to final development. The development of these assets will require significant additional financing or other sources of funding, which may not be available.

Recent Developments

The accompanying consolidated financial statements included within the offering circular are prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles applicable to a going concern, which contemplates the realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business.

At September 30, 2024, the Company had a portfolio of corporate notes, whose composition and characteristics are similar to those reported in prior periods. At September 30, 2024, the portfolio consists of 211 unsecured notes with an aggregate principal balance of \$33.0 million, of which \$32.4 million mature within the 12-month period subsequent to November 13, 2024. Each note generally has a 12-month term with an option to extend for an additional 12-months.

Because the Company incurred operating losses and negative cash flow from operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2024, and could experience additional future operating losses and negative cash flow in the near term, combined with the fact that the Company does not have sufficient cash on hand to satisfy the total of the notes that mature within the next 12 months, these conditions and events raise substantial doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. In response to these conditions, management considered the impact of these near-term maturities on the Company.

3

Since the note program began, these notes have demonstrated a high rate of extension of their terms. Subsequent to the issuance of its 2023 Form 10-K, the Company has continued its discussions with various lenders in pursuit of extending or refinancing its unsecured loans. Through September 30, 2024, the rate of extension of the current notes is consistent with or greater than reported in prior periods. Management plans to continue seeking and granting extensions on an ongoing basis consistent with prior periods.

Additionally, management evaluated the impact a default of one or many of these notes might have on the Company. As these notes are unsecured, the terms in the agreements do not afford the note holder avenues of recourse in a default that could or would impact the Company adversely in the normal course of business, as the terms lack provisions for rights or claims against the Company's assets, nor is there a scenario where a default could force liquidation of the Company. Management believes that even in the event of default of one or many of these notes, the Company would be able to negotiate a waiver of the default either through an extension of the maturity or principal repayment schedule.

In addition, management has implemented various plans to address operating losses and near-term maturities or demands for repayment of its notes. Consistent with reported actions taken in prior fiscal periods, management plans to continue to i) negotiate extensions of such loans or refinance such debt, ii) obtain new financing, iii) reduce operating costs, iv) collect all or part of its \$13.3 million in receivables, v) collect all or part of its \$19.7 million in investments from its managed funds, vi) increase capital raise through continued expansion of fundraising channels, vii) sell or accept investment into its corporate headquarters, viii) place debt on unencumbered assets, and/or ix) generate planned cash from operations.

In the execution of our aforementioned plans, during the nine months ended September 30, 2024, we collected \$8.2 million of notes receivable and \$2.7 million of accounts receivable. The Company also executed a reduction in force of approximately 10% of its employees in May 2024, with an expected annual compensation and benefits expense savings of \$4.0 million. The Company has also executed on cost reduction plans with estimated annual savings of \$2.5 million.

After consideration of the implemented and planned actions, in particular continuing to renew maturing unsecured corporate notes, there are no assurances that management's actions will alleviate substantial doubt about the company's ability to continue as a going concern beyond one year from the date that the consolidated financial statements are issued.

On November 26, 2024, the Company filed a Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights (the "Series A Certificate of Designation") with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware to establish the preferences, voting powers, limitations as to dividends or other distributions, qualifications, terms and conditions of redemption and other terms and conditions of the Company's Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, par value \$0.001 (the "Series A Preferred Stock"). The Series A Preferred Stock is subject to certain rights, preferences, privileges, and obligations, including voluntary and mandatory conversion provisions, as well as beneficial ownership restrictions and share cap limitations, as set forth in the Series A Certificate of Designation and as more fully described under "Description of Securities" below. Additionally, on November 26, 2024, the Company issued and sold 100,000 shares of Series A Preferred Stock for gross proceeds of \$2,000,000.

Our Risks and Challenges

Our prospects should be considered in light of the risks, uncertainties, expenses and difficulties frequently encountered by similar companies. Our ability to realize our business objectives and execute our strategies is subject to risks and uncertainties, including, among others, the following:

Risks Related to Our Business

· Our business depends in large part on our ability to raise capital for our funds from investors. If we were unable to raise such capital, we may be unable to grow our asset management revenues. The inability to deploy such capital into investments may materially reduce our revenues and cash flows and adversely affect our financial condition.

4

- · Changes in prevailing interest rates may reduce our profitability, and we may not be able to adequately anticipate and respond to changes in market interest rates.
- · Inflation can have an adverse impact on our business and on our customers.
- · Adverse developments affecting the financial services industry, such as actual events or concerns involving liquidity, defaults, or non-performance by financial institutions or transactional counterparties, could adversely affect our current and projected business operations and our financial condition and results of operations.
- · A decline in the pace of growth or size of investment made by our funds may adversely affect our revenues.
- · Our revenue, earnings, net income, and cash flows can all vary materially, which may make it difficult for us to achieve steady earnings growth on a quarterly basis and may cause the price of our Class A Common Stock to decline.
- · We could lose part or all of our investments, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.
- We have an amount of total liabilities which may be considered significant for a company of our size which could adversely affect our financial condition and our ability to react to changes in our business.
- · We may not be able to generate sufficient cash to service all of our debt or refinance our obligations and may be forced to take other actions to satisfy our obligations under such indebtedness, which may not be successful.
- · The historical returns attributable to our funds should not be considered as indicative of the future results of our funds or of our future results or of any returns expected on an investment in our Class A Common Stock.
- · We may be subject to litigation risks and may face liabilities and damage to our professional reputation as a result of investment decisions on behalf of investors in our funds.
- The actions of any joint venture partners that we may have could reduce the returns on joint venture investments.
- · Our reliance on third parties to operate and to develop certain of our properties may harm our business.
- · Changes in relevant tax laws, regulations, treaties, or an adverse interpretation of these items by tax authorities could adversely impact our effective tax rate and tax liability.
- · Conflicts of interest exist between our Company and related parties.
- · Risk management activities may adversely affect the return on our funds' investments.
- · Our real estate funds are subject to the risks inherent in the ownership, development, and operation of real estate.
- · Investments by our investment funds may rank junior to investments made by others.
- Rapid growth of our businesses may be difficult to sustain and may place significant demands on our administrative, operational, and financial resources.
- · We depend on our founders, senior professionals, and other key personnel, and our ability to retain them and attract additional qualified personnel is critical to our success and our growth prospects.

5

- We may expand into new investment strategies, geographic markets and businesses, each of which may result in additional risks and uncertainties in our businesses.
- · We may not be successful in competing with companies in the asset management industry and alternative investment industries, some of which may have substantially greater resources than we do.
- · If we are unable to maintain and protect our intellectual property, or if third parties assert that we infringe their intellectual property rights, our business could suffer.
- · Security risks and attacks are common, increasing globally, and may result in significant liabilities.
- Our failure to sufficiently secure our business and services may result in unauthorized access to investor data, a negative impact on our investor attraction and retention, and significant liabilities.
- · We depend on various cloud service providers operated by third parties, and any service outages, delays, or disruptions in these operations could harm our business and operating results.

- · If we are unable to implement and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting in the future, investors may lose confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports and the market price of our Class A Common Stock may decline.
- The consolidation of investment funds or operating businesses of our portfolio companies could make it more difficult to understand the operating performance of our Platform and could create operational risks for the Company.
- · Our Bylaws have an exclusive forum for adjudication of disputes provision which limits the forum to the Delaware Court of Chancery for certain stockholder litigation matters actions against the Company, which may limit an investor's ability to seek what they regard as a favorable judicial forum for disputes with the Company or its directors, officers, employees, or stockholders.
- · If we were deemed to be an "investment company" under the Investment Company Act, applicable restrictions could make it impractical for us to continue our business as conducted and could have a material adverse effect on our businesses.
- Extensive regulation of our businesses affects our activities and creates the potential for significant liabilities and penalties. The possibility of increased regulatory focus could result in additional burdens on our business. Changes in tax law and other legislative or regulatory changes could adversely affect us.
- There is no present market for the Series AA Preferred Stock, and we have arbitrarily set the price.
- · We cannot assure you that we will be able to pay dividends.
- · We may issue additional debt and equity securities, which are senior to our Series AA Preferred Stock as to distributions and in liquidation, which could materially adversely affect the value of the Series AA Preferred Stock.
- · You will not have a vote or influence on the management of our company.
- The dual-class structure of our common stock has the effect of concentrating voting control with our executive officers, which will limit your ability to influence the outcome of important transactions.
- · We may not be able to maintain a listing of our Class A Common Stock on Nasdaq.
- · Our share price has in the past and may in the future fluctuate substantially.

6

- · Future sales and issuances of our Class A Common Stock or rights to purchase Class A Common Stock, including pursuant to our equity incentive plans, could result in additional dilution of the percentage ownership of our stockholders and could cause the stock price of our Class A Common Stock to decline.
- · Our disclosure controls and procedures may not prevent or detect all errors or acts of fraud.
- · If we fail to implement and maintain an effective system of internal control, we may be unable to accurately report our operating results, meet our reporting obligations, or prevent fraud.
- · We are an emerging growth company, and we cannot be certain if the reduced reporting requirements applicable to emerging growth companies will make our Class A Common Stock less attractive to investors.
- · We are a "controlled company" within the meaning of the listing rules of Nasdaq and, as a result, can rely on exemptions from certain corporate governance requirements that provide protection to stockholders of other companies.
- · If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or publish unfavorable research about our business, our stock price and trading volume could decline.
- · We have never paid dividends on our common stock, and we do not intend to pay dividends for the foreseeable future. Consequently, any gains from an investment in our Class A Common Stock will likely depend on whether the price of our Class A Common Stock increases.
- · Our charter documents and Delaware law and the voting control exercised by our founders could prevent a takeover that stockholders consider favorable and could also reduce the market price of our stock.
- · Claims for indemnification by our directors and officers may reduce our available funds to satisfy successful third-party claims against us and may reduce the amount of money available to us.

Corporate Information

Our principal executive offices are located at 8901 E. Mountain View Rd. Ste. 150, Scottsdale, AZ 85258 and our telephone number is (602) 295-7600. We maintain a website at www.calibercos.com. Information available on our website is not incorporated by reference in and is not deemed a part of this offering circular.

-

THE OFFERING

Securities being offered:

Up to 800,000 shares of Series AA Preferred Stock at an offering price of \$25.00 per share for a maximum offering amount of \$20,000,000.

- Ranking. The Series AA Preferred Stock will rank, as to dividend rights and rights upon our liquidation, dissolution, or winding up, senior to our Common Stock and pari passu with our Series A Preferred Stock.
- Stated Value. Each share of Series AA Preferred Stock will have an initial stated value of \$25.00, which is equal to the offering
 price per share, subject to appropriate adjustment in relation to certain events, such as recapitalizations, stock dividends, stock splits,
 stock combinations, reclassifications or similar events affecting our Series AA Preferred Stock.

- **Dividend Rate and Payment Date.** Holders of our Series AA Preferred Stock will be entitled to receive cumulative monthly cash dividends at a per annum rate of 9.5% of the stated value (or \$0.198 per share each month based on the initial stated value). Dividends on each share will begin accruing on, and will be cumulative from, the date of issuance and regardless of whether our board of directors declares and pays such dividends. Dividends on the Series AA Preferred Stock will continue to accumulate whether or not (i) any of our agreements prohibit the current payment of dividends, (ii) we have earnings or funds legally available to pay the dividends, or (iii) our board of directors does not declare the payment of the dividends. In the event the monthly payment of dividends is not made within 30 days of the due date, dividends will accrue from the due date of such monthly payment at the rate of 18% per annum until such default is cured.
- **Liquidation Preference.** Upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up of our company, holders of shares of our Series AA Preferred Stock will be entitled to receive, before any payment or distribution is made to the holders of our Common Stock, a liquidation preference equal to the stated value per share, plus accrued but unpaid dividends thereon.
- Redemption Request at the Option of a Holder. Once per calendar quarter, a holder will have the opportunity to request that we redeem that holder's Series AA Preferred Stock. Our board of directors may, however, suspend cash redemptions at any time in its discretion if it determines that it would not be in the best interests of our company to effectuate cash redemptions at a given time because we do not have sufficient cash, including because our board believes that our cash on hand should be utilized for other business purposes. Redemptions will be limited to four percent (4%) of the total outstanding Series AA Preferred Stock per quarter and any redemptions in excess of such limit or to the extent suspended, shall be redeemed in subsequent quarters on a first come, first served, basis. We will redeem shares at a redemption price equal to the stated value of such redeemed shares, plus any accrued but unpaid dividends thereon, less the applicable redemption fee (if any). As a percentage of the aggregate redemption price of a holder's shares to be redeemed, the redemption fee shall be:
 - \cdot 10% if the redemption is requested on or before the first anniversary of the original issuance of such shares;
 - · 8% if the redemption is requested after the first anniversary and on or before the second anniversary of the original issuance of such shares; and

8

- · 6% if the redemption is requested after the second anniversary and on or before the third anniversary of the original issuance of such shares.
- **Optional Redemption by our Company.** We will have the right (but not the obligation) to redeem shares of Series AA Preferred Stock at a redemption price equal to the stated value of such redeemed shares, plus any accrued but unpaid dividends thereon.
- · Mandatory Redemption by our Company. We are required to redeem the outstanding shares of Series AA Preferred Stock on the third (3rd) anniversary of their issuance at a redemption price equal to the stated value of such redeemed shares, plus any accrued but unpaid dividends thereon.
- Optional Repurchase Upon Death, Disability or Bankruptcy of a Holder. Subject to certain restrictions and conditions, we will also repurchase shares of Series AA Preferred Stock of a holder who is a natural person (including an individual beneficial holder who holds shares through a custodian or nominee, such as a broker-dealer) upon his or her death, total disability or bankruptcy, within sixty (60) days of our receipt of a written request from the holder or the holder's estate at a repurchase price equal to the stated value, plus accrued and unpaid dividends thereon. A "total disability" means a determination by a physician approved by us that a holder, who was gainfully employed and working at least forty (40) hours per week as of the date on which his or her shares were purchased, has been unable to work forty (40) or more hours per week for at least twenty-four (24) consecutive months.
- Restrictions on Redemption and Repurchase. We will not be obligated to redeem or repurchase shares of Series AA Preferred Stock if we are restricted by applicable law or our articles of incorporation from making such redemption or repurchase or to the extent any such redemption or repurchase would cause or constitute a default under any borrowing agreements to which we or any of our subsidiaries are a party or otherwise bound. In addition, we will have no obligation to redeem shares in connection with a redemption request made by a holder if we determine, as of the redemption date, that we do not have sufficient funds available to fund that redemption. In this regard, we will have complete discretion under the certificate of designation for the Series AA Preferred Stock to determine whether we are in possession of "sufficient funds" to fund a redemption request. To the extent we are unable to complete redemptions we may have earlier agreed to make, we will complete those redemptions promptly after we become able to do so, with all such deferred redemptions being satisfied on a first come, first served, basis.
- Voting Rights. The Series AA Preferred Stock will have no voting rights relative to matters submitted to a vote of our stockholders (other than as required by law). However, we may not, without the affirmative vote or written consent of the holders of a majority of the then issued and outstanding Series AA Preferred Stock: (i) amend or waive any provision of the certificate of designation or otherwise take any action that modifies any powers, rights, preferences, privileges or restrictions of the Series AA Preferred Stock (other than an amendment solely for the purpose of changing the number of shares of Series AA Preferred Stock designated for issuance as provided in the certificate of designation); (ii) authorize, create or issue shares of any class of stock having rights, preferences or privileges as to dividends or distributions upon a liquidation that are superior to the Series AA Preferred Stock; or (iii) amend our articles of incorporation in a manner that adversely and materially affects the rights of the Series AA Preferred Stock.

Conversion Right. At the third anniversary of the issuance date of a share of Series AA Preferred Stock, a holder may elect, with the prior written consent of the Company, which consent may be unreasonably withheld, to convert all or any portion of such then outstanding shares of Series AA Preferred Stock held by it into that number of shares of our Class A Common Stock determined by dividing the then Stated Value of such shares by the closing price of our Class A Common Stock as quoted on the Nasdaq Capital Market (the "NCM") on the day prior to such date but in no event less than the closing price of our Class A Common Stock as quoted on the NCM on the day prior to the initial Closing Date.

Best efforts offering:

The managing dealer is selling the shares of Series AA Preferred Stock offered in this offering circular on a "best efforts" basis and is not required to sell any specific number or dollar amount of shares of Series AA Preferred Stock offered by this offering circular but will use its best efforts to sell such shares.

Securities issued and outstanding before this offering:

15,056,356 shares of Class A Common Stock, 7,416,414 shares of Class B Common Stock and 100,000 shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock

Minimum subscription price:

The minimum initial investment is at least \$5,000 and any additional purchases must be investments of at least \$5,000; provided that purchases of less than \$5,000 may be made in the discretion of the managing dealer.

Use of proceeds:

We estimate our net proceeds from this offering will be approximately \$17.8 million if the maximum number of shares being offered are sold based upon the public offering price of \$25.00 per share and after deducting the sales commissions, reallowance fees, managing dealer fees and estimating offering expenses payable by us.

We currently intend that we may use up to \$10.0 million of the net proceeds from this offering to retire outstanding promissory notes; to the extent a lesser amount of such notes are retired, the remaining amount will be used for general and working capital purposes. We intend to use the balance of net proceeds, if any, for general and working capital purposes. For a discussion, see "Use of Proceeds."

Termination of the offering:

This offering will terminate at the earlier of: (1) the date at which the maximum amount of offered Series AA Preferred Stock has been sold, (2) the date which is one year after the offering statement of which this offering circular forms a part is originally qualified by the SEC, subject to an extension of up to an additional one year at the discretion of our company and the managing dealer, or (3) the date on which this offering is earlier terminated by us in our sole discretion.

Closings of the offering:

We may undertake one or more closings on a rolling basis.

10

You may not subscribe to this offering prior to the date of this offering statement, of which this offering circular forms a part is qualified by the SEC. Before such date, you may only make non-binding indications of your interest to purchase securities in the offering. For any subscription agreement received after such date, we have the right to review the subscription for completeness, complete anti-money laundering, know your client and similar background checks and accept the subscription if it is complete and passes such checks or reject the subscription if it fails any of such checks. If rejected, we will return all funds to the rejected investor within ten business days.

Following the initial closing of this offering, we expect to have several subsequent closings of this offering until the maximum offering amount is raised or the offering is terminated. We expect to have closings monthly and expect that we will accept all funds subscribed for each month subject to our working capital and other needs consistent with the use of proceeds described in this offering circular. Investors should expect to wait approximately one month and no longer than forty-five days before we accept their subscriptions and they receive the securities for which they have subscribed. An investor's subscription is binding and irrevocable and investors will not have the right to withdraw their subscription or receive a return of funds prior to the next closing unless we reject the investor's subscription. You will receive a confirmation of your purchase promptly following the closing in which you participate.

Restrictions on investment amount:

Generally, no sale may be made to you in this offering if the aggregate purchase price you pay is more than 10% of the greater of your annual income or net worth. Different rules apply to accredited investors and non-natural persons. Before making any representation that your investment does not exceed applicable thresholds, we encourage you to review Rule 251(d)(2)(i)(c) of Regulation A. For general information on investing, we encourage you to refer to www.investor.gov.

No market for Series AA Preferred Stock; transferability:

There is no existing public trading market for the Series AA Preferred Stock and we do not anticipate that a secondary market for the stock will develop. We do not intend to apply for listing of the Series AA Preferred Stock on any securities exchange or for quotation in any automated dealer quotation system or other over-the-counter market. Nevertheless, you will be able to freely transfer or pledge your shares subject to the availability of applicable exemptions from the registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

Current symbol:

Our Class A Common Stock is quoted on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol "CWD."

Risk factors:

Investing in our securities is highly speculative and involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the information set forth in the "Risk Factors" section beginning on page 14 before deciding to invest in our securities.

11

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL DATA

The summary consolidated financial data set forth below should be read together with our consolidated financial statements and the related notes to those statements, as well as the "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" section of this prospectus. The summary consolidated financial data as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 and for the years then ended for our company are derived from our audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this offering circular. The consolidated statements of operations data for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023 and the consolidated balance sheet data as of September 30, 2024, have been derived from our unaudited interim financial statements included elsewhere in this offering circular. The unaudited interim financial statements

were prepared on a basis consistent with our audited financial statements and include in management's opinion, all adjustments, consisting of normal recurring adjustments, that we consider necessary for a fair presentation of the financial information set forth in those statements. Our historical results are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected in any future period, and our interim results are not necessarily indicative of our expected results for the year ending December 31, 2024.

Consolidated Statements of Operations (Amounts in thousands, except per share data)

	Nine Months Ended September 30,			Years Ended December 31,				
		2024	-	2023		2023		2022
Revenue	\$	13,283	\$	8,720	\$	14,210	\$	17,887
Consolidated funds revenue		29,149		58,272		76,727		66,069
Operating costs		15,389		16,205		21,311		14,609
General and administrative		5,460		4,914		6,770		6,679
Marketing and advertising		507		888		1,052		1,179
Depreciation and amortization		439		409		550		58
Consolidated funds expenses		28,596		66,433		89,831		69,880
Consolidated funds - gain on real estate investments		_		_		4,976		21,530
Other income, net		1,015		1,479		374		326
Gain on extinguishment of debt		_		_		_		1,421
Interest income		325		279		350		178
Interest expense		(3,958)		(3,408)		(4,717)		(1,055)
Net (loss) income attributable to noncontrolling interests		(2,188)		(13,165)		(14,891)		11,931
Net (loss) income attributable to CaliberCos Inc.		(8,389)		(10,342)		(12,703)		2,020
Basic net (loss) income per share	\$	(0.38)	\$	(0.53)	\$	(0.63)	\$	0.11
Weighted average shares outstanding		21,828		19,688		20,087		18,003
Pro forma basic net (loss) income per share (1)	\$	(0.38)	\$	(0.53)	\$	(0.63)	\$	0.11
Pro forma weighted average shares outstanding (1)		21,828		19,688		20,087		18,003

12

Consolidated Balance Sheets (Amounts in thousands)

	As of Sep	As of September 30, 2024		
	Actual	As	Adjusted (1)	
Cash	\$ 516		18,516	
Restricted cash	2,534	1	2,534	
Real estate investments, net	21,515	,	21,515	
Due from related parties	12,305	;	12,305	
Investments in unconsolidated entities	12,723	,	12,723	
Operating lease – right of use assets	159)	159	
Prepaid and other assets	2,808	}	2,808	
Assets of consolidated funds	106,023	3	106,023	
Total assets	158,583	3	177,183	
Notes payable	49,673	;	49,673	
Series AA Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock	_	-	18,000	
Accounts payable and accrued expenses	8,638	3	8,638	
Due to related parties	210)	210	
Operating lease liabilities	100)	100	
Other liabilities	763	,	763	
Liabilities of consolidated funds	35,918	}	35,918	
Total liabilities	95,302	<u> </u>	113,902	
Stockholders' (deficit) equity attributable to CaliberCos Inc.	(3,849	<i>P</i>)	(3,849)	
Stockholders' equity attributable to noncontrolling interests	67,130)	67,130	
Total stockholders' equity	63,281		63,281	

(1) As adjusted consolidated balance sheet data gives the effect to 800,000 shares of Series AA Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock in this offering at the assumed offering price of \$25.00 per share and after deducting sales commissions and the managing dealer fee. The shares of Series AA Cumulative Redeemable Preferred stock are classified as temporary equity due to redemption feature upon certain events that are outside the Company's control.

12

RISK FACTORS

An investment in our securities involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully read and consider all the risks described below, together with all of the other information contained or referred to in this offering circular, before making an investment decision with respect to our securities. If any of the following events occur, our financial condition, business, and results of operations (including cash flows) may be materially adversely affected. In that event, the value of your Series AA Preferred Stock could decline, and you could lose all or part of your investment.

Risks Related to Our Business

Our business depends in large part on our ability to raise capital for our funds from investors. If we were unable to raise such capital, we may be unable to grow our asset management revenues. The inability to deploy such capital into investments, may materially reduce our revenues and cash flows and adversely affect our financial condition.

We depend on the capital markets to grow our assets under management, ("AUM") and we depend on third-party equity and debt financings to acquire properties for our funds. We intend to continue to raise a significant amount of equity and debt to acquire various alternative investments for our funds in the ordinary course of our business. Our debt financing depends on a combination of seller financing, the assumption of existing loans, government agencies, and financial institutions. We depend on equity financing

from equity partners, which may include public or private companies, pension funds, family offices, financial institutions, endowments, high net worth individuals, and money managers. Our access to capital funding for our funds is uncertain. Our inability to raise additional capital for our funds on terms reasonably acceptable to us could jeopardize the future growth of our business.

Our ability to raise capital from investors in our funds depends on several factors, including many that are outside our control. Investors may downsize their investment allocations to alternative asset managers, including private funds and hedge funds, to rebalance a disproportionate weighting of their overall investment portfolio among asset classes. Poor performance of our funds could also make it more difficult for us to raise new capital. Our investors and potential investors continually assess our funds' performance independently and relative to market benchmarks and our competitors, and our ability to raise capital for existing and future funds depends on our funds' performance. The financial markets are affected by many factors, such as U.S. and foreign economic conditions and general trends in business and finance that are beyond our control, which could be adversely affected by changes in the equity or debt marketplaces, unanticipated changes in currency exchange rates, interest rates, inflation rates, the yield curve, financial crises, changes in regulation, war, terrorism, natural disasters and other factors that are difficult to predict. The markets continue to be affected by inflation in the United States, global health pandemics, the imposition of sanctions and the escalation of hostilities between Russia and Ukraine, the Israel-Hamas conflict, and the recession in the United Kingdom. In the event that the U.S. or international financial markets suffer a severe or prolonged downturn or increased volatility, our funds' investments may lose value and investors may choose to withdraw assets from our funds and use the assets to pay expenses or transfer them to investments that they perceive to be more secure, such as bank deposits and Treasury securities. If economic and market conditions deteriorate, we may be unable to raise sufficient capital to support the investment activities of future funds. If we are unable to successfully raise capital, our revenues and cash flows would be reduced, and our f

Changes in prevailing interest rates may reduce our profitability, and we may not be able to adequately anticipate and respond to changes in market interest rates.

The majority of our funds' assets are subject to risk from changes in interest rates. Our earnings and cash flows depend to a great extent upon the difference between the interest our funds pay on loans and borrowings and the value of fixed-rate debt investments made by our funds. Depending on the terms and maturities of our assets and liabilities, a significant change in interest rates could have a material adverse effect on our profitability. In addition, rising interest rates, coupled with periods of significant equity and credit market volatility may potentially make it more difficult for us to find attractive opportunities for our funds to exit and realize value from their existing investments.

14

Interest rates remained at relatively low levels on a historical basis and the U.S. Federal Reserve maintained the federal funds target range at 0.0% to 0.25% for much of 2020 and 2021. The Federal Reserve raised interest rates by an aggregate of 525 basis points from January 1, 2022 through September 18, 2024, but subsequently, on September 19, 2024, the Federal Reserve decreased the federal funds rate by 50 basis points. Additionally, the current geopolitical environment in Europe provides yet another layer of uncertainty around the actions that the Federal Reserve might take. Market interest rates are affected by many factors outside of our control, including governmental monetary policies, domestic and international economic conditions, inflation, deflation, recession, changes in unemployment, the money supply, international disorder, and instability in domestic and foreign financial markets. Rising interest rates create downward pressure on the price of real estate, increase the cost and reduce the availability of debt financing for the transactions our funds pursue and decrease the value of fixed-rate debt investments made by our funds, each of which may have an adverse impact on our business.

Increased costs of borrowing could also cause us to reconsider the purchase of certain real estate assets, the terms of any such purchase or the mix of debt and equity we employ in connection with such purchase. Such issues are expected to be more prevalent in a continued rising interest rate environment. A higher interest rate environment may lead to a significant contraction or weakening in the market for debt financing or have other adverse changes relating to the terms of debt financing (such as, for example, higher equity requirements and/or more restrictive covenants), particularly in the area of acquisition financings for private equity and real estate transactions, which could have a material adverse impact on our business. In a rising interest rate environment, the financing of acquisitions or the operations of our funds' portfolio companies with debt may also become less attractive due to the cost of capital or limitations on the deductibility of corporate interest expense. If our funds are unable to obtain committed debt financing for potential acquisitions, can only obtain debt financing at an increased interest rate or on unfavorable terms, or the ability to deduct corporate interest expense is substantially limited, our funds may face increased competition from strategic buyers of assets who may have an overall lower cost of capital or the ability to benefit from a higher amount of cost savings following an acquisition, or may have difficulty completing otherwise profitable acquisitions or may generate profits that are lower than would otherwise be the case, each of which could lead to a decrease in our revenues.

In addition, if our funds are unable to obtain committed debt financing for potential acquisitions or can only obtain debt financing at an increased interest rate or on unfavorable terms, this would require us to employ a higher mix of equity to acquire real estate assets. The cost of equity in a rising interest rate environment may also become more expensive, and we may be required to offer a higher rate of return on equity in order to finance such assets. This in turn would adversely affect our profitability from such assets. While to date our funds' borrowing costs have not substantially increased, as rates continue to increase, our ability to use leverage as a financing tool or to pass along any increased costs of borrowing or financing will become more difficult, all of which could have an adverse effect on our profitability.

Inflation can have an adverse impact on our business and on our customers.

Inflation risk is the risk that the value of assets or income from investments will be worth less in the future as inflation decreases the purchasing power of money. The annual inflation rate in the United States increased to 9.1% in June 2022, the highest rate since November 1981, but decreased to 2.4% in September 2024. As a result, from January 1, 2022 through September 18, 2024, the Federal Reserve increased the federal funds rate by 525 basis points, but subsequently, on September 19, 2024, the Federal Reserve decreased the federal funds rate by 50 basis points. For project execution, inflation has increased the cost of nearly all building materials and labor types, increasing the cost of construction and renovation of our funds' assets. Furthermore, third parties we do business with, such as developers and contractors, are also affected by inflation and the rising costs of goods and services used in their businesses. A significant and continued increase in interest rates and inflation would be expected to have a negative impact on their ability to do business with us, which would affect our profitability.

15

Adverse developments affecting the financial services industry, such as actual events or concerns involving liquidity, defaults, or non-performance by financial institutions or transactional counterparties, could adversely affect our current and projected business operations and our financial condition and results of operations.

Actual events involving limited liquidity, defaults, non-performance or other adverse developments that affect financial institutions, transactional counterparties or other companies in the financial services industry or the financial services industry generally, or concerns or rumors about any events of these kinds or other similar risks, have in the past and may in the future lead to market-wide liquidity problems. For example, on March 10, 2023, Silicon Valley Bank ("SVB") was closed by the California Department of Financial Protection and Innovation, which appointed the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC") as receiver. Similarly, on March 12, 2023, Signature Bank and Silvergate Capital Corp. ("Silvergate Capital"), and then on May 1, 2023, First Republic Bank, were each swept into receivership. Although a statement by the Department of the Treasury, the Federal Reserve and the FDIC indicated that all depositors of SVB would have access to all of their money after only one business day of closure, including funds held in uninsured deposit accounts, borrowers under credit agreements, letters of credit and certain other financial instruments with any financial institution that is placed into receivership by the FDIC may be unable to access undrawn amounts thereunder. Although we are not a borrower or party to any such instruments with SVB, Signature

Bank, First Republic Bank or any other financial institution currently in receivership, if any of our lenders or counterparties to any such instruments were to be placed into receivership, we may be unable to access such funds. In addition, if any of our customers, suppliers or other parties with whom we conduct business are unable to access funds pursuant to such instruments or lending arrangements with such a financial institution, such parties' ability to pay their obligations to us or to enter into new commercial arrangements requiring additional payments to us could be adversely affected. In this regard, counterparties to SVB, Signature Bank or First Republic Bank credit agreements and arrangements, and third parties such as beneficiaries of letters of credit (among others), may experience direct impacts from the closures of SVB, Signature Bank and First Republic Bank and uncertainty remains over liquidity concerns in the broader financial services industry. Similar impacts have occurred in the past, such as during the 2008-2010 financial crisis. We hold no deposits or securities with SVB, Signature Bank, First Republic Bank or Silvergate Capital.

A decline in the pace of growth or size of investment made by our funds may adversely affect our revenues.

Revenues we derive from our asset management and related services are driven in part by the pace at which our funds make investments and the size of those investments. A decline in the pace or the size of such investments may reduce our revenues. The pace of our investments could decline due to, among other factors, the market environment for private equity transactions, which has at times been characterized by relatively high prices, and such market changes make the deployment of capital more difficult. In addition, many other factors could cause a decline in the pace of investment, including the inability of our investment professionals to identify attractive investment opportunities, competition for such opportunities among other potential acquirers, decreased availability of capital on attractive terms, and our failure to consummate identified investment opportunities because of business, regulatory or legal complexities or uncertainty and adverse developments in the U.S. or global economy or financial markets. In addition, if our funds are unable to deploy capital at a pace that is sufficient to offset the pace of realizations, our fee revenues could decrease.

Our revenue, earnings, net income, and cash flows can all vary materially, which may make it difficult for us to achieve steady earnings growth on a quarterly basis and may cause the price of our Class A Common Stock to decline.

We have in the past and may in the future experience fluctuations in our consolidated results, including our consolidated revenues and net income, from quarter to quarter due to increases or decreases in the number of funds included in our consolidated financial statements. Additional factors include the timing of realizations, changes in the amount of distributions or interest paid in respect of investments, changes in our operating expenses, the degree to which we encounter competition and general economic and market conditions. These additional factors also impact our Platform results. Achieving steady growth in Platform net income and cash flows on a quarterly basis may be difficult, which could in turn lead to large adverse movements or general increased volatility in the price of our Class A Common Stock. We also do not provide any guidance regarding our expected quarterly and annual operating results. The lack of near-term guidance may affect the expectations of public market analysts and could cause increased volatility in our Class A Common Stock price.

16

We have incurred operating losses and negative operating cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2023, and may incur operating losses and negative cash flows in future periods. In response to these conditions, and the absence of sufficient cash to satisfy the debt obligations referenced below under "- We have an amount of total liabilities which may be considered significant for a company of our size which could adversely affect our financial condition and our ability to react to changes in our business", management plans to i) negotiate extensions of such loans or refinance such debt, ii) obtain new financing, iii) reduce operating costs, iv) collect receivables and return investments from our funds, and/or v) increase capital raise through continued expansion of fundraising channels.

Our revenue, net income, and cash flows can all vary materially due to performance allocations (income earned with respect to our carried interest is recorded as performance allocations) in any fiscal period. Performance allocations depend on our funds' performance and opportunities for realizing gains, which may be limited. Our cash flow may fluctuate significantly due to the fact that we receive performance allocations from our carry funds only when portfolio companies make distributions in excess of preferred return hurdles, or when investments are realized and achieve a minimum preferred return. It takes a substantial period of time to identify attractive investment opportunities, to raise all the funds needed to make an investment, to manage the performance of the investment, and then to realize the cash value (or other proceeds) of an investment through a sale, public offering, recapitalization or other exit. Even if an investment proves to be profitable, it may be several years before any profits can be realized in cash (or other proceeds). We cannot predict with certainty exactly when, or if, any performance allocations will or may occur.

In addition, upon the realization of a profitable investment by any of our funds and prior to our receiving any performance allocations in respect of that investment, 100% of the net proceeds from such realization must generally be paid to the investors in that fund until they have achieved a certain return on all realized investments by that fund. A particular realization event may have a significant impact on our results for that particular quarter that may not be replicated in subsequent quarters. We recognize revenue on investments in our investment funds based on our allocable share of realized gains (or losses) reported by such investment funds, and a decline in gains, or an increase in losses, would adversely affect our revenue and possibly cash flow, which could further increase the volatility of our quarterly results. Because our carry funds have preferred return thresholds to investors that need to be met prior to our receiving any performance allocations, substantial declines in the carrying value of the investment portfolios of a fund can significantly delay or eliminate any performance allocations paid to us in respect of that fund since the value of the assets in the fund would need to recover to their aggregate cost basis plus the preferred return over time before we would be entitled to receive any performance allocations from that fund.

The timing and receipt of performance allocations also varies with the life cycle of our funds. During periods in which a relatively large portion of our assets under management are attributable to funds and investments in their "optimized" period, our funds would make larger distributions than in the fundraising or investment periods that precede the optimized period. During periods in which a significant portion of our assets under management is attributable to funds that are not in their optimized periods, we may receive substantially lower performance allocations.

We could lose part or all of our investments, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

There is an inherent risk that we could lose all or part of our investment in certain assets. Our investments are generally illiquid, which may affect our ability to change our asset mix in response to changes in economic and other conditions. The value of our investments can also be diminished by:

- · civil unrest, acts of war and terrorism and acts of God, including earthquakes, hurricanes, and other natural disasters (which may result in uninsured or underinsured losses);
- the impact of present or future legislation (including environmental regulation, changes in laws concerning foreign ownership of property, changes in tax rates, changes in zoning laws and laws requiring upgrades to accommodate disabled persons) and the cost of compliance with these types of legislation; and
- · liabilities relating to claims, to the extent insurance is not available or is inadequate.

The Company had individual corporate notes aggregating \$36.4 million at December 31, 2023 for which the maturity dates of the majority of these notes are within the 12-month period subsequent to when the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2023 were issued. We currently do not have sufficient cash on hand to satisfy such obligations.

We believe this is an amount of total liabilities which may be considered significant for a company of our size and current revenue base. Our substantial total liabilities could have important consequences to us. For example, it could:

- · require us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flows from operations to make payments on our debt, which would reduce the availability of our cash flows from operations to fund working capital, capital expenditures or other general corporate purposes;
- · increase our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions, including interest rate fluctuations;
- · place us at a competitive disadvantage to our competitors with proportionately less debt for their size;
- · limit our ability to refinance our existing debt or borrow additional funds in the future;
- · limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changing conditions in our business; and
- · limit our ability to react to competitive pressures or make it difficult for us to carry out capital spending that is necessary or important to our growth strategy.

Any of the foregoing impacts of our substantial total liabilities could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We may not be able to generate sufficient cash to service all of our debt or refinance our obligations and may be forced to take other actions to satisfy our obligations under such indebtedness, which may not be successful.

We require cash to (a) provide capital to facilitate the growth of our existing businesses, (b) co-investment into our funds, if any, (c) service our debt and (d) pay operating expenses and other obligations as they arise. There is no guarantee that in the future we will generate enough working capital to support our business. Our ability to repay our total liabilities, including our ability to make scheduled payments on our debt or to refinance our obligations under our debt agreements, will depend on our financial and operating performance, which, in turn, will be subject to prevailing economic and competitive conditions and to the financial and business risk factors we face as described in this section, many of which may be beyond our control. If the global economy and conditions in the financing markets worsen, our fund investment performance could suffer, resulting in, for example, the payment of less or no performance allocations to us. This could materially and adversely affect the amount of cash we have on hand.

If our cash flows and capital resources are insufficient to repay our total liabilities, including the ability to fund our debt service obligations, we may be forced to reduce or delay capital expenditures or planned growth objectives, seek to obtain additional equity capital or restructure our debt. We may also need additional cash resources in the future if we find and wish to pursue opportunities for investment, acquisition, capital expenditures or similar actions. If we determine that our cash requirements exceed the amount of cash and cash equivalents we have on hand at the time, we may seek to issue additional equity or debt securities or obtain credit facilities. If we issue additional equity securities to raise funds, whether to existing investors or others, the ownership percentage of our existing stockholders would be reduced. New investors may demand rights, preferences, or privileges senior to those of existing holders of common stock. We may also be limited as to the amount of funds we can raise pursuant to SEC rules and the continued listing requirements of Nasdaq. The incurrence of indebtedness would result in increased fixed obligations and could result in operating covenants that would restrict our operations. We cannot assure you that financing will be available in amounts or on terms acceptable to us, if at all.

18

In the future, our cash flows and capital resources may not be sufficient for payments of interest on and principal of our debt, and such alternative measures may not be successful and may not permit us to meet scheduled debt service obligations. In addition, the recent worldwide credit crisis could make it more difficult for us to repay our total liabilities, including the ability to refinance our debt on favorable terms, or at all. In the absence of positive operating results and/or sufficient cash resources, we may be required to dispose of material assets to repay our total liabilities, including the ability to meet our debt service obligations. We may not be able to consummate those sales, or, if we do, we will not control the timing of the sales or whether the proceeds that we realize will be adequate to repay our total liabilities, including the ability to meet debt service obligations when due.

The historical returns attributable to our funds should not be considered as indicative of the future results of our funds or of our future results or of any returns expected on an investment in our Class A Common Stock.

An investment in our Class A Common Stock is not an investment in any of our funds. You should not conclude that positive performance of our funds will necessarily result in positive returns on an investment in our Class A Common Stock. The historical performance of our funds is relevant to us primarily insofar as it is indicative of asset management revenues and performance allocations we have earned in the past and may earn in the future and our reputation and ability to raise new funds.

In addition, the historical returns of our funds may not be indicative of any future returns of these or from any future funds we may raise due to several factors including:

- · market conditions during previous periods may have been more favorable for generating positive performance than the market conditions we may experience in the future; and
- our funds' returns may have previously benefited from investment opportunities and general market conditions that may not recur, and we may not be able to achieve the same returns or profitable investment opportunities or deploy capital as quickly.

We may be subject to litigation risks and may face liabilities and damage to our professional reputation as a result of investment decisions on behalf of investors in our funds.

We make investment decisions on behalf of investors in our funds that could result in substantial losses. This may subject us to the risk of legal liabilities or actions alleging negligent misconduct, breach of fiduciary duty, or breach of contract. Further, we may be subject to third-party litigation arising from allegations that we improperly exercised control or influence over portfolio investments.

These and other legal liabilities could have a material adverse effect on our businesses, financial condition, our results of operations, or cause reputational harm to us, which could harm our businesses. We depend, to a large extent, on our business relationships and our reputation for integrity and professional services to attract and retain investors and to pursue investment opportunities for our funds. As a result, allegations of improper conduct by private litigants or regulators, whether the ultimate outcome is favorable or unfavorable to us, as well as negative publicity and press speculation about us, our investment activities, or the investment industry in general, whether or not valid, may harm our reputation, which may be damaging to our businesses.

Actions of any joint venture partners that we may have could reduce the returns on joint venture investments.

At times we enter joint ventures or partnerships to acquire and develop properties. Such investments may involve risks not otherwise present with other methods of

that our co-venturer, or partner in an investment could become insolvent or bankrupt;

19

- that such co-venturer, or partner may at any time have economic or business interests or goals that are or that become inconsistent with our business interests or goals;
- that such co-venturer, or partner may be in a position to take action contrary to our instructions, requests or our policies or objectives; or
- · that disputes between us and our co-venturer, or partner, may result in litigation or arbitration that would increase expenses.

Any of the above might subject a property to liabilities in excess of those contemplated and thus reduce our returns on that investment.

Our reliance on third parties to operate and to develop certain of our properties may harm our business.

In some instances, we rely on third-party property managers and hotel operators to manage our properties. These third parties are directly responsible for the day-to-day operation of our properties with limited supervision by us, and they often have potentially significant decision-making authority with respect to those properties. These third parties may fail to manage our properties effectively or in accordance with their agreements with us, may be negligent in their performance and may engage in criminal or fraudulent activity. If any of these events occur, we could incur losses or face liabilities from the loss or injury to our property or to persons at our properties. In addition, disputes may arise between us and these third-party managers and operators, and we may incur significant expenses to resolve those disputes or terminate the relevant agreement with these third parties and locate and engage competent and cost-effective service providers to operate and manage the relevant properties.

In addition, we are also parties to hotel management agreements. If any of these events occur, our relationships with any franchisors may be damaged, we may be in breach of our franchise agreement, and we could incur liabilities resulting from loss or injury to our property or to persons at our properties. From time to time, disputes may arise between us and our third-party managers regarding their performance or compliance with the terms of the hotel management agreements, which in turn could adversely affect us. If we are unable to resolve such disputes through discussions and negotiations, we may choose to terminate our management agreement, litigate the dispute or submit the matter to third-party dispute resolution, the expense of which may be material and the outcome of which may harm our business, operating results or prospects.

Changes in relevant tax laws, regulations, treaties, or an adverse interpretation of these items by tax authorities could adversely impact our effective tax rate and tax liability.

Our effective tax rate and tax liability is based on the application of current income tax laws, regulations and treaties. These laws, regulations and treaties are complex, and the manner which they apply to us and our funds is sometimes open to interpretation. Significant management judgment is required in determining our provision for income taxes, our deferred tax assets and liabilities and any valuation allowance recorded against our net deferred tax assets. Although management believes its application of current laws, regulations and treaties to be correct and sustainable upon examination by the tax authorities, the tax authorities could challenge our interpretation resulting in additional tax liability or adjustment to our income tax provision that could increase our effective tax rate. In particular, changes in legislation or regulation relating to opportunity zones could adversely affect our ability to form new opportunity zone funds or to acquire assets for our existing opportunity zone funds, thereby diminishing our ability to generate revenue from those activities.

Conflicts of interest exist between our Company and related parties.

Conflicts of interest exist and may arise in the future as a result of the relationships between our Company and its affiliates and divisions and our officers, directors and owners, on the one hand, and our funds and its investors, on the other hand. We earn fees from our funds, including our carried interest which value is a direct result from the performance of our funds. There may be instances where the interests of our funds and the investors in such funds diverge from those of our Company which could result in conflicts of interest. In resolving these conflicts, our board of directors and executive officers have a fiduciary duty to our stockholders. In addition, as we operate as a fund manager through a wholly owned subsidiary, our Company has a fiduciary duty to investors in the funds we manage. Unless the resolution of a conflict is specifically provided for in the operating agreements of such funds, our board of directors may consider a wide range of factors they determine to be in good faith when resolving a conflict. An independent third party is not required to evaluate the resolution. As a result of the foregoing, there may be instances where any such conflicts are resolved in a manner which favors the interests of our funds and their investors over our stockholders.

20

Risk management activities may adversely affect the return on our funds' investments.

When managing our exposure to market risks, we may (on our own behalf or on behalf of our funds) from time to time use forward contracts, options, swaps, caps, collars and floors, or pursue other strategies or use other forms of derivative instruments to limit our exposure to changes in the relative values of investments that may result from market developments, including changes in prevailing interest rates, currency exchange rates and commodity prices. The success of any hedging or other derivative transactions generally will depend on our ability to correctly predict market changes, the degree of correlation between price movements of a derivative instrument, the position being hedged, the creditworthiness of the counterparty and other factors. As a result, while we may enter into a transaction in order to reduce our exposure to market risks, the transaction may result in poorer overall investment performance than if it had not been executed. Such transactions may also limit the opportunity for gain if the value of a hedged position increases.

While such hedging arrangements may reduce certain risks, such arrangements themselves may entail certain other risks. These arrangements may require the posting of cash collateral at a time when a fund has insufficient cash or illiquid assets such that the posting of the cash is either impossible or requires the sale of assets at prices that do not reflect their underlying value. Moreover, these hedging arrangements may generate significant transaction costs, including potential tax costs, that reduce the returns generated by a fund. Finally, the Commodity Futures Trading Commission (the "CFTC") may in the future require certain foreign exchange products to be subject to mandatory clearing, which could increase the cost of entering into currency hedges.

Our real estate funds are subject to the risks inherent in the ownership, development, and operation of real estate.

Investments in our real estate funds will be subject to the risks inherent in the ownership and operation of real estate and real estate-related businesses and assets, including the deterioration of real estate fundamentals. These risks include, but are not limited to, those associated with the burdens of ownership of real property, general and local economic conditions, changes in supply of and demand for competing properties in an area (as a result, for instance, of overbuilding), fluctuations in the average occupancy and room rates for hotel properties, operating income, the financial resources of tenants, changes in building, environmental, zoning and other laws, casualty or condemnation losses, energy and supply shortages, various uninsured or uninsurable risks, natural disasters, climate change related risks (including climate-related transition risks and acute and chronic physical risks), changes in government regulations (such as rent control), changes in real property tax rates, changes in income tax rates, changes in interest rates,

the reduced availability of mortgage funds which may render the sale or refinancing of properties difficult or impracticable, increased mortgage defaults, increases in borrowing rates, changes to the taxation of business entities and the deductibility of corporate interest expense, negative developments in the economy that depress travel activity, environmental liabilities, contingent liabilities on disposition of assets, acts of god, terrorist attacks, war and other factors that are beyond our control. In addition, if our real estate funds acquire direct or indirect interests in undeveloped land or underdeveloped real property, which may often be non-income producing, they will be subject to the risks normally associated with such assets and development activities, including risks relating to the availability and timely receipt of zoning and other regulatory or environmental approvals, the cost and timely completion of construction (including risks beyond the control of our fund, such as weather, labor conditions, or material shortages), and the availability of both construction and permanent financing with favorable terms. In addition, our real estate funds may also make investments in residential real estate projects and/or otherwise participate in financing opportunities relating to residential real estate assets or portfolios thereof from time to time, which may be more susceptible to adverse changes in prevailing economic and/or market conditions and present additional risks relative to the ownership and operation of commercial real estate assets.

21

Investments by our investment funds may rank junior to investments made by others.

In most cases, the companies in which our investment funds invest will have indebtedness or equity securities or may be permitted to incur indebtedness or to issue equity securities that rank senior to our investment. By their terms, such instruments may provide that their holders are entitled to receive payments of dividends, interest or principal on or before the dates on which payments are to be made in respect of our investment. Also, in the event of insolvency, liquidation, dissolution, reorganization or bankruptcy of a company in which an investment is made, holders of securities ranking senior to our investment would typically be entitled to receive payment in full before distributions could be made in respect of our investment. After repaying senior security holders, the company may not have any remaining assets to use for repaying amounts owed in respect of our investment. To the extent that any assets remain, holders of claims that rank equally with our investment would be entitled to share on an equal and ratable basis in distributions that are made out of those assets. Also, during periods of financial distress or following an insolvency, the ability of our investment funds to influence a company's affairs and to take actions to protect their investments may be substantially less than that of the senior creditors.

Rapid growth of our businesses may be difficult to sustain and may place significant demands on our administrative, operational, and financial resources.

Our assets under management have grown significantly in the past, and we are pursuing further growth in the near future, both organically and through acquisitions. Our rapid growth has placed, and planned growth, if successful, will continue to place, significant demands on our legal, accounting and operational infrastructure, and has increased expenses. The complexity of these demands, and the expense required to address them, is a function not simply of the amount by which our assets under management has grown, but of the growth in the variety and complexity of, as well as the differences in strategy between, our different funds. In addition, we are required to continuously develop our systems and infrastructure in response to the increasing sophistication of the investment management market and legal, accounting, regulatory, and tax developments.

Our future growth will depend in part on our ability to maintain an operating platform and management system sufficient to address our growth and will require us to incur significant additional expenses and to commit additional senior management and operational resources.

We depend on our founders, senior professionals, and other key personnel, and our ability to retain them and attract additional qualified personnel is critical to our success and our growth prospects.

We depend on the diligence, skill, judgment, business contacts and personal reputations of our founders, senior professionals and other key personnel. Our future success will depend upon our ability to attract and retain senior professionals and other personnel. Our executives have built highly regarded reputations in the alternative investment industry. Our executives attract business opportunities and assist both in negotiations with lenders and potential joint venture partners and in the representation of large and institutional clients. If we lost their services, our relationships with lenders, joint ventures, and clients would diminish significantly.

In addition, some of our officers have strong regional reputations, and they aid in attracting business, identifying opportunities, and negotiating for us and on behalf of our clients. As we continue to grow, our success will largely depend on our ability to attract and retain qualified personnel in all areas of business. We may be unable to continue to hire and retain a sufficient number of qualified personnel to support or keep pace with our planned growth.

We may expand into new investment strategies, geographic markets and businesses, each of which may result in additional risks and uncertainties in our businesses.

We intend, if market conditions warrant, to grow our businesses by increasing assets under management in existing businesses and expanding into new investment strategies, geographic markets and businesses. We may pursue growth through acquisitions of critical business partners or other strategic initiatives, which may include entering into new lines of business.

Attempts to expand our businesses involve a number of special risks, including some or all of the following:

· the required investment of capital and other resources;

22

- the diversion of management's attention from our core businesses;
- · the assumption of liabilities in any acquired business;
- · the disruption of our ongoing businesses;
- · entry into markets or lines of business in which we may have limited or no experience;
- · increasing demands on our operational and management systems and controls;
- · compliance with additional regulatory requirements;
- · potential increase in investor concentration; and
- the broadening of our geographic footprint, increasing the risks associated with conducting operations in certain jurisdictions where we currently have no experience.

Entry into certain lines of business may subject us to new laws and regulations with which we are not familiar, or from which we are currently exempt, and may lead to increased litigation and regulatory risk. If a new business does not generate sufficient revenues or if we are unable to efficiently manage our expanded operations, our results of

operations will be adversely affected. Our strategic initiatives may include joint ventures, in which case we will be subject to additional risks and uncertainties in that we may be dependent upon, and subject to liability, losses or reputational damage relating to systems, controls and personnel that are not under our control. Because we have not yet identified these potential new investment strategies, geographic markets or lines of business, we cannot identify all of the specific risks we may face and the potential adverse consequences on us and their investment that may result from any attempted expansion.

We may not be successful in competing with companies in the asset management industry and alternative investment industries, some of which may have substantially greater resources than we do.

The asset management industry and alternative investment industries are intensely competitive. We compete primarily on a regional, industry, and asset class basis.

We face competition both in the pursuit of fund investors and investment opportunities. Generally, our competition varies across business lines, geographies, and financial markets. We compete for outside investors based on a variety of factors, including investment performance, investor perception of investment managers' drive, focus and alignment of interest, quality of service provided to and duration of relationship with investors, business reputation, and the level of fees and expenses charged for services.

We compete for investment opportunities based on a variety of factors, including breadth of market coverage and relationships, access to capital, transaction execution skills, the range of products and services offered, innovation, and price.

We compete with real estate funds, specialized funds, hedge fund sponsors, financial institutions, private equity funds, corporate buyers, and other parties. Many of these competitors are substantially larger and have considerably greater financial, technical, and marketing resources than are available to us. Many of these competitors have similar investment objectives to ours, which may create additional competition for investment opportunities. Some of these competitors may also have a lower cost of capital and access to funding sources that are not available to us, which may create competitive disadvantages for us with respect to investment opportunities. In addition, some of these competitors may have higher risk tolerances, different risk assessments or lower return thresholds, which could allow them to consider a wider variety of investments and to bid more aggressively than us for investments that we want to make. Corporate buyers may be able to achieve synergistic cost savings with regard to an investment that may provide them with a competitive advantage in bidding for an investment.

23

If we are unable to maintain and protect our intellectual property, or if third parties assert that we infringe their intellectual property rights, our business could suffer.

Our business depends, in part, on our ability to identify and protect proprietary information and other intellectual property such as our client lists and information and business methods. We rely on a combination of trade secrets, confidentiality policies, non-disclosure and other contractual arrangements and copyright and trademark laws to protect our intellectual property rights. However, we may not adequately protect these rights, and their disclosure to, or use by, third parties may harm our competitive position. Our inability to detect unauthorized use of, or to take appropriate or timely steps to enforce, our intellectual property rights may harm our business.

Also, third parties may claim that our business operations infringe on their intellectual property rights. These claims may harm our reputation, cost us money to defend, distract the attention of our management and prevent us from offering some services.

Confidential intellectual property is increasingly stored or carried on mobile devices, such as laptop computers, which increases the risk of inadvertent disclosure where the mobile devices are lost or stolen and the information has not been adequately safeguarded or encrypted. This also makes it easier for someone with access to our systems, or someone who gains unauthorized access, to steal information and use it to our disadvantage. Advances in technology, which permit increasingly large amounts of information to be stored on mobile devices or on third-party "cloud" servers, may exacerbate these risks.

Security risks and attacks are common, increasing globally, and may result in significant liabilities.

Our business and our internal corporate information technology systems have in the past been, and will in the future be, subject to cybersecurity-attacks, credential stuffing, account takeover attacks, denial or degradation of service attacks, phishing attacks, ransomware attacks, malicious software programs, supply chain attacks, and other cybersecurity risks (collectively, "cybersecurity risks"). Further, we engage service providers to store and otherwise process some of our and our investor's data, including sensitive and personal information, and these service providers are also targets of cybersecurity risks.

Cybersecurity risks have been increasing in frequency and sophistication globally and may be accompanied by demands for payment in exchange for resolution, restoration of functionality, or return of data. Sources of cybersecurity risks range from individuals to sophisticated organizations, including state-sponsored actors and organizations. These attackers use a wide variety of methods to exploit vulnerabilities and gain access to corporate assets, including networks, information, or credentials. The types and methods of cybersecurity risks are constantly evolving and becoming more complex, and we may not be able to detect, combat, or successfully defend against all cybersecurity risks. Attackers initiating cybersecurity risks may gain access to our corporate assets. Vulnerabilities in our infrastructure or the success of any cybersecurity attacker against us may not be discovered in a timely fashion or at all, and the impact may be exacerbated the longer they remain undetected. While we utilize security measures and architecture designed to protect the integrity of our business and corporate information technology environment, we remain subject to ongoing and evolving cybersecurity risks, and we anticipate that we will need to continue expending resources in an effort to protect against cybersecurity risks. There is a risk that we may not be able to deploy, allocate, or retain sufficient resources to keep pace with the persistent and evolving Cybersecurity threat landscape.

Moreover, several of our employees work remotely, and many of our vendors and other third parties we engage utilize remote workers in various jurisdictions throughout the world, which may increase the risk of and susceptibility to cybersecurity risks. We cannot guarantee that remote work environments and electronic connections to our work environment and information technology systems have the same security profile as those deployed in our physical offices.

Further, our ability to monitor the data security of our vendors is limited, and bad actors may successfully circumvent our vendors' security measures, resulting in the unauthorized access to, or misuse, disclosure, loss, or destruction of our Company and/or our investor's data. Any actual or perceived failure by us or our vendors to prevent or defend against cybersecurity risks, actual or perceived vulnerabilities or unauthorized access to corporate data or systems may lead to claims against us and may result in significant data loss, significant costs and liabilities, and could reduce our revenue, harm our reputation, and compromise our competitive position.

24

Our failure to sufficiently secure our business and services may result in unauthorized access to investor data, a negative impact on our investor attraction and retention, and significant liabilities.

Our business systems and services involve the storage, transmission, and processing of our Company and investors' sensitive and proprietary information. Our failure to sufficiently secure our business and services may result in unauthorized access to investor data, a negative impact on our investor attraction and retention, and significant liabilities. Even if our security measures are appropriately engineered and implemented to secure our business and services against external risks, we may be subject to inadvertent disclosures because of inappropriate employee actions or system misconfigurations. Unauthorized use of or access to investor data could result in the loss and/or

compromise of our or our investors' sensitive information, which could lead to litigation, regulatory investigations and claims, indemnity obligations, reputational harm, and other liabilities.

Our agreements with third parties, including investors, contain contractual commitments related to our information security practices and data privacy compliance. If we experience an incident that triggers a breach of these contractual commitments, we could be exposed to significant liability or cancellation of service under these agreements. The damages payable to the counterparty could be substantial and create loss of business. There can be no assurance that any limitation of liability provisions in our contracts will be enforceable or adequate or will otherwise protect us from these liabilities or damages with respect to any claim.

Many U.S. and foreign laws and regulations require companies to provide notice of data security breaches or incidents involving certain types of personal data. Security compromises experienced by competitors and others may lead to public disclosures, leading to widespread negative publicity. Such a security compromise in our industry, whether actual or perceived, could harm our reputation; erode investor confidence and negatively affect our ability to attract new investors; cause existing investors to divest, any or all of which could adversely affect our business and operating results. Even the perception of inadequate security may damage our reputation and negatively impact our ability to win new investors and retain existing investors.

Additionally, we could be required to expend significant capital and other resources to investigate and address any actual or suspected data security incident or breach. We cannot be sure that insurers will not deny coverage as to any claim, and some security breaches may be outside the scope of our coverage, including if they are considered force majeure events. Security breaches may result in increased costs for cybersecurity insurance and could have an adverse effect on our business, operating results, and financial condition.

We depend on various cloud service providers operated by third parties, and any service outages, delays, or disruptions in these operations could harm our business and operating results.

In our business we use various cloud service providers ("Cloud Providers") operated by third parties. As a result, we are vulnerable to service interruptions, delays, and outages attributable to their platforms. Our Cloud Providers may experience events such as natural disasters, fires, power loss, telecommunications failures, or similar events. The systems, infrastructure, and services of our Cloud Providers may also be subject to human or software errors, viruses, cybersecurity risks, fraud, spikes in usage, break-ins, sabotage, acts of vandalism, acts of terrorism, and other misconduct. The occurrence of any of the foregoing events could result in lengthy interruptions or delays in and may impact us via service outages and noncompliance with our contractual obligations or business requirements.

Further, we have experienced in the past, and may experience in the future, periodic interruptions, delays, and outages in service and availability with our Cloud Providers due to a variety of factors, including Internet connectivity failures, infrastructure changes, human or software errors, website hosting disruptions, and capacity constraints.

25

If we are unable to implement and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting in the future, investors may lose confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports and the market price of our Class A Common Stock may decline.

As a public company, we are required to maintain internal control over financial reporting and to report any material weaknesses in such internal control. In addition, in the future, we will be required to furnish a report by management on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act beginning with our annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2024. We are in the process of designing, implementing, and testing our internal control over financial reporting required to comply with this obligation, which is time consuming, costly, and complicated. In addition, our independent registered public accounting firm may be required to attest to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting beginning with our annual report on Form 10-K following the date on which we are no longer an "emerging growth company," which may be up to five full years following the date of our initial public offering. If we identify material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting is not effective, or if our independent registered public accounting firm is unable to express an opinion as to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting when required, investors may lose confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports and the market price of our Class A Common Stock could be negatively affected, and we could become subject to investigations by the stock exchange on which our securities are listed, the Securities and Exchange Commission, or other regulatory authorities, which could require additional financial and management resources.

Risks Related to Our Organizational Structure

The consolidation of investment funds or operating businesses of our portfolio companies could make it more difficult to understand the operating performance of the Company and could create operational risks for the Company.

Under applicable generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America ("U.S. GAAP"), we may be required to consolidate certain of our funds, limited liability companies, partnerships or operating businesses if we determine that these entities are variable interest entities ("VIEs") and where we determine that the Company is the primary beneficiary of the VIE. The consolidation of such entities could make it difficult for an investor to differentiate the assets, liabilities, and results of operations of the Company apart from the assets, liabilities, and results of operations of the consolidated VIEs. The assets of the consolidated VIEs are not available to meet our liquidity requirements. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, total assets of our consolidated VIEs reflected in our consolidated balance sheets were \$258.4 million and \$254.8 million, respectively, and as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, total liabilities of our consolidated VIEs reflected in our consolidated balance sheets were \$169.9 million and \$166.0 million, respectively.

Our Bylaws have an exclusive forum for adjudication of disputes provision which limits the forum to the Delaware Court of Chancery for certain stockholder litigation matters actions against the Company, which may limit an investor's ability to seek what they regard as a favorable judicial forum for disputes with the Company or its directors, officers, employees, or stockholders.

Section 7.06(a) of Article VII of our Bylaws dictates that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Delaware Court of Chancery (or, if the Delaware Court of Chancery does not have jurisdiction, the federal district court for the State of Delaware) is, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the sole and exclusive forum for certain actions including derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of the Company; an action asserting a breach of fiduciary duty owed by an officer, director, employee or to the stockholders of the Company; any claim arising under Delaware corporate law, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation or our amended and restated bylaws; and any action asserting a claim governed by the internal affairs doctrine. Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in shares of capital stock of the Company shall be deemed to have notice of and consented to the provisions of Section 7.06 of Article VII of our Bylaws.

However, Section 7.06(a) of Article VII of our Bylaws will not apply to suits brought to enforce any liability or duty created by the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Exchange Act") or any other claim for which the federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction. To the extent that any such claims may be based upon federal law claims, Section 27 of the Exchange Act creates exclusive federal jurisdiction over all suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Exchange Act or the rules and regulations thereunder.

Furthermore, unless the Company consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the federal district courts of the United States of America will be the exclusive forum for the resolution of any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), or the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder. We note, however, that Section 22 of the Securities Act creates concurrent jurisdiction for federal and state courts over all suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Securities Act or the rules and regulations thereunder. There is uncertainty as to whether a court would enforce this provision and that investors cannot waive compliance with the federal securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder.

A Delaware corporation is allowed to mandate in its corporate governance documents a chosen forum for the resolution of state law-based stockholder class actions, derivative suits and other intra-corporate disputes. With respect to such state law claims, the Company's management believes limiting state law-based claims to Delaware will provide the most appropriate outcomes as the risk of another forum misapplying Delaware law is avoided, Delaware courts have a well-developed body of case law and limiting the forum will preclude costly and duplicative litigation and avoids the risk of inconsistent outcomes. Additionally, Delaware Chancery Courts can typically resolve disputes on an accelerated schedule when compared to other forums.

The choice of forum provisions contained in the Company's Bylaws may limit a stockholder's ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with the Company or any of its directors, officers, other employees or stockholders, which may discourage lawsuits with respect to such claims. Alternatively, the enforceability of a similar choice of forum provisions in other issuers' bylaws and certificates of incorporation has been challenged in legal proceedings, and it is possible that in connection with any applicable action brought against the Company, a court could find the choice of forum provisions contained in the Company's Bylaws to be inapplicable or unenforceable in such action. As a result, the Company could incur additional costs associated with resolving such actions in other jurisdictions, which could harm the Company's business, operating results and financial condition.

If we were deemed to be an "investment company" under the Investment Company Act, applicable restrictions could make it impractical for us to continue our businesses as conducted and could have a material adverse effect on our businesses.

An entity will generally be deemed to be an "investment company" for purposes of the Investment Company Act if:

- · it is or holds itself out as being engaged primarily, or proposes to engage primarily, in the business of investing, reinvesting or trading in securities; or
- absent an applicable exemption, it owns or proposes to acquire investment securities having a value exceeding 40% of the value of its total assets (exclusive of U.S. government securities and cash items) on an unconsolidated basis.
- · Our exemptions from the registration requirements of an investment company under the Investment Company Act are threefold:
 - Our parent company does not meet the asset test component of the definition of "investment company" under the Investment Company Act as summarized above;
 - · Our investment subsidiaries qualify under the exemption afforded by Section 3(c)(5)(C) of the Investment Company Act; and
 - · Our intermediate subsidiaries qualify under the exemption afforded by Section 3(c)(6) of the Investment Company Act.

We are engaged primarily in the business of investing in and providing services for real estate and real estate-related assets and not primarily in the business of investing, reinvesting, or trading in securities. We hold ourselves out as a vertically integrated alternative asset management firm and do not propose to engage primarily in the business of investing, reinvesting or trading in securities. Accordingly, we do not believe that we are required to register as an investment company for purposes of the Investment Company Act. Furthermore, we have no material assets other than interests in certain wholly owned subsidiaries (within the meaning of the Investment Company Act), which in turn will have either direct interests in real estate assets or limited liability company member or limited partner partnership interests in affiliated funds. We do not believe that, based on current rules and interpretations, the equity interests in our wholly owned subsidiaries or the limited liability company member interests consolidated, or unconsolidated affiliated funds qualify as investment securities under the Investment Company Act.

27

The Investment Company Act and the rules thereunder contain detailed parameters for the organization and operation of investment companies. Among other things, the Investment Company Act and the rules thereunder limit or prohibit transactions with affiliates, impose limitations on the issuance of debt and equity securities, generally prohibit the issuance of options and impose certain governance requirements. We intend to conduct our operations so that we will not be deemed to be an investment company under the Investment Company Act, including limitations on capital structure, the ability to transact business with affiliates and the ability to compensate senior employees, could make it impractical for us to continue our businesses as currently conducted, impair the agreements and arrangements between and among us, our funds and our senior management, or any combination thereof, and have a material adverse effect on our businesses, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, we may be required to limit the amount of investments that we make as a principal or otherwise conduct our businesses in a manner that does not subject us to the registration and other requirements of the Investment Company Act.

Extensive regulation of our businesses affects our activities and creates the potential for significant liabilities and penalties. The possibility of increased regulatory focus could result in additional burdens on our business. Changes in tax law and other legislative or regulatory changes could adversely affect us.

Our fund management and ancillary businesses are subject to extensive regulation. We are subject to regulation, including periodic examinations, by governmental and self-regulatory organizations in the jurisdictions in which we operate. Many of these regulators are empowered to conduct investigations and administrative proceedings that can result in fines, suspensions of personnel or other sanctions, including censure, the issuance of cease-and-desist orders or the suspension or expulsion of a broker-dealer or investment adviser from registration or membership. Even if an investigation or proceeding did not result in a sanction or the sanction imposed against us or our personnel by a regulator were small in monetary amount, the adverse publicity relating to the investigation, proceeding or imposition of these sanctions could harm our reputation and cause us to lose existing clients or fail to gain new fund management or financial advisory clients.

In addition, we regularly rely on exemptions from various requirements of the Securities Act, the Exchange Act, the U.S. Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, or the Investment Company Act, and the U.S. Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, in conducting our fund management activities. These exemptions are sometimes highly complex and may in certain circumstances depend on compliance by third parties whom we do not control. If for any reason these exemptions were to become unavailable to us, we could become subject to regulatory action or third-party claims and our business could be materially and adversely affected. If we were deemed an "investment company" under the Investment Company Act, applicable restrictions could make it impractical for us to continue our business as conducted and could have a material adverse effect on our business.

In addition, we may be adversely affected by new or revised legislation or regulations imposed by governmental regulatory authorities or self-regulatory organizations that supervise the financial markets. We also may be adversely affected by changes in the interpretation or enforcement of existing laws and rules by these governmental authorities and self-regulatory organizations. It is impossible to determine the extent of the impact of any new laws, regulations or initiatives that may be proposed, or whether any of the proposals will become law. Compliance with any new laws or regulations could make compliance more difficult and expensive and affect the manner in which we conduct business.

Risks Related to this Offering and Ownership of Our Series AA Preferred Stock

There is no present market for the Series AA Preferred Stock, and we have arbitrarily set the price.

We have arbitrarily set the price of the Series AA Preferred Stock with reference to the general status of the securities market and other relevant factors. The offering price for the Series AA Preferred Stock should not be considered an indication of the actual value of such securities and is not based on our net worth or prior earnings. Although our Common Stock is quoted on the Nasdaq Capital Market, our Series AA Preferred Stock will not be eligible for quotation on the over-the-counter market. Accordingly, it will be very difficult for you to liquidate your shares of Series AA Preferred Stock, and we cannot assure you that such securities could be resold by you at the price you paid for them or at any other price.

We are not required to raise any minimum amount in this offering before we may utilize the funds received in this offering. Investors should be aware that there is no assurance that any monies beside their own will be invested in this Offering.

Because there is no minimum amount of subscriptions which we must receive before accepting funds in the offering, you will not be assured that we will have sufficient funds to execute our business plan or satisfy its working capital requirements and will bear the risk that we will be unable to secure the funds necessary to meet our current and anticipated financial obligations.

This offering is being conducted on a "best efforts" basis without a minimum and we may not be able to execute our growth strategy if the \$20.0 million maximum is not sold.

If you invest in our Series AA Preferred Stock and less than all of the offered shares of our Series AA Preferred Stock are sold, the risk of losing your entire investment will be increased. We are offering our Series AA Preferred Stock on a "best efforts" basis without a minimum, and we can give no assurance that all of the offered Series AA Preferred Stock will be sold. If less than \$20.0 million of Series AA Preferred Stock shares offered are sold, we may be unable to fund all the intended uses described in this offering circular from the net proceeds anticipated from this offering without obtaining funds from alternative sources or using working capital that we generate. Alternative sources of funding may not be available to us at what we consider to be a reasonable cost, and the working capital generated by us may not be sufficient to fund any uses not financed by offering net proceeds. No assurance can be given to you that any funds will be invested in this offering other than your own.

We cannot assure you that we will be able to pay dividends.

Our ability to pay dividends on our Series AA Preferred Stock is dependent on our ability to operate profitably and to generate cash from our operations and the operations of our subsidiaries. We cannot guarantee that we will be able to pay dividends as required by the terms of our Series AA Preferred Stock.

We may not have sufficient cash from our operations to enable us to pay dividends on our Series AA Preferred Stock following the payment of expenses.

Although dividends on the Series AA Preferred Stock will be cumulative (but not compounding), our board of directors must approve the actual payment of the dividends. We will pay monthly dividends on our Series AA Preferred Stock from funds legally available for such purpose when, as and if declared by our board of directors or any authorized committee thereof. Our board of directors can elect at any time or from time to time, and for an indefinite duration, not to pay any or all accumulated dividends. Our board of directors could do so for any reason. We may not have sufficient cash available each quarter to pay dividends. The amount of dividends we can pay depends upon the amount of cash we generate from and use in our operations, which may fluctuate significantly based on, among other things:

- · the level of our revenues and our results of operations;
- · prevailing economic and political conditions;
- · the effect of governmental regulations on the conduct of our business;

29

- · our ability to service and refinance any future indebtedness; and
- · our ability to raise additional funds through future offerings of securities to satisfy our capital needs.

In addition, if payment of dividends on the Series AA Preferred Stock for any dividend period would cause us to fail to comply with any applicable law, including the requirement under the Delaware General Corporation Law that dividends be paid out of surplus or net profits, we will not declare or pay a dividend for such dividend period. Our ability to pay dividends on the Series AA Preferred Stock may also be restricted or prohibited by the terms of any senior equity securities or indebtedness. The instruments governing the terms or future financings or refinancing of any borrowings may contain covenants that restrict our ability to pay dividends on the Series AA Preferred Stock. In the event that the payment of a dividend on the Series AA Preferred Stock would cause us to fail to comply with any applicable law or would be restricted or prohibited by the terms of any senior equity securities or indebtedness, holders of the Series AA Preferred Stock will not be entitled to receive any dividend for that dividend period, and the unpaid dividend will cease to accrue or be payable.

We cannot assure you that we will be able to redeem our Series AA Preferred Stock.

Our ability to redeem on our Series AA Preferred Stock is dependent on our ability to operate profitably and to generate cash from our operations and the operations of our operating businesses or from raising additional capital. We cannot guarantee that we will be able to redeem our Series AA Preferred Stock and may only be able to offer investors the ability to convert shares of Series AA Preferred Stock into shares of our Class A Common Stock.

Our management team will have broad discretion over the use of the net proceeds from our sale of the units, if any, and you may not agree with how we use the proceeds and the proceeds may not be invested successfully.

Our management team will have broad discretion as to the use of the net proceeds from our sale of the shares of Series AA Preferred Stock, if any, and we could use such proceeds for purposes other than those contemplated at the time of commencement of this offering. Accordingly, you will be relying on the judgment of our management team with regard to the use of those net proceeds, and you will not have the opportunity, as part of your investment decision, to assess whether the proceeds are being used appropriately. It is possible that, pending their use, we may invest those net proceeds in a way that does not yield a favorable, or any, return for us. The failure of our management team to use such funds effectively could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, operating results and cash flows.

We reserve the right to terminate this Offering at any time, regardless of the number of shares sold. In the event that we terminate this Offering at any time prior to the sale of all of the shares offered hereby, whatever amount of capital that we have raised at that time will have already been utilized by our company and no funds will be returned to subscribers.

We may issue additional debt and equity securities, which are senior to our Series AA Preferred Stock as to distributions and in liquidation, which could materially adversely affect the value of the Series AA Preferred Stock.

In the future, we may attempt to increase our capital resources by entering into additional debt or debt-like financing that is secured by all or up to all of our assets, or issuing debt or equity securities, which could include issuances of commercial paper, medium-term notes, senior notes, subordinated notes or shares. In the event of our liquidation, our lenders and holders of our debt securities would receive a distribution of our available assets before distributions to our stockholders. Any preferred securities, if issued by our company, may have a preference with respect to distributions and upon liquidation that is senior to the preference of the Series AA Preferred Stock, which could further limit our ability to make distributions to our stockholders. Because our decision to incur debt and issue securities in our future offerings will depend on market conditions and other factors beyond our control, we cannot predict or estimate the amount, timing or nature of our future offerings and debt financing.

30

Further, market conditions could require us to accept less favorable terms for the issuance of our securities in the future. Thus, you will bear the risk of our future offerings reducing the value of your Series AA Preferred Stock. In addition, we can change our leverage strategy from time to time without approval of holders of our Series AA Preferred Stock or Common Stock, which could materially and/or adversely affect the value of our Series AA Preferred Stock.

You will not have a vote or influence on the management of our company.

All decisions with respect to the management of our company will be made exclusively by the officers, directors, managers or employees of our company. You, as an investor in our Series AA Preferred Stock, have very limited voting rights and will have no ability to vote on issues of company management and will not have the right or power to take part in the management of our company and will not be represented on the board of directors of our company. Accordingly, no person should purchase our Series AA Preferred Stock unless he or she is willing to entrust all aspects of management to our company.

Risks Related to the Ownership of Our Class A Common Stock

The dual class structure of our common stock has the effect of concentrating voting control with our executive officers, which will limit your ability to influence the outcome of important transactions.

Our Class B common stock has 10 votes per share and our Class A Common Stock has one vote per share. John C. Loeffler, II, our Chief Executive Officer, and Jennifer Schrader, our President and Chief Operating Officer, own all of our outstanding shares of Class B common stock. Together Mr. Loeffler and Ms. Schrader currently exercise approximately 84.2% voting control over the Company as of December 31, 2023. As a result, if they act together, these stockholders will be able to exercise significant influence over all matters submitted to our stockholders for approval, including the election of directors and approval of significant corporate transactions, such as (i) making changes to our articles of incorporation whether to issue additional common stock and preferred stock, (ii) employment decisions, including compensation arrangements; and (iii) whether to enter into material transactions with related parties. This control may adversely affect the market price of our Class A Common Stock.

We may not be able to maintain a listing of our Class A Common Stock on Nasdaq.

Our Class A Common Stock is listed on Nasdaq, and we must meet certain financial and liquidity criteria to maintain such listing. If we violate Nasdaq's listing requirements, or if we fail to meet any of Nasdaq's listing standards, our Class A Common Stock may be delisted. In addition, our board of directors may determine that the cost of maintaining our listing on a national securities exchange outweighs the benefits of such listing. A delisting of our Class A Common Stock from Nasdaq may materially impair our stockholders' ability to buy and sell our Class A Common Stock and could have an adverse effect on the market price of, and the efficiency of the trading market for, our Class A Common Stock. The delisting of our Class A Common Stock could significantly impair our ability to raise capital and the value of your investment.

Our share price has in the past and may in the future fluctuate substantially.

The market price of our Class A Common Stock has in the past and could in the future be extremely volatile. From the date of our initial public offering in May 2023 to September 30, 2024, the high and low prices of our common stock as quoted on the Nasdaq Capital Market was \$13.00 and \$0.52, respectively. The future market price of our common stock may be significantly affected by many risk factors listed in this section, and others beyond our control, including:

- actual or anticipated fluctuations in our financial condition and operating results, including fluctuations in our quarterly and annual results;
- · overall conditions in our industry and the markets in which we operate or in the economy as a whole;
- · changes in laws or regulations applicable to our operations;

21

- actual or anticipated changes in our growth rate relative to our competitors;
- announcements by us or our competitors of significant acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures or capital commitments;
- · additions or departures of key personnel;
- · issuance of new or updated research or reports by securities analysts;
- · fluctuations in the valuation of companies perceived by investors to be comparable to us;
- · litigation matters;
- · announcement or expectation of additional financing efforts;
- · sales of our Class A Common Stock by us or our stockholders;

- · share price and volume fluctuations attributable to inconsistent trading volume levels of our shares;
- · the expiration of contractual lock-up agreements with our executive officers, directors and stockholders; and
- · general economic and market conditions.

Furthermore, the stock markets have experienced price and volume fluctuations that have affected and continue to affect the market prices of equity securities of many companies. These fluctuations often have been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of those companies. These broad market and industry fluctuations, as well as general economic, political, and market conditions such as recessions, interest rate changes or international currency fluctuations, may negatively impact the market price of our Class A Common Stock. In the past, companies that have experienced volatility in the market price of their stock have been subject to securities class action litigation. We may be the target of this type of litigation in the future. Securities litigation against us could result in substantial costs and divert our management's attention from other business concerns, which could seriously harm our business.

Future sales and issuances of our Class A Common Stock or rights to purchase Class A Common Stock, including pursuant to our equity incentive plans, could result in additional dilution of the percentage ownership of our stockholders and could cause the stock price of our Class A Common Stock to decline.

In the future, we may sell Common Stock, convertible securities or other equity securities in one or more transactions at prices and in a manner that we determine. We also expect to issue Class A Common Stock to employees, consultants, and directors pursuant to our equity incentive plans. If we sell common stock, convertible securities or other equity securities in subsequent transactions, or Class A Common Stock is issued pursuant to equity incentive plans, investors may be materially diluted. New investors in such subsequent transactions could gain rights, preferences and privileges senior to those of holders of our Class A Common Stock.

Our disclosure controls and procedures may not prevent or detect all errors or acts of fraud.

As a public company, we are subject to the periodic reporting requirements of the Exchange Act. We designed our disclosure controls and procedures to provide reasonable assurance that information we must disclose in reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to management, and recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the SEC. We believe that any disclosure controls and procedures, no matter how well-conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met.

32

These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of a simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by an unauthorized override of the controls. Accordingly, because of the inherent limitations in our control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.

If we fail to implement and maintain an effective system of internal control, we may be unable to accurately report our operating results, meet our reporting obligations, or prevent fraud.

As a public company, Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 requires that we include a report of management on our internal control over financial reporting in our annual report on Form 10-K, beginning with our annual report for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2024. In addition, once we cease to be an "emerging growth company" as such term is defined under the JOBS Act, our independent registered public accounting firm may be required to attest to and report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. Our management may conclude that our internal control over financial reporting is not effective. Moreover, even if our management concludes that our internal control over financial reporting is effective, our independent registered public accounting firm, after conducting its own independent testing, may issue a report that is qualified if it is not satisfied with our internal controls or the level at which our controls are documented, designed, operated or reviewed, or if it interprets the relevant requirements differently from us. In addition, as a public company, our reporting obligations may place a significant strain on our management, operational and financial resources and systems for the foreseeable future. We may be unable to timely complete our evaluation testing and any required remediation.

During the course of documenting and testing our internal control procedures, in order to satisfy the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, we may identify other weaknesses and deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting. In addition, if we fail to maintain the adequacy of our internal control over financial reporting, as these standards are modified, supplemented, or amended from time to time, we may not be able to conclude on an ongoing basis that we have effective internal control over financial reporting in accordance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Generally, if we fail to achieve and maintain an effective internal control environment, we could suffer material misstatements in our financial statements and fail to meet our reporting obligations, which would likely cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial information. This could in turn limit our access to capital markets and harm our results of operations. Additionally, ineffective internal control over financial reporting could expose us to increased risk of fraud or misuse of corporate assets and subject us to potential delisting from the stock exchange on which we list, regulatory investigations, and civil or criminal sanctions.

We are an emerging growth company, and we cannot be certain if the reduced reporting requirements applicable to emerging growth companies will make our Class A Common Stock less attractive to investors.

We are an emerging growth company, as defined in the JOBS Act. For as long as we continue to be an emerging growth company, we may take advantage of exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies, including not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in proxy statements and exemptions from the requirements of holding nonbinding advisory votes on executive compensation and stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved. We could be an emerging growth company until 2028, although circumstances could cause us to lose that status earlier. We will remain an emerging growth company until the earlier of (i) the last day of the fiscal year (a) following the fifth anniversary of the completion of our initial public offering, (b) in which we have total annual gross revenue of at least \$1.235 billion or (c) in which we are deemed to be a large accelerated filer, which requires the market value of our common stock that is held by non-affiliates to exceed \$700.0 million as of the prior June 30th, and (ii) the date on which we have issued more than \$1.0 billion in non-convertible debt during the prior three-year period.

Even after we no longer qualify as an emerging growth company, we may still qualify as a "smaller reporting company" which would allow us to take advantage of many of the same exemptions from disclosure requirements including not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy statements. We cannot predict if investors will find our common stock less attractive because we may rely on these exemptions. If some investors find our common stock less attractive as a result, there may be a less active trading market for our common stock, and our stock price may be more volatile.

Under the JOBS Act, emerging growth companies can also delay adopting new or revised accounting standards until such time as those standards apply to private companies. We have elected to avail ourselves of this exemption and, therefore, we are not subject to the same new or revised accounting standards as other public companies that are not emerging growth companies. As a result, changes in rules of U.S. generally accepted accounting principles or their interpretation, the adoption of new guidance or the application of existing guidance to changes in our business could significantly affect our financial position and results of operations.

We are a "controlled company" within the meaning of the listing rules of Nasdaq and, as a result, can rely on exemptions from certain corporate governance requirements that provide protection to stockholders of other companies.

John C. Loeffler, II, our Chief Executive Officer, and Jennifer Schrader, our President and Chief Operating Officer, through ownership of all our outstanding shares of Class B common stock, control a majority of the voting power of our outstanding common stock. As a result, are a "controlled company" within the meaning of the corporate governance standards of Nasdaq. Under these rules, a company of which more than 50% of the voting power is held by an individual, group or another company is a "controlled company" but may elect not to comply with certain corporate governance requirements, including:

- the requirement that a majority of our Board of Directors consist of "independent directors";
- the requirement that we have a compensation committee that is composed entirely of independent directors with a written charter addressing the committee's purpose and responsibilities; and
- the requirement that we have a nominating and corporate governance committee that is composed entirely of independent directors with a written charter addressing the committee's purpose and responsibilities.

Although we do not intend to rely on the "controlled company" exemptions to Nasdaq's corporate governance rules, we could elect to rely on these exemptions in the future. If we elected to rely on the "controlled company" exemptions, a majority of the members of our board of directors might not be independent directors, our nominating and corporate governance and compensation committees might not consist entirely of independent directors, and you would not have the same protection afforded to shareholders of companies that are subject to Nasdaq's corporate governance rules.

If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or publish unfavorable research about our business, our stock price and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our Class A Common Stock will be influenced by the research and reports that industry or securities analysts publish about us or our business. If one or more of these analysts ceases coverage of our Company or fails to publish reports on us regularly, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which in turn could cause our stock price or trading volume to decline. Moreover, if our operating results do not meet the expectations of the investor community, one or more of the analysts who cover our Company may change their recommendations regarding our Company, and our stock price could decline.

Our charter documents and Delaware law and the voting control exercised by our founders could prevent a takeover that stockholders consider favorable and could also reduce the market price of our stock.

Our third amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws contain provisions that could delay or prevent a change in control of our Company. These provisions could also make it more difficult for stockholders to elect directors and take other corporate actions. These provisions include:

authorizing our board of directors to issue preferred stock with voting or other rights or preferences that could discourage a takeover attempt or delay changes in control;

34

- · prohibiting stockholder action by written consent;
- · limiting the persons who may call special meetings of stockholders; and
- · requiring advance notification of stockholder nominations and proposals.

These provisions may frustrate or prevent any attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management by making it more difficult for stockholders to replace members of our board of directors, which is responsible for appointing the members of our management. In addition, the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporate Law ("DGCL") govern us. These provisions may prohibit large stockholders, in particular those owning 15% or more of our outstanding voting stock, from merging or combining with us for a certain period of time without the consent of our board of directors.

These and other provisions in our third amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws and under Delaware law, together with the voting control possessed by our founders, could discourage potential takeover attempts, reduce the price investors might be willing to pay in the future for shares of our common stock and result in the market price of our common stock being lower than it would be without these provisions.

Claims for indemnification by our directors and officers may reduce our available funds to satisfy successful third-party claims against us and may reduce the amount of money available to us.

Our third amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws provide that we will indemnify our directors and officers, in each case to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law.

In addition, as permitted by Section 145 of the DGCL, our amended and restated bylaws and our indemnification agreements that we have entered into with our directors and officers provide that:

- we will indemnify our directors and officers for serving us in those capacities or for serving other business enterprises at our request, to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law. Delaware law provides that a corporation may indemnify such person if such person acted in good faith and in a manner such person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the registrant and, with respect to any criminal proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe such person's conduct was unlawful;
- · we may, in our discretion, indemnify employees and agents in those circumstances where indemnification is permitted by applicable law;
- we are required to advance expenses, as incurred, to our directors and officers in connection with defending a proceeding, except that such directors or officers shall undertake to repay such advances if it is ultimately determined that such person is not entitled to indemnification;
- we will not be obligated pursuant to our amended and restated bylaws to indemnify a person with respect to proceedings initiated by that person against us or our other indemnitees, except with respect to proceedings authorized by our board of directors or brought to enforce a right to indemnification;

- the rights conferred in our amended and restated bylaws are not exclusive, and we are authorized to enter into indemnification agreements with our directors, officers, employees and agents and to obtain insurance to indemnify such persons; and
- we may not retroactively amend our amended and restated bylaw provisions to reduce our indemnification obligations to directors, officers, employees and agents.

35

USE OF PROCEEDS

We estimate that we will receive net proceeds of approximately \$17.8 if the maximum number of shares of Series AA Preferred Stock being offered are sold after deducting the estimated sales commissions, managing dealer fees and offering expenses payable by us.

We currently intend that we may use up to \$10.0 million of the net proceeds from this offering to retire outstanding promissory notes; to the extent a lesser amount of such notes are retired, the remaining amount will be used for general and working capital purposes. Such promissory notes bear interest at 12%, having due dates between December 2024 and April 2025.

We intend to use the remaining net proceeds from this offering, if any, for general corporate and working capital purposes.

Our participating broker-dealers will receive (a) selling commissions of 5.0% of gross proceeds on the sale of the Series AA Preferred Stock and (b) a reallowance fee of up to 1.00% of gross offering proceeds, which commissions and fees may be waived in the sole discretion of the participating broker-dealers. Our managing dealer will receive (a) a managing dealer fee of up to 1.0% of the gross proceeds of the offering and (b) a wholesaling fee of up to 1.0% of gross offering proceeds on the sale of the Series AA Preferred Stock or, collectively, Selling Commissions and Expenses. All Selling Commissions and Expenses will be paid to the participating broker-dealers or ARKap Markets, LLC as our managing dealer, who may reallow all or any portion of the selling commissions and reallowance to Selling Group Members. Selling Commissions and Expenses will not exceed 8.0% of the gross proceeds of Series AA Preferred Stock. Total underwriting compensation to be received by or paid to participating FINRA member brokers or dealers, including commissions, reallowance fee, managing dealer fee, and wholesaling fee will not exceed 8.0% of proceeds raised with the assistance of those participating FINRA member dealers.

The following table below sets forth the uses of proceeds assuming the sale of 25%, 50%, 75% and 100% of the securities offered for sale in this offering by us. For further discussion, see the section entitled "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations."

	25%	6 of Offering Sold	50% of Offering Sold		75% of Offering Sold		100% of Offering Sol	
Offering Proceeds				_	<u> </u>	_		_
Shares Sold		200,000		400,000		600,000		800,000
Gross Proceeds	\$	5,000,000	\$	10,000,000	\$	15,000,000	\$	20,000,000
Sales Commissions and Reallowance Fees (%)	\$	300,000	\$	600,000	\$	900,000	\$	1,200,000
Managing Dealer and Wholesaling Fees (%)	\$	100,000	\$	200,000	\$	300,000	\$	400,000
Net Proceeds Before Expenses	\$	4,600,000	\$	9,200,000	\$	13,800,000	\$	18,400,000
Offering Expenses								
Legal & Accounting	\$	125,000	\$	125,000	\$	125,000	\$	125,000
Publishing/EDGAR	\$	5,000	\$	5,000	\$	5,000	\$	5,000
Transfer Agent	\$	5,000	\$	5,000	\$	5,000	\$	5,000
Total Offering Expenses	\$	135,000	\$	135,000	\$	135,000	\$	135,000
Amount of Offering Proceeds Available for Use	\$	4,365,000	\$	8,865,000	\$	13,365,000	\$	17,865,000
<u>Uses</u>								
Repayment of Outstanding Promissory Notes ⁽¹⁾	\$	3,000,000	\$	7,000,000	\$	10,000,000	\$	10,000,000
General Corporate Purposes	\$	1,365,000	\$	1,865,000	\$	3,365,000	\$	7,865,000
Total Expenditures	\$	4,365,000	\$	8,865,000	\$	13,365,000	\$	17,865,000
Net Remaining Proceeds	¢		ø		ď		e.	
The Remaining Froceus	3		Ф		\$		\$	

(1) We currently intend that we may use up to \$10.0 million of the net proceeds from this offering to retire outstanding promissory notes; to the extent a lesser amount of such notes are retired, the remaining amount will be used for general and working capital purposes.

36

As of the date of this offering circular and except as explicitly set forth herein, we cannot specify with certainty all of the particular uses of the net proceeds from this offering. Pending use of the net proceeds from this offering as described above, we may invest the net proceeds in short-term interest-bearing investment grade instruments.

The expected use of net proceeds from this offering represents our intentions based upon our current plans and business conditions, which could change in the future as our plans and business conditions evolve and change. The amounts and timing of our actual expenditures, specifically with respect to working capital, may vary significantly depending on numerous factors. As a result, our management will retain broad discretion over the allocation of the net proceeds from this offering.

The above description of the anticipated use of proceeds is not binding on us and is merely description of our current intentions. We reserve the right to change the above use of proceeds if management believes it is in the best interests of our company.

HOW TO INVEST

Who May Invest

Investors must comply with the 10% limitation on investment in the offering, as prescribed in Rule 251. The only investor in this offering exempt from this limitation is an accredited investor, an "Accredited Investor," as defined under Rule 501 of Regulation D.

Determination of Suitability

The Selling Group Members and registered investment advisors recommending the purchase of Series AA Preferred Stock in this offering have the responsibility to make every reasonable effort to determine that your purchase of Series AA Preferred Stock in this offering is a suitable and appropriate investment for you based on information provided by you regarding your financial situation and investment objectives. In making this determination, these persons have the responsibility to ascertain that you:

- · meet the minimum income and net worth standards set forth under "Plan of Distribution Who May Invest" above;
- can reasonably benefit from an investment in the Series AA Preferred Stock based on your overall investment objectives and portfolio structure;
- · are able to bear the economic risk of the investment based on your overall financial situation;
- are in a financial position appropriate to enable you to realize to a significant extent the benefits described in this offering circular of an investment in the Series AA Preferred Stock; and
- have apparent understanding of:
 - the fundamental risks of the investment;
 - the risk that you may lose your entire investment;
 - the lack of liquidity of the Series AA Preferred Stock;
 - the restrictions on transferability of the Series AA Preferred Stock; and
 - the tax consequences of your investment

Subscription Agreement

All investors will be required to complete and execute a subscription agreement in the form included as an exhibit to this offering circular. Subscription agreements may be submitted in paper form and should be delivered to UMB Bank, N.A., Attn: Lara Stevens, Corporate Trust & Escrow Services, 928 Grand Blvd, 12th Fl, Kansas City, MO 64106. Subscriptions may also be submitted electronically, if electronic subscription agreements and signature are made available to you by your registered representative or financial adviser. Generally, when submitting a subscription agreement electronically, a prospective investor will be required to agree to various terms and conditions by checking boxes and to review and electronically sign any necessary documents. You may pay the purchase price by check, ACH or wire of your subscription purchase price in accordance with the instructions in the subscription agreement. All checks should be made payable to "UMB Bank Escrow Agent for CaliberCos Inc." We will hold closings on the first and third Thursday of each month assuming there are funds to close.

Once a subscription has been submitted and accepted by the Company, an investor will not have the right to request the return of its subscription payment prior to the next closing date. If subscriptions are received on a closing date and accepted by the Company prior to such closing, any such subscriptions will be closed on that closing date. If subscriptions are received on a closing date but not accepted by the Company prior to such closing, any such subscriptions will be closed on the next closing date. It is expected that settlement will occur two business days following each closing date. Two business days after the closing date, offering proceeds for that closing will be disbursed to us and the Series AA Preferred Stock will be issued to the investors in the offering. If the Company is dissolved or liquidated after the acceptance of a subscription, the respective subscription payment will be returned to the subscriber.

37

By completing and executing your subscription agreement you will also acknowledge and represent that you have received a copy of this offering circular, your rights and responsibilities regarding your Series AA Preferred Stock will be governed by the offering circular.

Book-Entry, Transfer Agent and DTC

We have engaged ClearTrust LLC as the transfer agent for this offering. Shares of Series AA Preferred Stock are issued to investors in book-entry only format. The transfer agent will record and maintain records of the shares of Series AA Preferred Stock issued by us.

We intend to gain eligibility for the shares of Series AA Preferred Stock to be issued and held through the book-entry systems and procedures of Depository Trust Corporation, or "DTC", and intend for all shares of Series AA Preferred Stock purchased through DTC participants to be held via DTC's book-entry systems and to be held in the name of DTC, or its nominee, Cede & Co. (DTC's nominee) on the books of the transfer agent.

So long as DTC, or its nominee, Cede & Co., is the registered owner of the shares of Series AA Preferred Stock purchased through DTC participants, such nominee will be considered the sole owner and holder of those shares of Series AA Preferred Stock for all purposes. Owners of beneficial interests in those shares of Series AA Preferred Stock will not be entitled to have the shares of Series AA Preferred Stock registered in their names and will not be considered the owners or holders of the shares of Series AA Preferred Stock, including for purposes of receiving any reports delivered by us. Accordingly, each person owning a beneficial interest in a share of Series AA Preferred Stock registered to DTC or its nominee must rely on either the procedures of DTC or its nominee in order to exercise any rights of a holder of shares of Series AA Preferred Stock.

As a result:

- all references in this offering circular to actions taken either by holders of our Series AA Preferred Stock will refer to actions taken by holders of Series AA Preferred Stock who have not purchased their shares of Series AA Preferred Stock through a DTC participant or by DTC upon instructions from its direct participants; and
- all references in this offering circular to payments and notices to holders of Series AA Preferred Stock will refer either to (i) payments and notices to DTC or Cede & Co. for distribution to you in accordance with DTC procedures, or (ii) or payments or notices to holders of Series AA Preferred Stock who have not purchased their units through a DTC participant.

DTC is required to make book-entry transfers on behalf of its direct participants and is required to receive and transmit payments of principal, premium, if any, and dividends on the Series AA Preferred Stock. Any direct participant or indirect participant with which you have an account is similarly required to make book-entry transfers and to receive and transmit payments with respect to the Series AA Preferred Stock on your behalf. We have no responsibility for any aspect of the actions of DTC or any of its direct or indirect participants. In addition, we have no responsibility or liability for any aspect of the records kept by DTC or any of its direct or indirect participants relating to or payments made on account of beneficial ownership interests in the Series AA Preferred Stock or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any records relating to such beneficial ownership interests. We also do not supervise these systems in any way.

You can only exercise the rights of a Series AA Preferred Stock holder indirectly through DTC and its direct participants, as applicable. DTC has advised us that it will only take action regarding Series AA Preferred Stock if one or more of the direct participants to whom the Series AA Preferred Stock is credited directs DTC to take such action and only in respect of the portion of the aggregate amount of the Series AA Preferred Stock as to which that participant or participants has or have given that direction. DTC can only act on behalf of its direct participants. Your ability to pledge Series AA Preferred Stock, and to take other actions, may be limited because you will not possess a physical certificate that represents your Series AA Preferred Stock.

If the global shares certificate representing Series AA Preferred Stock is held by DTC, conveyance of notices and other communications to the beneficial owners, and vice versa, will occur via DTC. The issuer will communicate directly with DTC. DTC will then communicate to direct participants. The direct participants will communicate with the indirect participants, if any. Then, direct participants and indirect participants will communicate to beneficial owners. Such communications will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time.

The Depository Trust Company

We have obtained the information in this section concerning DTC and its book-entry systems and procedures from sources that we believe to be reliable. The description of the clearing system in this section reflects our understanding of the rules and procedures of DTC as they are currently in effect. DTC could change its rules and procedures at any time.

DTC will act as securities depositary for the VIP Bonds registered in the name of its nominee, Cede & Co. DTC is:

- · a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New York Banking Law;
- · a "banking organization" under the New York Banking Law;
- · a member of the Federal Reserve System;
- a "clearing corporation" under the New York Uniform Commercial Code; and
- a "clearing agency" registered under the provisions of Section 17A of the Exchange Act.

38

DTC holds securities that its direct participants deposit with DTC. DTC facilitates the settlement among direct participants of securities transactions, such as transfers and pledges, in deposited securities through electronic computerized book-entry changes in direct participants' accounts, thereby eliminating the need for physical movement of securities certificates.

Direct participants of DTC include securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations and certain other organizations. DTC is owned by a number of its direct participants. Indirect participants of DTC, such as securities brokers and dealers, banks, and trust companies, can also access the DTC system if they maintain a custodial relationship with a direct participant.

Purchases of Series AA Preferred Stock under DTC's system must be made by or through direct participants, which will receive a credit for the Series AA Preferred Stock on DTC's records. The ownership interest of each beneficial owner is in turn to be recorded on the records of direct participants and indirect participants. Beneficial owners will not receive written confirmation from DTC of their purchase, but beneficial owners are expected to receive written confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the direct participants or indirect participants through which such beneficial owners entered into the transaction. Transfers of ownership interests in the Series AA Preferred Stock are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of participants acting on behalf of beneficial owners. Beneficial owners will not receive certificates representing their ownership interests in Series AA Preferred Stock.

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to direct participants, by direct participants to indirect participants and by direct participants and indirect participants to beneficial owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time.

Registrar and Paying Agent

We have designated ClearTrust LLC as paying agent. ClearTrust LLC will also act as registrar for the Series AA Preferred Stock. As such, ClearTrust LLC will make payments on the Series AA Preferred Stock to the holders of Series AA Preferred Stock, if such holders are holders of record on the books of our transfer agent, or to Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, if the shares of Series AA Preferred Stock are purchased through DTC participants and held in the name of DTC, or its nominee, Cede & Co. (DTC's nominee) on the books of the transfer agent. The Series AA Preferred Stock will be issued in book-entry form only.

Arkadios Capital LLC ("Arkadios")

Arkadios will serve as the trading agent for the offering. Arkadios is not making a market for, utilizing an ATS to trade, or engaging to distribute this offering. Arkadios will affect DTC trades for selling group members who choose to transact electronically through the DTC system. The Company or ARKap Markets LLC, as the managing dealer, will aggregate trading instructions (subscriptions) which will then be sent to Arkadios for execution. Arkadios will coordinate with ClearTrust LLC to allocate the requested Series AA Preferred Stock for purchase by the selling group members and distribute accordingly. Arkadios will not take a position in the offering outside of the purposes of affecting trades, unless they themselves are participating in the selling group and have trade requests from their clients. As a trading agent, Arkadios's role is entirely operational, and it is only compensated based on the volume transacted on the DTC platform; paid as a reallowance of the managing dealer fee.

39

DETERMINATION OF OFFERING PRICE

There is no trading market for our Series AA Preferred Stock, and we do not expect any trading market to develop for the Series AA Preferred Stock. The Series AA Preferred Stock will be sold at \$25.00 per share and it is expected that we will either redeem the Series AA Preferred Stock at a redemption price equal to 100% of such original issue price, plus accrued dividends thereon, or that holders of the Series AA Preferred Stock will exercise their right to request that we redeem or repurchase the Series AA Preferred Stock at a redemption or repurchase price equal to 100% of such original issue price, plus accrued dividends thereon, and less certain redemption fees payable if shares are redeemed in the first three years. Accordingly, the \$25.00 price per share of Series AA Preferred Stock is arbitrary and represents the amount of investment made by an investor for purposes of determining the redemption and repurchase price. The principal factors considered in determining the initial public offering price include:

- · the information set forth in this offering circular;
- our history and prospects and the history of and prospects for the industry in which we compete;
- · our past and present financial performance;
- · our prospects for the future earnings and the present state of our development;
- the general condition of the securities markets at the time of this offering;
- the recent market price of, and demand for, publicly traded common stock of generally comparable companies; and
- other factors deemed relevant by us.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Dividends on our Series AA Preferred Stock being offered will be cumulative and payable monthly in arrears to all holders of record on the applicable record date. Holders of our Series AA Preferred Stock will be entitled to receive cumulative monthly cash dividends at a per annum rate of 9.5% of the stated value of the Series AA Preferred Stock (or \$0.198 per share each month based on the initial stated value). Dividends on each share of Series AA Preferred Stock will begin accruing on, and will be cumulative from, the date of issuance and regardless of whether our board of directors declares and pays such dividends. Holders of our Series A Preferred Stock as of the applicable record date will be entitled to receive non-cumulative dividends payable annually, at the Company's option, (i) in cash or (ii) in shares of the Company's Class A common stock, at a price per share of Class A Common Stock equal to the lower of (A) the average closing price of Class A Common Stock as quoted on the principal trading

market, if any, in which the shares of Class A Common Stock then trade ("Principal Market") for the five trading days immediately preceding the date of issuance, or (B) the closing price of the Class A Common Stock as quoted on the Principal Market on the trading day prior to the date of issuance, but in no event less than \$1.00 per share. If our certificate of incorporation, provisions of Delaware law or our borrowing agreements prohibit us from paying dividends, unpaid dividends will accumulate.

Our anticipated source of funds to pay the cumulative dividends for our Series AA Preferred Stock and non-cumulative dividends for our Series A Preferred Stock will be from net operating income, retained earnings and the proceeds of the refinancing of our other indebtedness. We believe that our net operating income will increase as we deploy the funds raised in this offering in a manner consistent with the use of proceeds described in this offering circular. We expect that our retained earnings will increase as we increase net operating income, and we expect to refinance other indebtedness on our properties based upon our increased net operating income and then use the proceeds of such refinancings along with our retained earnings to repay investors.

See also "Risk Factors—Risks Related to this Offering and Ownership of Our Series AA Preferred Stock—We cannot assure you that we will be able to pay dividends"

We have never declared dividends or paid cash dividends on our Common Stock. Our board of directors will make any future decisions regarding dividends. We currently intend to retain and use any future earnings for the development and expansion of our business and do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the near future. Our board of directors has complete discretion on whether to pay dividends. Even if our board of directors decides to pay dividends, the form, frequency and amount will depend upon our future operations and earnings, capital requirements and surplus, general financial condition, contractual restrictions and other factors that the board of directors may deem relevant.

40

MARKET FOR COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Market Information

Our Class A Common Stock is quoted on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol "CWD." The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high and low closing prices of our Class A Common Stock. These prices reflect inter-dealer prices, without retain mark-up or commission, and may not represent actual transactions.

	 Closing Prices		
	High	Low	
Fiscal Year Ending December 31, 2024	 		
1st Quarter	\$ 1.46 \$	0.90	
2nd Quarter	\$ 1.03 \$	0.79	
3rd Quarter	\$ 0.86 \$	0.52	
4th Quarter (through December 3, 2024)	\$ 0.71 \$	0.44	
Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2023			
2nd Quarter	\$ 7.70 \$	1.85	
3rd Quarter	\$ 2.14 \$	1.25	
4th Quarter	\$ 1.74 \$	1.29	

Holders

As of September 30, 2024, there were approximately 1,519 registered holders of our Class A Common Stock. This number excludes the shares owned by stockholders holding shares under nominee security position listings.

41

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following management's discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations provides information that management believes is relevant to an assessment and understanding of our plans and financial condition. The following selected financial information is derived from our historical financial statements should be read in conjunction with such financial statements and notes thereto set forth elsewhere herein and the "Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements" explanation included herein.

Overview

Over the past 15 years, Caliber has grown into a leading diversified alternative asset management firm, managing more than \$2.9 billion in assets under management ("AUM") and assets under development ("AUD"). Caliber's primary goal is to enhance the wealth of accredited investors seeking to make investments in middle-market assets. We strive to build wealth for our clients by creating, managing, and servicing middle-market investment funds, private syndications, and direct investments. Through our funds, we invest primarily in real estate, private equity, and debt facilities. We market and fundraise to direct channels and to wholesale channels.

We believe that we provide investors attractive risk-adjusted returns by offering a balance of (i) structured offerings and ease of ownership, (ii) a pipeline of investment opportunities, primarily projects that range in value between \$5.0 million and \$50.0 million, and (iii) an integrated execution and processing platform. Our investment strategy leverages the local market intelligence and real-time data we gain from our operations to evaluate current investments, generate proprietary transaction flow, and implement various asset management strategies.

As an alternative asset manager, we offer a full suite of support services and employ a vertically integrated approach to investment management. Our asset management activities are complemented with transaction and advisory services including development and construction management, acquisition and disposition expertise, and fund formation, which we believe differentiate us from other asset management firms. We earn the following fees from providing these services under our asset management platform:

· Fund set-up fees are a one-time fee for the initial formation, administration, and set-up of fund products we distribute and manage. These fees are recognized at the point in time when the performance under the contract is complete.

- · Fund management fees are generally based on 1.0% to 1.5% of the unreturned capital contributions in a particular fund and include reimbursement for costs incurred on behalf of the fund, including an allocation of certain overhead costs. These customer contracts require the Company to provide management services, representing a performance obligation that the Company satisfies over time. With respect to the Caliber Hospitality Trust, the Company earns a fund management fee of 0.70% of the Caliber Hospitality Trust's enterprise value and is reimbursed for certain costs incurred on behalf of the Caliber Hospitality Trust.
- Financing fees are earned for services the Company performs in securing third-party financing on behalf of our private equity real estate funds. These fees are recognized at the point in time when the performance under the contract is complete, which is essentially upon closing of a loan. In addition, the Company earns fees for guaranteeing certain loans, representing a performance obligation that the Company satisfies over time.
- Real estate development revenues are generally based on 4.0% of the total expected costs of the development or 4.0% of the total expected costs of the construction project for services performed as the principal developer, which include managing and supervising third-party developers and general contractors with respect to the development of the properties owned by the funds. Prior to the commencement of construction, development fee revenue is recognized at a point in time as the related performance obligations are satisfied and the customer obtains control of the promised service, including negotiation, due diligence, entitlements, planning, and design activities. During the construction period, development fee revenue is recognized over time as the performance obligations are satisfied.

42

- · Brokerage fees are earned at a point in time at fixed rates for services performed related to acquisitions, dispositions, leasing, and financing transactions.
- Performance allocations are an arrangement in which we are entitled to an allocation of investment returns, generated within the investment funds which we manage, based on a contractual formula. We typically receive 15.0% to 35.0%, of all cash distributions from (i) the operating cash flow of each fund, after payment to the related fund investors of any accumulated and unpaid priority preferred returns and repayment of preferred capital contributions; and (ii) the cash flow resulting from the sale or refinance of any real estate assets held by each fund, after payment to the related fund investors of any accumulated and unpaid priority preferred returns and repayment of initial preferred capital contributions. Our funds' preferred returns range from 6.0% to 12.0%, typically 6.0% for common equity or 10.0% to 12.0% for preferred equity, which does not participate in profits. Performance allocations are related to services which have been provided and are recognized when it is determined that they are no longer probable of significant reversal, which is generally satisfied when an underlying fund investment is realized or sold.

Historically, the Company's operations were organized into three reportable segments: fund management, development, and brokerage. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company reevaluated its reportable segments, considering (i) the evolution of the Company after closing its initial public offering and how the Company's chief operating decision maker ("CODM"), the Company's Chief Executive Officer, assesses performance and allocates resources, (ii) changes to the budgeting process and in key personnel driven by the Company's growth initiatives, and (iii) how management reports ongoing company performance to the Board of Directors. With the evolution and growth of the Company, the Company's CODM assesses performance and resource allocation on an aggregate basis under the Company's asset management platform, and no longer reviews operating results for development or brokerage activity separately. As such, management concluded that the Company operates through one operating segment.

The Company's CODM assesses revenue, operating expenses and key operating statistics to evaluate performance and allocate resources on a basis that eliminates the impact of the consolidated investment funds (intercompany eliminations required by U.S. GAAP) and noncontrolling interests. Management concluded that the consolidated investment funds do not meet the requirements in ASC 280, Segment Reporting, of operating segments, as the Company's CODM does not review the operating results of these investment funds for the purposes of allocating resources, assessing performance or determining whether additional investments or advances will be made to these funds. The investment funds are consolidated based on the requirement in ASC 810, Consolidation, as the Company was determined to be the primary beneficiary of each of these variable interest entities since it has the power to direct the activities of the entities and the right to absorb losses, generally in the form of guarantees of indebtedness that are significant to the individual investment funds.

Caliber was originally founded as Caliber Companies, LLC, an Arizona limited liability company, organized under the laws of Arizona, and commenced operations in January 2009. In November 2014, the Company was reorganized as a Nevada corporation and in June 2018, we reincorporated in the state of Delaware. On our website we make available, free of charge, information about the Company and its' investments. None of the information on our website is deemed to be part of this report.

Trends Affecting Our Business

Our business is driven by trends which affect the following:

1) Capital formation: any trend which increases or decreases investors' knowledge of alternative investments, desire to acquire them, access to acquire them, and knowledge and appreciation of Caliber as a potential provider, will affect our ability to attract and raise new capital. Capital formation also drives investment acquisitions, which contribute to Caliber's revenues.

43

- 2) **Investment acquisition:** any trend which increases or decreases the supply of middle-market real estate projects or loans, the accessibility of developments or development incentives, or enhances or detracts from Caliber's ability to access those projects will affect our ability to generate revenue. Coincidentally, investment acquisitions, or the rights to acquire an investment, drive capital formation creating a flywheel effect for Caliber.
- 3) **Project execution:** any trend which increases or decreases the costs of execution on a real estate project, including materials pricing, labor pricing, access to materials, delays due to governmental action, and the general labor market, will affect Caliber's ability to generate revenues.

Our business depends in large part on our ability to raise capital for our funds from investors. Since our inception, we have continued to successfully raise capital into our funds with our total capital raised through September 30, 2024 of approximately \$710.5 million. Our success at raising new capital into our funds is impacted by the extent to which new investors see alternative assets as a viable option for capital appreciation and/or income generation. Since our ability to raise new capital into our funds is dependent upon the availability and willingness of investors to direct their investment dollars into our products, our financial performance is sensitive in part to changes in overall economic conditions that affect investment behaviors. The demand from investors is dependent upon the type of asset, the type of return it will generate (current cash flow, long-term capital gains, or both) and the actual return earned by our fund investors relative to other comparable or substitute products. General economic factors and conditions, including the general interest rate environment and unemployment rates, may affect an investor's ability and desire to invest in real estate. For example, a significant interest rate increase could cause a projected rate of return to be insufficient after considering other risk exposures. Additionally, if weakness in the economy emerges and actual or expected default rates increase, investors in our funds may delay or reduce their investments; however, we believe our approach to investing and the capabilities that Caliber manages throughout the deal cycle will continue to offer an attractive value proposition to investors.

In June 2023, the United States of America's House of Representatives unanimously approved legislation that would increase the number of investors who can participate in private offerings of securities by expanding the accredited investor criteria. The Fair Investment Opportunities for Professional Experts Act would expand the definition of accredited investor to include people with certain licenses, education or professional experience. The Accredited Investor Definition Review Act would give the SEC discretion to determine the certifications, designations or credentials investors must possess to be accredited and directs the SEC to review the accredited investor definition every five years. We believe these government actions will increase the size of our potential investor base significantly, however we cannot yet assess the number of newly accredited investors that would have the ability or interest to invest in a Caliber fund.

While we have had historical successes, there can be no assurance that fundraising for our new and existing funds will experience similar success. If we were unable to raise such capital, we would be unable to deploy such capital into investments, which would materially reduce our revenues and cash flow and adversely affect our financial condition

We remain confident about our ability to find, identify, and source new investment opportunities that meet the requirements and return profile of our investment funds despite headwinds associated with increased asset valuations, competition and increased overall cost of credit. We continue to identify strategic acquisitions on off-market terms and anticipate that this trend will continue. We are at a point in our investment cycle where some of our funds have begun to exit significant parts of their portfolios while other are approaching a potential harvesting phase. We have complemented these cycles with other newer funds that will maintain management fees while providing continued sources of activity.

In February 2023, we expanded our access to institutional capital by entering into an agreement with Skyway Capital Markets to serve as a managing broker-dealer for our primary investment products. The agreement designates Skyway to assist us to raise capital primarily from third party broker-dealers and registered investment advisors, many of which have an existing business relationship with Skyway. Skyway will assist us in our efforts to hire, train and manage a national wholesaling team, secure selling agreements, and provide appropriate due diligence to advisors distributing our funds. Our current managing broker-dealer will remain engaged with us to supervise and manage our existing private client sales team and to join Skyway as a selling group member.

44

Acquiring new assets includes being able to negotiate favorable loans on both a short and long-term basis. We strive to forecast and project our returns using assumptions about, among other things, the types of loans that we might expect the market to extend for a particular type of asset. This becomes more complex when the asset also requires construction financing. We may also need to refinance existing loans that are due to mature. Factors that affect these arrangements include the interest rate and economic environment, the estimated fair value of real property, and the profitability of the asset's historical operations. These capital market conditions may affect the renewal or replacement of our credit agreements, some of which have maturity dates occurring within the next 12 months. Obtaining such financing is not guaranteed and is largely dependent on market conditions and other factors.

The advancement of real estate investment-oriented technology, sometimes referred to as "proptech" offers Caliber the benefit of new and innovative technologies to better execute on capital formation strategies, investment acquisition strategies, and investment management strategies. In recent years, Caliber has added to its technology stack with systems that we believe lead the market in their specific ability to enhance execution on our projects. Several of these technologies seek to incorporate investments in artificial intelligence, which we believe will be a prevailing trend in helping Caliber to enhance its project execution going forward.

Regional conflicts and instability, such as those in Israel and Ukraine, can have significant impacts on global markets and economies and investor perception and tolerance for risk. These conflicts could lead to increased volatility in financial markets, disrupt supply chains, and change investor appetite for investments in alternative assets.

Business Environment

Global markets are experiencing significant volatility driven by concerns over inflation, rising interest rates, slowing economic growth and geopolitical uncertainty. The annual inflation rate in the United States increased to 9.1% in June 2022, the highest rate since November 1981, but decreased to 2.4% in September 2024. As a result, from January 1, 2022 through September 18, 2024, the Federal Reserve increased the federal funds rate by 525 basis points, but subsequently, on September 19, 2024, the Federal Reserve decreased the federal funds rate by 50 basis points. The rising interest rates, coupled with periods of significant equity and credit market volatility may potentially make it more difficult for us to find attractive opportunities for our funds to exit and realize value from their existing investments. Historically, inflation has tended to favor new capital formation for Caliber's funds, as investors seek opportunities that can hedge against rising costs, such as real estate investments. In addition, the increase in interest rates has put pressure on owners of existing real estate to sell assets as their loans mature. Combined with a shrinking pool of buyers, the commercial and residential real estate markets in our favored geographies are moving away from a seller's market and closer to a buyer's market. It remains to be seen if a stressed or distressed market may emerge, similar to Caliber's early years of operations. In both a buyer's market and a stressed or distressed market, Caliber expects its business model to outperform, as our direct access to investor capital and our ability to invest in a variety of asset classes allows Caliber to move with the market and take advantage of potentially attractive prices. For project execution, inflation has increased the cost of nearly all building materials and labor types, increasing the cost of construction and renovation of our funds' assets.

Key Financial Measures and Indicators

Our key financial measures are discussed in the following pages. Additional information regarding these key financial measures and our other significant accounting policies can be found in Note 2 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies in the notes to our accompanying consolidated financial statements included herein.

Total Revenue

We generate the majority of our revenue in the form of asset management fee revenues and performance allocations. Included within our consolidated results, are the related revenues of certain consolidated VIEs.

45

Total Expenses

Total expenses include operating costs, general and administrative, marketing and advertising and depreciation and amortization. Included within our consolidated results, are the related expenses of consolidated VIEs.

Other Income (Expenses)

Other income (expenses) include interest expense and interest income.

Results of Operations

Comparison of the Consolidated Results of Operations for the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2024 and 2023

Our consolidated results of operations are impacted by the timing of consolidation, deconsolidation, and operating performance of our consolidated and previously consolidated funds. Periods presented may not be comparable due to the consolidation or deconsolidation certain funds. In particular, the Company deconsolidated Caliber Hospitality, LP, the Caliber Hospitality Trust, and their consolidated subsidiaries, Elliot, and DT Mesa during the nine months ended September 30, 2024. The following table and discussion provide insight into our consolidated results of operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023 (in thousands):

	Ni	ne Months End						
		2024		2023		\$ Change	% Change	
Revenues								
Asset management revenues	\$	12,926	\$	6,246	\$	6,680	106.9%	
Performance allocations		357		2,474		(2,117)	(85.6)%	
Consolidated funds – hospitality revenues		23,533		52,008		(28,475)	(54.8)%	
Consolidated funds – other revenues		5,616		6,264		(648)	(10.3)%	
Total revenues		42,432		66,992		(24,560)	(36.7)%	
		<u> </u>						
Expenses								
Operating costs		15,389		16,205		(816)	(5.0)%	
General and administrative		5,460		4,914		546	11.1%	
Marketing and advertising		507		888		(381)	(42.9)%	
Depreciation and amortization		439		409		30	7.3%	
Consolidated funds – hospitality expenses		23,191		59,676		(36,485)	(61.1)%	
Consolidated funds – other expenses		5,405		6,757		(1,352)	(20.0)%	
Total expenses		50,391		88,849		(38,458)	(43.3)%	
		<u> </u>						
Other income, net		1,015		1,479		(464)	(31.4)%	
Interest income		325		279		46	16.5%	
Interest expense		(3,958)		(3,408)		550	16.1%	
Net loss before income taxes		(10,577)		(23,507)		12,930	(55.0)%	
Benefit from income taxes				<u> </u>			0.0%	
Net loss	·	(10,577)		(23,507)		12,930	(55.0)%	
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests		(2,188)		(13,165)		10,977	(83.4)%	
Net loss attributable to CaliberCos Inc.	\$	(8,389)	\$	(10,342)	\$	(1,953)	(18.9)%	

For the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, total revenues were \$42.4 million and \$67.0 million, respectively, representing a period-over-period decrease of 36.7%, which was primarily due to a decrease in consolidated fund revenues as a result of the deconsolidation of Caliber Hospitality, LP and the Caliber Hospitality Trust in March 2024. See the Segment Analysis section below in which revenues are presented on a basis that deconsolidates our consolidated funds. As a result, segment revenues are different than those presented on a consolidated basis in accordance with U.S. GAAP, because these fees are eliminated in consolidation when they are derived from a consolidated fund.

46

For the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, total expenses were \$50.4 million and \$88.8 million, respectively, representing a period-over-period decrease of 43.3%. The increase was primarily due to a decrease in consolidated fund expenses which was primarily due to the deconsolidation of Caliber Hospitality, LP and Caliber Hospitality Trust in March 2024.

Comparison of the Unconsolidated Results of Operations for the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2024 and 2023

The following table and discussion provide insight into our unconsolidated results of operations of the asset management platform for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023 (in thousands).

	Nine Months E	Nine Months Ended September 30,					
	2024	2023		\$ Change		% Change	
Revenues			,				
Asset management revenues	\$ 15,976	\$	10,977	\$	4,999	45.5%	
Performance allocations	378		2,474		(2,096)	(84.7)%	
Total revenues	16,354		13,451		2,903	21.6%	
P.							
Expenses	4.5.05		4.5.04.5	•		0.407	
Operating costs	15,97		15,912	\$	59	0.4%	
General and administrative	5,490)	4,659		831	17.8%	
Marketing and advertising	508		887		(379)	(42.7)%	
Depreciation and amortization	447	•	197		250	126.9%	
Total expenses	22,410		21,655		761	3.5%	
	1,46	•	294	\$	1,174	399.3%	
Other income (loss), net	1,400	,	234	Ф	1,1/4	377.370	
Interest income	514		1,479		(965)	(65.2)%	
Interest expense	(3,958	()	(3,409)		549	16.1%	
Net (loss) income before income taxes	(8,038))	(9,840)		(1,802)	(18.3)%	
Provision for income taxes	_		_		_	0.0%	
Net (loss) income	\$ (8,038) \$	(9,840)	\$	(1,802)	(18.3)%	

For the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, total revenues were \$16.4 million and \$13.5 million, respectively, representing a period-over-period increase of 21.6%. The table below (in thousands) compares the revenues earned for providing services under the Company's asset management platform as described in the Revenue Recognition section of Note 2 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 to the revenues earned for the same period in 2023.

	Nine Months End	led September 30,		
	2024	2023	\$ Change	% Change
Fund set-up fees	\$ 1,502	\$ 470	\$ 1,032	219.6%
Fund management fees	7,972	7,136	836	11.7%
Financing fees	616	631	(15)	(2.4)%
Development and construction fees	5,066	2,128	2,938	138.1%
Brokerage fees	820	612	208	34.0%
Total asset management	15,976	10,977	4,999	45.5%
Performance allocations	378	2,474	(2,096)	(84.7)%
Total unconsolidated revenue	\$ 16,354	\$ 13,451	\$ 2,903	21.6%

The increase in fund set-up fees is due to capital raise fees earned related to an existing fund during the three months ended September 30,2024, as well as revenue earned from two new fund offerings during the nine months ended September 30, 2024, for which revenue was not recognized in 2023.

The increase in fund management fees is related to an increase of managed capital and fees earned from the Caliber Hospitality Trust related to the acquisition of one hotel property. Fund management fees were based on 1.0% to 1.5% of the unreturned capital contributions in each fund and a fund management fee of 0.7% of the Caliber Hospitality Trust's enterprise value.

The decrease in performance allocations is due to the carried interest earned related to the contribution of the hospitality assets to Caliber Hospitality, LP in March 2023.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, total expenses were \$22.4 million and \$21.7 million, respectively, representing a period-over-period increase of 3.5%. The increase was primarily due to an increase in general and administrative expenses related to accounting and consulting fees, and software expenses.

Other income, net was \$1.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2024, as compared to \$0.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2023. The increase is primarily due to an increase in rental and reimbursement revenue from space leased at the Company's corporate headquarters.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, interest expense was \$4.0 million and \$3.4 million, respectively. The increase was primarily due to the increase in the weighted average corporate notes outstanding during the nine months ended September 30, 2024, as compared to the same period in 2023.

48

Comparison of the Consolidated Results of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

The following table and discussion provide insight into our consolidated results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

	Years Ended December 31,							
		2023	2022		\$ Change		% Change	
Revenues								
Asset management revenues	\$	10,571	\$	15,344	\$	(4,773)	(31.1)%	
Performance allocations		3,639		2,543		1,096	43.1%	
Consolidated funds – hospitality revenues		68,905		59,564		9,341	15.7%	
Consolidated funds – other revenues		7,822		6,505		1,317	20.2%	
Total revenues		90,937		83,956		6,981	8.3%	
Expenses								
Operating costs		21,311		14,609		6,702	45.9%	
General and administrative		6,770		6,679		91	1.4%	
Marketing and advertising		1,052		1,179		(127)	(10.8)%	
Depreciation and amortization		550		58		492	848.3%	
Consolidated funds – hospitality expenses		80,669		60,667		20,002	33.0%	
Consolidated funds – other expenses		9,162		9,213		(51)	(0.6)%	
Total expenses		119,514	_	92,405		27,109	29.3%	
Consolidated funds - gain on sale of real estate investments		4,976		21,530		(16,554)	(76.9)%	
Other income, net		374		326		48	14.7%	
Gain on extinguishment of debt		_		1,421		(1,421)	(100.0)%	
Interest income		350		178		172	96.6%	
Interest expense		(4,717)		(1,055)		(3,662)	347.1%	
Net (loss) income before income taxes		(27,594)		13,951		(41,545)	(297.8)%	
Benefit from income taxes		_		_		_	0.0%	
Net (loss) income		(27,594)		13,951		(41,545)	(297.8)%	
Net (loss) income attributable to noncontrolling interests		(14,891)		11,931		(26,822)	(224.8)%	
Net (loss) income attributable to CaliberCos Inc.	\$	(12,703)	\$	2,020	\$	(14,723)	(728.9)%	

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, total revenues were \$90.9 million and \$84.0 million, respectively, representing a period-over-period increase of 8.3%. This increase was primarily due to an increase in revenues in our consolidated fund hotel assets resulting from increased occupancy rates and higher average daily rates and from revenues from Hilton Tucson East, which became a consolidated entity during the year ended December 31, 2023, offset by a decrease in asset management revenues. Asset management revenues consist of fees earned for fund set-up and formation, asset management, financing, development and construction, and brokerage services. The decrease in asset management revenues was primarily due to fund set-up fees earned for services performed in conjunction with the formation of Caliber Tax Advantaged Opportunity Zone Fund II, LLC during the year ended December 31, 2022.

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, total expenses were \$119.5 million and \$92.4 million, respectively, representing a period-over-period increase of 29.3%. The increase was primarily due to an increase in consolidated fund related expenses due to rising labor costs and variable costs associated with increased revenue, such as management and franchise fees and loyalty program costs, and from operating expenses from Hilton Tucson East, which became a consolidated entity during the year ended December 31, 2023. In addition, there was an increase in operating costs from (i) additional payroll associated with increased headcount and cost of human capital driven by the Company's growth initiatives, as the Company looks to enhance its capabilities across all lines of service, and (ii) an increase in stock compensation expense for restricted stock units that vested upon the closing of the Company's initial public offering.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, consolidated funds – gain on sale of real estate investments includes the \$5.0 million gain recognized on the sale of Northsight Crossing, a commercial property with a cost basis of \$21.7 million. For the year ended December 31, 2022, consolidated funds – gain on sale of real estate investments includes the \$21.5 million gain recognized on the sale of GC Square Apartments, a multi-family property with a cost basis of \$9.1 million.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, other income, net includes rental income of \$1.6 million related to space leased to third parties in Caliber's headquarters office building, offset by a \$1.3 million loss of estimated amounts due to investors of the Caliber Residential Advantage Fund, LP ("CRAF") upon redemption of their investment and payment of any accrued and unpaid preferred return related to the disposal of the last single-family residential home owned by the fund ("Loss on CRAF Investment Redemption"). There was no comparable activity during the year ended December 31, 2022.

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, interest expense was \$4.7 million and \$1.1 million, respectively. The increase was primarily due to the increase in corporate notes outstanding during the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the same period in 2022. In addition, there was one real estate note outstanding during the year ended December 31, 2023 with no comparable real estate notes outstanding during the same period in 2022.

Comparison of the Unconsolidated Results of Operations for the Year Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

The following table and discussion provide insight into our unconsolidated results of operations of the asset management platform for the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands). Unconsolidated revenues and expenses are presented on a basis that deconsolidates our consolidated funds (intercompany eliminations) and eliminates noncontrolling interest. As a result, unconsolidated revenues are different than those presented on a consolidated basis in accordance with U.S. GAAP because fee revenue is eliminated in consolidation when it is derived from a consolidated fund and due to the exclusion of the fund revenue recognized by the consolidated funds. Furthermore, unconsolidated expenses are also different than those presented on a consolidated U.S. GAAP basis due to the exclusion of fund expenses that are paid by the consolidated funds. See the Non-GAAP Measures section below for reconciliations of the unconsolidated results to the most comparable U.S. GAAP measure.

50

	Year Ended l	Decem	ber 31,				
	 2023	2022		2022 \$ Change		% Change	
Revenues	 						
Asset management revenues	\$ 16,982	\$	21,575	\$	(4,593)	(21.3)%	
Performance allocations	3,656		2,543		1,113	43.8%	
Total revenues	 20,638		24,118		(3,480)	(14.4)%	
	 ,						
Expenses							
Operating costs	21,808		14,609	\$	7,199	49.3%	
General and administrative	6,807		6,742		65	1.0%	
Marketing and advertising	1,053		1,179		(126)	(10.7)%	
Depreciation and amortization	551		44		507	1,152.3%	
Total expenses	 30,219		22,574		7,645	33.9%	
	 				<u> </u>		
Other income (loss), net	649		256	\$	393	153.5%	
Gain on extinguishment of debt	_		1,421		(1,421)	(100.0)%	
Interest income	1,863		177		1,686	952.5%	
Interest expense	(4,716)		(1,056)		(3,660)	346.6%	
Net (loss) income before income taxes	 (11,785)		2,342		(14,127)	(603.2)%	
Provision for income taxes			_		_	0.0%	
Net (loss) income	\$ (11,785)	\$	2,342	\$	(14,127)	(603.2)%	
	 	<u> </u>	,-	<u> </u>			

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, total revenues were \$20.6 million and \$24.1 million, respectively, representing a period-over-period decrease of 14.4%. The table below compares the revenues earned for providing services under the Company's asset management platform as described in the Revenue Recognition section of Note 2 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies for the year ended December 31, 2023 to the revenues earned for the year ended December 31, 2022.

	Year Ended	December 31,		
	2023	2022	\$ Change	% Change
Fund set-up fees	\$ 523	\$ 6,160	\$ (5,637)	(91.5)%
Fund management fees	9,597	8,347	1,250	15.0%
Financing fees	629	1,128	(499)	(44.2)%
Development and construction fees	4,984	3,492	1,492	42.7%
Brokerage fees	1,249	2,448	(1,199)	(49.0)%
Total asset management	16,982	21,575	(4,593)	(21.3)%
Performance allocations	3,656	2,543	1,113	43.8%
Total unconsolidated revenue	\$ 20,638	\$ 24,118	\$ (3,480)	(14.4)%

The decrease in fund set-up fees relates to services performed in conjunction with the formation of Caliber Tax Advantaged Opportunity Zone Fund II, LLC during the year ended December 31, 2022. In addition, the Company is transitioning from fund formation fees that are recognized as capital is raised into a fund to fund set-up fees that are a one-time fee not conditional on capital raise, resulting in a decrease in fund set-up fees of \$0.9 million from the year ended December 31, 2022 to the year ended December 31, 2023

The increase in development and construction fees is primarily due the execution of development agreements related to eight projects, partially offset by completing construction at three projects during the year ended December 31, 2023.

The decrease in brokerage fees is primarily due to a decrease in brokerage transactions, which were \$57.8 million during the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to \$117.5 million in the same period in 2022.

For the year ended December 31, 2023 performance allocations were \$3.7 million, which represents the carried interest earned related to the contribution of the hospitality assets to Caliber Hospitality, LP in March 2023, the disposition of one commercial property located in Scottsdale, Arizona, and 80 acres of land located in Johnstown, Colorado. For the year ended December 31, 2022 performance allocations were \$2.5 million, which represents the carried interest earned related to the sale of the GC Square Apartments multi-family property in March 2022.

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, total expenses were \$30.2 million and \$22.6 million, respectively, representing a period-over-period increase of 33.9%. The increase was primarily due to an increase in operating costs from (i) additional payroll associated with increased headcount and cost of human capital driven by the Company's growth initiatives, as the Company looks to enhance its capabilities across all lines of service, and (ii) an increase in stock compensation expense for restricted stock units that vested upon the closing of the Company's initial public offering. The increase in depreciation and amortization was primarily due to the acquisition of the Company's headquarters office building during the year ended December 31, 2023.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, other income, net includes rental income of \$1.6 million related to space leased to third parties in Caliber's headquarters office building, offset by a \$1.3 million loss of estimated amounts due to investors of the Caliber Residential Advantage Fund, LP upon redemption of their investment and payment of any accrued and unpaid preferred return related to the disposal of the last single-family residential home owned by the fund. There was no comparable activity during the year ended December 31, 2022.

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, interest expense was \$4.7 million and \$1.1 million, respectively. The increase was primarily due to the increase in corporate notes outstanding during the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the same period in 2022. In addition, there was one real estate note outstanding during the year ended December 31, 2023 with no comparable real estate notes outstanding during the same period in 2022.

Investment Valuations

The investments that are held by our funds are generally considered to be illiquid and have no readily ascertainable market value. We value these investments based on our estimate of their fair value as of the date of determination. We estimate the fair value of our fund's investments based on several inputs built within forecasting models. The models generally rely on discounted cash flow analysis and other techniques and may include independently sourced market parameters. The material estimates and assumptions used in these models include the timing and expected amounts of cash flows, income and expenses for the property, the appropriateness of discount rates used, overall capitalization rate, and, in some cases, the ability to execute, estimated proceeds and timing of expected sales and financings. Most of our assets utilize the income approach to value the property. Where appropriate, management may obtain additional supporting evidence of values from methods generally utilized in the real estate investment industry, such as appraisal reports and broker price opinion reports.

With respect to the underlying factors that led to the change in fair value in the current year, we identify assets that are undervalued and/or underperforming as part of our acquisition strategy. Such assets generally undergo some form of repositioning soon after our acquisition to help drive increased appreciation and operating performance. Once the repositioning is complete, we focus on increasing the asset's net operating income, thereby further increasing the value of the asset. By making these below-market acquisitions, adding value through development activities, and increasing free cash flow with proper management all represent a material component to our core business model.

52

A unique feature of Caliber's funds is the discretion given to Caliber's management team to decide when to sell assets and when to hold them. We believe this discretion allows Caliber to avoid selling properties that, while their business plan may have matured, the market will not pay an attractive price in the current environment. Avoiding selling at a time of disruption, such as all of 2020, is critical to preserving the value of our assets, our carried interest, our ongoing revenues, and our clients' capital. While this is management's expectation, there can be no assurance these outcomes will occur.

Assets Under Management

AUM refers to the assets we manage or sponsor. We monitor two types of information regarding our AUM:

- i. Managed Capital we define this as the total capital we fundraise from our customers as investments in our funds. It also includes fundraising into our corporate note program, the proceeds of which were used, in part, to invest in or loan to our funds. We use this information to monitor, among other things, the amount of 'preferred return' that would be paid at the time of a distribution and the potential to earn a performance fee over and above the preferred return at the time of the distribution. Our fund management fees are based on a percentage of managed capital or a percentage of assets under management, and monitoring the change and composition of managed capital provides relevant data points for Caliber management to further calculate and predict future earnings.
- ii. Fair Value ("FV") AUM we define this as the aggregate fair value of the real estate assets we manage and from which we derive management fees, performance revenues and other fees and expense reimbursements. We estimate the value of these assets quarterly to help make sale and hold decisions and to evaluate whether an existing asset would benefit from refinancing or recapitalization. This also gives us insight into the value of our carried interest at any point in time. We also utilize FV AUM to predict the percentage of our portfolio which may need development services in a given year, fund management services (such as refinance), and brokerage services. As we control the decision to hire for these services, our service income is generally predictable based upon our current portfolio AUM and our expectations for AUM growth in the year forecasted. As of September 30, 2024, we had total FV AUM of approximately \$807.0 million.

Although we believe we are utilizing generally accepted methodologies for our calculation of managed capital and FV AUM, it may differ from our competitors, thereby making these metrics non-comparable to our competitors.

53

Managed Capital

	Managed Capital
Balances as of December 31, 2022	\$ 383,189
Originations	74,857
Redemptions	(22,962)
Other (1)	 2,541
Balances as of December 31, 2023	\$ 437,625
Originations	19,099
Redemptions	 (2,819)
Balances as of March 31, 2024	\$ 453,905
Originations	18,936
Redemptions	(3,041)
Balances as of June 30, 2024	\$ 469,800
Originations	23,372
Redemptions	(7,900)
Balances as of September 30, 2024	\$ 485,272

(1) Other represents the inclusion of an investment of one of our funds upon the completion of an equity swap during the year ended December 31, 2023.

The following table summarizes managed capital for our investment fund portfolios as of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023 (in thousands):

	Septe	September 30, 2024 De		December 31, 2023		nber 31, 2022
Real Estate						_
Hospitality	\$	47,560	\$	43,660	\$	102,071
Caliber Hospitality Trust ⁽¹⁾		96,879		70,747		_
Residential		92,683		74,224		62,819
Commercial		167,989		155,004		128,210
Total Real Estate (2)		405,111		343,635		293,100
Credit (3)		70,541		84,588		74,766
Other ⁽⁴⁾		9,620		9,402		15,323
Total	\$	485,272	\$	437,625	\$	383,189

- (1) The Company earns a fund management fee of 0.70% of the Caliber Hospitality Trust's enterprise value and is reimbursed for certain costs incurred on behalf of the Caliber Hospitality Trust.
- (2) Beginning during the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company includes capital raised from investors in CaliberCos Inc. through corporate note issuances that was further invested in our funds in Managed Capital. As of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the Company had invested \$19.7 million and \$18.3 million, respectively, in our funds.
- (3) Credit managed capital represents loans made to Caliber's investment funds by the Company and our diversified funds. As of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the Company had loaned \$0.3 million and \$8.5 million to our funds.
- (4) Other managed capital represents undeployed capital held in our diversified funds.

Managed capital for our hospitality investment funds increased by \$3.9 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2024, due to a \$3.9 million related party note receivable bearing 12.0% interest, issued to Caliber Hospitality Trust.

54

Managed capital for our hospitality funds increased by \$12.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2023, representing: (i) the \$6.7 million purchase of Caliber Hospitality Trust's Class A non-voting preferred stock and (ii) \$1.2 million purchase of Caliber Hospitality Trust's Class B non-voting preferred stock, which was offset by (iii) a \$6.0 million decrease when hotel operations ceased at the Four Points by Sheraton hotel, as the Company is converting the property into a multi-family residential asset. The Company also invested \$10.4 million into our hospitality funds through corporate notes.

Managed capital for the Caliber Hospitality Trust increased by \$26.1 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2024, primarily due to the issuance of \$9.6 million of Caliber Hospitality, LP operating partnership units in exchange for the contribution of a hotel from L.T.D. on March 7, 2024 (the first of nine committed hotels from L.T.D.'s portfolio) and \$16.6 million of investments in Caliber Hospitality Trusts' non-voting preferred stock.

Managed capital for our residential investment funds increased by \$18.5 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2024, due to: (i) \$13.0 million in capital raised into our residential assets offset by \$6.8 million of redemptions, and (ii) \$12.3 million contributed by our diversified funds.

Managed capital for our residential investment funds increased by \$11.4 million during the year ended December 31, 2023: representing (i) \$7.1 million in capital raised into our residential assets offset by \$4.3 million of redemptions, and (ii) \$5.1 million contributed by our diversified funds offset by \$2.5 million of redemptions by diversified funds. Additionally, there was an additional \$6.0 million due to the planned conversion of the Four Points by Sheraton hotel discussed above.

Managed capital for our commercial investment funds increased \$13.0 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2024, due to: (i) \$8.8 million in capital raised into our commercial assets, offset by \$3.2 million of redemptions, and (ii) \$9.9 million contributed by our diversified funds offset by \$2.5 million return of capital. The scope of investments included tenant improvements, land development, and acquiring existing operating commercial properties.

Managed capital for our commercial investment funds increased \$26.8 million during the year ended December 31, 2023, representing: (i) \$10.7 million in capital raised into our commercial assets offset by \$9.8 million of redemptions, (ii) \$2.5 million due to the inclusion of an investment of one of our funds upon the completion of an equity swap, and (iii) \$25.7 million contributed by our diversified funds offset by \$2.3 million of redemptions, to support four commercial ground-up builds and acquisitions in Arizona and one commercial ground-up build and acquisition in Colorado. The scope of investments included tenant improvements, land development, and acquiring existing operating commercial properties.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2024, our diversified funds deployed \$13.5 million into our various real estate investments, which was offset by \$20.0 million of repayments of outstanding notes receivable. The Company deployed \$0.1 million directly into real estate investments in the form of notes receivable, which was offset by \$7.5 million of repayments of outstanding notes receivable.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, we raised \$21.0 million of new capital into Caliber Fixed Income Fund III, LP ("CFIF III") and deployed it into our various real estate investments, which was offset by \$19.4 million of repayments of the notes receivable. We also deployed \$24.8 million directly into new investments in the form of notes receivable, which was offset by \$16.6 million of repayments of the notes receivable.

As of September 30, 2024, we held \$9.6 million of other managed capital, which included a \$3.2 million private equity investment in a local start-up business and \$6.4 million of undeployed cash and pursuit costs.

As of December 31, 2023, we held \$9.4 million of other managed capital, which included a \$3.2 million private equity investment in a local start-up business and \$5.3 million of undeployed cash and pursuit costs, compared to \$15.3 million of other managed capital, which included a \$6.2 million private equity investment in a local start-up business and \$12.1 million of undeployed cash and pursuit costs held as of December 31, 2022.

55

FV AUM

Our FV AUM increased primarily due to the L.T.D. hotel contribution into the Caliber Hospitality Trust. The table below details the activities that had an impact on our FV AUM, during the nine months ended September 30, 2024 (in thousands).

Balances as of December 31, 2022	\$ 745,514
Assets acquired ⁽⁴⁾	29,384
Construction and net market appreciation	9,129
Assets sold or disposed ⁽¹⁾	(52,710)
Credit (2)	9,822
Other (3)	51
Balances as of December 31, 2023	\$ 741,190
CHT contribution	29,900
Construction and net market appreciation	10,971
Assets sold (1)	(12,771)
Credit (2)	(781)
Other (3)	(1,771)
Balances as of March 31, 2024	\$ 766,738
Assets acquired ⁽⁴⁾	14,000
Construction and net market appreciation	27,994
Assets sold or disposed ⁽¹⁾	(22,994)
Credit ⁽²⁾	(12,835)
Other (3)	310
Balances as of June 30, 2024	\$ 773,213
Assets acquired ⁽⁴⁾	20,590
Construction and net market appreciation	11,910
Credit ⁽²⁾	(431)
Other (3)	1,679
Balances as of September 30, 2024	\$ 806,961

The following table summarizes FV AUM of our investment fund portfolios as of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023 (in thousands):

	September 30, 2024		December 31, 2023		December 31, 2022
Real Estate		_			
Hospitality	\$	68,800	\$	67,200	\$ 319,300
Caliber Hospitality Trust		240,300		201,600	_
Residential		162,100		138,000	86,900
Commercial		255,600		240,400	255,197
Total Real Estate		726,800		647,200	661,397
Credit (3)		70,541		84,588	74,766
Other ⁽⁴⁾		9,620		9,402	9,351
Total	\$	806,961	\$	741,190	\$ 745,514

⁽¹⁾ Assets sold during the nine months ended September 30, 2024 include a commercial asset, lot sales related to two development assets in Colorado, and one home from our residential fund. Assets sold during the year ended December 31, 2023 include lot sales related to a development asset in Colorado, one development asset in Colorado, nine homes from our residential fund, and one commercial asset in Arizona.

- (2) Credit FV AUM represents loans made to Caliber's investment funds by our diversified credit fund.
- (3) Other FV AUM represents undeployed capital held in our diversified funds.
- (4) Assets acquired during the nine months ended September 30, 2024 include land for one commercial asset in Colorado. Assets acquired during the year ended December 31, 2023 include one development asset in Colorado, our headquarters office building, and two multi-family residential assets in Arizona.

56

Assets Under Development

We have a number of development, redevelopment, construction, and entitlement projects that are underway or are in the planning stages, which we define as AUD. This category includes projects to be built on undeveloped land and projects to be built and constructed on undeveloped lands, which are not yet owned by our funds. Completing these development activities may ultimately result in income-producing assets, assets we may sell to third parties, or both. As of September 30, 2024, we are actively developing 1,796 multifamily units, 697 single family units, 3.7 million square feet of commercial and industrial, and 3.5 million square feet of office and retail. If all of these projects are brought to completion, the total cost capitalized to these projects, which represents total current estimated costs to complete the development and construction of such projects by us or a third party, is \$2.1 billion, which we expect would be funded through a combination of undeployed fund cash, third-party equity, project sales, tax credit financing and similar incentives, and secured debt financing. We are under no obligation to complete these projects and may dispose of any such assets at any time. There can be no assurance that AUD will ultimately be developed or constructed because of the nature of the cost of the approval and development process and market demand for a

particular use. In addition, the mix of residential and commercial assets under development may change prior to final development. The development of these assets will require significant additional financing or other sources of funding, which may not be available.

Non-GAAP Measures

We use non-GAAP financial measures to evaluate operating performance, identify trends, formulate financial projections, make strategic decisions, and for other discretionary purposes. We believe that these measures enhance the understanding of ongoing operations and comparability of current results to prior periods and may be useful for investors to analyze our financial performance because they provides investors a view of the performance attributable to CaliberCos Inc When analyzing our operating performance, investors should use these measures in addition to, and not as an alternative for, their most directly comparable financial measure calculated and presented in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Our presentation of non-GAAP measures may not be comparable to similarly identified measures of other companies because not all companies use the same calculations. These measures may also differ from the amounts calculated under similarly titled definitions in our debt instruments, which amounts are further adjusted to reflect certain other cash and non-cash charges and are used by us to determine compliance with financial covenants therein and our ability to engage in certain activities, such as incurring additional debt and making certain restricted payments.

Fee-Related Earnings and Related Components

Fee-Related Earnings is a supplemental non-GAAP performance measure used to assess our ability to generate profits from fee-based revenues, focusing on whether our core revenue streams, are sufficient to cover our core operating expenses. Fee-Related Earnings represents the Company's net income (loss) before income taxes adjusted to exclude depreciation and amortization, stock-based compensation, interest expense and extraordinary or non-recurring revenue and expenses, including performance allocation revenue and gain (loss) on extinguishment of debt, public registration direct costs related to aborted or delayed offerings and our Reg A+ offering, the share repurchase costs related to the Company's Buyback Program, litigation settlements, and expenses recorded to earnings relating to investment deals which were abandoned or closed. Fee-Related Earnings is presented on a basis that deconsolidates our consolidated funds (intercompany eliminations) and eliminates noncontrolling interest. Eliminating the impact of consolidated funds and noncontrolling interest provides investors a view of the performance attributable to CaliberCos Inc. and is consistent with performance models and analysis used by management.

57

Distributable Earnings

Distributable Earnings is a supplemental non-GAAP performance measure equal to Fee-Related Earnings plus performance allocation revenue and less interest expenses and provision for income taxes. We believe that Distributable Earnings can be useful as a supplemental performance measure to our GAAP results assessing the amount of earnings available for distribution.

Platform Adjusted EBITDA

Platform Adjusted EBITDA represents the Company's Distributable Earnings adjusted for interest expense, the share repurchase costs related to the Company's Buyback Program, other income (expense), and provision for income taxes on a basis that deconsolidates our consolidated funds (intercompany eliminations) and eliminates noncontrolling interest. Eliminating the impact of consolidated funds and noncontrolling interest provides investors a view of the performance attributable to CaliberCos Inc. and is consistent with performance models and analysis used by management.

Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA

Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA represents the Company's and the consolidated funds' earnings before net interest expense, income taxes, depreciation and amortization, further adjusted to exclude stock-based compensation, transaction fees, expenses and other public registration direct costs related to aborted or delayed offerings and our Reg A+ offering, the share repurchase costs related to the Company's Buyback Program, litigation settlements, expenses recorded to earnings relating to investment deals which were abandoned or closed, any other non-cash expenses or losses, as further adjusted for extraordinary or non-recurring items.

58

The following table presents a reconciliation of net (loss) income attributable to CaliberCos Inc. to Fee-Related Earnings, Distributable Earnings, Platform Adjusted EBITDA, and Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023 (in thousands):

	Nine Months End	Nine Months Ended September 30,		
	2024	2023		
Net loss attributable to CaliberCos Inc.	\$ (8,389)	\$ (10,342)		
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests	(2,188)	(13,165)		
Net loss	(10,577)	(23,507)		
Provision for income taxes	_	_		
Net loss before income taxes	(10,577)	(23,507)		
Depreciation and amortization	447	409		
Consolidated funds' impact on fee-related earnings	1,897	13,653		
Stock-based compensation	1,722	3,017		
Severance	203	19		
Performance allocations	(357)	(2,474)		
Other income, net	(1,015)	(1,479)		
Interest expense, net	3,444	1,930		
Fee-Related Earnings	(4,236)	(8,432)		
Performance allocations	357	2,474		
Interest expense, net	(3,444)	(1,930)		
Distributable Earnings	(7,323)	(7,888)		
Interest expense	3,958	3,408		
Share buy-back	_	183		
Other income, net	1,015	1,479		
Consolidated funds' impact on Caliber Adjusted EBITDA	642	14		
Platform Adjusted EBITDA	(1,708)	(2,804)		

6,475

3,671

The following tables present a reconciliation of platform revenues, expenses and net income to the most comparable GAAP measure for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023 (in thousands):

	 Nine Months Ended September 30, 2024						
	Impact of Consolidated						
_	 Platform	Funds	Consolidated				
Revenues							
Asset management	\$ 15,976	\$ (3,050)					
Performance allocations	378	(21)	357				
Consolidated funds – hospitality revenue	_	23,533	23,533				
Consolidated funds – other revenue	 	5,616	5,616				
Total revenues	 16,354	26,078	42,432				
Expenses							
Operating costs	15,971	(582)	15,389				
General and administrative	5,490	(30)	5,460				
Marketing and advertising	508	(1)	507				
Depreciation and amortization	447	(8)	439				
Consolidated funds – hospitality expenses	_	23,191	23,191				
Consolidated funds – other expenses	 _	5,405	5,405				
Total expenses	22,416	27,975	50,391				
Other income, net	1,468	(453)	1,015				
Interest income	514	(189)	325				
Interest expense	(3,958)	_	(3,958)				
Net loss before income taxes	(8,038)	(2,539)	(10,577)				
Provision for income taxes	_	` <u> </u>	` <u> </u>				
Net loss	(8,038)	(2,539)	(10,577)				
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests	` _	(2,188)	(2,188)				
Net loss attributable to CaliberCos Inc.	\$ (8,038)	\$ (351)	\$ (8,389)				

60

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2023 Impact of Consolidated Platform **Funds** Consolidated Revenues Asset management \$ 10,977 \$ (4,731) \$ 6,246 Performance allocations 2,474 2,474 Consolidated funds - hospitality revenue 52,008 52,008 Consolidated funds - other revenue 6,264 6,264 Total revenues 13,451 53,541 66,992 Expenses Operating costs 15,912 293 16,205 General and administrative 4,659 255 4,914 Marketing and advertising 887 888 1 Depreciation and amortization 197 212 409 59,676 59,676 Consolidated funds - hospitality expenses Consolidated funds – other expenses 6,757 6,757 Total expenses 21,655 67,194 88,849 1,479 Other income, net 294 1,185 Interest income 1,479 (1,200)279 (3,409)(3,408)Interest expense Net loss before income taxes (9,840)(13,667)(23,507)Provision for income taxes (9,840)(13,667) (23,507)Net loss Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests (13,165)(13,165)Net loss attributable to CaliberCos Inc. (9,840)(502)(10,342)

The following table presents a reconciliation of net (loss) income attributable to CaliberCos Inc. to Fee-Related Earnings, Distributable Earnings, Platform Adjusted EBITDA, and Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

	Years Endo	ed December 31,
	2023	2022
Net (loss) income attributable to CaliberCos Inc.	\$ (12,70)	3) \$ 2,020
Net (loss) income attributable to noncontrolling interests	(14,89	1) 11,931
Net (loss) income	(27,594	4) 13,951
Provision for income taxes	_	_
Net (loss) income before income taxes	(27,59	4) 13,951
Depreciation and amortization	55	1 58
Consolidated funds' impact on fee-related earnings	14,020	0 (11,551)
Stock-based compensation	3,720	6 460
Severance	19	9 —
Legal costs	_	- 525
Public registration costs	_	- 779
Performance allocations	(3,63)	9) (2,543)
Other income, net	(374	4) (326)
Gain on extinguishment of debt	_	- (1,421)
Interest expense, net	4,36	7 877
Fee-Related Earnings	(8,924	4) 809
Performance allocations	3,639	9 2,543
Interest expense, net	(4,36°	7) (877)
Distributable Earnings	(9,652	2,475
Interest expense	4,71	7 1,055
Share buy-back	183	3 313
Other income, net	374	4 326
Loss on CRAF Investment Redemption	1,339	9 —
Gain on extinguishment of Payroll Protection Programs loans	_	- 1,421
Consolidated funds' impact on Caliber Adjusted EBITDA	1,78	8 (71)
Platform Adjusted EBITDA	(1,25)	1) 5,519
Consolidated funds' EBITDA Adjustments	11,419	9 31,220
Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA	\$ 10,166	\$ 36,739

The following tables present a reconciliation of platform revenues, expenses and net income to the most comparable GAAP measure for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

62

		Years Ended December 31, 2023 Impact of				
		Platform	Consolidated Funds	Consolidated		
Revenues		1 latioi iii	Fullus	Consondated		
Asset management	\$	16,982	\$ (6,411)	\$ 10,571		
Performance allocations	•	3,656	(17)	3,639		
Consolidated funds – hospitality revenue		_	68,905	68,905		
Consolidated funds – other revenue		_	7,822	7,822		
Total revenues		20,638	70,299	90,937		
Expenses						
Operating costs		21,808	(497)	21,311		
General and administrative		6,807	(37)	6,770		
Marketing and advertising		1,053	(1)	1,052		
Depreciation and amortization		551	(1)	550		
Consolidated funds – hospitality expenses		_	80,669	80,669		
Consolidated funds – other expenses			9,162	9,162		
Total expenses		30,219	89,295	119,514		
Consolidated funds – gain on sale of real estate investments		_	4,976	4,976		
Other income (loss), net		649	(275)	374		
Interest income		1,863	(1,513)	350		
Interest expense		(4,716)	(1)	(4,717)		
Net loss before income taxes		(11,785)	(15,809)	(27,594)		
Provision for income taxes		_	_	_		
Net loss		(11,785)	(15,809)	(27,594)		
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests		·	(14,891)	(14,891)		
Net loss attributable to CaliberCos Inc.	\$	(11,785)	\$ (918)	\$ (12,703)		

	Pl	atform		Consolidated
Revenues				
Asset management	\$	21,575	\$ (6,231)	
Performance allocations		2,543	_	2,543
Consolidated funds – hospitality revenue			59,564	59,564
Consolidated funds – other revenue			6,505	6,505
Total revenues		24,118	59,838	83,956
Expenses				
Operating costs		14,609	_	14,609
General and administrative		6,742	(63)	6,679
Marketing and advertising		1,179	_	1,179
Depreciation and amortization		44	14	58
Consolidated funds – hospitality expenses		_	60,667	60,667
Consolidated funds – other expenses			9,213	9,213
Total expenses		22,574	69,831	92,405
Consolidated funds – gain on sale of real estate investments		_	21,530	21,530
Other income, net		256	70	326
Gain on extinguishment of debt		1,421	_	1,421
Interest income		177	1	178
Interest expense		(1,056)	1	(1,055)
Net income before income taxes		2,342	11,609	13,951
Provision for income taxes		_	_	_
Net income		2,342	11,609	13,951
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests		_	11,931	11,931
Net income (loss) attributable to CaliberCos Inc.	\$	2,342	\$ (322)	\$ 2,020

Liquidity and Capital Resources

At September 30, 2024, the Company had a portfolio of corporate notes, whose composition and characteristics are similar to those reported in prior fiscal periods. At September 30, 2024, the portfolio consists of 211 unsecured notes with an aggregate principal balance of \$33.0 million, of which \$32.4 million mature within the 12-month period subsequent to November 12, 2024. Each note generally has a 12-month term with an option to extend for an additional 12-month term.

On November 26, 2024, the Company filed a Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights (the "Series A Certificate of Designation") with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware to establish the preferences, voting powers, limitations as to dividends or other distributions, qualifications, terms and conditions of redemption and other terms and conditions of the Company's Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, par value \$0.001 (the "Series A Preferred Stock"). The Series A Preferred Stock is subject to certain rights, preferences, privileges, and obligations, including voluntary and mandatory conversion provisions, as well as beneficial ownership restrictions and share cap limitations, as set forth in the Series A Certificate of Designation and as more fully described under "Description of Securities" below. Additionally, on November 26, 2024, the Company issued and sold 100,000 shares of Series A Preferred Stock for gross proceeds of \$2,000,000.

Because the Company incurred operating losses and negative cash flow from operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2024, and could experience additional future operating losses and negative cash flow in the near term, combined with the fact that the Company does not have sufficient cash on hand to satisfy the total of the notes that mature within the next 12 months, these conditions and events raise substantial doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. In response to these conditions, management considered the impact of these near-term maturities on the Company.

64

Since the note program began, these notes have demonstrated a high rate of extension of their terms. Subsequent to the issuance of its 2023 10-K, the Company has continued its discussions with various lenders in pursuit of extending or refinancing its unsecured loans. Through September 30, 2024, the rate of extension of the current notes is consistent with or greater than prior reported fiscal periods. Management plans to continue seeking and granting extensions on an ongoing basis consistent with prior reported fiscal periods.

Additionally, management evaluated the impact a default of one or many of these notes might have on the Company. As these notes are unsecured, the terms in the agreements do not afford the note holder avenues of recourse in a default that could or would impact the Company adversely in the normal course of business, as the terms lack provisions for rights or claims against the Company's assets, nor is there a scenario where a default could force liquidation of the Company. Management believes that even in the event of default of one or many of these notes, the Company would be able to negotiate a waiver of the default either through an extension of the maturity or principal repayment schedule.

In addition, management has implemented various plans to address operating losses and near-term maturities or demands for repayment of its notes. Consistent with reported actions taken in prior fiscal periods, management plans to continue to i) negotiate extensions of such loans or refinance such debt, ii) obtain new financing, iii) reduce operating costs, iv) collect all or part of its \$13.3 million in receivables, v) collect all or part of its \$19.7 million investments from its managed funds, vi) increase capital raise through continued expansion of fundraising channels, vii) sell or accept investment into its corporate headquarters, viii) place debt on unencumbered assets, and/or ix) generate planned cash from operations.

In the execution of our aforementioned plans, during the nine months ended September 30, 2024, we collected \$8.2 million of notes receivable and \$2.7 million of accounts receivable. The Company also executed a reduction in force of approximately 10% of its employees in May 2024, with an expected annual saving of compensation and benefits expenses of \$4.0 million. The Company has also executed on cost reduction plans with estimated annual savings of \$2.5 million.

After consideration of the implemented and planned actions, in particular continuing to renew maturing unsecured corporate notes, there are no assurances that management's actions will alleviate substantial doubt about the company's ability to continue as a going concern beyond one year from the date that the consolidated financial statements are issued.

Each of our funds and the related assets that are acquired or own equity interest in those funds are established as separate legal entities with limited liability. Therefore, the cash flows generated by these entities, whether through operations or financing, are unavailable for general corporate purposes, except as payment to the Company for services performed by the Company.

We have historically financed our operations primarily through a combination of operating cash flows, private offerings of our equity securities, and secured and unsecured debt. In addition, due to the consolidation of CFIF III, we recognize a revolving line of credit with a maximum borrowing amount of \$4.5 million.

We hold our excess unrestricted cash in bank accounts with several high-quality financial institutions.

Corporate Debt

As of September 30, 2024, we have issued and outstanding unsecured promissory notes of \$33.0 million with an average outstanding principal balance of \$0.2 million, a weighted average interest rate of 11.41%, and maturity dates ranging from January 2024 to April 2026. The purpose of this financing program is to provide the Company with flexible, short-term capital to be used to grow its assets under management and assist funds in a fast-moving acquisition or investment, as well as general corporate purposes. Additionally, the program provides customers of Caliber's funds access to a short-term lending opportunity. Management actively manages each relationship to determine if the respective customer would like to redeem upon maturity or extend for an additional period of time. Management has historically been successful at extending these note programs and, as a result, continues to expect similar outcomes. This outstanding debt resulted in \$1.0 million and \$3.0 million of interest expense for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, respectively, and \$1.2 million and \$2.9 million of interest expense for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, respectively, and \$1.2 million and \$2.9 million of interest expense for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023, respectively. The Company is in compliance with its financial covenants and we expect to remain in compliance for the 12-month period subsequent to the date of this offering.

65

Cash Flows Analysis

Financing activities

Net change in cash and cash equivalents

The section below discusses in more detail the Company's primary sources and uses of cash and primary drivers of cash flows within the Company's consolidated statements of cash flows (in thousands).

Nine Months Ended Sentember 30

25,790

1,706

38,583

(598)

(12793)

2,304

	11	ine Months End	eptember 30,		
		2024	2023		\$ Change
Net cash provided by (used in):		_		_	
Operating activities	\$	(199)	\$	(11,142)	\$ 10,943
Investing activities		(14,364)		(43,955)	29,591
Financing activities		1,026		57,580	(56,554)
Net change in cash and cash equivalents	\$	(13,537)	\$	2,483	\$ (16,020)
	Years Ended December 31,				 _
		2023		2022	\$ Change
Net cash provided by (used in):					
Operating activities	\$	(18,720)	\$	(7,429)	\$ (11,291)
Investing activities		(5,364)		(31,752)	26,388

The assets of our consolidated funds, on a gross basis, can be substantially larger than the assets of our core business and, accordingly could have a substantial effect on the accompanying statements of cash flows. The table below summarizes our consolidated statements of cash flow by activity attributable to the Company and to our consolidated funds (in thousands).

	Nine Months Ended September 30,				
		2024		2023	\$ Change
Net cash used in the Company's operating activities	\$	(6,643)	\$	(4,098)	\$ (2,545)
Net cash provided by (used in) the consolidated funds' operating activities		6,444		(7,044)	13,488
Net cash used in the Company's operating activities		(199)		(11,142)	 10,943
Net cash provided by (used in) the Company's investing activities		6,628		(19,880)	26,508
Net cash used in the consolidated funds' investing activities		(20,992)		(24,075)	3,083
Net cash used in the Company's investing activities		(14,364)		(43,955)	29,591
Net cash (used in) provided by the Company's financing activities		(4,173)		41,627	 (45,800)
Net cash provided by the consolidated funds' financing activities		5,199		15,953	(10,754)
Net cash provided by the Company's financing activities		1,026		57,580	 (56,554)
Net change in cash and cash equivalents	\$	(13,537)	\$	2,483	\$ (16,020)

66

	Years Ended December 31,				
		2023		2022	\$ Change
Net cash used in the Company's operating activities	\$	(7,153)	\$	(5,435)	\$ (1,718)
Net cash used in the consolidated funds' operating activities		(11,567)		(1,994)	(9,573)
Net cash used in the Company's operating activities		(18,720)		(7,429)	(11,291)
Net cash used in the Company's investing activities		(3,487)		(810)	(2,677)
Net cash used in the consolidated funds' investing activities		(1,877)		(30,942)	29,065
Net cash used in the Company's investing activities		(5,364)		(31,752)	26,388
Net cash provided by the Company's financing activities		24,706		8,452	16,254
Net cash provided by the consolidated funds' financing activities		1,084		30,131	(29,047)
Net cash provided by the Company's financing activities		25,790		38,583	(12,793)
Net change in cash and cash equivalents	\$	1,706	\$	(598)	\$ 2,304

Our net cash flows from operating activities are generally comprised of asset management revenues and performance allocations, less cash used for operating expenses, including interest paid on our debt obligations. Net cash flows used in operating activities of the Company increased during the nine months ended September 30, 2024 as compared to the same period in 2023. The increase primarily related to increased interest payments related to the Company's corporate notes during the nine months ended September 30, 2024, as compared to the same period in 2023. Net cash flows provided by operating activities of the consolidated funds increased from the nine months ended September 30, 2024, as compared to net cash flows used in operating activities of the consolidated funds during the same period in 2023. The increase was primarily due to increased interest payments related to the consolidated funds notes payable and the deconsolidation of VIEs.

The increase in net cash flows used in operating activities of the Company during the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the same period in 2022, was primarily related to increased interest payments related to the Company's corporate notes. The increase in net cash flows used in operating activities of the consolidated funds during the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the net cash flows provided by operating activities during the same period in 2022, was primarily due to increased interest payments related to the consolidated funds notes payable.

Investing Activities

Net cash flows provided by investing activities of the Company increased during the nine months ended September 30, 2024 as compared to the net cash flows used in investing activities of the Company for the same period in 2023. The increase primarily relates to an decrease in the acquisition of real estate assets. The decrease in net cash flows used in investing activities of the consolidated funds during the nine months ended September 30, 2024 as compared to the same period in 2023 is primarily due to the deconsolidation of VIEs, offset by a decrease in the acquisition of and investment in real estate assets and an increase in the net proceeds from notes receivable - related parties.

The increase in net cash flows used in investing activities of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the same period in 2022, primarily relates to an increase in the acquisition of real estate assets. The decrease in net cash flows used in investing activities of the consolidated funds is primarily due to the decrease in the acquisition of real estate assets and the net impact of the consolidation and deconsolidation of VIEs, offset by a decrease in proceeds from the sale of real estate investments.

67

Financing Activities

Net cash flows used in financing activities of the Company increased during the nine months ended September 30, 2024 as compared to the net cash flows provided by financing activities of the Company for the same period in 2023. The increase was primarily due to an decrease of \$41.6 million of proceeds on notes payable. The decrease in net cash flows provided by financing activities of the consolidated funds during the nine months ended September 30, 2024 as compared to the same period in 2023 is primarily due to a decrease in contributions from noncontrolling interest holders of \$6.4 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2024 as compared to the same period in 2023.

The increase in net cash flows provided by financing activities of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the same period in 2022, was primarily due to an increase of \$13.7 million of net proceeds on notes payable and an increase of \$2.6 million in proceeds from the issuance of common stock, net of equity issuance costs during the year ended December 31, 2023 as compared to the same period in 2022. The decrease in net cash flows provided by financing activities of the consolidated funds is primarily due to a decrease in the net proceeds from notes payable and notes payable – related parties of our consolidated funds of \$12.9 million, an increase in deferred financing costs paid of \$2.3 million, and an increase in distributions to noncontrolling interest holders of \$5.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2023 as compared to the same period in 2022.

Subsequent Events

On November 14, 2024, we filed our Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2024. Subsequently, we filed a Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights (the "Certificate of Designation") with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on November 26, 2024. The Certificate of Designation establishes the preferences, voting powers, limitations as to dividends or other distributions, qualifications, terms and conditions of redemption and other terms and conditions of the Company's Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, par value \$0.001 (the "Series A Preferred Stock").

There were seven hundred fifty thousand (750,000) shares of the Series A Preferred Stock designated by this Certificate of Designation, of which we subsequently sold 100,000 shares for total proceeds of \$2.0 million. As of the date of this filing, 650,000 shares of our Series A Preferred Stock designated on November 26, 2024, are available to issue by the Company.

Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of our consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. These estimates are made and evaluated on an ongoing basis using information that is currently available as well as various other assumptions believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could differ from those estimates, perhaps in adverse ways, and those estimates could be different under different assumptions or conditions.

Accounting Estimates of the Company

We believe the following critical accounting policies affect the Company's more significant estimates and judgements used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements.

Revenue Recognition

In accordance with the Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers ("ASC 606"), management applies the five-step framework in determining the timing and amount of revenue to recognize. This framework requires an entity to: (i) identify the contract(s) with customers, (ii) identify the performance obligations within the contract, (iii) determine the transaction price, (iv) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations within the contract, and (v) recognize revenue when or as the entity satisfies a performance obligation.

Revenues from contracts with customers includes fixed fee arrangements with related party affiliates to provide certain associated activities which are ancillary to and generally add value to the assets we manage, such as set-up and fund formation services associated with marketing, soliciting, and selling member interests in the affiliated limited partnerships, brokerage services, construction and development management services, loan placement and guarantees. The recognition and measurement of revenue is based on the assessment of individual contract terms. For performance obligations satisfied at a point in time, there are no significant judgments made in evaluating when the customer obtains control of the promised service.

For performance obligations satisfied over time, significant judgment is required to determine how to allocate transaction prices where multiple performance obligations are identified; when to recognize revenue based on appropriate measurement of the Company's progress under the contract; and whether constraints on variable consideration should be applied due to uncertain future events. Transaction price is allocated to each distinct performance obligation and recognized as revenue when, or as, the performance obligation is satisfied. Variable consideration is included in the estimated transaction price to the extent it is probable that a significant reversal of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur or when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is resolved. The Company's estimates of variable consideration and determination

of whether to include estimated amounts in transaction price are based largely on an assessment of its anticipated performance and all information that is reasonably available to the Company. Revenues are recognized when control of the promised services is transferred to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for those services.

68

The following describes revenue recognition for the fees the Company earns from providing services under its asset management platform:

Fund set-up fees are a one-time fee for the initial formation, administration, and set-up of the private equity real estate fund. These fees are recognized at the point in time when the performance under the contract is complete and are included in asset management revenues in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. Fund set-up fees replaced fund formation fees that are earned at a point in time at a fixed rate based on the amount of capital raised into certain managed funds.

Fund management fees are generally based on 1.0% to 1.5% of the unreturned capital contributions in a particular fund and include reimbursement for costs incurred on behalf of the fund, including an allocation of certain overhead costs. These customer contracts require the Company to provide management services, representing a performance obligation that the Company satisfies over time. With respect to the Caliber Hospitality Trust, the Company earns a fund management fee of 0.7% of the Caliber Hospitality Trust's enterprise value and is reimbursed for certain costs incurred on behalf of the Caliber Hospitality Trust. These revenues are included in asset management revenues in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Financing fees are earned for services the Company performs in securing third-party financing on behalf of our private equity real estate funds. These fees are recognized at the point in time when the performance under the contract is complete, which is essentially upon closing of a loan. In addition, the Company earns fees for guaranteeing certain loans, representing a performance obligation that the Company satisfies over time. These revenues are included in asset management revenues in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Development and construction revenues from contracts with customers include fixed fee arrangements with related party affiliates to provide real estate development services as their principal developer, which include managing and supervising third-party developers and general contractors with respect to the development of the properties owned by the funds. Revenues are generally based on 4.0% of the total expected costs of the development or 4.0% of the total expected costs of the construction project. Prior to the commencement of construction, development fee revenue is recognized at a point in time as the related performance obligations are satisfied and the customer obtains control of the promised service, including negotiation, due diligence, entitlements, planning, and design activities. During the construction period, development fee revenue is recognized over time as the performance obligations are satisfied. These revenues are included in asset management revenues in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Brokerage fees are earned at a point in time at fixed rates for services performed related to acquisitions, dispositions, leasing, and financing transaction, and are included in asset management revenues in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Performance allocations are an arrangement in which we are entitled to an allocation of investment returns, generated within the investment funds which we manage, based on a contractual formula. We typically receive 15.0% to 35.0% of all cash distributions from (i) the operating cash flow of each fund, after payment to the related fund investors of any accumulated and unpaid priority preferred returns and repayment of preferred capital contributions; and (ii) the cash flow resulting from the sale or refinance of any real estate assets held by each fund, after payment to the related fund investors of any accumulated and unpaid priority preferred returns and repayment of initial preferred capital contributions. Our funds' preferred returns range from 6.0% to 12.0%, typically 6.0% for common equity or 10.0% to 12.0% for preferred equity, which does not participate in profits. Performance allocations are related to services which have been provided and are recognized when it is determined that they are no longer probable of significant reversal, which is generally satisfied when an underlying fund investment is realized or sold. These revenues are included in performance allocations in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

69

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method in accordance with ASC 740, Accounting for Income Taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on temporary differences between the financial reporting and tax basis of assets and liabilities and operating loss and tax credit carry forwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured by applying enacted tax rates and laws and are released in the years in which the temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. Valuation allowances are provided against deferred tax assets when it is more-likely-than-not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.

A valuation allowance is required to reduce the balance of a deferred tax asset if it is determined that it is more-likely-than-not that all or some portion of the deferred tax asset will not be realized due to the lack of sufficient taxable income or other limitation on the Company's ability to utilize the loss carryforward.

We recognize the impact of an income tax position, if that position is more-likely-than-not of being sustained on audit, based on the technical merits of the position. Related interest and penalties are classified as income taxes in the financial statements.

Accounting Estimates of Consolidated Funds

We believe the following critical accounting policies affect the consolidated funds' more significant estimates and judgements used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements

Consolidated Fund Revenues

In accordance with ASC 606, our consolidated funds apply the five-step framework in determining the timing and amount of revenue to recognize. This framework requires an entity to: (i) identify the contract(s) with customers, (ii) identify the performance obligations within the contract, (iii) determine the transaction price, (iv) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations within the contract, and (v) recognize revenue when or as the entity satisfies a performance obligation. Our consolidated funds' revenues primarily consist of hospitality revenues, rental income and interest income.

Consolidated funds - hospitality revenue

Hospitality revenues are comprised of charges for room rentals, food and beverage sales, and other hotel operating activities. Revenues are recognized as earned, which is defined as the date upon which a guest occupies a room or utilizes the hotel's services. Revenues are recorded net of sales tax.

Our consolidated funds have performance obligations to provide accommodations and other ancillary services to hotel guests. As compensation for such goods and services, the consolidated funds are typically entitled to a fixed nightly fee for an agreed upon period and additional fixed fees for any ancillary services purchased. These fees are generally payable at the time the hotel guest checks out of the hotel. The consolidated funds generally satisfy the performance obligations over time and recognize the revenue from room sales and from other ancillary guest services on a daily basis, as the rooms are occupied, and the services have been rendered.

For food and beverage, revenue is recognized upon transfer of promised products or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration the consolidated funds received in exchange for those services, which is generally when payment is tendered at the time of sale.

70

The consolidated funds receive deposits for events and rooms. Such deposits are deferred and included in other liabilities on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The deposits are credited to consolidated funds – hospitality revenue when the specific event takes place.

Consolidated funds - other revenue

Consolidated funds – other revenue primarily consists of rental revenue of \$0.4 million and \$1.3 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, respectively, and \$1.2 million and \$3.5 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023, respectively. Rental revenue includes the revenues generated primarily by the rental operations of the residential (multi-family and single-family) and commercial properties of our consolidated funds.

Consolidated funds – other revenue primarily consists of rental revenue of \$4.0 million and \$3.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Rental revenue includes the revenues generated primarily by the rental operations of the residential (multi-family and single-family) and commercial properties of our consolidated funds.

Consolidated Fund Expenses

Consolidated fund expenses consist primarily of costs, expenses and fees that are incurred by, or arise out of the operation and activities of or otherwise related to, our consolidated funds, including, without limitation, operating costs, depreciation and amortization, interest expense on debt held by our consolidated funds, gain on extinguishment of debt, gain on derivative instruments, insurance expenses, professional fees and other costs associated with administering and supporting those funds.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair value of financial instruments is disclosed in accordance with ASC 825, Financial Instruments. The fair value of our financial instruments is estimated using available market information and established valuation methodologies. The estimates of fair value are not necessarily indicative of the amounts the consolidated funds could realize on disposition of the financial instruments. The use of different market assumptions and/or valuation methodologies may have a material effect on the estimated fair value amounts.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Market Risk

The market risk associated with financial instruments and derivative financial instruments is the risk of loss from adverse changes in market prices or interest rates. Our market risk arises primarily from interest rate risk relating to variable-rate borrowings. To meet our short and long-term liquidity requirements, we borrow funds at a combination of fixed and variable rates. Our interest rate risk management objectives are to limit the impact of interest rate changes on earnings and cash flows and to manage our overall borrowing costs. To achieve these objectives, from time to time, we may enter into interest rate hedge contracts such as swaps, caps, collars, treasury locks, options and forwards in order to mitigate our interest rate risk with respect to various debt instruments. We would not hold or issue these derivative contracts for trading or speculative purposes.

Interest Rate Risk

As of September 30, 2024, our debt included fixed-rate debt with a fair value and carrying value of \$53.6 million and \$61.0 million, respectively. Changes in market interest rates on our fixed rate debt impact the fair value of the debt, but they have no impact on interest incurred or cash flow. For instance, if interest rates rise 100 basis points, and the fixed rate debt balance remains constant, we expect the fair value of our debt to decrease, the same way the price of a bond declines as interest rates rise.

71

As of September 30, 2024, our debt included variable-rate debt with a fair value and carrying value of \$22.6 million. The sensitivity analysis related to our variable-rate debt assumes an immediate 100 basis point move in interest rates from their September 30, 2024 levels, with all other variables held constant. A 100 basis point increase or decrease in variable interest rates on our variable-rate debt would increase or decrease our interest expense by \$0.2 million annually.

Credit Risk

Substantially all of the Company's revenues are generated from the management, ownership and/or operations of real estate assets located in Alaska, Arizona, Colorado, and Texas. The Company mitigates the associated risk by:

- diversifying our investments in real estate assets across multiple asset types, including hospitality, commercial, single-family, multi-family, and self-storage properties;
- · diversifying our investments in real estate assets across multiple geographic locations including different markets and sub-markets in which our real estate assets are located;
- · diversifying our investments in real estate assets across assets at differing points of stabilization, and in varying states of cash flow optimization; and
- · maintaining financing relationships with a diversified mix of lenders (differing size and type), including large national banks, local community banks, private equity lenders, and insurance companies.

BUSINESS

Over the past 15 years, Caliber has grown into a leading diversified alternative asset management firm, managing more than \$2.9 billion in assets under management ("AUM") and assets under development ("AUD"). Caliber's primary goal is to enhance the wealth of accredited investors seeking to make investments in middle-market assets. We strive to build wealth for our clients by creating, managing, and servicing middle-market investment funds, private syndications, and direct investments. Through our funds, we invest primarily in real estate, private equity, and debt facilities. We market and fundraise to private investors, family offices, and institutions ("Direct Channel") and to registered investment advisers and independent broker-dealers ("Wholesale Channel").

We believe that we provide investors attractive risk-adjusted returns by offering a balance of (i) structured offerings and ease of ownership, (ii) a pipeline of investment opportunities, primarily projects that range in value between \$5.0 million and \$50.0 million, and (iii) an integrated execution and processing platform. Our investment strategy leverages the local market intelligence and real-time data we gain from our operations to evaluate current investments, generate proprietary transaction flow, and implement various asset management strategies.

As an alternative asset manager, we offer a full suite of support services and employ a vertically integrated approach to investment management. Our asset management activities are complemented with transaction and advisory services, including development and construction management, acquisition and disposition expertise, and fund formation, which we believe differentiate us from other asset management firms. We earn the following fees from providing these services under our asset management platform:

- · Fund set-up fees are a one-time fee for the initial formation, administration, and set-up of fund products we distribute and manage. These fees are recognized at the point in time when the performance under the contract is complete.
- · Fund management fees are generally based on 1.0% to 1.5% of the unreturned capital contributions in a particular fund and include reimbursement for costs incurred on behalf of the fund, including an allocation of certain overhead costs. These customer contracts require the Company to provide management services, representing a performance obligation that the Company satisfies over time. With respect to the Caliber Hospitality Trust (as defined in Note 3 VIEs), the Company earns an fund management fee of 0.70% of the Caliber Hospitality Trust's enterprise value and is reimbursed for certain costs incurred on behalf of the Caliber Hospitality Trust.
- Financing fees are earned for services the Company performs in securing third-party financing on behalf of our private equity real estate funds. These fees are recognized at the point in time when the performance under the contract is complete, which is essentially upon closing of a loan. In addition, the Company earns fees for guarantying certain loans, representing a performance obligation that the Company satisfies over time.
- Real estate development revenues are generally based on 4.0% of the total expected costs of the development or 4.0% of the total expected costs of the construction project for services performed as the principal developer, which include managing and supervising third-party developers and general contractors with respect to the development of the properties owned by the funds. Prior to the commencement of construction, development fee revenue is recognized at a point in time as the related performance obligations are satisfied and the customer obtains control of the promised service, including negotiation, due diligence, entitlements, planning, and design activities. During the construction period, development fee revenue is recognized over time as the performance obligations are satisfied.
- · Brokerage fees are earned at a point in time at fixed rates for services performed related to acquisitions, dispositions, leasing, and financing transactions.
- Performance allocations are an arrangement in which we are entitled to an allocation of investment returns, generated within the investment funds which we manage, based on a contractual formula. We typically receive 15.0% to 35.0% of all cash distributions from (i) the operating cash flow of each fund, after payment to the related fund investors of any accumulated and unpaid priority preferred returns and repayment of preferred capital contributions; and (ii) the cash flow resulting from the sale or refinance of any real estate assets held by each fund, after payment to the related fund investors of any accumulated and unpaid priority preferred returns and repayment of initial preferred capital contributions. Our funds' preferred returns range from 6.0% to 12.0%, typically 6.0% for common equity or 10.0% to 12.0% for preferred equity, which does not participate in profits. Performance allocations are related to services which have been provided and are recognized when it is determined that they are no longer probable of significant reversal, which is generally satisfied when an underlying fund investment is realized or sold.

73

We have a number of development, redevelopment, construction, and entitlement projects that are underway or are in the planning stages, which we define as AUD. This category includes projects to be built on undeveloped land and projects to be built and constructed on undeveloped lands, which are not yet owned by our funds but are under contract to purchase. Completing these development activities may ultimately result in income-producing assets, assets we may sell to third parties, or both. As of September 30, 2024, we are involved in the development of 1,796 multifamily units, 697 single family units, 3.7 million square feet of commercial and industrial, and 3.5 million square feet of office and retail. If all of these projects are brought to completion, the total cost capitalized to these projects, which represents total current estimated costs to complete the development and construction of such projects by us or a third party, is \$2.1 billion, which we expect would be funded through a combination of undeployed fund cash, third-party equity, project sales, tax credit financing and similar incentives, and secured debt financing. We are under no obligation to complete these projects and may dispose of any such assets at any time. There can be no assurance that AUD will ultimately be developed or constructed because of the nature of the cost of the approval and development process and market demand for a particular use. In addition, the mix of residential and commercial assets under development may change prior to final development. The development of these assets will require significant additional financing or other sources of funding, which may not be available.

Investment Process and Risk Management

We maintain a rigorous investment process across all our funds. Each fund has investment policies and procedures that generally contain investment parameters and requirements, such as limitations relating to the types of assets, industries or geographic regions in which the fund will invest. An investment committee reviews and evaluates investment opportunities in a framework that includes a qualitative and quantitative assessment of the key opportunities and risks of investments.

Our investment professionals are responsible for the full life cycle of an investment, from evaluation, through execution, to exit. Investment professionals generally submit investment opportunities for review and approval by our investment committee. The investment committee is comprised of executives and senior leaders of the Company. When evaluating investment opportunities, the investment committee may consider, without limitation and depending on the nature of the investment and its strategy, the quality of the asset in which the fund proposes to invest, likely exit strategies, factors that could reduce the value of the asset at exit, and a range of economic and interest rate environments, macroeconomic trends in the relevant geographic region or industry and the quality of the asset's business operations. Our investment committee also incorporates, to the extent appropriate, environmental, social and governance ("ESG") factors into the investment decision-making process.

Existing investments are reviewed and monitored on a regular basis by investment and asset management professionals. In addition, our investment professionals and asset managers work directly with our portfolio companies' directors, executives and managers to drive operational efficiencies and growth.

Capital Invested In and Alongside Our Investment Funds

To further align our interests with those of investors in our investment funds, we have invested our own capital and that of certain of our personnel in the investment funds that we sponsor and manage. Minimum general partner capital commitments to our investment funds are determined separately with respect to each of our investment funds and, generally, are less than 5% of the limited partner commitments of any particular fund. We determine whether to make general partner capital commitments to our funds in

Investors in many of our funds also receive the opportunity to make additional "co-investments" with the investment funds. Our employees, as well as Caliber itself, also have the opportunity to make investments, in or alongside our funds and other vehicles we manage, in some instances without being subject to management fees, carried interest or incentive fees. In certain cases, limited partner investors may pay additional management fees or carried interest in connection with such co-investments.

Competition

The asset management industry is intensely competitive. We compete primarily on a regional, industry and asset class basis.

We face competition both in the pursuit of fund investors and investment opportunities. Generally, our competition varies across business lines, geographies, and financial markets. We compete for outside investors based on a variety of factors, including investment performance, investor perception of investment managers' drive, focus and alignment of interest, quality of service provided to and duration of relationship with investors, business reputation, and the level of fees and expenses charged for services.

We compete for investment opportunities based on a variety of factors, including breadth of market coverage and relationships, access to capital, transaction execution skills, the range of products and services offered, innovation, and price.

We compete with real estate funds, specialized funds, hedge fund sponsors, financial institutions, private equity funds, corporate buyers, and other parties. Many of these competitors are substantially larger and have considerably greater financial, technical, and marketing resources than are available to us. Many of these competitors have similar investment objectives to ours, which may create additional competition for investment opportunities. Some of these competitors may also have a lower cost of capital and access to funding sources that are not available to us, which may create competitive disadvantages for us with respect to investment opportunities. In addition, some of these competitors may have higher risk tolerances, different risk assessments or lower return thresholds, which could allow them to consider a wider variety of investments and to bid more aggressively than us for investments that we want to make. Corporate buyers may be able to achieve synergistic cost savings with regard to an investment that may provide them with a competitive advantage in bidding for an investment.

The alternative investment industry is highly competitive. Many of our competitors have greater financial resources and a broader market presence than we do. We compete with respect to:

- · Competitive fee structures on our asset management services; and
- · Diversification of our revenue stream across the deal continuum, including asset management revenues which include brokerage fees on buying and selling assets, construction management fees on repositioning assets, fund set up fees for the initial formation, administration, and set-up of fund products we distribute and manage.

Strategy and Competitive Strengths

We manage and administer investment vehicles that allow investors to diversify their holdings into asset classes that would not be readily accessible to them otherwise. We typically distribute cash to fund investors where there is either: (i) sufficient distributable cash derived from the income of our investments (rents, etc.) or (ii) a capital event, such as a sale of an asset or a cash-out refinance. Caliber's approach is to offer investors, and their wealth managers, products managed by a team aligned with their success. We believe our competitive strengths include:

• Extensive relationship and sourcing network. We leverage our relationships in order to source deals for our funds. In addition, our management has extensive relationships with major industry participants in each of the markets in which we currently operate. Their local presence and reputation in these markets enables them to cultivate key relationships with major holders of property inventory, in particular, financial institutions, throughout the real estate community.

75

- Targeted market opportunities. We primarily focus on business and investment-friendly markets that have a long-term trend of population growth and income improvement, in particular focus on Alaska, Arizona, Colorado, and Texas. We generally avoid engaging in direct competition in over-regulated and saturated markets.
- Structuring expertise and speed of execution. We believe we have developed a reputation of being able to quickly execute, as well as originate and creatively structure acquisitions, dispositions and financing transactions. We have experience in a variety of investment strategies, including direct property investments, joint ventures, participating loans and investments in performing and non-performing mortgages with the objective of long-term ownership.
- · Vertically integrated platform for operational enhancement. We believe in a hands-on approach to real estate investing and possess local expertise in brokerage, development management, and investment sales, which we believe enable us to invest successfully in select submarkets. Our goal is to optimize the use of in-house services for high margin, low volume tasks while using third-party services for high volume, low margin tasks.
- Focus on the middle market. We believe our focus on middle market opportunities offers our investors significant alternatives to active, equity investing. This focus has allowed us to offer a diversified range of alternative investment opportunities, particularly for accredited investors.
- Risk protection and investment discipline. We underwrite our investments based upon an examination of investment economics and an understanding of market dynamics and risk management strategies. We conduct an in-depth sensitivity analysis on each of our fund investments. This analysis applies various economic scenarios that include, where appropriate, changes to rental rates, absorption periods, operating expenses, interest rates, exit values and holding periods.

Our Growth Strategy

We aim to continue building wealth for our investors by expanding our business with the following strategies:

- Organic growth with our existing high net worth investor base. We estimate that we currently service less than 1.0% of the current high net worth investor base in the United States. Using our established direct sales method, we intend to attract additional high net worth individuals to expand our number of customers and our assets under management.
- · Expansion into additional distribution channels. We intend to expand Caliber's recent, early success in accessing institutional channels by further expanding our fundraising activities directed to registered investment advisers (RIA), broker-dealers, family offices, and boutique institutions.

- · New funds and strategies. We intend to grow our assets under management ("AUM") by expanding the number of available funds and strategies. We will look for complementary products and vehicles that utilize our existing vertically integrated infrastructure to allow us to continue to capture attractive risk-adjusted returns. These areas of investment could include private debt, venture capital and private equity. We expect these new funds and strategies will attract new investors, in addition to leveraging our existing investor base.
- Accretive acquisitions. We plan to evaluate potential accretive acquisition opportunities to further grow our business. These acquisitions could include opportunities to expand our distribution capabilities, product offerings or geographic reach.

Human Capital Management

Caliber's core principles of accountability, respect, and transparency are at the heart of who we are and how we operate. Our employees are integral to Caliber's culture of transparency, integrity, professionalism, and excellence. Our employees adhere to these core principles leading to our continued success as an organization. Our professionals have decades of institutional experience in commercial, real estate, capital markets, alternative investments, and mergers and acquisitions. We give our employees the opportunities to develop their skills and encourage them to collaborate to achieve success.

76

As of September 30, 2024, we had 80 employees. None of our employees are currently covered by a collective bargaining agreement.

Talent Acquisition, Development and Retention

We face intense competition for qualified personnel. We believe the talent of our employees, in association with our rigorous investment process, has supported our growth and investment performance over the past decade. We are focused on hiring, training, and developing the skills and careers of our people. We provide opportunities for growth and development for our employees and support their personal and professional goals in an effort to retain the most talented individuals.

We value diversity and inclusion on our team. The opportunities we provide in conjunction with our reputation is what we believe makes us an attractive employer. We seek to retain and incentivize the performance of our employees through our compensation structure. We enter into non-competition and non-solicitation agreements with certain employees.

Compensation and Benefits

Our compensation strategy is designed to attract qualified talent, retain team members, and stay competitive within the talent market. Caliber continually evaluates our compensation structure to ensure it aligns with the market and continues to be an attractive component of joining our team. Compensation includes incentives for individual performance as well as overall success in meeting the Company's goals. We believe these additional incentives encourage team members to perform at a high level.

We provide our team members with competitive health and retirement offerings, as well as a variety of quality-of-life benefits, including flexible time-off, an employee assistance program at no cost to the employee, a Company match for retirement plan contribution, tuition reimbursement, and overall support for well-being and family planning resources.

Regulatory and Compliance Matters

Our businesses, as well as the financial services industry generally, are subject to extensive regulation, including periodic examinations, by governmental agencies and self-regulatory organizations or exchanges in the jurisdictions in which we operate relating to, among other things, anti-money laundering laws, and privacy laws with respect to client information, and some of our funds invest in businesses that operate in highly regulated industries. Each of the regulatory bodies with jurisdiction over us oversee many aspects of financial services, including the authority to grant, and in specific circumstances to revoke, permissions to engage in particular activities. Any failure to comply with these rules and regulations could expose us to liability and/or reputational damage. The SEC and various self-regulatory organizations, state securities regulators, and international securities regulators have in recent years increased their regulatory activities, including regulation, examination, and enforcement in respect of asset management firms. Additional legislation, increasing regulatory oversight of fundraising activities, changes in rules promulgated by self-regulatory organizations or exchanges or changes in the interpretation or enforcement of existing laws and rules may directly affect our mode of operation and profitability.

We intend to continue to conduct our operations so that neither we nor any subsidiaries we own nor ones we may establish will be required to register as an investment company under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended ("Investment Company Act"). The loss of our exclusion from regulation pursuant to the Investment Company Act could require us to restructure our operations, sell certain of our assets, or abstain from the purchase of certain assets, which could have an adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. If we were deemed an "investment company" under the Investment Company Act, applicable restrictions could make it impractical for us to continue our business as conducted and could have a material adverse effect on our business.

77

Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we may become involved in various lawsuits and legal proceedings which arise in the ordinary course of business. However, litigation is subject to inherent uncertainties, and an adverse result in these or other matters may arise from time to time that may harm our business. We are currently not aware of any such legal proceedings or claims that we believe will have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or operating results.

MANAGEMENT

Directors and Executive Officers

Set forth below is information regarding each of the Company's current directors and executive officers. The executive officers serve at the by appointment of the Board of Directors (the "Board").

Name	Age	Title
	40	
John C. "Chris" Loeffler, II		Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board
Jennifer Schrader	42	President and Vice-Chairperson
William J. Gerber	66	Director
Michael Trzupek	53	Director

Daniel P. Hansen	54	Director
Lawrence Taylor	59	Director
Jade Leung	50	Chief Financial Officer
Roy Bade	61	Chief Development Officer
Ignacio Martinez	56	Chief Operating Officer

Each of the Company's executive officers and directors will hold office until their successors are duly elected and qualified. The background and principal occupations of each officer and director are as follows:

John C. "Chris" Loeffler, II. Mr. Loeffler has served as the Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of Caliber's Board of Directors since its inception. As Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Loeffler directs and executes the global strategy, oversees investments and fund management, and contributes to private and public capital formation. As a cofounder Mr. Loeffler took an early role in forming the Company's financial and operational infrastructure and navigating the vertical integration of all real estate and investment services. Prior to forming Caliber, Mr. Loeffler was in the audit and assurance practice for PwC in Phoenix, Arizona, completing public company audits, developing control systems, and completing several acquisition or sale transactions. Mr. Loeffler earned a Bachelor of Science degree in Business Administration with a concentration in Accounting from California Polytechnic State University, San Luis Obispo. Mr. Loeffler also attended Universidad Complutense de Madrid (University of Madrid) in Madrid, Spain. In addition, Mr. Loeffler is a Board Director for Zennihome Holdings, Inc., a technology-forward manufacturer of stackable housing units. We believe that Mr. Loeffler's extensive knowledge of Caliber's business and his extensive corporate and leadership experience as a co-founder of Caliber and its Chief Executive Officer qualifies him to serve on our Board of Directors.

Jennifer Schrader. Ms. Schrader has served as the President and Chief Operating Officer and as Vice-Chairperson and director of Caliber since its inception. Since cofounding Caliber in 2009, Ms. Schrader has overseen the acquisition, design, repositioning, and disposition of over \$600 million in assets to date. In addition, she leads the Company's daily operations, inclusive of Caliber's asset management activities, focusing on the execution of each investment's business plan over the asset's full lifecycle. Prior to forming Caliber, Ms. Schrader was the Managing Partner of First United Equites, LLC, a Michigan business focused on acquiring, renovating and selling homes for profit. Ms. Schrader serves as Chair of the Caliber Foundation, which was launched in 2021, and on the Colangelo College of Business Advisory Board for Grand Canyon University in Phoenix, Arizona. Ms. Schrader attended Lawrence Technological University in Michigan where she studied architecture and interior architecture. She holds a Real Estate Broker's license from the Arizona School of Real Estate and Business. We believe that Ms. Schrader's extensive knowledge of Caliber's business and her extensive corporate and leadership experience as a co-founder of Caliber and its President qualifies her to serve on our Board of Directors.

78

Michael Trzupek. Mr. Trzupek has been a member of the Board of Directors of the Company since May 2023. Mr. Trzupek has been a member of our Advisory Board since May 2019. He is currently the Chief Financial Officer for Imagination Technologies a semiconductor and software design company based in the United Kingdom. From September 2020 to April 2022, Mr. Trzupek served as the Chief Financial Officer of Core Scientific, one of the largest digital asset mining infrastructure providers in North America. From February 2019 to June 2020, Mr. Trzupek served as the Chief Financial Officer of Premera Blue Cross, Washington's leading health plan. Mr. Trzupek oversees accounting, financial planning and analysis, investment and treasury. Prior to joining Premera Blue Cross, Mr. Trzupek served as Group Vice President for Providence St. Joseph Health System, executing finance functions, strategic planning and budgeting, as well as the evaluation of affiliations, acquisitions and strategic investments. Prior to Providence St. Joseph Health System, he was a Corporate Finance General Manager at Microsoft, focused on business planning for the Company's hardware products, including Xbox and Surface. Mr. Trzupek began his financial career at Intel. Mr. Trzupek received his Master of Business Administration from the University of Chicago. He is a member of the Board of Directors at the Seattle Aquarium, as well as a former Advisory Board member for eCapital Advisors. We believe that Mr. Trzupek's extensive knowledge of Caliber's business as a member of the Advisory Board of Caliber and his extensive corporate and leadership experience qualify him to serve on our Board of Directors.

Daniel P. Hansen. Mr. Hansen has been a member of the Board of Directors of the Company since May 2023. Mr. Hansen has been a member of our Advisory Board since May 2022. Mr. Hansen is currently the Global Head of Hyatt Studios, Hyatt Hotels first extended stay upper-midscale brand in the Americas. He previously served as the Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer of Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. (NYSE:INN) from that company's initial public offering until his retirement in 2021. He served on the Board of the American Hotel & Lodging Association (AHLA) and as a trustee of the AHLA Foundation and on advisory councils of multiple hotel brands. Mr. Hansen was recognized by Institutional Investor Magazine as a top small-cap executive in 2017, and in 2018, received the EY Entrepreneur of The Year Award in the Texas region. Prior to joining The Summit Group, Mr. Hansen spent 11 years with Merrill Lynch in various leadership positions culminating as a Vice President and Regional Sales Manager in the Texas Mid-South Region. Mr. Hansen graduated from South Dakota State University with a B.A. in Economics. We believe that Mr. Hansen's extensive corporate and leadership experience qualify him to serve on our Board of Directors.

Lawrence Taylor. Mr. Taylor has been a member of the Board of Directors of the Company since August 2023. Mr. Taylor is President of Taylor Strategy Group advising companies on finance, strategy, growth initiatives and related activities. His experience spans start-ups, private companies, and publicly traded companies across diverse industries, including casino gaming, hospitality, manufacturing, aviation, commercial real estate, retail, and healthcare. Previously, Mr. Taylor served as Partner and Managing Director at Odyssey Capital Group, Chief Financial Officer at Excorp Medical, Inc., Corporate Director of Investment Relations at Grand Casinos, Inc., and others. He is a Board Leadership Fellow of the National Association of Corporate Directors (NACD), is Directorship Certified by the NACD, and was recognized as a "Director to Watch" in 2020 by the Private Company Director Magazine. Mr. Taylor earned a bachelor's degree in finance from Louisiana Tech University.

Jade Leung. Mr. Leung has served as Caliber's Chief Financial Officer and corporate secretary since April 2017. As Chief Financial Officer, Mr. Leung oversees all aspects of accounting and controllership, financial planning and analysis, tax, financial reporting, and treasury functions at Caliber. Before being named Chief Financial Officer, Mr. Leung served as Caliber's Vice President of Finance and was responsible for managing and streamlining the Company's accounting and compliance functions across all divisions and functions. In August 2016, he was also named the Chief Compliance Officer for the Company's Arizona issuer-dealer, Caliber Securities, LLC, which established a new revenue stream for the Caliber group of companies. Prior to joining Caliber, Mr. Leung spent 12 years with PwC where he managed audit and accounting advisory services for some of PwC's largest Fortune 500 companies in the United States, Canada, and Japan. Notably, Mr. Leung participated in over \$1 billion of public market transactions and financing arrangements. Mr. Leung earned an accounting degree from Ryerson University and a Bachelor of Arts degree in Psychology from the University of British Columbia. Jade holds an active CPA license in the states of Arizona and Maine.

79

Roy Bade. Mr. Bade has served as the Chief Development Officer of Caliber since November 2019. Roy is responsible for managing real estate service lines provided by Caliber's vertically integrated group of operating businesses. His four areas of responsibility include vertical and horizontal real estate development, construction, acquisitions, and project financing. Mr. Bade joined Caliber in 2014 as Fund Manager and was quickly promoted to Executive Vice President and Fund Manager. He was responsible for maximizing returns on existing properties and managing Caliber's development and construction activity. For nearly 30 years prior to joining Caliber, Mr. Bade acted as the principal and managing partner of two businesses, Bade Commercial Services Inc and BCS Development Group, LLC, which included the development, construction, and property management of commercial, retail and industrial properties throughout Phoenix, Arizona. During this time, Mr. Bade developed, constructed and owned over 750,000 square feet of property. Mr. Bade graduated from Washington State University with a Bachelor of Science in Business Information Systems, and holds a Commercial General Contractor's license, and holds an Arizona Real Estate Broker's license.

William J. Gerber. Mr. Gerber has been a member of the Board of Directors of the Company since May 2023. Mr. Gerber has been a member of our Advisory Board since April 2019. Mr. Gerber has acted as a consultant since October 2015. From October 2006 to October 2015 Mr. Gerber served as Chief Financial Officer of TD Ameritrade Holding Corporation (Nasdaq: AMTD) ("TD Ameritrade"), a provider of securities brokerage services and related technology-based financial services to retail investors, traders and independent registered investment advisors, and has extensive financial experience. In May 2007, he was named Executive Vice President of TD Ameritrade. In his role as Chief Financial Officer, he oversaw investor relations, business development, certain treasury functions and finance operations, including accounting, business planning and forecasting, external and internal reporting, tax and competitive intelligence. From May 1999 until October 2006, he served as the Managing Director of Finance at TD Ameritrade, during which time he played a significant role in evaluating merger and acquisition opportunities. Prior to joining TD Ameritrade, he served as Vice President of Acceptance Insurance Companies, Inc., where he was responsible for all aspects of mergers and acquisitions, investment banking activity, banking relationships, investor communications and portfolio management. Prior to joining Acceptance, Mr. Gerber spent eight years with Coopers & Lybrand, now known as PwC, serving as an audit manager primarily focusing on public company clients. Mr. Gerber was named to Institutional Investor Magazine's All-America Executive Team as one of the top three CFOs in the Brokerage, Asset Managers and Exchanges category (2012 and 2013). He was also named a member of the CNBC CFO Council (2013 and 2014). Since January 2017, he has served on the Board of Directors of Northwestern Mutual Series Fund, a mutual fund company. He has also served on the Board of Directors of the U.S. holding company for the Royal Bank of Canada since July 2016 and Streck, Inc., a privately held company, since March 2015. In addition, he serves on the Boys Town National Board of Trustees. Mr. Gerber holds a B.B.A. in Accounting from the University of Michigan. Mr. Gerber holds a CPA license in the state of Michigan. We believe that Mr. Gerber's extensive knowledge of Caliber's business as a member of the Advisory Board of Caliber and his extensive corporate and leadership experience qualify him to serve on our Board of Directors

Ignacio Martinez. Mr. Martinez has served as the Chief Operating Officer of the Company since April 2024. Prior to serving as Chief Operating Officer, Mr. Martinez was the Senior Vice President of Operations since he joined the Company in June 2023. Prior to joining Caliber, Mr. Martinez had served as Senior Vice President of Security, Risk and Compliance for Smartsheet (NYSE: SMAR), an enterprise Software as a Service (SaaS) work management platform since July 2017, where he played a key role in helping to build and scale the business in preparation for its initial public offering. Mr. Martinez holds a degree in business from New Mexico State University.

Material Proceedings

None of our directors or executive officers has been involved in any events enumerated under Item 401(f) of Regulation S-K during the past ten years that are material to an evaluation of the ability or integrity of such persons to be our directors or executive officers.

80

No material proceedings exist in which any of our directors or executive officers is an adverse party to the Company or any of its subsidiaries or has a material interest adverse to the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

Family Relationships

There are no family relationships among any of our executive officers or directors.

Board Independence

We are listed on the Nasdaq Capital Market ("Nasdaq") and accordingly, we have applied Nasdaq listing standards in determining the "independence" of the members of our Board of Directors. Based on the Nasdaq listing standards and after reviewing the relationships with members of our Board, our Board of Directors has determined that William J. Gerber, Michael Trzupek, Daniel P. Hansen, and Lawrence Taylor qualify as independent directors.

While the Company is a "controlled company" as defined under the NASDAQ rules and thus is entitled to an exemption from the majority independence rule, the Company has not elected this exemption for its 2024 election of Directors but reserves the right to claim this exemption in the future.

Audit Committee

Our audit committee consists of William J. Gerber, Daniel P. Hansen, and Michael Trzupek. Our Board of Directors has determined that each William J. Gerber, Daniel P. Hansen, and Michael Trzupek satisfies the independence requirements under Nasdaq listing standards and Rule 10A-3(b)(1) of the Exchange Act. The chair of our audit committee is Mr. Trzupek, who our Board of Directors has determined is an "audit committee financial expert" within the meaning of SEC regulations. Each member of our audit committee can read and understand fundamental financial statements in accordance with applicable requirements. In arriving at these determinations, our Board of Directors has examined each audit committee member's scope of experience and the nature of their employment in the corporate finance sector.

Code of Conduct and Code of Ethics

We have adopted a written code of conduct and code of ethics that applies to our directors, officers, and employees, including our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer, or controller, or persons performing similar functions. Current copies of the codes are posted on the Corporate Governance section of our website, which are located at https://ir.caliberco.com/corporate-governance/governance-documents. If we make any substantive amendments to, or grant any waivers from, the code of conduct and code of ethics for any officer or director, we will disclose the nature of such amendment or waiver on our website or in a current report on Form 8-K.

Upon written request to our corporate secretary, we will provide you with a copy of our code of ethics, without cost.

Executive Compensation

Compensation of Named Executive Officers

The summary compensation table below shows certain compensation information for services rendered in all capacities for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022. Other than as set forth herein, no executive officer's salary and bonus exceeded \$100,000 in any of the applicable years. The following information includes the dollar value of base salaries, bonus awards, the number of stock options granted and certain other compensation, if any, whether paid or deferred.

81

	Fiscal			Stock	Option	Incentive Plan	All Other	
Name and Principal Position	Year	Salary	Bonus (1)	Awards (2)	Awards	Compensation	Compensation (3)	Total
John C. "Chris" Loeffler, II	2023 \$	490,000	\$ 42,500	\$ 397,493	\$ —	\$ —	\$ 28,025	\$ 958,018

Chief Executive Officer and								
Chairman of the Board	2022 \$	343,846 \$	165,000 \$	— \$	— \$	— \$	13,785	522,631
Jennifer Schrader	2023 \$	450,000 \$	42,500 \$	397,493 \$	— \$	— \$	9,900	899,893
President & Chief Operating								
Officer and Vice-Chairperson	2022 \$	334,616 \$	165,000 \$	— \$	— \$	— \$	16,419	516,035
Jade Leung	2023 \$	375,000 \$	219,175 \$	311,360 \$	— \$	— \$	8,250	913,785
Chief Financial Officer	2022 \$	301,923 \$	165,852 \$	200,001 \$	— \$	— \$	12,700	680,476
Roy Bade	2023 \$	350,000 \$	315,344 \$	358,999 \$	— \$	— \$	6,750	1,031,093
Chief Development Officer	2022 \$	311.539 \$	150,000 \$	139,999 \$	— \$	— \$	10.846	612.384

- (1) The amounts reported in this column reflect cash bonus payments made in the respective year for performance.
- (2) The amounts reported in this column reflect restricted stock units awarded in the respective year for performance.
- (3) The amounts reported in this column represent employer 401(k) contributions. Mr. Loeffler's other compensation includes \$18,125 of loan guarantee fees.

Employment Agreements

The Company entered into Executive Employment Agreement, dated January 1, 2019, with each of John C. Loeffler, Jennifer Schrader, Jade Leung and Roy Bade (each an "Executive", and together the "Executives"). The Executive Employment Agreements (the "Employment Agreements") provide for certain base salary and termination payments to the Executives as follows:

The Employment Agreements are for an indefinite term until the agreement is terminated. Mr. Loeffler's annual base salary is \$490,000 and his employment agreement provides for compensation of \$2,083.33 per month for any and all leadership services rendered in any capacity ("Leadership Compensation"). Ms. Schrader's annual base salary is \$450,000 and her employment agreement provides for Leadership Compensation of \$2,083.33 per month. Mr. Leung's annual base salary is \$375,000 and his employment agreement provides for Leadership Compensation of \$2,083.33 per month. Mr. Bade's annual base salary is \$350,000 and his employment agreement provides for Leadership Compensation of \$2,083.33 per month.

Following the termination of the employment of an Executive under the circumstances described below, the Company will pay to Executive in accordance with its regular payroll practices the following compensation and provide the following benefits:

- Death; Disability. In the event that an Executive's employment is terminated by reason of an Executive's death or disability, an Executive or his/her estate, as the case may be, shall be entitled to the following payments: (i) payment of an Executive's Base Salary plus Leadership Compensation; (ii) any pro rata Bonus earned by an Executive; and (iii) payment of amounts and benefits available under the employee benefit plans.
- Termination by the Company for Cause. In the event that an Executive's employment is terminated by the Company for cause, an Executive will not be entitled to compensation, pro rata Bonus or other benefits.
- Termination by the Company Without Cause. In the event that an Executive's employment is terminated by the Company without cause, an Executive will be entitled to receive their Base Salary, any pro rata Bonus and any expenses earned or incurred through the date of termination. An Executive will be entitled to receive a severance payment of their current Base Salary plus Leadership Compensation for twelve (12) or thirty-six (36) months, depending on the Executive

82

- Voluntary Resignation by Executive for Good Reason. In the event of an Executive's resignation for Good Reason, an Executive will be entitled to receive their Base Salary plus Leadership Compensation, any pro rata Bonus and any expenses earned or incurred through the date of termination. An Executive will be entitled to receive a severance payment of their current Base Salary plus Leadership Compensation for twelve (12) or thirty-six (36) months, depending on the Executive.
- · Resignation. In the event an Executive resigns from the Company regardless of circumstances or reason, the Executive shall be entitled to receive only the Base Salary plus Leadership Compensation and Bonus earned by him through the effective date of his resignation

In September 2022, Caliber adopted new compensation arrangements for its Named Executive Officers; these arrangements are in the process of being reduced to formal agreements which will replace existing agreements in place with such officers. Other than as set forth below, each of the formal agreements will contain identical terms and conditions. The agreements will (i) provide for at-will employment, (ii) provide an auto allowance equal to \$19,500 per year, (iii) provide for severance equal to 12 months of salary upon termination without cause or voluntary resignation for good reason and (iv) require that the Named Executive Officer shall devote substantially all of his/her time and attention to the performance of his/her duties and responsibilities for and on behalf of Caliber except as may be consented to by Caliber.

The Company entered into an Employment Agreement, dated May 25, 2023, with Ignacio Martinez. The Employment Agreement is for an indefinite term until the agreement is terminated. Mr. Martinez's annual base salary is \$325,000. He is eligible to receive an annual bonus based on performance of up to 125% of his base compensation and long-term incentives via the Company's 2017 Incentive Stock Plan.

The following table sets forth the agreed to compensation arrangements with each of our Named Executive Officers:

		Maximum				
		Bonus as a				Total
		Percentage of	Maximum	Long Term	(Compensation
Name	Base Salary	Base Salary	Bonus (1)	Incentive (2)		Potential
John C. "Chris" Loeffler, II	\$ 490,000	200%\$	980,000	\$ 450,000	\$	1,920,000
Jennifer Schrader	\$ 450,000	150%\$	675,000	\$ 450,000	\$	1,575,000
Jade Leung	\$ 375,000	100%\$	375,000	\$ 350,000	\$	1,100,000
Roy Bade	\$ 350,000	150%\$	525,000	\$ 225,000	\$	1,100,000

⁽¹⁾ Bonuses are discretionary, will be dependent on both individual and company performance and will be issued following the close of each year. The amounts listed in the Bonus \$ are target totals assuming the Named Executive Officer achieves his/her designated goals and expected outcomes in the annual plan.

⁽²⁾ The LTI will be payable in the form of RSU's from the 2017 Incentive Stock Plan and are subject to vesting further to the provisions of the Plan. The calculation of total shares to issue for the year will be completed annually as of the first business day each year and the corresponding share price average for the preceding 20 trading days, or as otherwise agreed upon by the Board of Directors.

Other than the employment arrangements described above, we have not entered into any arrangements providing for payments or benefits in connection with the resignation, severance, retirement or other termination of any of our named executive officers, changes in their compensation or a change in control.

In general, Caliber's pay philosophy with respect to its Named Executive Officers is to target at or about the market median of peer group companies for a Named Executive Officer's total compensation, with actual compensation varying based on performance and tenure.

83

Caliber makes such compensation decisions for the Named Executive Officers based on:

- · The Company's strategic and human resources objectives;
- · Competitive data for peer group companies and for a broader group of asset management firms;
- · Corporate and individual performance on key initiatives;
- · Corporate performance compared to our competitors;
- Economic conditions:
- · Advice of outside executive compensation consultants and that of our Advisory Board; and
- · How the elements of compensation contribute to and interrelate to total compensation.

The peer group of companies was compiled by an unaffiliated compensation consultant's study. The compensation consultant recommends an appropriate peer group of public, similarly sized, asset management companies, considering the Company's and the competitors' strategy, mix of business and size, as measured primarily by annual revenues, market capitalization and total assets. These companies are the major competitors in one or more of the Company's businesses, but none represent the exact business mix of the Company. Caliber strives to target compensation for the Named Executive Officers at the median of the compensation of the named executive officers at the peer group companies.

Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change-In-Control

The Employment Agreements, and the employment arrangements approved in 2022, provide for severance benefits upon a termination of employment under certain circumstances. For a discussion regarding the benefits see "Employment Agreement."

Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year End Tables

			Option Awards		
			Equity Incentive		
	Number of	Number of	Plan Awards:		
	Securities	Securities	Number of		
	Underlying	Underlying	Securities		
	Unexercised	Unexercised	Underlying		Option
	Options	Options	Unexercised	Option	Expiration
Name	Exercisable	Unexercisable	Unearned Options	Exercise Price	Date
John C. "Chris" Loeffler, II	_	=	_	N/A	N/A
Jennifer Schrader	_	_	_	N/A	N/A
Jade Leung	386,436	_	— \$	3.35	1/1/2026
	59,452	_	— \$	5.85	12/31/2019
Roy Bade	445,888	_	— \$	3.35	1/1/2026

		Stock A	wards	
Name	Number of Shares or Units of Stock that have not Vested	Market Value of Shares or Units of Stock that have not Vested	Equity Incentive Plan Awards: Number of Unearned Shares, Units or Other Rights that have not Vested	Equity Incentive Plan Awards: Market or Payout Value of Unearned Shares, Units or Other Rights that have not Vested
John C. "Chris" Loeffler, II	301,131 \$	388,459	— \$	_
Jennifer Schrader	301,131 \$	388,459	— \$	_
Jade Leung	255,930 \$	330,150	— \$	_
Roy Bade	285,915 \$	368,830	— \$	_
	9.4			

Recovery of Erroneously Awarded Compensation

The Board adopted a clawback policy (the "Clawback Policy") effective as of May 15, 2023. The Clawback Policy, which is administered by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors, applies to current and former executive officers of the Company (each an "Covered Person"). In the event the Company is required to prepare an accounting restatement of its financial results as a result of a material noncompliance by the Company with any financial reporting requirement under the federal securities laws, the Company will have the right to use reasonable efforts to recover from any Covered Person who received incentive compensation (whether cash or equity) from the Company during the three-year period preceding the date on which the Company was required to prepare the accounting restatement, any excess incentive compensation awarded as a result of the misstatement. As of December 31, 2023, there have been no Restatements that would require recovery of erroneously awarded compensation under the Clawback Policy.

Director Compensation

The following table sets forth all compensation paid to or earned by each non-employee director of the Company during fiscal year December 31, 2023.

	Fees Ear	rned or					
Name	Paid in C	Cash (1)	Option	Awards	Sto	ock Awards	Total
William J. Gerber	\$	62,500	\$	_	\$	_	\$ 62,500
Michael Trzupek	\$	62,500	\$	_	\$	_	\$ 62,500
Daniel P. Hansen	\$	62,500	\$	_	\$	_	\$ 62,500
Lawrence Taylor	\$	62,500	\$	_	\$	_	\$ 62,500

(1) The amounts listed in this column represent the retainer paid to each director for their service on the board and any committees on which they served during 2023.

Compensation Arrangements

Our non-employee director compensation is comprised of cash compensation. Further, we reimburse all of our non-employee directors for their reasonable expenses incurred in attending meetings of our Board and committees of the Board.

The Board believes that a significant portion of director compensation should align director interests with the long-term interests of stockholders. The Board makes changes in its director compensation practices only upon the recommendation of the Compensation Committee, and discussion and approval by the Board.

Our Board, following the Compensation Committee's recommendation, has approved the compensation of our non-employee directors, as described below. The Compensation Committee believes that our non-employee director compensation remains aligned with director compensation practices at our peer companies while considering the ongoing cash constraints of the Company.

For 2023, our non-employee director annual compensation consisted of \$62,500 in cash.

Equity Incentive Plans

Incentive Stock Plans

We have adopted a 2017 Incentive Stock Plan (the "2017 Plan"). An aggregate of 5.0 million shares of our Class A common stock is reserved for issuance and available for awards under the 2017 Plan, including incentive stock options granted under the 2017 Plan. In December 2021, the 2017 Plan was amended and restated to increase the number of shares of our common stock reserved for issuance to 10.0 million aggregate shares. The 2017 Plan administrator may grant awards to any employee, director, consultant or other person providing services to us or our affiliates. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, options representing 2,285,601 and 2,003,088 shares, respectively, have been awarded and are outstanding under the 2017 Plan. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, restricted stock units representing 2,386,786 and 396,955 shares have been awarded and are outstanding under the 2017 Plan, respectively.

85

On June 28, 2024, at the annual meeting of stockholders' of CaliberCos Inc., the CaliberCos Inc. 2024 Equity Incentive Plan (the "2024 Plan") was approved by the stockholders', enabling the Board to begin granting equity awards under the 2024 Plan adopted by the Board on May 14, 2024. The 2017 Plan, has remained in place for the issuance of shares of our Class A Common Stock pursuant to equity compensation awards granted and outstanding under the 2017 Plan, of which awards will continue to be governed by the terms of the 2017 Plan. The 2024 Plan reserves 4,000,000 shares of our Class A Common Stock for issuance pursuant to awards granted under the 2024 Plan.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following chart reflects the number of securities granted under equity compensation plans approved and not approved by stockholders and the weighted average exercise price for such plans as of December 31, 2023.

Plan Category	(a) Number of Securities to be Issued Upon Exercise of Outstanding Options, Warrants and Rights	(b) Weighted-Average Exercise Price of Outstanding Options, Warrants and Rights ⁽¹⁾	(c) Number of Securities Remaining Available for Future Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans (Excluding Securities Reflected in Column (a))
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders	5,089,259	\$ 4.23	4,910,741
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders	_	\$ —	_

(1) Represents the exercise price of outstanding stock options.

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The following table sets forth information with respect to the beneficial ownership of our shares as of February 14, 2025:

- each named executive officer;
- each of our directors;
- · our directors and executive officers as a group; and
- · each person or entity known by us to own beneficially more than 5% of our Class A common stock and Class B common stock (by number or by voting power)

In accordance with the rules and regulations of the SEC, and the information is not necessarily indicative of beneficial ownership for any other purpose. Except as indicated by the footnotes below, we believe, based on information furnished to us, that the persons and entities named in the table below have sole voting and sole investment power with respect to all shares that they beneficially own, subject to applicable community property laws.

Applicable percentage ownership is based on 15,056,356 shares of Class A Common Stock and 7,416,414 shares of Class B Common Stock outstanding at February 14, 2025. In computing the number of shares beneficially owned by a person and the percentage ownership of such person, we deemed to be outstanding all shares subject to options held by the person that are currently exercisable and all shares subject to options and stock awards held by the person that will be exercisable or vest based on service-based vesting conditions within 60 days of February 14, 2025. However, except as described above, we did not deem such shares outstanding for the purpose of computing the

Unless otherwise indicated, the address for each beneficial owner listed in the table below is c/o CaliberCos Inc. 8901 E. Mountain View Rd., Ste 150, Scottsdale, Arizona 85258.

		Shares	Beneficially Owned	(1)	
	Class A Comm	on Stock	Class B Comm	non Stock	% Total Voting
Name of Beneficial Owner	Shares	%	Shares	%	Power (2) (3)
Named Executive Officers and Directors					
Jennifer Schrader (4)	271,288	1.46%	3,709,693	50.0%	40.9%
John C. Loeffler, II (5)	291,287	1.57%	3,706,721	50.0%	40.9%
Roy Bade (6)	739,700	4.3%	_	%	*
Jade Leung (7)	832,944	4.9%	_	%	*
William Gerber (8)	153,982	*	_	%	*
Michael Trzupek (9)	152,036	*	_	—%	*
Daniel P. Hansen (10)	235,125	1.4%	_	%	*
Lawrence Taylor (13)	134,101	*	_	—%	*
Ignacio Martinez (11)	241,860	1.3%	_	%	*
Directors, Director Nominees and Executive Officers as a Group (9					
Persons) (12)	3,390,736	17.8%	7,416,414	100.0%	84.6%
5% Beneficial Owners:					
Donnie R. Schrader ⁽¹⁴⁾	3,390,736	19.8%	_	%	3.7%

*Indicates ownership of less than 1%

- (1) In computing the number of shares of common stock beneficially owned by a person and the percentage of beneficial ownership of that person, shares of common stock underlying restricted stock units or options held by that person that are convertible or exercisable, as the case may be, within 60 days of the January 14, 2025 are included. Those shares, however, are not deemed outstanding for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of any other person.
- (2) Does not give effect to (i) the conversion of Class B common stock to Class A common stock, (ii) the conversion of convertible debt securities into Class A common stock, (iii) the conversion of Series A Preferred Stock into Class A common stock or (iv) the vesting of any issued and outstanding stock options or restricted stock units outstanding as of the date hereof and excludes shares of Class A common stock reserved for future grant or issuance under our 2017 Plan. None of the named executive officers and directors or Donnie Schrader beneficially own any convertible debt securities. In addition, no holder of convertible debt would become a beneficial owner of 5% or more of the Company's Class A common stock should any such holder convert all convertible debt held by such holder within 60 days of February 14, 2025.
- (3) Percentage total voting power represents voting power with respect to all shares of our Class A common stock and Class B common stock, as a single class. Each holder of Class B common stock shall be entitled to ten votes per share of Class B common stock and each holder of Class A common stock shall be entitled to one vote per share of Class A common stock on all matters submitted to our stockholders for a vote. The Class A common stock and Class B common stock vote together as a single class on all matters submitted to a vote of our stockholders, except as may otherwise be required by law. The Class B common stock is convertible at any time by the holder into shares of Class A common stock on a share-for-share basis.
- (4) Includes 245,154 fully vested restricted stock units ("RSUs") and 26,134 RSUs vesting within 60 days of February 14, 2025, which represent a contingent right to receive Class A common stock upon vesting. Class A common stock does not include Class A shares held by Jennifer Schrader's spouse Donnie Schrader. Ms. Schrader disclaims beneficial ownership of all shares held by Donnie Schrader, except to the extent of her pecuniary interest, if any, therein. See also footnote 13.

87

- (5) Includes 19,999 shares of Class A common stock, 245,154 fully vested RSUs, and 26,134 RSUs vesting within 60 days of February 14, 2025, which represent a contingent right to receive Class A common stock upon vesting. Class B common stock Includes 1,778,989 shares held in The C LO 2021 Irrevocable Trust under agreement of which Mr. Loeffler is trustee.
- (6) Includes 445,888 fully vested and exercisable stock options, 203,254 fully vested RSUs, 19,896 RSUs vesting within 60 days of February 14, 2025, which represent a contingent right to receive Class A common stock upon vesting, and 70,662 shares of Class A common stock held by Wave Investments LLC of which Mr. Bade is the sole manager.
- (7) Includes 28,500 share of Class A common stock, 445,888 fully vested and exercisable stock options, 335,566 fully vested RSUs, and 22,990 RSUs vesting within 60 days of February 14, 2025, which represent a contingent right to receive Class A common stock upon vesting.
- (8) Includes 13,006 shares of Class A common stock and 140,976 fully vested and exercisable stock options.
- (9) Includes 11,060 shares of Class A common stock and 140,976 fully vested and exercisable stock options.
- (10) Includes 109,012 shares of Class A common stock and 126,113 fully vested and exercisable stock options.
- (11) Includes 62,500 fully vested and exercisable stock options, 156,160 fully vested RSUs, 16,950 RSUs vesting within 60 days of February 14, 2025, which represent a contingent right to receive Class A common stock upon vesting, and 6,250 stock options exercisable within 60 days of February 14, 2025.
- (12) Includes 1,494,692 fully vested stock options and options exercisable within 60 days of February 14, 2025 and 112,104 RSUs vesting within 60 days of February 14, 2025.
- (13) Includes 8,000 shares of Class A common stock and 126,101 fully vested and exercisable stock options.
- (14) Based on information known to the Company and Mr. Schrader's Form 3 filed May 15, 2023. Does not include Class A common stock or Class B common stock held by Donnie Schrader's spouse Jennifer Schrader. Mr. Schrader disclaims beneficial ownership of all shares held by Jennifer Schrader, except to the extent of his pecuniary interest, if any, therein.

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PERSONS

Business Segments

Historically, the Company's operations were organized into three reportable segments, fund management, development, and brokerage. During the three months ended December 31, 2023, the Company reevaluated its reportable segments, considering (i) the evolution of the Company after closing its initial public offering and how the

Company's chief operating decision maker ("CODM"), the Company's Chief Executive Officer, assesses performance and allocates resources, (ii) changes to the budgeting process and in key personnel driven by the Company's growth initiatives, and (iii) how management reports ongoing company performance to the Board of Directors. With the evolution and growth of the Company, the Company's CODM assesses performance and resource allocation on an aggregate basis under the Company's asset management platform, and no longer reviews operating results for development or brokerage activity separately. As such, management concluded that the Company operates through one operating segment.

The Company's CODM assesses revenue, operating expenses and key operating statistics to evaluate performance and allocate resources on a basis that eliminates the impact of the consolidated investment funds (intercompany eliminations required by U.S. GAAP) and noncontrolling interests. Management concluded that the consolidated investment funds do not meet the requirements in ASC 280, Segment Reporting, of operating segments, as the Company's CODM does not review the operating results of these investment funds for the purposes of allocating resources, assessing performance or determining whether additional investments or advances will be made to these funds. The investment funds are consolidated based on the requirement in ASC 810, Consolidation, as the Company was determined to be the primary beneficiary of each of these variable interest entities since it has the power to direct the activities of the entities and the right to absorb losses, generally in the form of guarantees of indebtedness that are significant to the individual investment funds.

The following describes revenue recognition for the fees the Company earns from providing services under its asset management platform:

88

Fund set-up fees are a one-time fee for the initial formation, administration, and set-up of the private equity real estate fund. These fees are recognized at the point in time when the performance under the contract is complete and are included in asset management revenues in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. Fund set-up fees replaced fund formation fees that are earned at a point in time at a fixed rate based on the amount of capital raised into certain managed funds.

Fund management fees are generally based on 1.0% to 1.5% of the unreturned capital contributions in a particular fund and include reimbursement for costs incurred on behalf of the fund, including an allocation of certain overhead costs. These customer contracts require the Company to provide management services, representing a performance obligation that the Company satisfies over time. With respect to the Caliber Hospitality Trust (as defined in Note 3 – VIEs), the Company earns a fund management fee of 0.70% of the Caliber Hospitality Trust's enterprise value and is reimbursed for certain costs incurred on behalf of the Caliber Hospitality Trust. These revenues are included in asset management revenues in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Financing fees are earned for services the Company performs in securing third-party financing on behalf of our private equity real estate funds. These fees are recognized at the point in time when the performance under the contract is complete, which is essentially upon closing of a loan. In addition, the Company earns fees for guarantying certain loans, representing a performance obligation that the Company satisfies over time. These revenues are included in asset management revenues in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Development and construction revenues from contracts with customers include fixed fee arrangements with related party affiliates to provide real estate development services as their principal developer, which include managing and supervising third-party developers and general contractors with respect to the development of the properties owned by the funds. Revenues are generally based on 4.0% of the total expected costs of the development or 4.0% of the total expected costs of the construction project. Prior to the commencement of construction, development fee revenue is recognized at a point in time as the related performance obligations are satisfied and the customer obtains control of the promised service, including negotiation, due diligence, entitlements, planning, and design activities. During the construction period, development fee revenue is recognized over time as the performance obligations are satisfied. These revenues are included in asset management revenues in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Brokerage fees are earned at a point in time at fixed rates for services performed related to acquisitions, dispositions, leasing, and financing transaction, and are included in asset management revenues in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Performance allocations are an arrangement in which we are entitled to an allocation of investment returns, generated within the investment funds which we manage, based on a contractual formula. We typically receive 15.0% to 35.0% of all cash distributions from (i) the operating cash flow of each fund, after payment to the related fund investors of any accumulated and unpaid priority preferred returns and repayment of preferred capital contributions; and (ii) the cash flow resulting from the sale or refinance of any real estate assets held by each fund, after payment to the related fund investors of any accumulated and unpaid priority preferred returns repayment of initial preferred capital contributions. Our funds' preferred returns range from 6.0% to 12.0%, typically 6.0% for common equity or 10.0% to 12.0% for preferred equity, which does not participate in profits. Performance allocations are related to services which have been provided and are recognized when it is determined that they are no longer probable of significant reversal, which is generally satisfied when an underlying fund investment is realized or sold. These revenues are included in performance allocations in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations

The table below shows the components of revenue earned for providing services under the Company's asset management platform for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands).

89

	Nine Months Ended	Years Ended	December 31,
	September 30, 2024	2023	2022
Fund management fees	\$ 6,902	\$ 5,485	\$ 10,394
Financing fees	387	221	721
Development and construction fees	4,817	4,025	2,444
Brokerage fees	820	840	1,785
Total asset management	 12,926	10,571	15,344
Performance allocations	357	3,639	2,543
Total Platform revenue	\$ 13,283	\$ 14,210	\$ 17,887

As of September 30, 2024 and as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, amounts due to the Company from related parties for services performed under the Company's asset management platform was \$10.8 million and \$7.8 million, respectively, which is included in due from related parties on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Other

In the normal course of business, the Company has various amounts due from and/or due to related parties, including affiliate entities and individuals, for various expenses paid for by the Company on their behalf and other charges. These amounts are generally unsecured, interest-free, and due on demand. As of September 30, 2024 and as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, other amounts due from related parties was \$0.1 million and \$1.9 million, respectively, which is included in prepaid and other assets on the

accompanying consolidated balance sheets. As of September, 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023 and 2022, there was an immaterial amount of other amounts due to related parties, which is included in due to related parties on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Notes Receivable - Related parties of the Company

The Company entered into unsecured promissory notes with related parties. No payments are required prior to the maturity of the notes. The notes may be prepaid in whole, or in part, without penalty.

The following table summarizes the notes payable - related parties as of September 30, 2024 and as of December 31 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

Notes Receivable - Related Parties	September 3 2024	0,	December 31, 2023		December 31, 2022		Interest Rate ⁽¹⁾	Maturity Date ⁽¹⁾
Caliber Hospitality LP (2)	\$	_	\$	_	\$	_	12.00%	September 2025
Olathe Behavioral Health		_		25		_	12.00%	May 2025
DFW Behavioral Health LLC		_		25		_	14.00%	May 2025
Total	\$	_	\$	50	\$	_		

⁽¹⁾ As of September 30, 2024.

90

Notes Payable - Related parties of the Company

The Company entered into unsecured promissory notes with related parties. The notes may be repaid in whole, or in part, without penalty. The following table summarizes the notes payable – related parties as of June 30, 2024 and as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

Notes Payable - Related Parties	September 2024	r 30,	Dece	ember 31, 2023	Dec	ember 31, 2022	Interest Rate ⁽¹⁾	Maturity Date ⁽¹⁾
Caliber Residential Advantage Fund, LP	\$	_	\$	_	\$	365	7.50%	May 2024
Caliber Tax Advantaged Opportunity Fund II,								
LLC (2)		_		_		_	12.00%	January 2024
Total	\$	_	\$		\$	365		

⁽¹⁾ As of September 30, 2024.

During each of the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company incurred an immaterial amount of interest expense in connection with the notes payable – related parties. There was no interest payable due to related parties as of September 30, 2024 and as of December 31, 2023 and 2022.

Notes Receivable - Related parties of consolidated funds

The consolidated funds entered into unsecured promissory notes with related parties. The notes may be repaid in whole, or in part, without penalty. The notes receivable – related parties consisted of the following as of September 30, 2024 and as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

Notes Receivable - Related Parties	mber 30, 2024	December 31, 2023		De	ecember 31, 2022	Interest Rate ⁽¹⁾	Maturity Date ⁽¹⁾
SF Alaska, LP	\$ 16,903	\$	14,976	\$	11,671	12.00%	May 2025
The Ketch, LLC	8,548		7,198		5,152	12.00%	May 2026
Elliot & 51st Street, LLC (4)	15,116		_		_	13.00%	September 2025
Elliot & 51st Street, LLC (4)	1,420		_		_	12.00%	April 2026
Caliber Hospitality LP (Tucson East) (2)	_		_		3,780	12.00%	May 2024
J-25 Development Group, LLC	133		4,804		3,794	12.00%	May 2026
Caliber Diversified Opportunity Fund II, LP	12		109		449	12.00%	September 2025
Encore, LLC	_		_		1,014	12.00%	December 2024
Ridge II, LLC	1,151		846		845	12.00%	December 2024
Southridge, LLC	_		2,187		_	13.00%	July 2025
Ironwood, LLC	4,548		2,703		1,524	13.00%	September 2025
Circle Lofts, LLC (3)							
	2,017		1,797		_	12.00%	May 2026
47th Street Phoenix Fund, LLC	92		_		_	12.00%	May 2025
Caliber Hospitality, LP (4)	2,870		_		_	12.00%	June 2025
Caliber Hospitality, LP (4)	3,900		_		_	12.00%	September 2026
Blue Spruce, LLC	224		_		_	13.00%	January 2026
West Ridge, LLC	1,299		_		_	12.00%	March 2026
Total	\$ 58,233	\$	34,620	\$	28,229		

⁽¹⁾ As of September 30, 2024.

⁽²⁾ During the nine months ended September 30, 2024, the Company deconsolidated Caliber Hospitality, LP and the Caliber Hospitality Trust, which included activity from six hospitality funds.

⁽²⁾ The Company entered into a \$4.0 million unsecured promissory note with a related party and subsequently repaid the note during the year ended December 31, 2023.

⁽²⁾ In March 2023, the asset was contributed to Caliber Hospitality, LP and the fund was consolidated because the Company was determined to be the primary beneficiary as we have the power to direct the activities and the obligation to absorb their losses through its guarantee of the indebtedness secured by the hospitality assets, which is significant to Caliber Hospitality, LP and the Caliber Hospitality Trust.

⁽³⁾ During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company deconsolidated Circle Lofts, LLC, as the Company was no longer determined to be the primary beneficiary of the fund upon refinancing the loan agreement.

(4) During the nine months ended September 30, 2024, the Company deconsolidated Caliber Hospitality, LP and the Caliber Hospitality Trust, which included activity from six hospitality funds.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the consolidated fund earned \$1.7 million, \$3.7 million and \$2.9 million, respectively, of interest in connection with the notes. Interest that accrues on certain related party notes receivable, in which the consolidated fund and respective borrower mutually agreed, is added to the principal outstanding balance, due at the respective loan maturity date and incurs interest at the respective interest rate. Interest due to the Company was \$0.1 million as of September 30, 2024, which was included in prepaid and other assets on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. No interest was due to the Company as of December 31, 2023 and 2022.

Notes Payable - Related parties of consolidated funds

The consolidated funds entered into unsecured promissory notes with related parties. The notes may be repaid in whole, or in part, without penalty. The notes payable – related parties consisted of the following as of September 30, 2024 and as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

Notes Payable - Related Parties	September 2024	30,	December 31, 2023		December 31, 2022		Interest Rate ⁽¹⁾	Maturity Date ⁽¹⁾
Roosevelt III HOLDCO, LLC	\$	_	\$	_	\$	2,748	12.00%	March 2024
CDIF, LLC		_		_		1,725	12.00%	May 2024
Caliber Tax Advantaged Opportunity Zone Fund,								
LP		_		8,012		2,500	12.00%	June 2025
Caliber Tax Advantaged Opportunity Zone Fund								
II, LP		_		4,043		_	12.00%	October 2024
Total	\$		\$	12,055	\$	6,973		

⁽¹⁾ As of September 30, 2024.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the consolidated funds incurred \$0.3 million, \$1.2 million and \$0.9 million, respectively, of interest expense in connection with the notes payable – related parties. As of September 30, 2024 there was no interest expense payable. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, there was \$0.1 million of interest expense payable. During the nine months ended September 30, 2024, the Company deconsolidated Caliber Hospitality, LP and the Caliber Hospitality Trust. The Company also deconsolidated Elliot during the nine months ended September 30, 2024.

Buyback Program

In September 2018, the Company agreed to repurchase 3,709,693 shares ("Buyback Program") owned by one of its non-participating founders for \$4.54 per share of common stock in exchange for an amendment to such non-participating founder's shareholder voting rights and other Company protections. Due to the length of time of the liability, the Company recorded a liability of \$13.6 million and a corresponding reduction to equity in treasury stock at the inception of the Buyback Program using a present value discount rate of 10.00%. As of December 31, 2022, remaining number of shares to be repurchased was 3,432,351 and the balance of the liability was \$12.4 million, which is included in buyback obligation on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company repurchased 41,615 shares of Class A common stock pursuant to the Buyback Program and on May 19, 2023, the Company's Class A common stock began trading on the NASDAQ Capital Market, at which point the buyback obligation was relieved and no further amounts were due under the Buyback Program.

92

Review of Related Person Transactions

In accordance with its written charter, our Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing, approving and overseeing any transaction between the Company and any related person. The term "related party transactions" refers to transactions required to be disclosed in our filings with the SEC pursuant to Item 404 of Regulation S-K. As a smaller reporting company, we are also required to review and approve any transaction, arrangement or relationship in which our company is a participant, the amount involved exceeds the lesser of \$120,000 or one percent of the average of our total assets at year-end for the last two completed fiscal years, and a related person has a direct or indirect material interest. In considering related party transactions, our Audit Committee is guided by its fiduciary duty to our stockholders. Our Audit Committee does not have any written or oral policies or procedures regarding the review, approval and ratification of transactions with related parties. Additionally, each of our directors and executive officers are required to annually complete a directors' and officers' questionnaire that elicits information about related party transactions. Our Nominating and Governance Committee and Board of Directors annually review all transactions and relationships disclosed in the director and officer questionnaires, and the Board makes a formal determination regarding each director's independence.

Under the Company's Corporate Governance Guidelines, the Board itself and through its committees will review and approve all related party transactions and any contracts or other transactions with current or former directors and executive officers of the Company, including consulting arrangements, employment agreements, change-in-control agreements, termination arrangements, and loans to officers made or guaranteed by the Company. The Audit Committee generally will take the lead in reviewing related party transactions, and the Compensation Committee and the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee generally will take the lead in reviewing related party contracts, such as consulting arrangements, termination agreements, and any other contracts or arrangements involving any compensatory or monetary terms. The Company will not enter into any such transaction unless the transaction is determined by the disinterested directors to be fair to the Company or is approved by the disinterested directors or by the stockholders. Any determination by our disinterested directors will be based on a review of the particular transaction, applicable laws and regulations, policies of the Company, and the listing standards of Nasdaq.

DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES

General

The following description summarizes important terms of the classes of our capital stock. This summary does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by the provisions of our articles of incorporation and our bylaws, which have been filed as exhibits to the offering statement of which this offering circular is a part.

We are authorized to issue up to 137,500,000 shares of capital stock, of which (i) 100,000,000 shares are Class A common stock with a par value \$0.001 per share; (ii) 15,000,000 shares are Class B common stock with a par value \$0.001 per share; and (iii) 22,500,000 shares are preferred stock with a par value of \$0.001 per share. As of December 1, 2024, there were 15,056,356 shares of Class A common stock, 7,416,414 shares of Class B common stock and no shares of preferred stock issued and outstanding.

Class A common stock

Voting. The holders of the Class A common stock are entitled to one (1) vote for each share of Class A common stock held at all meetings of stockholders (and written actions in lieu of meetings). The Class A common stock is not subject to cumulative voting. The Class A common stock and Class B common stock vote together as a single class on all matters submitted to a vote of our stockholders, except as may otherwise be required by law.

Dividends. Subject to the preferences applicable to the Preferred Stock, the holders of the Class A common stock are entitled to, on an equal basis with the holders of Class B common stock, receive dividends when and if declared by the Company's board of directors out of funds legally available therefor, subject to any statutory or contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends and to any restrictions on the payment of dividends imposed by the terms of any outstanding preferred stock.

93

Class B common stock

Voting. The holders of the Class B common stock are entitled to ten (10) votes for each share of Class B common stock held at all meetings of stockholders (and written actions in lieu of meetings). The Class B common stock is not subject to cumulative voting. The Class A common stock and Class B common stock vote together as a single class on all matters submitted to a vote of our stockholders, except as may otherwise be required by law.

Dividends. Subject to the preferences applicable to the preferred stock, the holders of the Class B common stock are entitled to, on an equal basis with the holders of Class A common stock, receive dividends when and if declared by the Company's board of directors out of funds legally available therefor, subject to any statutory or contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends and to any restrictions on the payment of dividends imposed by the terms of any outstanding preferred stock.

The Class B common stock is convertible at any time by the holder into shares of Class A common stock on a share-for-share basis.

Preferred Stock

Series AA Preferred Stock

On [____], 2025, we filed a certificate of designation with the Delaware Secretary of State to establish our Series AA Preferred Stock. We designated a total of 800,000 shares of Preferred Stock as "Series AA Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock." Our Series AA Preferred Stock has following voting powers, designations, preferences and relative rights, qualifications, limitations, or restrictions:

Ranking. The Series AA Preferred Stock ranks, as to dividend rights and rights upon our liquidation, dissolution, or winding up, senior to our Series A Preferred Stock and our Common Stock and pari passu with our Series A Preferred Stock. The terms of the Series AA Preferred Stock do not limit our ability to (i) incur indebtedness or (ii) issue additional equity securities that are equal or junior in rank to the shares of our Series AA Preferred Stock as to distribution rights and rights upon our liquidation, dissolution or winding up.

Stated Value. Each share of Series AA Preferred Stock has an initial stated value of \$25.00, which is equal to the offering price per share, subject to appropriate adjustment in relation to certain events, such as recapitalizations, stock dividends, stock splits, stock combinations, reclassifications or similar events affecting our Series AA Preferred Stock.

Dividend Rate and Payment Dates. Dividends on the Series AA Preferred Stock are cumulative and payable monthly in arrears to all holders of record on the applicable record date. Holders of our Series AA Preferred Stock are entitled to receive cumulative monthly cash dividends at a per annum rate of 9.5% of the stated value (or \$0.198 per share each month based on the initial stated value). Dividends on each share begin accruing on, and are cumulative from, the date of issuance and regardless of whether our board of directors declares and pays such dividends. Our board of directors will not authorize, pay or set apart for payment by us any dividend on the Series AA Preferred Stock at any time that:

· the terms and provisions of any of our agreements, including any agreement relating to our indebtedness, prohibits such authorization, payment or setting apart for payment;

94

- the terms and provisions of any of our agreements, including any agreement relating to our indebtedness, provides that such authorization, payment or setting apart for payment thereof would constitute a breach of, or a default under, such agreement; or
- · the law restricts or prohibits the authorization or payment.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, dividends on the Series AA Preferred Stock will accumulate whether or not:

Dividends on shares of our Series AA Preferred Stock will continue to accrue even if

- the terms and provisions of any of our agreements relating to our indebtedness prohibit such authorization, payment or setting apart for payment;
- · we have earnings;
- there are funds legally available for the payment of the dividends; and
- · the dividends are authorized.

In the event the monthly payment of dividends is not made within 30 days of the due date, dividends will accrue from the due date of such monthly payment at the rate of 18% until such default is cured.

<u>Liquidation Preference</u>. Upon a liquidation, dissolution or winding up of our company, holders of shares of our Series AA Preferred Stock are entitled to receive, before any payment or distribution is made to the holders of our Common Stock and on a *pari passu* basis with holders of our Series AA Preferred Stock and Series A Preferred Stock, a liquidation preference equal to the stated value per share, plus accrued but unpaid dividends thereon.

<u>Redemption Request at the Option of a Holder.</u> Once per calendar quarter, a holder will have the opportunity to request that we redeem that holder's Series AA Preferred Stock. Our board of directors may, however, suspend cash redemptions at any time in its discretion if it determines that it would not be in the best interests of our company to effectuate cash redemptions at a given time because we do not have sufficient cash, including because our board believes that our cash on hand should be utilized for other

business purposes. Redemptions will be limited to four percent (4%) of the total outstanding Series AA Preferred Stock per quarter and any redemptions in excess of such limit or to the extent suspended, shall be redeemed in subsequent quarters on a first come, first served, basis. We will redeem shares at a redemption price equal to the stated value of such redeemed shares, plus any accrued but unpaid dividends thereon, less the applicable redemption fee (if any). As a percentage of the aggregate redemption price of a holder's shares to be redeemed, the redemption fee shall be:

- · 10% if the redemption is requested on or before the first anniversary of the original issuance of such shares;
- · 8% if the redemption is requested after the first anniversary and on or before the second anniversary of the original issuance of such shares; and
- 6% if the redemption is requested after the second anniversary and on or before the third anniversary of the original issuance of such shares.

Please see the certificate of designation, which has been filed as an exhibit to the offering statement of which this offering circular forms a part, for the procedures to request a redemption.

95

Optional Redemption by our company. We have the right (but not the obligation) to redeem shares of Series AA Preferred Stock at a redemption price equal to the stated value of such redeemed shares, plus any accrued but unpaid dividends thereon.

<u>Mandatory Redemption by our company.</u> We are required to redeem the outstanding shares of Series AA Preferred Stock on the third (3rd) anniversary of their issuance at a redemption price equal to the stated value of such redeemed shares, plus any accrued but unpaid dividends thereon.

Optional Repurchase Upon Death, Disability or Bankruptcy of a Holder. Subject to certain restrictions and conditions, we will also repurchase shares of Series AA Preferred Stock of a holder who is a natural person (including an individual beneficial holder who holds shares through a custodian or nominee, such as a broker-dealer) upon his or her death, total disability or bankruptcy, within sixty (60) days of our receipt of a written request from the holder or the holder's estate at a repurchase price equal to the stated value, plus accrued and unpaid dividends thereon. A "total disability" means a determination by a physician approved by us that a holder, who was gainfully employed and working at least forty (40) hours per week as of the date on which his or her shares were purchased, has been unable to work forty (40) or more hours per week for at least twenty-four (24) consecutive months. Please see the certificate of designation, the form of which has been filed as an exhibit to the offering statement of which this offering circular forms a part, for the procedures to request a repurchase.

Restrictions on Redemption and Repurchase. We are not obligated to redeem or repurchase shares of Series AA Preferred Stock if we are restricted by applicable law or our articles of incorporation from making such redemption or repurchase or to the extent any such redemption or repurchase would cause or constitute a default under any borrowing agreements to which we or any of our subsidiaries are a party or otherwise bound. In addition, we have no obligation to redeem shares in connection with a redemption request made by a holder if we determine, as of the redemption date, that we do not have sufficient funds available to fund that redemption. In this regard, we will have complete discretion under the certificate of designation for the Series AA Preferred Stock to determine whether we are in possession of "sufficient funds" to fund a redemption request. To the extent we are unable to complete redemptions we may have earlier agreed to make, we will complete those redemptions promptly after we become able to do so, with all such deferred redemptions being satisfied on a first come, first served, basis.

<u>Voting Rights</u>. The Series AA Preferred Stock has no voting rights relative to matters submitted to a vote of our stockholders (other than as required by law). However, we may not, without the affirmative vote or written consent of the holders of a majority of the then issued and outstanding Series AA Preferred Stock: (i) amend or waive any provision of the certificate of designation or otherwise take any action that modifies any powers, rights, preferences, privileges or restrictions of the Series AA Preferred Stock (other than an amendment solely for the purpose of changing the number of shares of Series AA Preferred Stock designated for issuance as provided in the certificate of designation); (ii) authorize, create or issue shares of any class of stock having rights, preferences or privileges as to dividends or distributions upon a liquidation that are superior to the Series AA Preferred Stock; or (iii) amend our articles of incorporation in a manner that adversely and materially affects the rights of the Series AA Preferred Stock.

Conversion Right. At the third anniversary of the issuance date of a share of Series AA Preferred Stock, a holder may elect, with the prior written consent of the Company, which consent may be unreasonably withheld, to convert all or any portion of such then outstanding shares of Series AA Preferred Stock held by it into that number of shares of our Class A Common Stock determined by dividing the then Stated Value of such shares by the closing price of our Class A Common Stock as quoted on the Nasdaq Capital Market (the "NCM") on the day prior to such date but in no event less than the closing price of our Class A Common Stock as quoted on the NCM on the day prior to the initial Closing Date.

96

Series A Preferred Stock

On November 26, 2024, we the Series A Certificate of Designation with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware to establish the preferences, voting powers, limitations as to dividends or other distributions, qualifications, terms and conditions of redemption and other terms and conditions of the Company's Series A Preferred Stock. The Series A Preferred Stock is subject to certain rights, preferences, privileges, and obligations, including voluntary and mandatory conversion provisions, as well as beneficial ownership restrictions and share cap limitations, as set forth in the Series A Certificate of Designation. The following is a summary description of the terms and the general effect of the issuance of the shares of Series A Preferred Stock on the Company's other classes of registered securities. There are seven hundred fifty thousand (750,000) shares of the Series A Preferred Stock designated.

<u>Stated Value</u>. Each share of Series A Preferred Stock has an initial stated value of \$20.00, subject to appropriate adjustment in relation to certain events, such as recapitalizations, stock dividends, stock splits, stock combinations, reclassifications or similar events affecting our Series A Preferred Stock.

<u>Dividends</u>. The holders of the shares of Series A Preferred Stock will be entitled to receive a twelve percent (12%) annual, non-cumulative dividend payable annually, at the Company's option, (i) in cash or (ii) in shares of the Company's Class A common stock, at a price per share of Class A Common Stock equal to the lower of (A) the average closing price of Class A Common Stock as quoted on the principal trading market, if any, in which the shares of Class A Common Stock then trade ("Principal Market") for the five trading days immediately preceding the date of issuance, or (B) the closing price of the Class A Common Stock as quoted on the Principal Market on the trading day prior to the date of issuance, but in no event less than \$1.00 per share.

Optional Conversion. At any time and from time to time, a holder of the shares of Series A Preferred Stock may, at its option, convert (i) up to twenty-five percent (25%) of the holder's total shares of Series A Preferred Stock (the "First Tranche Convertible Shares") at a rate equal to the stated value divided by \$0.5114 (the "First Tranche Conversion Rate"), (ii) up to twenty-five percent (25%) of the holder's total shares of Series A Preferred Stock (the "Second Tranche Convertible Shares") at a rate equal to the stated value divided by \$0.7671 (the "Second Tranche Conversion Rate"), (iii) up to twenty-five percent (25%) of the holder's total shares of Series A Preferred Stock (the "Third Tranche Convertible Shares") at a rate equal to the stated value divided by \$1.0228 (the "Third Tranche Conversion Rate"), and (iv) up to twenty-five percent (25%) of the holder's total shares of Series A Preferred Stock (the "Fourth Tranche Conversion Rate").

Mandatory Conversion. The shares of Series A Preferred Stock will mandatorily convert into shares of Class A Common Stock as follows:

- i. On the first trading day following the first date on which the closing price of the Class A Common Stock on the Principal Market is 200% higher than \$0.5114 for twenty (20) of thirty (30) consecutive trading days, all of the First Tranche Convertible Shares shall convert at the First Tranche Conversion Rate;
- ii. On the first trading day following the first date on which the closing price of the Class A Common Stock on the Principal Market is 200% higher than the \$0.7671 for twenty (20) of thirty (30) consecutive trading days, all the Second Tranche Convertible Shares shall convert at the Second Tranche Conversion Rate;
- iii. On the first trading day following the first date on which the closing price of the Class A Common Stock on the Principal Market is 200% higher than \$1.0228 for twenty (20) of thirty (30) consecutive trading days the Third Tranche Convertible Shares shall convert at the Third Tranche Conversion Rate; and
- iv. On the first trading day following the first date on which the closing price of the Class A Common Stock on the Principal Market is 200% higher than the \$1.2785 for twenty (20) of thirty (30) consecutive trading days the Fourth Tranche Convertible Shares shall convert at the Fourth Tranche Conversion Rate.

<u>Voting Rights</u>. The Series A Preferred Stock will have no voting rights relative to matters submitted to a vote of our stockholders (other than as required by law). However, we may not, without the affirmative vote or written consent of the holders of a majority of the then issued and outstanding Series A Preferred Stock: (i) amend or waive any provision of the certificate of designation or otherwise take any action that modifies any powers, rights, preferences, privileges or restrictions of the Series A Preferred Stock (other than an amendment solely for the purpose of changing the number of shares of Series A Preferred Stock designated for issuance as provided in the certificate of designation); (ii) authorize, create or issue shares of any class of stock having rights, preferences or privileges as to dividends or distributions upon a liquidation that are superior to the Series A Preferred Stock; or (iii) amend our articles of incorporation in a manner that adversely and materially affects the rights of the Series A Preferred Stock.

97

<u>Liquidation</u>. In the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, the holders of shares of the Series A Preferred Stock then outstanding will be entitled to receive in cash out of the assets of the Company, whether from capital or from earnings available for distribution to its stockholders, before any amount will be paid to the holders of any of the capital stock of the Company of any class junior in rank to the Series A Preferred Stock.

<u>Ranking</u>. The Series A Preferred Stock ranks senior to the Company's Class A Common Stock and Class B common stock, par value \$0.001, with respect to the preferences provided for in the Certificate of Designation as to distributions and payments upon the liquidation, dissolution and winding up of the Company.

<u>Redemption</u>. The Company has the right redeem the outstanding shares of the Series A Preferred Stock at an amount equal to the Liquidation Preference, provided that the holders of Series A Preferred Stock are granted thirty (30) calendar days to first exercise their conversion rights. "Liquidation Preference" means, with respect to each outstanding share of Series A Preferred Stock, the sum of: (i) the amount of all accrued but unpaid dividends on such share; plus (ii) the product of the stated value multiplied by 120%.

<u>Amendments</u>. The Certificate of Designation may be amended by obtaining the affirmative vote of a majority of the outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock, voting separately as a single class.

Anti-Takeover Provisions

Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws and Class B Common Stock

Because our stockholders do not have cumulative voting rights, our stockholders holding a majority of the outstanding shares of common stock outstanding will be able to elect all of our directors.

The foregoing provisions will make it more difficult for our existing stockholders to replace our Board of Directors as well as for another party to obtain control of us by replacing our Board of Directors. Since our board of directors has the power to retain and discharge our officers, these provisions could also make it more difficult for existing stockholders or another party to effect a change in management. In addition, the authorization of undesignated preferred stock makes it possible for our Board of Directors to issue preferred stock with voting or other rights or preferences that could impede the success of any attempt to change our control.

These provisions are intended to enhance the likelihood of continued stability in the composition of our Board of Directors and its policies and to discourage certain types of transactions that may involve an actual or threatened acquisition of us. These provisions are also designed to reduce our vulnerability to an unsolicited acquisition proposal and to discourage certain tactics that may be used in proxy fights. However, such provisions could have the effect of discouraging others from making tender offers for our shares and may have the effect of deterring hostile takeovers or delaying changes in our control or management.

In addition, the control vested in our founders by virtue of their holding of Class B common stock may discourage or impede takeover activities.

Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law

We are subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which prohibits a Delaware corporation from engaging in any business combination with any interested stockholder for a period of three years after the date that such stockholder became an interested stockholder, with the following exceptions:

- before such date, the board of directors of the corporation approved either the business combination or the transaction that resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder;
- upon closing of the transaction that resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, the interested stockholder owned at least 85% of the voting stock of the corporation outstanding at the time the transaction began, excluding for purposes of determining the voting stock outstanding (but not the outstanding voting stock owned by the interested stockholder) those shares owned by (i) persons who are directors and also officers and (ii) employee stock plans in which employee participants do not have the right to determine confidentially whether shares held subject to the plan will be tendered in a tender or exchange offer; or

98

on or after such date, the business combination is approved by the board of directors and authorized at an annual or special meeting of the stockholders, and not by written consent, by the affirmative vote of at least 66 2/3% of the outstanding voting stock that is not owned by the interested stockholder.

- · any merger or consolidation involving the corporation and the interested stockholder;
- · any sale, transfer, pledge or other disposition of 10% or more of the assets of the corporation involving the interested stockholder;
- · subject to certain exceptions, any transaction that results in the issuance or transfer by the corporation of any stock of the corporation to the interested stockholder;
- · any transaction involving the corporation that has the effect of increasing the proportionate share of the stock or any class or series of the corporation beneficially owned by the interested stockholder; or
- · the receipt by the interested stockholder of the benefit of any loss, advances, guarantees, pledges or other financial benefits by or through the corporation.

In general, Section 203 defines an "interested stockholder" as an entity or person who, together with the person's affiliates and associates, beneficially owns, or within three years prior to the time of determination of interested stockholder status did own, 15% or more of the outstanding voting stock of the corporation.

Exclusive forum for adjudication of disputes provision which limits the forum to the Delaware Court of Chancery for certain stockholder litigation matters actions against the Company, which may limit an investor's ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with the Company or its directors, officers, employees or stockholders.

Section 7.06(a) of Article VII of our Bylaws dictates that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Delaware Court of Chancery (or, if the Delaware Court of Chancery does not have jurisdiction, the federal district court for the State of Delaware) is, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the sole and exclusive forum for certain actions including derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of the Company; an action asserting a breach of fiduciary duty owed by an officer, director, employee or to the stockholders of the Company; any claim arising under Delaware corporate law, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation or our amended and restated bylaws; and any action asserting a claim governed by the internal affairs doctrine. Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in shares of capital stock of the Company shall be deemed to have notice of and consented to the provisions of Section 7.06 of Article VII of our Bylaws.

However, Section 7.06(a) of Article VII of our Bylaws will not apply to suits brought to enforce any liability or duty created by the Exchange Act or any other claim for which the federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction. To the extent that any such claims may be based upon federal law claims, Section 27 of the Exchange Act creates exclusive federal jurisdiction over all suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Exchange Act or the rules and regulations thereunder.

99

Furthermore, unless the Company consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the federal district courts of the United States of America will be the exclusive forum for the resolution of any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act, or the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder. We note, however, that Section 22 of the Securities Act creates concurrent jurisdiction for federal and state courts over all suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Securities Act or the rules and regulations thereunder. There is uncertainty as to whether a court would enforce this provision and that investors cannot waive compliance with the federal securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder.

A Delaware corporation is allowed to mandate in its corporate governance documents a chosen forum for the resolution of state law-based stockholder class actions, derivative suits and other intra-corporate disputes. With respect to such state law claims, the Company's management believes limiting state law based claims to Delaware will provide the most appropriate outcomes as the risk of another forum misapplying Delaware law is avoided, Delaware courts have a well-developed body of case law and limiting the forum will preclude costly and duplicative litigation and avoids the risk of inconsistent outcomes. Additionally, Delaware Chancery Courts can typically resolve disputes on an accelerated schedule when compared to other forums.

The choice of forum provisions contained in the Company's Bylaws may limit a stockholder's ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with the Company or any of its directors, officers, other employees or stockholders, which may discourage lawsuits with respect to such claims. Alternatively, the enforceability of similar choice of forum provisions in other issuers' bylaws and certificates of incorporation has been challenged in legal proceedings, and it is possible that in connection with any applicable action brought against the Company, a court could find the choice of forum provisions contained in the Company's Bylaws to be inapplicable or unenforceable in such action. As a result, the Company could incur additional costs associated with resolving such actions in other jurisdictions, which could harm the Company's business, operating results and financial condition.

Transfer Agent and Registrar

Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, telephone 800-509-5586, is the transfer agent for our Class A common stock. ClearTrust LLC will act as the transfer agent for the Series AA Preferred Stock.

Trading Symbol and Market

Our shares of Class A common stock are listed on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol "CWD".

MATERIAL U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES

The following is a discussion of the material U.S. federal income and estate tax consequences of the ownership and disposition of our Series AA Preferred Stock by a "non-U.S. holder" (as described below). This summary is limited to "non-U.S. holders" that hold our Series AA Preferred Stock as a capital asset within the meaning of Section 1221 of the Code (generally, property held for investment for U.S. federal income tax purposes).

This discussion does not address all aspects of U.S. federal income and estate taxation that may be relevant to non-U.S. holders in light of their particular circumstances, does not discuss alternative minimum tax and Medicare contribution tax consequences and does not address any tax consequences arising under the laws of any state, local or foreign jurisdiction.

This discussion also does not address all of the consequences relevant to holders subject to special U.S. federal income tax rules, such as:

- a non-U.S. holder that is a financial institution, insurance company, regulated investment company, tax-exempt organization, pension plan, broker, dealer or trader in stocks, securities or currencies, U.S. expatriate, controlled foreign corporation or passive foreign investment company; a non-U.S. holder holding Series AA Preferred Stock as part of a conversion, constructive sale, wash sale or other integrated transaction or a hedge, straddle or synthetic security; a non-U.S. holder whose functional currency is not the U.S. dollar; a non-U.S. holder that holds or receives Series AA Preferred Stock pursuant to the exercise of any employee stock option or otherwise as compensation; or a non-U.S. holder that at any time owns, directly, indirectly or constructively, 5% or more of our outstanding capital stock. A "non-U.S. holder" is a beneficial owner of a share of our Series AA Preferred Stock that is, for U.S. federal income tax purposes:
- · a non-resident alien individual, other than a former citizen or resident of the United States subject to U.S. tax as an expatriate,
- a foreign corporation or any foreign organization taxable as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, or
- a foreign estate or trust.

If a partnership or other pass-through entity (including an entity or arrangement treated as a partnership or other type of pass-through entity for U.S. federal income tax purposes) owns our Series AA Preferred Stock, the tax treatment of a partner or beneficial owner of the entity may depend upon the status of the partner or beneficial owner, the activities of the entity and certain determinations made at the partner or beneficial owner level. Partners and beneficial owners in partnerships or other pass-through entities that own our Series AA Preferred Stock should consult their tax advisors as to the particular U.S. federal income and estate tax consequences applicable to them.

This discussion is based on the Code, and administrative pronouncements, judicial decisions and final, temporary and proposed Treasury Regulations, changes to any of which subsequent to the date of this offering circular may affect the tax consequences described herein (possibly with retroactive effect). Prospective holders are urged to consult their tax advisors with respect to the particular tax consequences to them of owning and disposing of our Series AA Preferred Stock, including the consequences under the laws of any state, local or foreign jurisdiction.

Distributions

We do not currently expect to pay any cash distributions on our Series AA Preferred Stock. If we make distributions of cash or property (other than certain pro rata distributions of Series AA Preferred Stock) with respect to our Series AA Preferred Stock, to the extent paid out of our current or accumulated earnings and profits (as determined under U.S. federal income tax principles), such distributions generally will be treated as dividends and will be subject to U.S. federal withholding tax at a 30% rate, or such reduced rate as may be specified by an applicable income tax treaty, subject to the discussion of FATCA and backup withholding taxes below. In order to obtain a reduced rate of withholding under an applicable income tax treaty, a non-U.S. holder generally will be required to provide a properly executed U.S. Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") Form W-8BEN or IRS Form W-8BEN-E, as applicable, certifying its entitlement to benefits under the applicable treaty. To the extent such distributions exceed our current and accumulated earnings and profits, they will constitute a tax-free return of capital, which will first reduce your adjusted tax basis in our Series AA Preferred Stock, but not below zero, and thereafter will be treated as a gain from the sale or other disposition of our Series AA Preferred Stock, as described below under "Gain on Disposition of Our Series AA Preferred Stock."

Dividends paid to a non-U.S. holder that are effectively connected with the non-U.S. holder's conduct of a trade or business within the United States (and, if required by an applicable income tax treaty, are attributable to a permanent establishment or fixed base maintained by the non-U.S. holder in the United States) will not be subject to U.S. federal withholding tax if the non-U.S. holder provides a properly executed IRS Form W-8ECI. Instead, the effectively connected dividend income will generally be subject to regular U.S. income tax as if the non-U.S. holder were a United States person as defined under the Code. A non-U.S. holder that is treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes may also be subject to an additional "branch profits tax" imposed at a rate of 30% on the effectively connected dividend income, or such reduced rate as may be specified by an applicable income tax treaty.

101

Gain on Disposition of Our Series AA Preferred Stock

Subject to the discussions of backup withholding and FATCA withholding taxes below, a non-U.S. holder generally will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax on gain realized on a sale or other disposition of Series AA Preferred Stock unless:

- the gain is effectively connected with the non-U.S. holder's conduct of a trade or business in the United States (and, if required by an applicable tax treaty, the gain is attributable to a permanent establishment or fixed base maintained by the non-U.S. holder in the United States), in which case the gain will be subject to U.S. federal income tax generally in the same manner as effectively connected dividend income as described above;
- the non-U.S. holder is an individual present in the United States for 183 days or more in the taxable year of disposition and certain other conditions are met, in which case the gain (net of certain U.S.-source losses) generally will be subject to U.S. federal income tax at a rate of 30% (or such reduced rate as may be specified by an applicable income tax treaty); or
- we are or have been a "United States real property holding corporation" (as described below), at any time during the shorter of the five-year period preceding the disposition or the period that the non-U.S. holder owned our Series AA Preferred Stock, and, in the case where our Series AA Preferred Stock is regularly traded on an established securities market during the calendar year in which the sale or disposition occurs, the non-U.S. holder has owned, directly or constructively, more than 5% of our Series AA Preferred Stock at any time during the shorter of the five-year period preceding the disposition or such non-U.S. holder's holding period for our Series AA Preferred Stock.

We will be a United States real property holding corporation at any time that the fair market value of our "United States real property interests," as defined in the Code and applicable Treasury Regulations, equals or exceeds 50% of the aggregate fair market value of our worldwide real property interests and our other assets used or held for use in a trade or business. We believe that we are not, and do not anticipate becoming in the foreseeable future, a United States real property holding corporation. However, there can be no assurance in this regard and non-U.S. holders are urged to consult their tax advisors regarding the application of these rules.

Information Reporting Requirements and Backup Withholding

Information returns are required to be filed with the IRS in connection with distributions on our Series AA Preferred Stock. A non-U.S. holder may have to comply with certification procedures to establish that it is not a U.S. person in order to avoid additional information reporting and backup withholding. The certification procedures required to claim a reduced rate of withholding under a treaty generally will satisfy the certification requirements necessary to avoid backup withholding as well.

Backup withholding is not an additional tax. The amount of any backup withholding from a payment to a non-U.S. holder generally will be allowed as a credit against the non-U.S. holder's U.S. federal income tax liability and may entitle the non-U.S. holder to a refund, provided that the required information is furnished to the IRS in a timely manner.

FATCA Withholding Taxes

Provisions of the Code and Treasury Regulations and administrative guidance promulgated thereunder commonly referred as the "Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act" ("FATCA") generally impose withholding at a rate of 30% in certain circumstances on dividends in respect of our Series AA Preferred Stock which are held by or through certain foreign financial institutions (including investment funds), unless any such institution (1) enters into, and complies with, an agreement with the IRS to report, on an annual basis, information with respect to interests in, and accounts maintained by, the institution that are owned by certain U.S. persons and by certain non-U.S. entities that are wholly or partially owned by U.S. persons and to withhold on certain payments, or (2) if required under an intergovernmental agreement between the United States and an applicable foreign country, reports such information to its local tax authority, which will exchange such information with the U.S. authorities. An intergovernmental agreement between the United States and an applicable foreign country may modify these requirements. Accordingly, the entity through which our Series AA Preferred Stock is held will affect the determination of whether such withholding is required. Similarly, dividends in respect of our Series AA Preferred Stock held by an investor that is a non-financial non-U.S. entity that does not qualify under certain exceptions generally will be subject to withholding at a rate of 30%, unless such entity either (1) certifies to us or the applicable withholding agent that such entity does not have any "substantial United States owners" or (2) provides certain information regarding the entity's "substantial United States owners," which will in turn be provided to the U.S. Department of Treasury.

Withholding under FATCA was scheduled to apply to payments of gross proceeds from the sale or other disposition of property that produces U.S.-source interest or dividends, however, the IRS released proposed regulations that, if finalized in their proposed form, would eliminate the obligation to withhold on such gross proceeds. Although these proposed Treasury Regulations are not final, taxpayers generally may rely on them until final Treasury Regulations are issued. Prospective investors should consult their tax advisors regarding the possible implications of FATCA on their investment in our Series AA Preferred Stock.

Federal Estate Tax

Individual non-U.S. holders (as specifically defined for U.S. federal estate tax purposes) and entities the property of which is potentially includible in such an individual's gross estate for U.S. federal estate tax purposes (for example, a trust funded by such an individual and with respect to which the individual has retained certain interests or powers) should note that the Series AA Preferred Stock will be treated as U.S. situs property subject to U.S. federal estate tax, unless an applicable tax treaty provides otherwise.

PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

General

We are offering up to a maximum of 800,000 shares of our Series AA Preferred Stock. The offering is made through ARKap Markets, LLC, our managing dealer, on a "best efforts" basis, which means that the managing dealer is only required to use its good faith efforts and reasonable diligence to sell the shares and has no firm commitment or obligation to purchase any specific number or dollar amount of the shares.

The shares will be sold at a public offering price of \$25.00 per share. The minimum initial investment is at least \$5,000 and any additional purchases must be investments of at least \$5,000; provided that purchases of less than \$5,000 may be made in the discretion of the managing dealer.

This offering will terminate at the earlier of: (1) the date at which the maximum amount of offered Series AA Preferred Stock has been sold, (2) the date which is one year after the offering statement of which this offering circular forms a part is originally qualified by the SEC, subject to an extension of up to an additional one year at the discretion of our company and the managing dealer, or (3) the date on which this offering is earlier terminated by us in our sole discretion.

103

ARKap Markets, LLC is a securities broker-dealer registered with the SEC and a member firm of FINRA. Its principal business address is 2827 Peachtree Rd Suite 510, Atlanta, GA 30305. The managing dealer will manage, direct and supervise its associated persons who will be wholesalers in connection with the offering. We expect the managing dealer to authorize other broker-dealers that are members of FINRA, which we refer to as participating broker-dealers, to sell our Series AA Preferred Stock in this offering. An affiliate of ARKap Markets, LLC, Arkadios Capital LLC, will serve as the trading agent for the offering.

Compensation of Managing Dealer and Participating Broker-Dealers

We have agreed to pay to the participating broker-dealers a selling commission of up to 5.00% of the gross offering and a reallowance fee of up to 1.00% of gross offering proceeds, which commissions and fees may be waived in the sole discretion of the participating broker-dealers. In addition, we will pay the managing dealer a wholesaling fee of 1.00% of gross offering proceeds for sales efforts by the Company's employees that will be passed on directly to such employees pursuant to a commission sharing agreement, all or a portion of which the managing dealer may reallow to a participating broker-dealer in its sole discretion. The managing dealer will also receive a managing dealer fee of 1.00% of gross offering proceeds.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the combined selling commissions and managing dealer fees for this offering will not exceed 8.00% of the aggregate gross proceeds of this offering.

In connection with the sale of shares to investors whose contracts for investment advisory and related brokerage services include a fixed or "wrap" fee feature, the investors may agree with their broker-dealers to reduce the amount of selling commissions and reallowance fee payable with respect to the purchase of their shares down to zero (i) if the investor has engaged the services of a registered investment advisor or other financial advisor who will be paid compensation for investment advisory services or other financial or investment advice, or (ii) if the investor is investing through a bank trust account with respect to which the investor has delegated the decision-making authority for investments made through the account to a bank trust department. The net proceeds to us will not be affected by reducing commissions payable in connection with such sales. Neither the managing dealer nor its affiliates will directly or indirectly compensate any person engaged as an investment advisor or a bank trust department by a potential investor as an inducement for such investment advisor or bank trust department to advise favorably for an investment in the shares offered hereby.

No commissions or additional compensation will be payable on shares issued in satisfaction of our redemption payment obligations.

The table below sets forth the nature and estimated amount of all items viewed as compensation by FINRA, assuming we sell all the shares offered hereby.

	P	er Share	Ma	aximum Offering
Public offering price	\$	25.00	\$	20,000,000
Selling commissions and reallowance fee (1) (3)	\$	1.50	\$	1,200,000
Managing dealer fee and wholesaling fee (2)(3)	\$	0.50	\$	400,000
Proceeds to us, before expenses (3)	\$	23.00	\$	18,400,000

- (1) This includes (a) selling commissions of up to 5.00% of gross offering proceeds and (b) a reallowance fee of up to 1.00% of gross offering proceeds. The selling commissions and reallowance fee are payable to the participating broker dealers and may be waived in such participating broker dealer's sole discretion.
- (2) This includes (a) a wholesaling fee of 1.00% of gross offering proceeds and (b) a managing dealer fee of 1.00% of gross offering proceeds. The wholesaling fee is payable to the managing dealer and the managing dealer may reallow all or a portion of such wholesaling fee to a participating broker dealer in its sole discretion.
- (3) The combined selling commissions and managing dealer fees for this offering will not exceed 8.00% of the aggregate gross proceeds of this offering.

104

We will be responsible for all expenses related to the issuance and distribution of the Series AA Preferred Stock in this offering, including all expenses incident to marketing the offering and submitting filings with federal and state regulatory authorities, legal and accounting fees, and all costs of reproduction and distribution of this offering circular and any amendment or supplement thereto. We estimate that our total offering expenses, excluding the retail commissions and managing dealer fees will be approximately \$135,000. For further discussion, see the section entitled "Use of Proceeds."

To the extent permitted by law and our articles of incorporation, we will indemnify the participating broker-dealers and the managing dealer against certain civil liabilities, including certain liabilities arising under the Securities Act and liabilities arising from breaches of our representations and warranties contained in the managing dealer agreement. Nevertheless, the SEC takes the position that indemnification against liabilities arising under the Securities Act is against public policy and is not enforceable.

Purchase of Securities by Our Officers and Directors

Our officers and directors and affiliates of our officers and directors are permitted to purchase shares in this offering. Any such purchases shall be conducted in compliance with the applicable provisions of Regulation M.

Subscription Agreement

All investors will be required to complete and execute a subscription agreement in the form included as an exhibit to this offering circular. Subscription agreements may be submitted in paper form and should be delivered to UMB Bank, N.A., Attn: Lara Stevens, Corporate Trust & Escrow Services, 928 Grand Blvd, 12th Fl, Kansas City, MO 64106. Subscriptions may also be submitted electronically, if electronic subscription agreements and signature are made available to you by your registered representative or financial adviser. Generally, when submitting a subscription agreement electronically, a prospective investor will be required to agree to various terms and conditions by checking boxes and to review and electronically sign any necessary documents. You may pay the purchase price by check, ACH or wire of your subscription purchase price in accordance with the instructions in the subscription agreement. All checks should be made payable to "UMB Bank Escrow Agent for CaliberCos Inc." We will hold closings on the first and third Thursday of each month assuming there are funds to close.

Once a subscription has been submitted and accepted by the Company, an investor will not have the right to request the return of its subscription payment prior to the next closing date. If subscriptions are received on a closing date and accepted by the Company prior to such closing, any such subscriptions will be closed on that closing date. If subscriptions are received on a closing date but not accepted by the Company prior to such closing, any such subscriptions will be closed on the next closing date. It is expected that settlement will occur two business days following each closing date. Two business days after the closing date, offering proceeds for that closing will be disbursed to us and the Series AA Preferred Stock will be issued to the investors in the offering. If the Company is dissolved or liquidated after the acceptance of a subscription, the respective subscription payment will be returned to the subscriber.

105

By completing and executing your subscription agreement you will also acknowledge and represent that you have received a copy of this offering circular, your rights and responsibilities regarding your Series AA Preferred Stock will be governed by the offering circular.

Book-Entry, Transfer Agent and DTC

We have engaged ClearTrust LLC as the transfer agent for this offering. Shares of Series AA Preferred Stock are issued to investors in book-entry only format. The transfer agent will record and maintain records of the shares of Series AA Preferred Stock issued by us.

We intend to gain eligibility for the shares of Series AA Preferred Stock to be issued and held through the book-entry systems and procedures of Depository Trust Corporation, or "DTC", and intend for all shares of Series AA Preferred Stock purchased through DTC participants to be held via DTC's book-entry systems and to be held in the name of DTC, or its nominee, Cede & Co. (DTC's nominee) on the books of the transfer agent.

So long as DTC, or its nominee, Cede & Co., is the registered owner of the shares of Series AA Preferred Stock purchased through DTC participants, such nominee will be considered the sole owner and holder of those shares of Series AA Preferred Stock for all purposes. Owners of beneficial interests in those shares of Series AA Preferred Stock will not be entitled to have the shares of Series AA Preferred Stock registered in their names and will not be considered the owners or holders of the shares of Series AA Preferred Stock, including for purposes of receiving any reports delivered by us. Accordingly, each person owning a beneficial interest in a share of Series AA Preferred Stock registered to DTC or its nominee must rely on either the procedures of DTC or its nominee in order to exercise any rights of a holder of shares of Series AA Preferred Stock.

As a result:

- all references in this offering circular to actions taken either by holders of our Series AA Preferred Stock will refer to actions taken by holders of Series AA Preferred Stock who have not purchased their shares of Series AA Preferred Stock through a DTC participant or by DTC upon instructions from its direct participants; and
- all references in this offering circular to payments and notices to holders of Series AA Preferred Stock will refer either to (i) payments and notices to DTC or Cede & Co. for distribution to you in accordance with DTC procedures, or (ii) or payments or notices to holders of Series AA Preferred Stock who have not purchased their units through a DTC participant.

DTC is required to make book-entry transfers on behalf of its direct participants and is required to receive and transmit payments of principal, premium, if any, and dividends on the Series AA Preferred Stock. Any direct participant or indirect participant with which you have an account is similarly required to make book-entry transfers and to receive and transmit payments with respect to the Series AA Preferred Stock on your behalf. We have no responsibility for any aspect of the actions of DTC or any of its direct or indirect participants. In addition, we have no responsibility or liability for any aspect of the records kept by DTC or any of its direct or indirect participants relating to or payments made on account of beneficial ownership interests in the Series AA Preferred Stock or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any records relating to such beneficial ownership interests. We also do not supervise these systems in any way.

You can only exercise the rights of a Series AA Preferred Stock holder indirectly through DTC and its direct participants, as applicable. DTC has advised us that it will only

take action regarding Series AA Preferred Stock if one or more of the direct participants to whom the Series AA Preferred Stock is credited directs DTC to take such action and only in respect of the portion of the aggregate amount of the Series AA Preferred Stock as to which that participant or participants has or have given that direction. DTC can only act on behalf of its direct participants. Your ability to pledge Series AA Preferred Stock, and to take other actions, may be limited because you will not possess a physical certificate that represents your Series AA Preferred Stock.

If the global shares certificate representing Series AA Preferred Stock is held by DTC, conveyance of notices and other communications to the beneficial owners, and vice versa, will occur via DTC. The issuer will communicate directly with DTC. DTC will then communicate to direct participants. The direct participants will communicate with the indirect participants, if any. Then, direct participants and indirect participants will communicate to beneficial owners. Such communications will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time.

106

The Depository Trust Company

We have obtained the information in this section concerning DTC and its book-entry systems and procedures from sources that we believe to be reliable. The description of the clearing system in this section reflects our understanding of the rules and procedures of DTC as they are currently in effect. DTC could change its rules and procedures at any time

DTC will act as securities depositary for the VIP Bonds registered in the name of its nominee, Cede & Co. DTC is:

- · a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New York Banking Law;
- · a "banking organization" under the New York Banking Law;
- · a member of the Federal Reserve System;
- · a "clearing corporation" under the New York Uniform Commercial Code; and
- · a "clearing agency" registered under the provisions of Section 17A of the Exchange Act.

DTC holds securities that its direct participants deposit with DTC. DTC facilitates the settlement among direct participants of securities transactions, such as transfers and pledges, in deposited securities through electronic computerized book-entry changes in direct participants' accounts, thereby eliminating the need for physical movement of securities certificates.

Direct participants of DTC include securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations and certain other organizations. DTC is owned by a number of its direct participants. Indirect participants of DTC, such as securities brokers and dealers, banks, and trust companies, can also access the DTC system if they maintain a custodial relationship with a direct participant.

Purchases of Series AA Preferred Stock under DTC's system must be made by or through direct participants, which will receive a credit for the Series AA Preferred Stock on DTC's records. The ownership interest of each beneficial owner is in turn to be recorded on the records of direct participants and indirect participants. Beneficial owners will not receive written confirmation from DTC of their purchase, but beneficial owners are expected to receive written confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the direct participants or indirect participants through which such beneficial owners entered into the transaction. Transfers of ownership interests in the Series AA Preferred Stock are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of participants acting on behalf of beneficial owners. Beneficial owners will not receive certificates representing their ownership interests in Series AA Preferred Stock.

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to direct participants, by direct participants to indirect participants and by direct participants and indirect participants to beneficial owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time.

Registrar and Paying Agent

We have designated ClearTrust LLC as paying agent. ClearTrust LLC will also act as registrar for the Series AA Preferred Stock. As such, ClearTrust LLC will make payments on the Series AA Preferred Stock to the holders of Series AA Preferred Stock, if such holders are holders of record on the books of our transfer agent, or to Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, if the shares of Series AA Preferred Stock are purchased through DTC participants and held in the name of DTC, or its nominee, Cede & Co. (DTC's nominee) on the books of the transfer agent. The Series AA Preferred Stock will be issued in book-entry form only.

107

Investment Amount Limitations

Generally, no sale may be made to you in this offering if the aggregate purchase price you pay is more than 10% of the greater of your annual income or net worth. Different rules apply to accredited investors and non-natural persons. Before making any representation that your investment does not exceed applicable thresholds, we encourage you to review Rule 251(d)(2)(i)(C) of Regulation A. For general information on investing, we encourage you to refer to www.investor.gov.

As a Tier 2, Regulation A offering, investors must comply with the 10% limitation to investment in the offering. The only investor in this offering exempt from this limitation is an "accredited investor" as defined under Rule 501 of Regulation D. If you meet one of the following tests you should qualify as an accredited investor:

- · A person who had individual income in excess of \$200,000 in each of the two most recent years or joint income with their spouse or spousal equivalent in excess of \$300,000 in each of those years and has a reasonable expectation of reaching the same income level in the current year
- · A person whose individual net worth, or joint net worth with their spouse or spousal equivalent, exceeds \$1,000,000
- · A director or executive officer of our company
- A person holding one of the following licenses in good standing: General Securities Representative license (Series 7), the Private Securities Offerings Representative license (Series 82), or the Investment Adviser Representative license (Series 65)
- · An entity all of whose beneficial equity owners meet one of the conditions in the first two bullets above

- An entity that has total assets in excess of \$5,000,000, was not formed for the specific purpose of acquiring the securities offered and is one or more of the following (A) an organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended; (B) a corporation, (C) a Massachusetts or similar business trust, (D) a partnership, or (E) a limited liability company
- A trust with total assets exceeding \$5,000,000, which was not formed for the specific purpose of acquiring the securities offered and whose purchase is directed by a person who has such knowledge and experience in financial and business matters that he or she is capable of evaluating the merits and risks of the investment in the securities offered
- · A bank as defined in section 3(a)(2) of the Securities Act, or any savings and loan association or other institution as defined in section 3(a)(5)(A) of the Securities Act whether acting in its individual or fiduciary capacity
- · A broker or dealer registered pursuant to section 15 of the Exchange Act
- · An investment adviser registered pursuant to section 203 of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 or registered pursuant to the laws of a state

108

- · An investment adviser relying on the exemption from registering with the SEC under section 203(l) or (m) of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, or the Investment Advisers Act
- · An insurance company as defined in section 2(a)(13) of the Securities Act
- · An investment company registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940, or the Investment Company Act, or a business development company as defined in section 2(a)(48) of the Investment Company Act
- · A Small Business Investment Company licensed by the U.S. Small Business Administration under section 301(c) or (d) of the Small Business Investment Act of 1958
- · A Rural Business Investment Company as defined in section 384A of the Consolidated Farm and Rural Development Act
- A plan established and maintained by a state, its political subdivisions, or any agency or instrumentality of a state or its political subdivisions, for the benefit of its employees, if such plan has total assets in excess of \$5,000,000
- An employee benefit plan within the meaning of Title I of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 and (A) the investment decision is made by a plan fiduciary, as defined therein, in Section 3(21), which is either a bank, savings and loan association, insurance company, or registered investment adviser; or (B) the employee benefit plan has total assets in excess of \$5,000,000; or (C) the plan is a self-directed plan with investment decisions made solely by persons who are "accredited investors" as defined therein
- · A private business development company as defined in Section 202(a)(22) of the Investment Advisers Act
- A "family office," as defined in rule 202(a)(11)(G)-1 under the Investment Advisers Act: (A) with assets under management in excess of \$5,000,000, (B) that is not formed for the specific purpose of acquiring the securities offered, and (C) whose prospective investment is directed by a person who has such knowledge and experience in financial and business matters that such family office is capable of evaluating the merits and risks of the prospective investment
- · A "family client," as defined in rule 202(a)(11)(G)-1 under the Investment Advisers Act, of a family office meeting the requirements in the bullet above and whose prospective investment in the issuer is directed by such family office pursuant to clause (C) of that bullet
- An entity, of a type not listed in the bullets above for entities, not formed for the specific purpose of acquiring the securities offered, owning investments in excess of \$5,000,000.

For purposes of calculating net worth a person's primary residence is not included as an asset; indebtedness that is secured by a primary residence, up to the estimated fair market value of the primary residence at the time of the purchase of securities, is not included as a liability (except that if the amount of such indebtedness outstanding at the time of the purchase of securities exceeds the amount outstanding 60 days before such time, other than as a result of the acquisition of the primary residence, the amount of such excess is included as a liability); and indebtedness that is secured by a primary residence in excess of the estimated fair market value of the primary residence at the time of the purchase of securities is included as a liability.

In determining income, an investor should add to the investor's adjusted gross income any amounts attributable to tax exempt income received, losses claimed as a limited partner in any limited partnership, deduction claimed for depletion, contribution to an IRA or Keogh plan, alimony payments, and any amount by which income for long-term capital gains has been reduced in arriving at adjusted gross income.

109

Offer Restrictions Outside the United States

Other than in the United States, no action has been taken by us or the managing dealer that would permit a public offering of the securities offered by this offering circular in any jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required. The securities offered by this offering circular may not be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, nor may this offering circular or any other offering material or advertisements in connection with the offer and sale of any such securities be distributed or published in any jurisdiction, except under circumstances that will result in compliance with the applicable rules and regulations of that jurisdiction. Persons into whose possession this offering circular comes are advised to inform themselves about and to observe any restrictions relating to the offering and the distribution of this offering circular. This offering circular does not constitute an offer to sell or a solicitation of an offer to buy any securities offered by this offering circular in any jurisdiction in which such an offer or a solicitation is unlawful.

LEGAL MATTERS

The validity of the shares of Series AA Preferred Stock covered by this offering circular will be passed upon by Manatt, Phelps & Phillips, LLP, Costa Mesa, California.

The financial statements of CaliberCos Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2023 included in this Offering Circular, have been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report. Such financial statements are included in reliance upon the report of such firm given their authority as experts in auditing and accounting.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We have filed with the SEC an offering statement on Form 1-A under the Securities Act with respect to the units offered in this offering. This offering circular does not contain all of the information set forth in the offering statement. For further information with respect to the units offered in this offering and our company, we refer you to the offering statement and to the attached exhibits. With respect to each such document filed as an exhibit to the offering statement, we refer you to the exhibit for a more complete description of the matters involved.

You may inspect our offering statement and the attached exhibits and schedules without charge at the public reference facilities maintained by the SEC at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. You can also request copies of those documents, upon payment of a duplicating fee, by writing to the SEC. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information on the operation of the public reference rooms.

Our SEC filings, including the offering statement and the exhibits filed with the offering statement, are also available from the SEC's website at www.sec.gov, which contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC. Additionally, we will make these filings available, free of charge, on our website at www.mhproperties.com as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such materials with, or furnish them to, the SEC. The information on our website, other than these filings, is not, and should not be, considered part of this prospectus and is not incorporated by reference into this document.

110

INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

	Page
Three and Nine Month Periods Ended September 30, 2024 and 2023 (Unaudited)	
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023	<u>F-2</u>
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2024 and 2023	<u>F-4</u>
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders' Equity for the Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2024 and 2023	<u>F-5</u>
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2024 and 2023	<u>F-7</u>
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements	<u>F-9</u>
2023 Audited Financial Statements	
Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm	<u>F-41</u>
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022	<u>F-42</u>
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022	<u>F-43</u>
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders' Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022	<u>F-44</u>
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022	<u>F-46</u>
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements	<u>F-47</u>

F-1

CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT FOR SHARE AND PER SHARE DATA)

	September 30, 2024	December 31, 2023
Assets		
Cash	\$ 516	\$ 940
Restricted cash	2,534	2,569
Real estate investments, net	21,515	21,492
Notes receivable - related parties	_	50
Due from related parties	12,305	9,709
Investments in unconsolidated entities	12,723	3,338
Operating lease - right of use assets	159	193
Prepaid and other assets	2,808	2,781
Assets of consolidated funds		
Cash	1,053	2,865
Restricted cash	_	11,266
Real estate investments, net	46,084	185,636
Accounts receivable, net	184	1,978
Notes receivable - related parties	58,233	34,620
Operating lease - right of use assets	_	10,318
Prepaid and other assets	469	11,677
Total assets	\$ 158,583	\$ 299,432
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity		
Notes payable	\$ 49,673	\$ 53,799
Accounts payable and accrued expenses	8,638	8,886
Due to related parties	210	257
Operating lease liabilities	100	119
Other liabilities	763	420
Liabilities of consolidated funds		

Notes payable, net Notes payable - related parties 129,684

12,055

Accounts payable and accrued expenses	1,444	11,736
Due to related parties	35	101
Operating lease liabilities	_	13,957
Other liabilities	687	2,400
Total liabilities	95,302	233,414

Commitments and Contingencies

F-2

CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT FOR SHARE AND PER SHARE DATA)

	Septem	ber 30, 2024	Dec	cember 31, 2023
Common stock Class A, \$0.001 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized, 14,967,702 and 13,872,671 shares issued and				
outstanding as of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively	\$	15	\$	14
Common stock Class B, \$0.001 par value; 15,000,000 shares authorized, 7,416,414 shares issued and outstanding as				
September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023		7		7
Paid-in capital		41,348		39,432
Accumulated deficit		(45,219)		(36,830)
Stockholders' (deficit) equity attributable to CaliberCos Inc.		(3,849)		2,623
Stockholders' equity attributable to noncontrolling interests		67,130		63,395
Total stockholders' equity		63,281		66,018
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity	\$	158,583	\$	299,432

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

F-3

CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

	Three Months Ended September 30,					Nine Mon Septem		
		2024		2023		2024		2023
Revenues								
Asset management revenues	\$	6,530	\$	2,316	\$	12,926	\$	6,246
Performance allocations		175		36		357		2,474
Consolidated funds – hospitality revenues		2,494		12,526		23,533		52,008
Consolidated funds – other revenues		2,103		2,147		5,616		6,264
Total revenues		11,302		17,025		42,432		66,992
Expenses								
Operating costs		4,592		4.881		15.389		16.205
General and administrative		1,441		1,672		5,460		4,914
Marketing and advertising		174		210		507		888
Depreciation and amortization		149		140		439		409
Consolidated funds – hospitality expenses		3,097		18,644		23,191		59,676
Consolidated funds – other expenses		975		2,883		5,405		6,757
Total expenses		10,428		28,430		50,391		88,849
Other income, net		425		414		1,015		1,479
Interest income		51		85		325		279
Interest expense		(1,349)		(1,316)		(3,958)		(3,408)
Net income (loss) before income taxes		(2,2.12)		(1,210)		(2,223)		(0,100)
		1		(12,222)		(10,577)		(23,507)
Benefit from income taxes						_		
Net income (loss)		1		(12,222)		(10,577)		(23,507)
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests		(145)		(8,813)		(2,188)		(13,165)
Net income (loss) attributable to CaliberCos Inc.	\$	146	\$	(3,409)	\$	(8,389)	\$	(10,342)
Basic net income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders	\$	0.01	\$	(0.16)	\$	(0.38)	\$	(0.53)
Diluted net income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders	\$	0.01	\$	(0.16)	\$	(0.38)	\$	(0.53)
Weighted average common shares outstanding:	·							
Basic		22,128		21,238		21,828		19,688
Diluted		24,867		21,238		21,828		19,688

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS)

		Commo					Total	
	Clas	ss A	Class	s B	Paid in	Accumulated	Noncontrolling	Stockholders'
	Shares	Par Value	Shares	Par Value	Capital	Deficit	Interests	Equity
Balances as of December 31, 2023	13,873	\$ 14	7,416	\$ 7	\$ 39,432	\$ (36,830)	\$ 63,395	\$ 66,018
Issuance of common stock	25	_	_	_	37	_	_	37
Equity based compensation	413	_	_	_	400	_	_	400
Contributions from noncontrolling interest holders	_	_	_	_	_	_	6,388	6,388
Redemptions of noncontrolling interest holders	_	_	_	_	_	_	(670)	(670)
Distributions to noncontrolling interest holders	_	_	_	_	_	_	(1,604)	(1,604)
Deconsolidation of VIEs	_	_	_	_	_	_	21,183	21,183
Net loss						(3,805)	(1,457)	(5,262)
Balances as of March 31, 2024	14,311	\$ 14	7,416	\$ 7	\$ 39,869	\$ (40,635)	\$ 87,235	\$ 86,490
Issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs	163				146			146
Equity based compensation	155	1	_	_	584	_	_	585
Contributions from noncontrolling interest holders	_	_	_	_	_	_	5,478	5,478
Distributions to noncontrolling interest holders	_	_	_	_	_	_	(2,969)	(2,969)
Deconsolidation of VIEs	_	_	_	_	_	_	10,790	10,790
Net loss	_	_	_	_	_	(4,730)	(586)	(5,316)
Balances as of June 30, 2024	14,629	\$ 15	7,416	§ 7	\$ 40,599	\$ (45,365)	\$ 99,948	\$ 95,204
Issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs	17				12			12
Equity based compensation expense	322	_	_	_	737	_	_	737
Contributions from noncontrolling interest holders	_	_	_	_	_	_	3,059	3,059
Redemptions of noncontrolling interest holders	_	_	_	_	_	_	(1,350)	(1,350)
Distributions to noncontrolling interest holders	_	_	_	_	_	_	(1,128)	(1,128)
Deconsolidation of VIEs	_	_	_	_	_	_	(33,254)	(33,254)
Net (loss) income	_	_	_	_	_	146	(145)	1
Balances as of September 30, 2024	14,968	\$ 15	7,416	\$ 7	\$ 41,348	\$ (45,219)	\$ 67,130	\$ 63,281

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

F-5

CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS)

	Preferred	l Stock		Common	1 Stock						Total
		_	Cla	ss A	Class	вВ	Paid in	Treasury	Accumulated	Noncontrolling	Stockholders'
	Shares	Par Value	Shares	Par Value	Shares	Par Value	Capital	Stock	Deficit	Interests	Equity
Balances as of December 31, 2022	1,651	<u> </u>	10,791	\$ 11	7,416	\$ 7	\$ 33,108	\$ (13,626)	\$ (22,709)	\$ 80,398	\$ 77,189
Repurchases of common stock	_	_	(42)	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
Equity based compensation expense	_	_	_	_	_	_	702	_	_	_	702
Contributions from noncontrolling interest holders	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	7,629	7,629
Redemptions of noncontrolling interest holders	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	(295)	(295)
Distributions to noncontrolling interest holders	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	(1,752)	(1,752)
Consolidation of VIEs	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	(20,805)	(20,805)
Deconsolidation of VIEs	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	9,539	9,539
Retirement of treasury stock	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	1,418	(1,418)	_	_
Net (loss) income	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	(1,207)	1,502	295
Balances as of March 31, 2023	1,651	\$ <u> </u>	10,749	\$ 11	7,416	\$ 7	\$ 33,810	\$ (12,208)	\$ (25,334)	\$ 76,216	\$ 72,502
Issuance of common stock		_	1,200	1			3,247				3,248
Conversions of common stock	(1,651)	_	1,651	2	_	_	_	_	_	_	2
Equity based compensation expense	_	_	221	_	_	_	1,922	_	_	_	1,922
Contributions from noncontrolling interest holders	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	6,787	6,787
Redemptions of noncontrolling interest holders	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	(995)	(995)
Distributions to noncontrolling interest holders	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	(1,482)	(1,482)
Other	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	12,208	_	_	12,208
Net loss	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	(5,726)	(5,854)	(11,580)
Balances as of June 30, 2023		\$	13,821	\$ 14	7,416	\$ 7	\$ 38,979	\$	\$ (31,060)	\$ 74,672	\$ 82,612
Issuance of common stock		_					(649)		_		(649)
Equity based compensation expense	_	_	27	_	_	_	393	_	_	_	393
Contributions from noncontrolling interest holders	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	6,870	6,870
Redemptions of noncontrolling interest holders	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	(480)	(480)
Distributions to noncontrolling interest holders	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	(1,768)	(1,768)
Net loss	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	(3,409)	(8,813)	(12,222)
Balances as of September 30, 2023		ş <u> </u>	13,848	\$ 14	7,416	\$ 7	\$ 38,723	ş —	\$ (34,469)	\$ 70,481	\$ 74,756

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

F-6

CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS)

	Ni	Nine Months Ended September 30,			
		2024	2023		
Cash Flows From Operating Activities					
Net income (loss)	\$	(10,577) \$	(23,507)		
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash from operating activities:					
Depreciation and amortization		439	392		
Non-cash lease expense and gain on lease extinguishment		15	(285)		

Non-cash performance allocations — (2,382) Equity-based compensation 5 — Gain on disposal of furniture, fixtures and equipment 5 — Gain on investments in unconsolidated entities (231) — Impairment (10) — Amortization of above-market/below market leases and straight-line rent, net 181 178 Amortization of deferred financing; costs 47 25 Changes in operating assets and liabilities: 923 1,364 Due from related parties 25 3,307 Accounts payable and accrued expenses 121 464 Due to related parties 4(7) (84) Lease liabilities and other liabilities 120 248 Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash from operating activities of consolidated funds: 120 248 Depreciation 4,841 7,926 Non-cash lease expense (9) (80 Loss on extinguishment of debt 9 (80 Loss can display the deviative instruments (311 (114 (Gain on derivative in			
Loss on disposal of furniture, fixtures and equipment 5 — Gain on investments in unconsolidated entities (231) — Impairment (100) — Amortization of above-market/below market leases and straight-line rent, net 181 178 Amortization of deferred financing costs 47 25 Changes in operating assets and liabilities 923 1,364 Prepaid expenses, right-of-use assets and other assets 25 3,307 Accounts payable and accrued expenses 121 464 Due to related parties 120 248 Lease liabilities and other liabilities 120 248 Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash from operating activities of consolidated funds: — 2 Depreciation 4,841 7,926 Non-cash lease expense (9) (80) Loss on extriguishment of debt — 2 Gain on derivative instruments (311) (114) (Gain) loss on disposal of furniture, fixtures and equipment (9) (687 Amortization of advanced key money (12) (56		_	(2,382)
Gain on investments in unconsolidated entities (231) — Impairment (10) — Amortization of above-market/below market leases and straight-line rent, net 181 178 Amortization of above-market/below market leases and straight-line rent, net 181 178 Changes in operating assets and liabilities: 923 1,364 Due from related parties 25 3,307 Accounts payable and accrued expenses 121 464 Due to related parties (47) (84) Lease liabilities and other liabilities 120 248 Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash from operating activities of consolidated funds: 120 248 Depreciation 4,841 7,926 Non-cash lease expense (9) (80) Loss on extinguishment of debt — 2 Gain on derivative instruments (311) (114 (Gain) loss on disposal of furniture, fixtures and equipment (9) 687 Amortization of advanced key money (12) (56) Amortization of devernance because and itabilities rent, net (164)<		1,723	3,017
Impairment		5	_
Amortization of above-market/below market leases and straight-line rent, net	Gain on investments in unconsolidated entities	(231)	_
Amortization of deferred financing costs		(10)	_
Changes in operating assets and liabilities: Due from related parties 923 1,364 Prepaid expenses, right-of-use assets and other assets 25 3,307 Accounts payable and accrued expenses 121 464 Due to related parties 120 248 Lease liabilities and other liabilities 120 248 Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash from operating activities of consolidated funds: Depreciation 4,841 7,926 Non-cash lease expense (9) (80) Loss on extinguishment of debt	Amortization of above-market/below market leases and straight-line rent, net	181	178
Due from related parties 923 1,364 Prepaid expenses, right-of-use assets and other assets 25 3,307 Accounts payable and accrued expenses (121) 464 Due to related parties (47) (84) Lease liabilities and other liabilities 120 248 Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash from operating activities of consolidated funds: 120 (80) Depreciation 4,841 7,926 Non-cash lease expense (9) (80) Loss on extinguishment of debt - 2 Gain on derivative instruments (311) (114) (Gain) loss on disposal of furniture, fixtures and equipment (9) (88 Amortization of advanced key money (12) (56) Amortization of advanced key money (12) (56) Amortization of advanced key money (12) (56) Accounts receivable, net (1,277) 53 Accounts receivable, net (1,277) 53 Due from related parties (1,97) (1,279) Prepaid expenses, right-of use assets and	Amortization of deferred financing costs	47	25
Prepaid expenses, right-of-use assets and other assets 25 3,307 Accounts payable and accrued expenses 121 464 Due to related parties 120 248 Lease liabilities and other liabilities 120 248 Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net eash from operating activities of consolidated funds: 120 248 Depreciation 4,841 7,926 Non-eash lease expense (9) (80) Loss on extinguishment of debt - 2 Gain on derivative instruments (311) (114) (Gain) loss on disposal of furniture, fixtures and equipment (9) 687 Amortization of advanced key money (12) (56) Amortization of advanced key money (12) (56) Amortization of deferred financing costs 334 1,147 Changes in operating assets and liabilities of consolidated funds: (127) 533 Accounts receivable, net (1,277) 533 Due from related parties (1,979) (1,27) Prepaid expenses, right-of use assets and other assets 96 849			
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 121 464 Due to related parties (47) (84) Lease liabilities and other liabilities 120 248 Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash from operating activities of consolidated funds: *** Depreciation 4,841 7,926 Non-cash lease expense (9) (80) Loss on extinguishment of debt - 2 Gain on derivative instruments (311) (114) (Gain) loss on disposal of furniture, fixtures and equipment (9) 687 Amortization of advanced key money (12) (56) Amortization of advanced key money (164) (333) Amortization of advanced key money (12) (56) Amortization of advanced key money (164) (333) Amortization of advanced key money (112) (56) Amortization of advanced key money (12) (56) Accounts receivable, net (162) (182) Due from related parties (1,277) 533 Due from related parties 996 <td< td=""><td>Due from related parties</td><td>923</td><td>1,364</td></td<>	Due from related parties	923	1,364
Due to related parties (47) (84) Lease liabilities and other liabilities 120 248 Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash from operating activities of consolidated funds: 120 248 Depreciation 4,841 7,926 Non-cash lease expense (9) (80) Loss on extinguishment of debt - 2 Gain on derivative instruments (311) (114) (Gain) loss on disposal of furniture, fixtures and equipment (9) 687 Amortization of advanced key money (12) (56) Amortization of dabove-market/below market leases and straight-line rent, net (164) (333) Amortization of deferred financing costs (164) (333) Changes in operating assets and liabilities of consolidated funds: (1277) 533 Due from related parties (197) (12) Prepaid expenses, right-of use assets and other assets 1,929 (4,939) Accounts payable and accrued expenses 996 849 Due to related parties 984 327 Lease liabilities and other liabilities (Prepaid expenses, right-of-use assets and other assets	25	3,307
Lease liabilities and other liabilities 120 248 Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash from operating activities of consolidated funds: 8481 7,926 Non-cash lease expense (9) (80) Loss on extinguishment of debt — 2 Gain on derivative instruments (311) (114) (Gain) loss on disposal of furniture, fixtures and equipment (9) 687 Amortization of advanced key money (12) (56) Amortization of above-market/below market leases and straight-line rent, net (164) (333) Amortization of deferred financing costs (164) (333) Changes in operating assets and liabilities of consolidated funds: (1,277) 533 Accounts receivable, net (1,277) 533 Due from related parties (1,277) 533 Accounts payable and accrued expenses 996 849 Accounts payable and accrued expenses 984 327 Lease liabilities and other liabilities (38) 184 Net cash used in the Company's operating activities (38) 184 Investments in real	Accounts payable and accrued expenses	121	464
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash from operating activities of consolidated funds: 4,841 7,926 Depreciation 4,841 7,926 Non-cash lease expense (9) (80) Los on extinguishment of debt — 2 Gain on derivative instruments (311) (114) (Gain) loss on disposal of furniture, fixtures and equipment (9) 657 Amortization of advanced key money (12) (56) Amortization of above-market/below market leases and straight-line rent, net (164) (333) Amortization of deferred financing costs 1,47 147 Changes in operating assets and liabilities of consolidated funds: 1,277 533 Due from related parties (197) (12) Prepaid expenses, right-of use assets and other assets 1,929 (4,939) Accounts payable and accrued expenses 996 849 Due to related parties 984 327 Lease liabilities and other liabilities (38) 184 Net cash used in the Company's operating activities (199) (11,142) Cash Flows From Investing Activities (686) (224	Due to related parties	(47)	(84)
Depreciation 4,841 7,926 Non-cash lease expense (9) (80) Loss on extinguishment of debt — 2 Gain on derivative instruments (311) (114) (Gain) loss on disposal of furniture, fixtures and equipment (9) 687 Amortization of advanced key money (12) (56) Amortization of above-market/below market leases and straight-line rent, net (164) (333) Amortization of deferred financing costs 334 1,147 Changes in operating assets and liabilities of consolidated funds: (1277) 533 Due from related parties (197) (12) Prepaid expenses, right-of use assets and other assets 1,929 (4,939) Accounts payable and accrued expenses 986 849 Due to related parties 984 327 Lease liabilities and other liabilities (38) 184 Net cash used in the Company's operating activities (38) 184 Net cash used in the Company's operating activities (199) (11,142) Cash Flows From Investing Activities (686)	Lease liabilities and other liabilities	120	248
Non-cash lease expense (9) (80) Loss on extinguishment of debt — 2 Gain on derivative instruments (311) (114) (Gain) loss on disposal of furniture, fixtures and equipment (9) 687 Amortization of advanced key money (12) (56) Amortization of above-market/below market leases and straight-line rent, net (164) (333) Amortization of deferred financing costs 334 1,147 Changes in operating assets and liabilities of consolidated funds: (1,277) 533 Due from related parties (197) (12) Prepaid expenses, right-of use assets and other assets 1,929 (4,939) Accounts payable and accrued expenses 996 849 Due to related parties 984 327 Lease liabilities and other liabilities (38) 184 Net cash used in the Company's operating activities (199) (11,142) Cash Flows From Investing Activities (686) (224) Acquisition of real estate assets — (19,472) Investments in real estate assets — (19,472)	Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash from operating activities of consolidated funds:		
Loss on extinguishment of debt — 2 Gain on derivative instruments (311) (114) (Gain) loss on disposal of furniture, fixtures and equipment (9) 687 Amortization of advanced key money (12) (56) Amortization of above-market/below market leases and straight-line rent, net (164) (333) Amortization of deferred financing costs 334 1,147 Changes in operating assets and liabilities of consolidated funds: (1,277) 533 Due from related parties (197) (12) Prepaid expenses, right-of use assets and other assets (197) (12) Prepaid expenses, right-of use assets and other assets 984 327 Lease liabilities and other liabilities (38) 184 Net cash used in the Company's operating activities (199) (11,142) Cash Flows From Investing Activities (686) (224) Investments in real estate assets (686) (224) Acquisition of real estate assets (686) (247) Acquisition of real estate assets (686) (247) Funding of notes receiva	Depreciation	4,841	7,926
Gain on derivative instruments (311) (114) (Gain) loss on disposal of furniture, fixtures and equipment (9) 687 Amortization of advanced key money (12) (56) Amortization of above-market/below market leases and straight-line rent, net (164) (333) Amortization of deferred financing costs 334 1,147 Changes in operating assets and liabilities of consolidated funds: (1,277) 533 Accounts receivable, net (197) (12) Prepaid expenses, right-of use assets and other assets (197) (1,27) Accounts payable and accrued expenses 996 849 Due to related parties 984 327 Lease liabilities and other liabilities (38) 184 Net cash used in the Company's operating activities (199) (11,142) Cash Flows From Investing Activities (686) (224) Investments in real estate assets (686) (224) Acquisition of real estate assets (940) (1947) Investments in unconsolidated entities (267) (134) Funding of notes receivable - related parties (184) (980)	Non-cash lease expense	(9)	(80)
(Gain) loss on disposal of furniture, fixtures and equipment (9) 687 Amortization of advanced key money (12) (56) Amortization of above-market/below market leases and straight-line rent, net (164) (333) Amortization of deferred financing costs 334 1,147 Changes in operating assets and liabilities of consolidated funds: Changes in operating assets and liabilities of consolidated funds: Accounts receivable, net (1,277) 533 Due from related parties (197) (12) Prepaid expenses, right-of use assets and other assets 1,929 (4,939) Accounts payable and accrued expenses 986 849 Due to related parties 984 327 Lease liabilities and other liabilities (38) 184 Net cash used in the Company's operating activities (199) (11,142) Cash Flows From Investing Activities (686) (224) Investments in real estate assets 6 (686) (244) Acquisition of real estate assets 6 (19,472) Investments in unconsolidated entities (267) (134) Funding of notes receivable - related parties (1	Loss on extinguishment of debt	_	2
Amortization of advanced key money (12) (56) Amortization of above-market/below market leases and straight-line rent, net (164) (333) Amortization of deferred financing costs 334 1,147 Changes in operating assets and liabilities of consolidated funds: Accounts receivable, net (1,277) 533 Due from related parties (197) (12) Prepaid expenses, right-of use assets and other assets 1,929 (4,939) Accounts payable and accrued expenses 996 849 Due to related parties 984 327 Lease liabilities and other liabilities (38) 184 Net cash used in the Company's operating activities (199) (11,142) Cash Flows From Investing Activities (686) (224) Acquisition of real estate assets (686) (224) Acquisition of real estate assets - (19,472) Investments in unconsolidated entities (267) (134) Funding of notes receivable - related parties (184) (980)		(311)	(114)
Amortization of above-market/below market leases and straight-line rent, net (164) (333) Amortization of deferred financing costs 334 1,147 Changes in operating assets and liabilities of consolidated funds:	(Gain) loss on disposal of furniture, fixtures and equipment	(9)	687
Amortization of deferred financing costs 334 1,147 Changes in operating assets and liabilities of consolidated funds: (1,277) 53 Accounts receivable, net (197) (12) Due from related parties (197) (12) Prepaid expenses, right-of use assets and other assets 1,929 (4,939) Accounts payable and accrued expenses 996 849 Due to related parties 984 327 Lease liabilities and other liabilities (38) 184 Net cash used in the Company's operating activities (199) (11,142) Cash Flows From Investing Activities Investments in real estate assets (686) (224) Acquisition of real estate assets — (19,472) Investments in unconsolidated entities (267) (134) Funding of notes receivable - related parties (184) (980)	Amortization of advanced key money	(12)	(56)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities of consolidated funds: (1,277) 533 Due from related parties (197) (12) Prepaid expenses, right-of use assets and other assets 1,929 (4,939) Accounts payable and accrued expenses 996 849 Due to related parties 984 327 Lease liabilities and other liabilities (38) 184 Net cash used in the Company's operating activities (199) (11,142) Cash Flows From Investing Activities Investments in real estate assets (686) (224) Acquisition of real estate assets — (19,472) Investments in unconsolidated entities (267) (134) Funding of notes receivable - related parties (184) (980)	Amortization of above-market/below market leases and straight-line rent, net	(164)	(333)
Accounts receivable, net (1,277) 533 Due from related parties (197) (12) Prepaid expenses, right-of use assets and other assets 1,929 (4,939) Accounts payable and accrued expenses 996 849 Due to related parties 984 327 Lease liabilities and other liabilities (38) 184 Net cash used in the Company's operating activities (199) (11,142) Cash Flows From Investing Activities (686) (224) Acquisition of real estate assets (686) (224) Acquisition of real estate assets (686) (247) Investments in unconsolidated entities (267) (134) Funding of notes receivable - related parties (184) (980)	Amortization of deferred financing costs	334	1,147
Due from related parties (197) (12) Prepaid expenses, right-of use assets and other assets 1,929 (4,939) Accounts payable and accrued expenses 996 849 Due to related parties 984 327 Lease liabilities and other liabilities (38) 184 Net cash used in the Company's operating activities (199) (11,142) Cash Flows From Investing Activities Investments in real estate assets (686) (224) Acquisition of real estate assets — (19,472) Investments in unconsolidated entities (267) (134) Funding of notes receivable - related parties (184) (980)	Changes in operating assets and liabilities of consolidated funds:		
Prepaid expenses, right-of use assets and other assets 1,929 (4,939) Accounts payable and accrued expenses 996 849 Due to related parties 984 327 Lease liabilities and other liabilities (38) 184 Net cash used in the Company's operating activities (199) (11,142) Cash Flows From Investing Activities (686) (224) Investments in real estate assets 686) (24) Acquisition of real estate assets - (19,472) Investments in unconsolidated entities (267) (134) Funding of notes receivable - related parties (184) (980)	Accounts receivable, net	(1,277)	533
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 996 849 Due to related parties 984 327 Lease liabilities and other liabilities (38) 184 Net cash used in the Company's operating activities (199) (11,142) Cash Flows From Investing Activities Investments in real estate assets (686) (224) Acquisition of real estate assets — (19,472) Investments in unconsolidated entities (267) (134) Funding of notes receivable - related parties (184) (980)	Due from related parties	(197)	(12)
Due to related parties 984 327 Lease liabilities and other liabilities (38) 184 Net cash used in the Company's operating activities (199) (11,142) Cash Flows From Investing Activities Investments in real estate assets (686) (224) Acquisition of real estate assets — (19,472) Investments in unconsolidated entities (267) (134) Funding of notes receivable - related parties (184) (980)	Prepaid expenses, right-of use assets and other assets	1,929	(4,939)
Lease liabilities and other liabilities(38)184Net cash used in the Company's operating activities(199)(11,142)Cash Flows From Investing ActivitiesInvestments in real estate assets(686)(224)Acquisition of real estate assets—(19,472)Investments in unconsolidated entities(267)(134)Funding of notes receivable - related parties(184)(980)	Accounts payable and accrued expenses	996	849
Net cash used in the Company's operating activities Cash Flows From Investing Activities Investments in real estate assets Acquisition of real estate assets Investments in unconsolidated entities Funding of notes receivable - related parties (184) (199) (11,142) (224) (224) (224) (234) (247) (247) (257) (134) (267) (134) (267) (184) (268)	Due to related parties	984	327
Cash Flows From Investing ActivitiesInvestments in real estate assets(686)(224)Acquisition of real estate assets—(19,472)Investments in unconsolidated entities(267)(134)Funding of notes receivable - related parties(184)(980)	Lease liabilities and other liabilities	(38)	184
Investments in real estate assets(686)(224)Acquisition of real estate assets—(19,472)Investments in unconsolidated entities(267)(134)Funding of notes receivable - related parties(184)(980)	Net cash used in the Company's operating activities	(199)	(11,142)
Investments in real estate assets(686)(224)Acquisition of real estate assets—(19,472)Investments in unconsolidated entities(267)(134)Funding of notes receivable - related parties(184)(980)			
Investments in real estate assets(686)(224)Acquisition of real estate assets—(19,472)Investments in unconsolidated entities(267)(134)Funding of notes receivable - related parties(184)(980)	Cash Flows From Investing Activities		
Acquisition of real estate assets—(19,472)Investments in unconsolidated entities(267)(134)Funding of notes receivable - related parties(184)(980)		(686)	(224)
Investments in unconsolidated entities (267) (134) Funding of notes receivable - related parties (184) (980)	Acquisition of real estate assets	_	
Funding of notes receivable - related parties (184) (980)		(267)	(/ /
		` ,	(/
		` /	(/
	•	•	

CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS)

F-7

	Ni	Nine Months Ended Sep		
		2024		
Cash Flows From Investing Activities of consolidated funds				
Consolidation of VIEs	\$	- \$	12,927	
Deconsolidation of VIEs		(17,641)	(12,418)	
Investments in real estate assets		(5,015)	(12,040)	
Acquisition of real estate assets		_	(6,643)	
Funding of notes receivable - related parties		(17,529)	(11,986)	
Payment received on notes receivable - related parties		19,193	6,085	
Net cash used in the Company's investing activities		(14,364)	(43,955)	
Cash Flows From Financing Activities			, ,	
2 414 17 1		(31)	(253)	
Payment of deferred financing costs		4.000	40.040	
Proceeds from notes payable		1,399	43,010	
Repayments of notes payable		(5,541)	(3,181)	
Proceeds from notes payable - related parties		_	4,000	
Repayments of notes payable - related parties		_	(4,365)	
Proceeds from the issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs		_	2,599	
Payments of treasury stock - buyback obligation			(183)	
Cash Flows From Financing Activities of consolidated funds		4	,	
Payment of deferred financing costs		(1,342)	(2,522)	
Proceeds from notes payable		16,567	61,681	
Repayments of notes payable		(17,230)	(58,734)	
Proceeds from notes payable - related parties		511	5,647	
Repayments of notes payable - related parties		(511)	(4,633)	
Contributions from noncontrolling interest holders		14,925	21,286	
Redemptions of noncontrolling interests		(2,020)	(1,770)	
Distributions to noncontrolling interest holders		(5,701)	(5,002)	
Net cash provided by the Company's financing activities		1,026	57,580	
Net Change in Cash and Restricted Cash		(13,537)	2,483	
Cash and Restricted Cash at Beginning of Period	<u></u>	17,640	15,934	
Cash and Restricted Cash at End of Period	\$	4,103 \$	18,417	
Reconciliation of Cash and Restricted Cash				
Cash at beginning of period	\$	3,805 \$	7,657	
Restricted cash at beginning of period		13,835	8,277	

Cash and restricted cash at beginning of period	17,640	15,934
Cash at end of period	1,569	5,531
Restricted cash at end of period	2,534	12,886
Cash and restricted cash at end of period	\$ 4,103	\$ 18,417

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

F-8

Note 1 - Organization and Liquidity

Organization

CaliberCos Inc., a Delaware corporation, and its wholly-owned subsidiaries (the "Company"), is an alternative asset manager of private syndication and direct investment real estate funds and provider of a full suite of traditional real estate services. The Company was formed in November 2014, and originally began as Caliber Companies, LLC, an Arizona limited liability company, which commenced operations in January 2009. The Company provides various support services, under its asset management platform segment ("Platform") to the investments it manages, including asset management services, fund set-up services, lending support, construction and development management, and real estate brokerage. As of September 30, 2024, we had operations in Alaska, Arizona, Colorado, Kansas, Texas, and Virginia.

In general, our private equity real estate funds are organized as operating partnerships, in which multiple unrelated passive investors own partnership interests. In addition, we are designated as the manager and/or general partner of the partnership. Depending on the legal structure and arrangements between us and the funds, we may or may not consolidate the partnerships for financial reporting purposes. For funds in which we are determined to be the controlling party or primary beneficiary for financial reporting purposes, the fund is consolidated, and the passive investors' ownership is presented as noncontrolling interest in the accompanying consolidated financial statements ("Consolidated Funds", and collectively with the Company, the "Consolidated Company", "Caliber", "we", "our", and "us"). For funds in which we are not determined to be the controlling party for financial reporting purposes, the fund is not consolidated, and any fees earned from the fund are included in fund management revenue in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. See Note 2 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies for more detail.

Liquidity and Going Concern

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles applicable to a going concern, which contemplates the realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business.

At September 30, 2024, the Company had a portfolio of corporate notes, whose composition and characteristics are similar to those reported in prior periods. At September 30, 2024, the portfolio consists of 211 unsecured notes with an aggregate principal balance of \$33.0 million, of which \$32.4 million mature within the 12-month period subsequent to December 5, 2024. Each note generally has a 12-month term with an option to extend for an additional 12-months.

Because the Company incurred operating losses and negative cash flow from operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2024, and could experience additional future operating losses and negative cash flow in the near term, combined with the fact that the Company does not have sufficient cash on hand to satisfy the total of the notes that mature within the next 12 months, these conditions and events raise substantial doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. In response to these conditions, management considered the impact of these near-term maturities on the Company.

Since the note program began, these notes have demonstrated a high rate of extension of their terms. Subsequent to the issuance of its 2023 Form 10-K, the Company has continued its discussions with various lenders in pursuit of extending or refinancing its unsecured loans. Through September 30, 2024, the rate of extension of the current notes is consistent with or greater than reported in prior periods. Management plans to continue seeking and granting extensions on an ongoing basis consistent with prior periods.

Additionally, management evaluated the impact a default of one or many of these notes might have on the Company. As these notes are unsecured, the terms in the agreements do not afford the note holder avenues of recourse in a default that could or would impact the Company adversely in the normal course of business, as the terms lack provisions for rights or claims against the Company's assets, nor is there a scenario where a default could force liquidation of the Company. Management believes that even in the event of default of one or many of these notes, the Company would be able to negotiate a waiver of the default either through an extension of the maturity or principal repayment schedule.

F-9

In addition, management has implemented various plans to address operating losses and near-term maturities or demands for repayment of its notes. Consistent with reported actions taken in prior fiscal periods, management plans to continue to i) negotiate extensions of such loans or refinance such debt, ii) obtain new financing, iii) reduce operating costs, iv) collect all or part of its \$13.3 million in receivables, v) collect all or part of its \$19.7 million in investments from its managed funds, vi) increase capital raise through continued expansion of fundraising channels, vii) sell or accept investment into its corporate headquarters, viii) place debt on unencumbered assets, and/or ix) generate planned cash from operations.

In the execution of our aforementioned plans, during the nine months ended September 30, 2024, we collected \$8.2 million of notes receivable and \$2.7 million of accounts receivable. The Company also executed a reduction in force of approximately 10% of its employees in May 2024, with an expected annual compensation and benefits expense savings of \$4.0 million. The Company has also executed on cost reduction plans with estimated annual savings of \$2.5 million.

After consideration of the implemented and planned actions, in particular continuing to renew maturing unsecured corporate notes, there are no assurances that management's actions will alleviate substantial doubt about the company's ability to continue as a going concern beyond one year from the date that the consolidated financial statements are issued.

Note 2 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Accounting Policies of the Company

Basis of Presentation and Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America ("U.S. GAAP"). The accompanying consolidated financial statements include our accounts, our consolidated subsidiaries, and legal entities in which

the Company is deemed to have a direct or indirect controlling financial interest based on either a variable interest model or voting interest model. The equity and net income or loss attributable to noncontrolling interests in subsidiaries is shown separately in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, statements of operations, and statements of changes in stockholders' equity. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Variable Interest Entities

We determine if an entity is a variable interest entity ("VIE") based on several factors, including whether the equity holders, as a group, lack the characteristics of a controlling financial interest. We analyze any investments in VIEs to determine if we are the primary beneficiary. A reporting entity is determined to be the primary beneficiary if it holds a controlling financial interest in a VIE.

Determining which reporting entity, if any, has a controlling financial interest in a VIE is primarily a qualitative analysis focused on identifying which reporting entity has both (i) the power to direct the activities of the entity that most significantly impact the entity's economic performance and (ii) the obligation to absorb losses or the right to receive benefits from such entity that could potentially be significant to such entity. Performance of that analysis requires the exercise of judgment. We consolidate any VIEs for which we are the primary beneficiary, and we disclose our maximum exposure to loss related to the consolidated VIEs. See Note 3 – VIEs for more detail.

Voting Interest Entities

Entities that do not qualify as VIEs are generally assessed for consolidation as voting interest entities ("VOEs"). For VOEs, we consolidate an entity if we have a controlling financial interest. We have a controlling financial interest in a VOE if (i) for legal entities other than partnerships, we own a majority voting interest in the entity or, for limited partnerships and similar entities, we own a majority of the entity's kick-out rights through voting limited partnership interests and (ii) non-controlling shareholders or partners do not hold substantive participating rights, and no other conditions exist that would indicate that we do not control the entity.

F-10

Interim Unaudited Financial Data

Our consolidated financial statements reflect all adjustments, which are, in our opinion, of a normal recurring nature and necessary for a fair presentation of our financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the interim periods. Interim results of operations are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the full year. These consolidated financial statements, including notes, are unaudited, exclude some of the disclosures required for annual consolidated financial statements, and should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Reclassification

The asset management fees and transaction and advisory fees, previously presented in their own line items for prior periods presented, have been combined into one line item, asset management revenues in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations, to be consistent with the current year presentation. The reclassification does not affect prior period's total revenues or net income (loss).

Use of Accounting Estimates

The preparation of our consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. These estimates are made and evaluated on an ongoing basis using information that is currently available as well as various other assumptions believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could differ significantly from those estimates.

Cash

Cash includes cash in bank accounts. The Company deposits cash with several high-quality financial institutions. These deposits are guaranteed by the Federal Deposit Insurance Company ("FDIC") up to an insurance limit of \$250,000. At times, the Company's cash balances may exceed FDIC limits. Although the Company bears risk on amounts in excess of those insured by the FDIC, it has not experienced and does not anticipate any losses due to the high quality of the institutions where the deposits are held.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash consists of cash held in escrow accounts by contractual agreement with lenders as part of financial loan covenant requirements.

F-11

Investments in Unconsolidated Entities

If an entity is not a VIE, our determination of the appropriate accounting method with respect to our investments in limited liability companies and other investments is based on voting control. For our managing member interests in limited liability companies, we are presumed to control (and therefore consolidate) the entity, unless the other limited partners have substantive rights that overcome this presumption of control. These substantive rights allow the limited partners to remove the general partner with or without cause or to participate in significant decisions made in the ordinary course of the entity's business. We account for our non-controlling investments in these entities under the equity method. Our investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries in which we have the ability to exercise significant influence over operating and financial policies, but do not control, or entities which are VIE in which we are not the primary beneficiary are accounted for under the equity method. The equity method of accounting requires the investment to be initially recorded at cost and subsequently adjusted for the Company's share of equity in the equity method investment's earnings and distributions. Our share of the earnings or loss from equity method investments is included in other income (expenses), net on the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Our determination of the appropriate accounting treatment for an investment in a subsidiary requires judgment of several factors including the size and nature of our ownership interest and the other owners' substantive rights to make decisions for the entity. If we were to make different judgments or conclusions as to the level of our control or influence, it could result in a different accounting treatment. Consolidating an investment generally would have no impact on our net income or stockholders' deficit attributable to CaliberCos Inc. in any accounting period, but a different treatment would impact individual income statement and balance sheet line items, as consolidation would effectively "gross up" our statement of operations and balance sheet.

As of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the carrying amount of our investments in unconsolidated entities was \$12.7 million and \$3.3 million, respectively. During the nine months ended September 30, 2024, the Company deconsolidated the Caliber Hospitality Trust, Inc. (the "Caliber Hospitality Trust") and Caliber Hospitality, LP, which included activity from six hospitality funds, Elliot & 51st St LLC ("Elliot") and DT Mesa Holdco II, LLC ("DT Mesa"). At which time, the Company's investment in the Caliber Hospitality Trust, Caliber Hospitality, LP, Elliot, and DT Mesa, were no longer eliminated and are included in investments in unconsolidated entities in the

accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2024. See Note 3 – VIEs.

In certain situations, the Company has invested only a nominal amount of cash, or no cash at all, into a venture. As the manager of the venture, we are entitled to 15.0% – 35.0% of the residual cash flow produced by the venture after the payment of any priority returns. Under the equity method, impairment losses are recognized upon evidence of other-than-temporary losses of value. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, the Company had no impairment losses related to its investments in unconsolidated entities.

Depreciation and Amortization Expense

Depreciation expense includes costs and costs associated with building and building improvements, which are depreciated over the estimated useful life of the respective asset, generally 15 to 40 years. Depreciation expense also includes costs associated with the purchase of furniture and equipment and office leasehold improvements which are recorded at cost. Furniture and equipment costs are depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the asset, generally three to seven years beginning in the first full month the asset is placed in service. Intangible lease assets are amortized using the straight-line method over the shorter of the respective estimated useful life or the lease term.

For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, depreciation expense for the Company was \$0.1 million and \$0.4 million, respectively. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023, depreciation expense for the Company was \$0.1 million and \$0.4 million, respectively.

F-12

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Real estate and other long-lived assets to be held and used are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization, unless the carrying amount of the asset is determined not to be recoverable. If events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of a long-lived asset may not be recoverable, we make an assessment of its recoverability by comparing the carrying amount to our estimate of the undiscounted net future cash flows resulting from the use of the asset, excluding interest charges. If the carrying amount exceeds the aggregate undiscounted future cash flows, we recognize an impairment loss to the extent the carrying amount exceeds the estimated fair value of the asset.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, the Company had no impairment losses related to its real estate and other long-lived assets.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Substantially all of the Company's revenues are generated from activities completed through its Platform, including the management, ownership and/or operations of real estate assets located in Alaska, Arizona, Colorado, Kansas, Texas, and Virginia. The Company mitigates the associated risk by:

- · diversifying our investments in real estate assets across multiple asset types, including hospitality, commercial, single-family, multi-family, and self-storage properties;
- · diversifying our investments in real estate assets across multiple geographic locations including different markets and sub-markets in which our real estate assets are located:
- · diversifying our investments in real estate assets across assets at differing points of stabilization, and in varying states of cash flow optimization; and
- · maintaining financing relationships with a diversified mix of lenders (differing size and type), including large national banks, local community banks, private equity lenders, and insurance companies.

Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Real Estate Partnerships

We report the unaffiliated partners' interests in the net assets of our consolidated real estate partnerships as noncontrolling interests within the accompanying consolidated statements of changes in stockholders' equity. Noncontrolling interests consist of equity interests held by limited partners in consolidated real estate partnerships. We attribute to noncontrolling interests their share of income or loss of the consolidated partnerships based on their proportionate interest in the results of operations of the partnerships, including their share of losses even if such attribution results in a deficit noncontrolling interest balance within our equity and partners' capital accounts.

The terms of the partnership agreements generally require the partnerships to be liquidated following the sale of the underlying real estate assets. As the general partner in these partnerships, we ordinarily control the execution of real estate sales and other events that could lead to the liquidation, redemption or other settlement of noncontrolling interests. The terms of certain partnership agreements outline differing classes of equity ownership, some of which are redeemable by the partnership at the partnership manager's discretion.

Revenue Recognition

In accordance with the Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers ("ASC 606"), management applies the five-step framework in determining the timing and amount of revenue to recognize. This framework requires an entity to: (i) identify the contract(s) with customers, (ii) identify the performance obligations within the contract, (iii) determine the transaction price, (iv) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations within the contract, and (v) recognize revenue when or as the entity satisfies a performance obligation.

F-13

Revenues from contracts with customers includes fixed fee arrangements with related party affiliates to provide certain associated activities which are ancillary to and generally add value to the assets we manage, such as set-up and fund formation services associated with marketing, soliciting, and selling member interests in the affiliated limited partnerships, brokerage services, construction and development management services, loan placement and guarantees. The recognition and measurement of revenue is based on the assessment of individual contract terms. For performance obligations satisfied at a point in time, there are no significant judgments made in evaluating when the customer obtains control of the promised service.

For performance obligations satisfied over time, significant judgment is required to determine how to allocate transaction prices where multiple performance obligations are identified; when to recognize revenue based on appropriate measurement of the Company's progress under the contract; and whether constraints on variable consideration should be applied due to uncertain future events. Transaction price is allocated to each distinct performance obligation and recognized as revenue when, or as, the performance obligation is satisfied. Variable consideration is included in the estimated transaction price to the extent it is probable that a significant reversal of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur or when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is resolved. The Company's estimates of variable consideration and determination

of whether to include estimated amounts in transaction price are based largely on an assessment of its anticipated performance and all information that is reasonably available to the Company. Revenues are recognized when control of the promised services is transferred to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for those services.

The following describes the Company's revenue recognition policy related to the fees the Company earns from providing services under its Platform:

Fund set-up fees are a one-time fee for the initial formation, administration, and set-up of the private equity real estate fund. These fees are recognized at the point in time when the performance under the contract is complete and are included in asset management revenues in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. Fund set-up fees replaced fund formation fees that are earned at a point in time at a fixed rate based on the amount of capital raised into certain managed funds.

Fund management fees are generally based on 1.0% to 1.5% of the unreturned capital contributions in a particular fund and include reimbursement for costs incurred on behalf of the fund, including an allocation of certain overhead costs. These customer contracts require the Company to provide management services, representing a performance obligation that the Company satisfies over time. With respect to the Caliber Hospitality Trust, the Company earns a fund management fee of 0.7% of the Caliber Hospitality Trust's enterprise value and is reimbursed for certain costs incurred on behalf of the Caliber Hospitality Trust. These revenues are included in asset management revenues in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Financing fees are earned for services the Company performs in securing third-party financing on behalf of our private equity real estate funds. These fees are recognized at the point in time when the performance under the contract is complete, which is essentially upon closing of a loan. In addition, the Company earns fees for guaranteeing certain loans, representing a performance obligation that the Company satisfies over time. These revenues are included in asset management revenues in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Development and construction revenues from contracts with customers include fixed fee arrangements with related party affiliates to provide real estate development services as their principal developer, which include managing and supervising third-party developers and general contractors with respect to the development of the properties owned by the funds. Revenues are generally based on 4.0% of the total expected costs of the development or 4.0% of the total expected costs of the construction project. Prior to the commencement of construction, development fee revenue is recognized at a point in time when the related performance obligations are satisfied and the customer obtains control of the promised service, including negotiation, due diligence, entitlements, planning, and design activities. During the construction period, development fee revenue is recognized ratably over time as the performance obligation(s) is satisfied. These revenues are included in asset management revenues in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

F-14

Brokerage fees are earned at a point in time at fixed rates for services performed related to acquisitions, dispositions, leasing, and financing transaction, and are included in asset management revenues in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Performance allocations are an arrangement in which we are entitled to an allocation of investment returns, generated within the investment funds which we manage, based on a contractual formula. We typically receive 15.0% to 35.0% of all cash distributions from (i) the operating cash flow of each fund, after payment to the related fund investors of any accumulated and unpaid priority preferred returns and repayment of preferred capital contributions; and (ii) the cash flow resulting from the sale or refinance of any real estate assets held by each fund, after payment to the related fund investors of any accumulated and unpaid priority preferred returns and repayment of initial preferred capital contributions. Our funds' preferred returns range from 6.0% to 12.0%, typically 6.0% for common equity or 10.0% to 12.0% for preferred equity, which does not participate in profits. Performance allocations are related to services which have been provided and are recognized when it is determined that they are no longer probable of significant reversal, which is generally satisfied when an underlying fund investment is realized or sold. These revenues are included in performance allocations in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Leases

Lessor

At the inception of a new lease arrangement, including new leases that arise from amendments, the Company assesses the terms and conditions to determine the proper lease classification. When the terms of a lease effectively transfer control of the underlying asset, the lease is classified as a sales-type lease. When a lease does not effectively transfer control of the underlying asset to the lessee, but the Company obtains a guarantee for the value of the asset from a third party, the Company classifies the lease as a direct financing lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases. The Company did not have any sales-type or direct financing leases as of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023. For operating leases with minimum scheduled rent increases, the consolidated funds recognize rental revenue on a straight-line basis, including the effect of any free rent periods, over the lease term when collectability of lease payments is probable. Variable lease payments are recognized as rental revenue in the period when the changes in facts and circumstances on which the variable lease payments are based occur.

The Company identified two separate lease components as follows: i) land lease component, and ii) single property lease component comprised of building, land improvements and tenant improvements. The Company's leases also contain provisions for tenants to reimburse the consolidated funds for maintenance and other property operating expenses, which are considered to be non-lease components. The Company elected the practical expedient to combine lease and non-lease components and the non-lease components will be included with the single property lease component as the predominant component.

Lessee

To account for leases for which the Company is the lessee, contracts must be analyzed upon inception to determine if the arrangement is, or contains, a lease. A lease conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Lease classification tests and measurement procedures are performed at the lease commencement date.

F-15

The lease liability is initially measured as the present value of the lease payments over the lease term, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if that rate is readily determinable; otherwise, the lessee's incremental borrowing rate is used. The incremental borrowing rate is determined based on the estimated rate of interest that the lessee would pay to borrow on a collateralized basis over a similar term at an amount equal to the lease payments in a similar economic environment. The lease term is the noncancelable period of the lease and includes any renewal and termination options the Company is reasonably certain to exercise. The lease liability balance is amortized using the effective interest method. The lease liability is remeasured when the contract is modified, upon the resolution of a contingency such that variable payments become fixed or if the assessment of exercising an extension, termination or purchase option changes.

The right-of-use ("ROU") asset balance is initially measured as the lease liability amount, adjusted for any lease payments made prior to the commencement date, initial direct costs, estimated costs to dismantle, remove, or restore the underlying asset and incentives received.

The Company's impairment assessment for ROU assets is consistent with the impairment analysis for the Company's other long-lived assets and is reviewed quarterly.

Segments

Historically, the Company's operations were organized into three reportable segments, fund management, development, and brokerage. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company reevaluated its reportable segments, considering (i) the evolution of the Company after closing its initial public offering and how the Company's chief operating decision maker ("CODM"), the Company's Chief Executive Officer, assesses performance and allocates resources, (ii) changes to the budgeting process and in key personnel driven by the Company's growth initiatives, and (iii) how management reports ongoing company performance to the Board of Directors. With the evolution and growth of the Company, the Company's CODM assesses performance and resource allocation on an aggregate basis under the Company's asset management platform, and no longer reviews operating results for development or brokerage activity separately. As such, management concluded that the Company operates through one operating segment, the Platform segment.

The Company's CODM assesses revenue, operating expenses and key operating statistics to evaluate performance and allocate resources on a basis that eliminates the impact of the consolidated investment funds (intercompany eliminations required by U.S. GAAP) and noncontrolling interests. Management concluded that the consolidated investment funds do not meet the requirements in ASC 280, Segment Reporting, of operating segments, as the Company's CODM does not review the operating results of these investment funds for the purposes of allocating resources, assessing performance or determining whether additional investments or advances will be made to these funds. The investment funds are consolidated based on the requirement in ASC 810, Consolidation, as the Company was determined to be the primary beneficiary of each of these variable interest entities since it has the power to direct the activities of the entities and the right to absorb losses, generally in the form of guarantees of indebtedness that are significant to the individual investment funds.

F-16

Accounting Policies of Consolidated Funds

Accounting for Real Estate Investments

Upon the acquisition of real estate properties, a determination is made as to whether the acquisition meets the criteria to be accounted for as an asset acquisition or a business combination. The determination is primarily based on whether the assets acquired, and liabilities assumed meet the definition of a business. The determination of whether the assets acquired, and liabilities assumed meet the definition of a business includes a single or similar asset threshold. In applying the single or similar asset threshold, if substantially all the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets, the assets acquired, and liabilities assumed are not considered a business. Most of our consolidated fund acquisitions meet the single or similar asset threshold, due to the fact that substantially all the fair value of the gross assets acquired is attributable to the real estate assets acquired.

Acquired real estate properties accounted for as asset acquisitions are recorded at cost, including acquisition and closing costs. Our consolidated funds allocate the cost of real estate properties to the tangible and intangible assets and liabilities acquired based on their estimated relative fair values. Our consolidated funds determine the fair value of tangible assets, such as land, building, furniture, fixtures and equipment, using a combination of internal valuation techniques that consider comparable market transactions, replacement costs and other available information and fair value estimates provided by third-party valuation specialists, depending upon the circumstances of the acquisition. Our consolidated funds determine the fair value of identified intangible assets or liabilities, which typically relate to in-place leases, using a combination of internal valuation techniques that consider the terms of the in-place leases, current market data for comparable leases, and fair value estimates provided by third-party valuation specialists, depending upon the circumstances of the acquisition.

If a transaction is determined to be a business combination, the assets acquired, liabilities assumed, and any identified intangibles are recorded at their estimated fair values on the transaction date, and transaction costs are expensed in the period incurred.

Cost Capitalization and Depreciation

Our consolidated funds capitalize costs, including certain indirect costs, incurred in connection with their development and construction activities. Included in these capitalized costs are payroll costs associated with time spent by site employees in connection with capital addition activities at the asset level. Interest, property taxes and insurance are also capitalized during periods in which redevelopment, development and construction projects are in progress. Capitalization of costs, including certain indirect costs, incurred in connection with our capital addition activities, commence at the point in time when activities necessary to get the assets ready for their intended use are in progress. This includes when assets are undergoing physical construction, as well as when apartment homes are held vacant in advance of planned construction, provided that other activities such as permitting, planning and design are in progress. Our consolidated funds cease the capitalization of costs when the assets are substantially complete and ready for their intended use, which is typically when construction has been completed and apartment homes or other properties are available for occupancy. Cost of ordinary repairs, maintenance and resident turnover are charged to operating expense, as incurred.

Depreciation for all tangible real estate assets is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. The estimated useful lives of our building and building improvements are generally 15 to 40 years. The estimated useful lives of our furniture, fixtures and equipment are generally three to seven years beginning in the first full month the asset is placed in service.

For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, depreciation expense was \$1.2 million and \$4.5 million, respectively. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023, depreciation expense was \$2.8 million and \$7.9 million, respectively.

F-17

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Real estate and other long-lived assets to be held and used are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization, unless the carrying amount of the asset is determined to not be recoverable. If events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of a long-lived asset may not be recoverable, we make an assessment of its recoverability by comparing the carrying amount to our estimate of the undiscounted net future cash flows resulting from the use of the asset, excluding interest charges. If the carrying amount exceeds the aggregate undiscounted future cash flows, our consolidated funds recognize an impairment loss to the extent the carrying amount exceeds the estimated fair value of the asset.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, our consolidated funds did not record an impairment loss related to its real estate and other long-lived assets.

Cash includes cash in bank accounts. The consolidated funds deposit cash with several high-quality financial institutions. These deposits are guaranteed by the FDIC up to an insurance limit of \$250,000. At times, cash balances may exceed FDIC limits. Although the consolidated funds bear risk on amounts in excess of those insured by the FDIC, they have not experienced and do not anticipate any losses due to the high quality of the institutions where the deposits are held.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash consists of tenant security deposits and cash reserves required by certain loan agreements for capital improvements and repairs. As improvements and repairs are completed, related costs incurred by the consolidated funds are funded from the reserve accounts. Restricted cash also includes cash held in escrow accounts by mortgage companies on behalf of the consolidated funds for payment of property taxes, insurance, and interest.

Consolidated Fund Revenues

In accordance with ASC 606, our consolidated funds apply the five-step framework in determining the timing and amount of revenue to recognize. This framework requires an entity to: (i) identify the contract(s) with customers, (ii) identify the performance obligations within the contract, (iii) determine the transaction price, (iv) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations within the contract, and (v) recognize revenue when or as the entity satisfies a performance obligation. Our consolidated funds' revenues primarily consist of hospitality revenues, rental income and interest income.

Consolidated funds - hospitality revenue

Hospitality revenues are comprised of charges for room rentals, food and beverage sales, and other hotel operating activities. Revenues are recognized as earned, which is defined as the date upon which a guest occupies a room or utilizes the hotel's services. Revenues are recorded net of sales tax.

Our consolidated funds have performance obligations to provide accommodations and other ancillary services to hotel guests. As compensation for such goods and services, the consolidated funds are typically entitled to a fixed nightly fee for an agreed upon period and additional fixed fees for any ancillary services purchased. These fees are generally payable at the time the hotel guest checks out of the hotel. The consolidated funds generally satisfy the performance obligations over time and recognize the revenue from room sales and from other ancillary guest services on a daily basis, as the rooms are occupied, and the services have been rendered.

F-18

For food and beverage, revenue is recognized upon transfer of promised products or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration the consolidated funds received in exchange for those services, which is generally when payment is tendered at the time of sale.

The consolidated funds receive deposits for events and rooms. Such deposits are deferred and included in other liabilities on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The deposits are credited to consolidated funds – hospitality revenue when the specific event takes place.

Consolidated funds - other revenue

Consolidated funds – other revenue includes rental revenue of \$0.4 million and \$1.3 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, respectively, and \$1.2 million and \$3.5 million, for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023, respectively. Rental revenue includes the revenues generated primarily by the rental operations of the residential (multi-family and single-family) and commercial properties of our consolidated funds.

Upon adoption of ASC 842, Leases ("ASC 842"), effective January 1, 2022, at the inception of a new lease arrangement, including new leases that arise from amendments, the Company assesses the terms and conditions to determine the proper lease classification. When the terms of a lease effectively transfer control of the underlying asset, the lease is classified as a sales-type lease. When a lease does not effectively transfer control of the underlying asset to the lessee, but the Company obtains a guarantee for the value of the asset from a third party, the Company classifies the lease as a direct financing lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases. The consolidated funds did not have any sales-type or direct financing leases as of September 30, 2024. For operating leases with minimum scheduled rent increases, the consolidated funds recognize rental revenue on a straight-line basis, including the effect of any free rent periods, over the lease term when collectability of lease payments is probable. Variable lease payments are recognized as rental revenue in the period when the changes in facts and circumstances on which the variable lease payments are based occur.

The Company identified two separate lease components as follows: i) land lease component, and ii) single property lease component comprised of building, land improvements and tenant improvements. The Company's leases also contain provisions for tenants to reimburse the consolidated funds for maintenance and other property operating expenses, which are considered to be non-lease components. The Company elected the practical expedient to combine lease and non-lease components and the non-lease components will be included with the single property lease component as the predominant component.

In addition, consolidated funds - other revenue includes interest income of \$1.7 million and \$4.3 million for thethree and nine months ended September 30, 2024, respectively, and \$0.9 million and \$2.7 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023, respectively, which is generated by a consolidated fund's lending activity. Interest income is recognized on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with the lending agreements over the term of the respective loan agreement.

Consolidated Fund Expenses

Consolidated fund expenses consist primarily of costs, expenses and fees that are incurred by, or arise out of the operation and activities of or otherwise related to, our consolidated funds, including, without limitation, operating costs, depreciation and amortization, interest expense on debt held by our consolidated funds, gain on extinguishment of debt, gain on derivative instruments, insurance expenses, professional fees and other costs associated with administering and supporting those funds.

F-19

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable primarily consists of amounts due from guests or groups for hotel rooms and services provided by the hotel properties. Accounts receivable also include due, but unpaid, rental payments. Our consolidated funds continually review receivables and determine collectability by taking into consideration the history of past write-offs, collections, current credit conditions, tenant payment history, the financial condition of the tenants, business conditions in the industry in which the tenant operates and economic conditions in the area in which the property is located. If the collectability of a receivable is uncertain, our consolidated funds will record an increase in the allowance for doubtful accounts. Amounts that are determined to be uncollectible with a high degree of certainty are written-off through bad debt expense, which is included in consolidated funds – hospitality expenses and consolidated funds – other expenses on the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. Our consolidated funds had no allowance for doubtful accounts as of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023.

The consolidated funds record all derivative instruments on the consolidated balance sheets at fair value. The accounting for changes in the fair value of the derivative and the effect on the financial statements depends on its hedge designation and whether the hedge is highly effective in achieving offsetting changes in the fair value of cash flows of the asset or liability hedged. If the consolidated fund elects not to apply hedge accounting treatment, any changes in the fair value of the derivative instruments is recognized immediately in consolidated funds - hospitality expenses in the consolidated statements of operations. If the derivative is designated and qualifies for hedge accounting treatment, the change in fair value of the derivative is recorded in other comprehensive income (loss).

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair value of financial instruments is disclosed in accordance with ASC 825, Financial Instruments. The fair value of our financial instruments is estimated using available market information and established valuation methodologies. The estimates of fair value are not necessarily indicative of the amounts the consolidated funds could realize on disposition of the financial instruments. The use of different market assumptions and/or valuation methodologies may have a material effect on the estimated fair value amounts.

Fair Value Measurements

Fair value measurements and disclosures consist of a three-level valuation hierarchy. The valuation hierarchy categorizes assets and liabilities measured at fair value into one of three different levels depending on the ability to observe the inputs employed in the measurement using market participant assumptions at the measurement date. An asset's or liability's categorization within the valuation hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The three levels are defined as follows:

- · Level 1 Inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that can be accessed at the measurement date.
- · Level 2 Inputs include quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly. If the asset or liability has a specified (contractual) term, a Level 2 input must be observable for substantially the full term of the asset or liability.
- Level 3 Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. These unobservable inputs reflect assumptions about what market participants would use to price the asset or liability and are developed based on the best information available in the circumstances (which might include the reporting company's own data)

F-20

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

The Company adopted ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments – Credit Losses and subsequent amendments (collectively, "Topic 326"), effective January 1, 2023. Topic 326 was intended to improve financial reporting by requiring more timely recognition of credit losses on loans and other financial instruments that are not accounted for at fair value through net income and required that financial assets measured at amortized cost be presented at the net amount expected to be collected, through an allowance for credit losses that was deducted from the amortized cost basis. The amendments in Topic 326 required the Company to measure all expected credit losses based upon historical experience, current conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect the collectability of the financial assets and eliminated the "incurred loss" methodology under current U.S. GAAP. Loans and receivables between entities under common control are not within the scope of this guidance. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.

The Company adopted the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued ASU 2020-06, *Debt – Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and Derivatives and Hedging – Contracts in Entity's Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40)*, effective January 1, 2024, which simplifies the accounting for convertible instruments by reducing the number of accounting models for convertible debt instruments and convertible preferred stock, removes certain settlement conditions that are required for equity contracts to qualify for the derivative scope exception and also simplifies the diluted earnings per share calculation in certain areas. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.

In November 2023, FASB issued ASU 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures, which serves to improve reportable segment disclosure requirements, primarily through enhanced disclosures about significant segment expenses on both an annual and interim basis. The guidance does not change the definition of a segment, the method for determining segments, or the criteria for aggregating operating segments into reportable segments and is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024, with early adoption permitted. We are currently evaluating the impact of the adoption of ASU 2023-07 on our consolidated financial statements; however, adoption will not impact our consolidated balance sheets and statements of operations.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, *Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures (Topic 740, Income Taxes)*. ASU 2023-09, which serves to enhance income tax disclosures by requiring a tabular rate reconciliation and additional information on income taxes paid. The guidance is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024, with early adoption permitted. We are currently evaluating the impact of the adoption of ASU 2023-09 on our consolidated financial statements.

Note 3 - VIEs

During the nine months ended September 30, 2023, the Company (i) deconsolidated five hospitality funds that were contributed to Caliber Hospitality, LP, whose sole general partner is the Caliber Hospitality Trust and (ii) consolidated Caliber Hospitality, LP and the Caliber Hospitality Trust, which included activity from the five previously consolidated hospitality funds and one previously unconsolidated fund because the Company was determined to be the primary beneficiary as it had the power to direct the activities and the obligation to absorb their losses through its guarantee of the indebtedness secured by the hospitality assets, which was significant to the Caliber Hospitality Trust and Caliber Hospitality, LP.

F-21

In addition, the Company consolidated West Frontier Holdco, LLC ("West Frontier") during the nine months ended September 30, 2023, as the Company was determined to be the primary beneficiary as the Company has the power to direct the activities of West Frontier and the obligation to absorb their losses through its guarantee of their indebtedness, which is significant to the fund. No additional VIEs were consolidated during the nine months ended September 30, 2024. The consolidation of the Caliber Hospitality Trust, Caliber Hospitality, LP, and West Frontier consisted of the following, excluding intercompany eliminations at the time of consolidation (in thousands):

Real estate investments, net \$ 87,897 Cash \$ 3,667

Accounts receivable, net		4,348
Notes receivable - related parties		10,411
Due from related parties		40
Investments in unconsolidated entities		84,076
Operating lease - right of use assets		8,775
Prepaid and other assets		5,953
Total assets	\$	214,427
	_	
Liabilities		
Notes payable, net	\$	80,278
Notes payable - related parties		34,786
Accounts payable and accrued expenses		7,858
Due to related parties		10,302
Operating lease liabilities		12,441
Other liabilities		2,158
Total liabilities		147,823
Stockholders' equity		66,604
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity	\$	214,427

On March 7, 2024, L.T.D. Hospitality Group LLC ("L.T.D.") contributed the first of nine committed hotels from L.T.D.'s portfolio to Caliber Hospitality, LP in exchange for \$4.9 million in cash, net of closing costs, \$9.6 million in operating partnership units, and a new \$14.1 million loan facility. Upon this reconsideration event, the Company reconsidered its consolidation conclusion, given the change in economics, and concluded that it was no longer the primary beneficiary, as its potential obligation to absorb the losses, through its guarantee of the indebtedness secured by the hospitality assets, were no longer significant to Caliber Hospitality, LP or the Caliber Hospitality Trust. As such, during the nine months ended September 30, 2024, the Company deconsolidated Caliber Hospitality, LP, the Caliber Hospitality Trust, and their consolidated subsidiaries. In addition, the Company deconsolidated Elliot, a VIE that is developing a multi-family property, and DT Mesa, a VIE that is redeveloping commercial properties, as the Company was no longer determined to be the primary beneficiary upon refinancing the loan agreements. The Company aggregates and reports the results of operations of these VIEs in consolidated fund revenues and consolidated fund expenses within the accompanying consolidated statements of operations through the date of deconsolidation.

Management has determined that the equity holders in our consolidated entities, as a group, lack the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the entity's economic performance and/or have disproportionate voting rights relative to their equity. The Company was determined to be the primary beneficiary of each of these entities since it has the power to direct the activities of the entities and the right to absorb losses, generally in the form of guarantees of indebtedness that are significant to the individual entities.

F-22

Generally, the assets of the individual consolidated VIEs can be used only to settle liabilities of each respective individual consolidated VIE and the liabilities of each respective individual consolidated VIE are liabilities for which creditors or beneficial interest holders do not have recourse to the general credit of the Company. When the VIE is consolidated, we eliminate any Platform revenues that are generated from that VIE or investments made by the Platform into the VIE and we reflect the assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and cash flows of the consolidated funds on a gross basis, and the interests in the VIEs are included in non-controlling interest in the consolidated financial statements. The Company has provided financial support to certain of its consolidated VIEs in the form of short-term financing and guarantees of the debts of certain VIEs. In general, our maximum exposure to loss due to involvement with the consolidated VIEs is limited to the amount of capital investment in the VIE, if any, or the potential obligation to perform on the guarantee of debts.

See Note 11 - Commitments and Contingencies for additional information related to the commitments and contingencies of these VIEs.

Note 4 – Real Estate Investments

Real Estate Investments of the Company

Asset Acquisitions

There were no asset acquisitions by the Company during the nine months ended September 30, 2024. During the nine months ended September 30, 2023, the Company acquired its headquarters office building for an aggregate purchase price of \$19.5 million with the acquisition being accounted for as an asset acquisition under U.S. GAAP.

The allocation of the purchase price among the assets acquired at their relative fair value as of the acquisition date, consisted of the following for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 (in thousands):

	onths Ended ber 30, 2023
Real estate investments, at cost	
Land and land improvements	\$ 9,131
Building and building improvements	9,332
Furniture, fixtures and equipment	959
Intangible lease assets	398
T. 211 P.199	(348)
Intangible lease liabilities	
Total purchase price of assets acquired	\$ 19,472

Real Estate Investments of the Consolidated Funds

Asset Acquisitions by Consolidated Funds

There were no asset acquisitions by the consolidated funds during the nine months ended September 30, 2024. During the nine months ended September 30, 2023, the consolidated funds acquired one multi-family residential property for an aggregate purchase price of \$6.6 million with the acquisition being accounted for as an asset acquisition under U.S. GAAP

The allocation of the purchase price among the assets acquired at their relative fair value as of the acquisition date, consisted of the following for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 (in thousands):

	 e Months Ended tember 30, 2023
Real estate investments, at cost	
Land and land improvements	\$ 599
Building and building improvements	6,044
Total purchase price of assets acquired	\$ 6,643

Note 5 - Prepaid and Other Assets

Prepaid and Other Assets of the Company

Prepaid and other assets consisted of the following as of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023 (in thousands):

	September 30, 2024			mber 31, 2023
Pursuit costs (1)	\$	1,136	\$	1,081
Prepaid expenses		648		981
Accounts receivable, net		403		205
Deposits		63		63
Other assets		558		451
Total prepaid and other assets	\$	2,808	\$	2,781

⁽¹⁾ Pursuit costs represent expenses incurred related to new fund formation, primarily for professional, legal, consulting, accounting and tax services. As the funds raise equity investments and operating cash flow, as applicable, these costs are reimbursed by the respective funds to the Company. The Company assesses collectability and expenses any amounts in which collectability is not reasonably assured.

Prepaid and Other Assets of the Consolidated Funds

Prepaid and other assets of the consolidated funds consisted of the following as of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023 (in thousands):

1,216
1,210
1,735
669
1,102
278
184
142
6,351
11,677

⁽¹⁾ Pursuit costs represent expenses incurred related to new fund formation, primarily for professional, legal, consulting, accounting and tax services. As the funds raise equity investments and operating cash flow, as applicable, these costs are reimbursed by the respective funds to the Company. The Company assesses collectability and expenses any amounts in which collectability is not reasonably assured.

E 24

Note 6 - Notes Payable

Notes Payable of the Company

Notes payable consisted of the following as of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023 (in thousands):

	Sep	tember 30,		Weighted Average	
Notes Payable		2024	December 31, 2023	Interest Rate (1)	Maturity Date (1)
Corporate notes	\$	31,768	\$ 36,442	11.41%	January 2024 - April 2026
Convertible corporate notes		1,274	1,324	8.25%	April 2024 - May 2025
Real estate and other loans		16,835	16,252	7.43%	August 2024 - November 2029
Total notes payable		49,877	54,018		
Deferred financing costs, net		(204)	(219)		
Total notes payable, net	\$	49,673	\$ 53,799		

(1) As of September 30, 2024.

Real Estate Loans

The terms of the loan agreements described below include, among other things, certain financial covenants, as defined in the respective loan agreements, including key financial ratios and liquidity requirements.

⁽²⁾ Other assets as of December 31, 2023, primarily represents incremental costs, including professional, legal, consulting, accounting and tax services, directly attributable to Caliber Hospitality Trust that are deferred and will be charged against the gross proceeds of the planned public offering.

Gateway II HoldCo, LLC

On January 31, 2023, Caliber assumed a loan which is secured by the Company's headquarters office building (seeNote 4 – Real Estate Investments). The terms of the note require monthly principal and interest payments, with a balloon payment due at maturity. The loan has a fixed interest rate of 4.30% in effect through the maturity date in November 2029. The terms of the loan do not allow the prepayment of the outstanding balance in part or in whole at any time prior to the maturity date. The terms of the loan agreement include covenant clauses, which require certain key financial ratios and liquidity be met. As of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the outstanding principal balance of the loan was \$16.0 million and \$16.2 million, respectively. As of September 30, 2024, the debt service coverage ratio required by the loan agreement was not satisfied, which per the terms of the agreement required the Company to transfer funds to a cash management account.

Corporate Notes and Convertible Corporate Notes

The Company has entered into multiple general corporate financing arrangements with third parties. The arrangements are generally evidenced in the form of an unsecured promissory note and require monthly or quarterly interest-only payments until maturity. The loans generally have a 12-month term and may be extended upon the mutual agreement of the lender and the borrower. Management believes it can come to a mutual agreement with each lender to extend the maturities of the notes for an additional 12-month term.

F-25

As of September 30, 2024, there were 211 individual corporate notes outstanding, with an average outstanding principal balance of \$0.2 million, interest rates ranging from 8.25% to 12.00%, with weighted average interest rate of 11.41%, and maturity dates ranging from January 2024 to April 2026. During the nine months ended September 30, 2024, there were no conversions of debt into common stock. As of November 13, 2024, an aggregate of \$32.4 million of corporate and convertible notes mature within the 12-month period subsequent to when these financial statements were issued.

As of December 31, 2023, there were 222 individual corporate notes outstanding, with an average outstanding principal balance of \$0.2 million, interest rates ranging from 8.25% to 12.00%, with a weighted average interest rate of 11.42%, and maturity dates ranging from January 2024 to March 2025.

The Company has issued corporate notes with a conversion feature. The conversion price is \$7.57 per share of common stock. The holders of the convertible corporate notes can elect to convert all or any portion of the balance at any time. As of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the value of the conversion feature was zero.

Future Minimum Payments

The following table summarizes the scheduled principal repayments of our indebtedness as of September 30, 2024 (in thousands):

Year	Amount
October 1, 2024 - December 31, 2024	\$ 10,114
2025	24,020
2026	404
2027	317
2028	330
Thereafter	14,692
Total	\$ 49,877

Deferred Financing Costs

Amortization of deferred financing costs for the Company was immaterial and there were no deferred financing cost write-offs during each of the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023.

F-26

Notes Payable of the Consolidated Funds

Notes payable of the consolidated funds consisted of the following as of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively (in thousands):

Septem	ber 30, 2024	December 31, 2023	Interest Rate (1)	Maturity date (1)
\$	(3)	\$ 5,939	N/A	N/A
	(3)	11,000	N/A	N/A
	(3)	9,250	N/A	N/A
	(3)	55,631	N/A	N/A
	18,080	18,418	7.71%	August 2027
	(3)	11,901	N/A	N/A
	_	3,000	N/A	N/A
	1,050	1,050	11.99%	March 2025
	4,776	4,636	6.35%	February 2038
	23,906	120,825		
	4,500	4,500	8.75%	October 2024
	5,600	5,600	10.00%	June 2025
		475	N/A	N/A
	34,006	131,400		
	(254)	(1,716)		
\$	33,752	\$ 129,684		
	\$	(3)(3)(3)(3) 18,080(3) 1,050 _ 4,776 _ 23,906 _ 4,500 _ 5,600 34,006 _ (254)	\$ —(3) \$ 5,939 —(3) 11,000 —(3) 9,250 —(3) 55,631 18,080 18,418 —(3) 11,901 — 3,000 1,050 1,050 4,776 4,636 23,906 120,825 4,500 4,500 5,600 5,600 — 475 34,006 131,400 (254) (1,716)	\$ —(3) \$ 5,939 N/A —(3) 11,000 N/A —(3) 9,250 N/A —(3) 55,631 N/A 18,080 18,418 7.71% —(3) 11,901 N/A — 3,000 N/A 1,050 1,050 11,99% 4,776 4,636 6,35% 23,906 120,825 4,500 4,500 8.75% 5,600 5,600 10.00% — 475 N/A 34,006 131,400 (254) (1,716)

⁽¹⁾ As of September 30, 2024.

⁽²⁾ During the year ended December 31, 2023, the hotel ceased operations as the consolidated fund is converting the property into a multi-family residential asset.

(3) During the nine months ended September 30, 2024, the Company deconsolidated Caliber Hospitality, LP and the Caliber Hospitality Trust, which included activity from six hospitality funds, Elliot, which included activity from the Four Points by Sheraton Hotel, and DT Mesa.

Real Estate Loans

The terms of the loan agreements described below include, among other things, certain financial covenants, as defined in the respective loan agreements, including key financial ratios and liquidity requirements. Unless otherwise noted below, the consolidated funds were in compliance with the required financial covenants as of September 30, 2024.

Hampton Inn & Suites Hotel

In July 2015, the previously consolidated fund entered into a loan agreement which is secured by a deed of trust and assignment of leases and rents of a hotel property in Scottsdale, Arizona. The terms of the note require monthly principal and interest payments, with a balloon payment due at maturity. The loan has a fixed interest rate of 6.12% in effect through the maturity date in July 2025. The loan is guaranteed by an individual who is an affiliate of the Company. During the nine months ended September 30, 2024, the Company deconsolidated Hampton Inn & Suites Hotel, a consolidated subsidiary of Caliber Hospitality, LP (as discussed in Note 3 – VIEs).

F-27

Four Points by Sheraton Hotel

In June 2018, the previously consolidated fund entered into a loan agreement which is secured by a deed of trust and assignment of leases and rents of a hotel property in Phoenix, Arizona. The loan required monthly interest-only payments until maturity. The loan is guaranteed by the Company and matured in September 2023. Per the terms of this agreement, the interest rate on the loan was equal to US Prime Rate plus 2.25%, with a floor rate of 9.65%, until August 31, 2023, at which time, the interest rate increased to 18%. During the nine months ended September 30, 2024, the Company deconsolidated Elliot, which included activity from the Four Points by Sheraton Hotel (as discussed in Note 3 – VIEs).

Holiday Inn Ocotillo Hotel

In July 2018, the previously consolidated fund entered into a loan agreement which is secured by a deed of trust and assignment of leases and rents of a hotel property in Chandler, Arizona. The loan requires monthly interest-only payments. The interest rate on the loan is equal to 1-month LIBOR plus 6.00%, with a floor rate of 11.00% until maturity in May 2023. In May 2023, the loan agreement was amended and restated with the lender, extending the maturity date to November 2023 and amending the interest rate to SOFR plus 600 basis points, with a floor rate of 11.00%. In November 2023, the loan agreement was amended with the lender, extending the maturity date to February 2024. In February 2024, the loan agreement was amended with the lender, extending the maturity date to May 2024. The loan is guaranteed by the Company. In April, 2024, the Company deconsolidated Holiday Inn Ocotillo Hotel, a consolidated subsidiary of Caliber Hospitality, LP (as discussed in**Note 3 – VIEs**).

Airport Hotel Portfolio

In September 2018, the previously consolidated fund entered into a portfolio loan agreement which was secured by a deed of trust and assignment of leases and rents of the Airport Hotel Portfolio. The loan had a variable interest rate equal to one-month LIBOR plus 3.75% and the loan required interest-only payments until maturity. The loan was guaranteed by the Company and individuals who are affiliates of the Company. In January 2023, the consolidated fund paid the loan amount outstanding in full.

In January 2023, the previously consolidated fund entered into a loan agreement which is secured by a deed of trust and assignment of leases and rents of the Airport Hotel Portfolio. Per the terms of the loan agreement, the loan has a variable interest rate equal to SOFR plus 8.75% and matures in January 2025. In connection with the loan, the consolidated fund entered into an interest rate cap agreement, which sets the maximum SOFR rate for the loan at 5.00% through January 2024. The loan requires interest-only payments until maturity. The terms of the loan do not allow the prepayment of the outstanding balance in part prior to the maturity date but can be prepaid in whole subject to certain conditions, terms and fees outlined in the loan agreement. The terms of the loan agreement require an exit fee equal to 1.25% of the original principal amount of the loan and a minimum return equal to 30.0% of the original principal amount of the loan less any interest payments made at the time the loan is repaid in full. The exit fee was accrued upon entering into the loan and recorded as a deferred financing cost to be amortized over the life of the loan. The loan is guaranteed by the Company and individuals who are affiliates of the Company. During the nine months ended September 30, 2024, the Company deconsolidated the Airport Hotel Portfolio, consolidated subsidiaries of Caliber Hospitality, LP (as discussed in Note 3 – VIEs).

DoubleTree by Hilton Tucson Convention Center

In August 2019, the consolidated fund entered into a loan agreement which is secured by a deed of trust and assignment of rents of the DoubleTree by Hilton Tucson Convention Center located in Tucson, Arizona. The loan has a variable interest rate per annum equal to LIBOR plus 2.50%. In connection with the loan, the consolidated fund entered into an interest rate swap agreement, which sets the interest at a fixed rate of 4.22% from September 2022 through August 2027. The loan required interest-only payments until September 2022 and principal and interest payments thereafter until maturity. The terms of the loan allow for the prepayment of the outstanding balance in whole or in part at any time prior to the maturity date. The loan matures in August 2027 and is guaranteed by the Company. In May 2024, the consolidated fund terminated the interest rate swap agreement and received \$1.6 million.

F-28

Hilton Tucson East

In November 2021, the previously consolidated fund entered into a loan agreement which is secured by the deed of trust and assignment of rents of the Hilton Tucson East hotel located in Tucson, AZ. The loan has a fixed interest rate of 6.25% and matures in November 2025. The loan required interest-only payments until June 1, 2023 and principal and interest payments thereafter until maturity. The loan amount may be prepaid prior to maturity subject to certain conditions and terms and a prepayment fee as outlined in the agreement. During the nine months ended September 30, 2024, the Company deconsolidated the Hilton Tucson East, a consolidated subsidiary of Caliber Hospitality, LP (as discussed in **Note 3** – **VIEs**).

DT Mesa Holdco II, LLC

In November 2019, the consolidated fund entered into a loan agreement which is secured by the deed of trust of a commercial building in Mesa, Arizona. The loan requires interest-only payments until maturity and the terms of the loan allow the prepayment of the outstanding balance in part or in whole at any time prior to the maturity date with no prepayment penalty. In December 2022, the terms of the loan agreement were renegotiated, extending the maturity date of the loan to November 2023 and amending the interest rate to the greater of (i) the federal home loan bank rate plus 2.75%% or (ii) 6.50%. In November 2023, the loan agreement was amended with the lender, extending the maturity date to February 2024. In February 2024, the loan agreement was amended with the lender, extending the maturity date to May 7, 2024 and waiving the minimum liquidity

covenant default. In May 2024, the loan agreement was amended with the lender, extending the maturity date to August 4, 2024 and removed the minimum liquidity covenant. In September, 2024, the Company deconsolidated DT Mesa (as discussed in **Note 3 – VIEs**) when the loan was refinanced with a new lender.

Southpointe Fundco, LLC

In June 2022, the consolidated fund entered into a loan agreement which is secured by a deed of trust and assignment of rents of a residential development property in Phoenix, Arizona. The loan initially had a fixed rate per annum equal to 9.99%. In May 2023, an extension agreement was executed with the lender, extending the maturity date to December 2023. In November 2023, an extension agreement was executed with the lender, extending the maturity date to March 2024 and amending the interest to a fixed rate of 11.99%. In February 2024 and August 2024, extension agreements were executed with the lender, extending the maturity date to September 2024 and then March 2025, respectively. The terms of the loan allow the prepayment of the outstanding balance in part or in whole at any time prior to the maturity date with no prepayment penalty. The loan is guaranteed by an individual who is an affiliate of the Company.

West Frontier Holdco, LLC

In March 2023, the consolidated fund entered into a construction loan agreement which is secured by a deed of trust and assignment of rents of a multi-family residential property in Payson, Arizona. Upon completion of the construction project, subject to conditions in the agreement, the loan converts to a term loan. The loan requires interest-only payments until March 2025 and principal and interest payments until March 2028, at a fixed interest rate of 6.35%. In April 2028, the loan requires principal and interest payments until maturity in February 2038, at a rate of the five year Treasury Constant Federal Reserve Index plus 2.50%. The terms of the loan allow the prepayment of the outstanding balance in part or in whole at any time prior to the maturity date with no prepayment penalty. The loan is guaranteed by individuals who are affiliates of the Company.

F-29

Revolving Line of Credit

In August 2019, a consolidated fund entered into a revolving line of credit ("LOC") with a maximum borrowing amount of \$4.5 million. The LOC is secured by the consolidated fund's assets and is guaranteed by the Company. The LOC has a variable interest rate equal to the greater of (i) Wall Street Journal Prime Rate plus 0.25% per annum or (ii) 4.75%, resulting in a rate of 8.75% as of September 30, 2024. The consolidated fund is required to pay a fee of 0.20% of the unused revolving balance. In August 2023, the agreement was amended extending the maturity date of the LOC to October 2024 and removing certain restrictive covenants. The terms of the LOC include certain financial covenants and as of September 30, 2024, the consolidated fund was in compliance with all such covenants. In October 2024, the LOC was terminated, and the consolidated fund entered into a \$4.5 million term loan, which is secured by the consolidated fund's assets and is guaranteed by the Company, and matures in October 2029. The term loan has a variable interest rate equal to the sum of: (i) 3.30% plus (ii) the greater of: (a) 2.00% or (b) the forward-looking term rate based on SOFR for a one month period.

Member Notes

During 2022 and 2023, the consolidated fund, Southpointe Fundco, LLC ("Southpointe"), entered into 10.0% unsecured promissory notes with individual investors. The notes mature in June 2025 and may be extended up to two additional 12-month periods by the fund manager. The notes require quarterly interest-only payments. The terms of the notes allow the prepayment of the outstanding balance in part or in whole at any time prior to the maturity date with no prepayment penalty.

Economic Injury Disaster Loans

In June 2020, the consolidated funds were granted Economic Injury Disaster Loans, which were secured by the assets of the respective funds and had a fixed interest rate of 3.75 % and matured in June 2050. At September 30, 2024, there was no outstanding principal balance. At December 31, 2023, the outstanding principal balance was \$0.5 million. Fixed monthly installment payments began in December 2022 with payments applied first to accrued interest and then the balance, if any, will be applied to principal outstanding. The loans allow for prepayment of principal plus accrued interest prior to maturity. The loan agreements contain certain usual and customary restrictions and covenants relating to, among other things, insurance, and other indebtedness. In addition, the terms of the loans include a cross-default provision whereby the Small Business Administration may, in its discretion, without notice or demand require immediate payment of all amounts outstanding under the loans.

Future Debt Maturities

As of September 30, 2024, the future aggregate principal repayments due on the Company's notes payable are as follows (in thousands):

Year	A	mount
October 1, 2024 - December 31, 2024	\$	4,618
2025		7,170
2026		557
2027		17,046
2028		64
Thereafter		4,551
Total	\$	34,006

Deferred Financing Costs

Amortization of deferred financing costs was immaterial during thethree months ended September 30, 2024 and \$0.3 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2024. Amortization of deferred financing costs was \$0.4 million and \$1.1 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023, respectively. There were no deferred financing cost write-offs during each of the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023.

F-30

Note 7 - Related Party Transactions

Related Party Transactions of the Company

Platform Revenues

The table below shows the total revenues earned for providing services under Platform as described in the Revenue Recognition section of Note 2 - Summary of

Significant Accounting Policies for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023.

	T	Three Months Ended September 30,				Nine Months Ended September 30			
		2024		2023		2024		2023	
Fund management fees	\$	2,992	\$	1,651	\$	6,902	\$	4,178	
Financing fees		334		50		387		176	
Development and construction fees		3,085		424		4,817		1,409	
Brokerage fees		119		191		820		483	
Total asset management		6,530		2,316		12,926		6,246	
Performance allocations		175		36		357		2,474	
Total related party Platform revenue	\$	6,705	\$	2,352	\$	13,283	\$	8,720	

As of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, amounts due to the Company from related parties for services performed under the Platform was\$10.8 million and \$7.8 million, respectively, which is included in due from related parties on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Notes Receivable

The Company entered into unsecured promissory notes with related parties. No payments are required prior to the maturity of the notes. The notes may be prepaid in whole, or in part, without penalty.

The following table summarizes the notes receivable – related parties as of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023 (in thousands):

Notes Receivable - Related Parties	Septeml	per 30, 2024	Dec	cember 31, 2023	Interest Rate (1)	Maturity Date (1)
Caliber Hospitality LP (2)	\$	_	\$	_	12.00%	September 2025
Olathe Behavioral Health		_		25	12.00%	May 2025
DFW Behavioral Health LLC		_		25	14.00%	May 2025
Total Notes Receivable - Related Parties	\$		\$	50		

⁽¹⁾ As of September 30, 2024.

(2) During the nine months ended September 30, 2024, the Company deconsolidated Caliber Hospitality, LP and the Caliber Hospitality Trust, which included activity from six hospitality funds.

F-31

During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, the Company earned \$0.1 million and \$0.2 million amount of interest in connection with the notes, which is included in interest income on the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023, the Company earned an immaterial amount of interest in connection with the notes, which is included in interest income on the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. Interest that accrues on certain related party notes receivable can be added to the principal outstanding balance, due at the respective loan maturity date and incurs interest at the respective interest rate. There was an immaterial amount of interest due to the Company as of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023.

Other

In the normal course of business, the Company has various amounts due from and/or due to related parties, including affiliate entities and individuals, for various expenses paid for by the Company on their behalf and other charges. These amounts are generally unsecured, interest-free, and due on demand. As of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, other amounts due from related parties was \$1.5 million and \$1.9 million, respectively, which is included in due from related parties on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. As of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, other amounts due to related parties from the Company were \$0.2 million and \$0.3 million, respectively, which are included in due to related parties on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Related Party Transactions of the Consolidated Funds

Notes Receivable

The consolidated funds entered into unsecured promissory notes with related parties. The notes may be repaid in whole, or in part, without penalty. The notes receivable – related parties consisted of the following as of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023 (in thousands):

Notes Receivable - Related Parties	Septem	ber 30, 2024]	December 31, 2023	Interest Rate ⁽¹⁾	Maturity Date ⁽¹⁾
SF Alaska, LP	\$	16,903	\$	14,976	12.00%	May 2025
The Ketch, LLC		8,548		7,198	12.00%	May 2026
Circle Lofts, LLC		2,017		1,797	12.00%	May 2026
Elliot & 51st Street, LLC (2)		15,116		_	13.00%	September 2025
Elliot & 51st Street, LLC (2)		1,420		_	12.00%	April 2026
J-25 Development Group, LLC		133		4,804	12.00%	May 2026
Caliber Diversified Opportunity Fund II, LP		12		109	12.00%	September 2025
Ridge II, LLC		1,151		846	12.00%	December 2024
Ironwood, LLC		4,548		2,703	13.00%	September 2025
47th Street Phoenix Fund, LLC		92		_	12.00%	May 2025
Southridge, LLC		_		2,187	13.00%	July 2025
Caliber Hospitality, LP (2)		2,870		_	12.00%	June 2025
Caliber Hospitality, LP (2)		3,900		_	12.00%	September 2026
Blue Spruce, LLC		224		_	13.00%	January 2026
West Ridge, LLC	\$	1,299	\$	_	12.00%	March 2026
Total Notes Receivable - Related Parties	\$	58,233	\$	34,620		

⁽¹⁾ As of September 30, 2024.

⁽²⁾ During the nine months ended September 30, 2024, the Company deconsolidated Caliber Hospitality, LP and the Caliber Hospitality Trust, which included activity from six hospitality funds, and Elliot.

During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, the consolidated fund earned \$1.7 million and \$4.3 million, respectively, and during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023, the consolidated fund earned \$0.9 million and \$2.7 million, respectively, of interest in connection with the notes, which is included in consolidated funds – other revenues on the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. Interest that accrues on certain related party notes receivable, in which the consolidated fund and respective borrower mutually agreed, is added to the principal outstanding balance, due at the respective loan maturity date and incurs interest at the respective interest rate. Interest due to the Company was \$0.1 million as of September 30, 2024, which was included in prepaid and other assets on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. No interest was due to the Company as of December 31, 2023.

Notes Payable

At December 31, 2023, Caliber Hospitality, LP had aggregate notes payable outstanding of \$12.1 million to Caliber Tax Advantage Opportunity Zone Fund, LP and Caliber Tax Advantaged Opportunity Zone Fund II, LLC. During the nine months ended September 30, 2024, the Company deconsolidated Caliber Hospitality, LP and the Caliber Hospitality Trust. The Company also deconsolidated Elliot during the nine months ended September 30, 2024. Southpointe borrowed and paid back \$0.5 million from Elliot during the nine months ended September 30, 2024. See discussion of deconsolidations in Note 3 – VIEs.

During the three months ended September 30, 2024, the consolidated funds did not incur interest expense in connection with the notes payable – related parties. During the nine months ended September 30, 2024, the consolidated funds incurred \$0.3 million and during three and nine months ended September 30, 2023, the consolidated funds earned \$0.3 million and \$0.8 million, respectively, of interest expense in connection with the notes payable – related parties, which is included in consolidated funds – hospitality expenses and consolidated funds – other expenses on the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. As of December 31, 2023, there was \$0.1 million of interest expense payable which is included in due to related parties on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Other

In the normal course of business, the consolidated funds have various amounts due from and/or due to related parties, including affiliate entities and individuals, for various expenses paid by the funds on their behalf and other charges. These amounts are generally unsecured, interest-free, and due on demand. As of September 30, 2024, other amounts due from related parties was \$0.1 million and as of December 31, 2023, there were an immaterial amount of other amounts due from related parties, which is included in prepaid and other assets on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. As of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, there was an immaterial amount of other amounts due to related parties, which is included in due to related parties on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

F-33

Note 8 - Leases

Lessor - Company

Rental revenue of the Company includes the revenues generated by the rental operations of one commercial office property, which was acquired in January 2023. As of September 30, 2024, the leases have non-cancelable remaining lease terms from 0.4 years to 9.8 years. Certain leases contain options to extend the term of the lease and impose financial penalties, including paying all future payments required under the remaining term of the lease, if the tenant terminates the lease. The leases do not contain any lessee purchase options. As of September 30, 2024, the Company does not have any material related party leases as a lessor. The components of rental revenue for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, are presented in the table below (in thousands). Variable rental revenue is primarily costs reimbursed related to common area maintenance.

	Three Months Ended September 30,				Nine Months Ended September 30,				
	202	4		2023		2024		2023	
Fixed	\$	436	\$	436	\$	1,314	\$	1,172	
Variable		71		7		219		18	
Total	\$	507	\$	443	\$	1,533	\$	1,190	

Future minimum lease payments due to the Company under non-cancellable operating leases over the next five years and thereafter as of September 30, 2024, are as follows (in thousands):

Year	Amou	unt
October 1, 2024 - December 31, 2024	\$	365
2025		1,337
2026		1,207
2027		573
2028		299
Thereafter		1,370
Total	\$	5,151

Lessor - Consolidated Funds

Rental revenue of the consolidated funds includes the revenues generated primarily by the rental operations oftwo multi-family residential properties, including Circle Lofts, which was deconsolidated during the year ended December 2023, and two commercial properties, including Northsight Crossing, which was sold in October 2023 and DT Mesa, which was deconsolidated in September 2024. As of September 30, 2024, the leases have non-cancelable remaining lease terms from 0.1 years to 1.0 years. Certain leases contain options to extend the term of the lease and impose financial penalties, including paying all future payments required under the remaining term of the lease, if the tenant terminates the lease. The leases do not contain any lessee purchase options. As of September 30, 2024, the consolidated funds do not have any material related party leases as a lessor. The components of rental revenue for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023 (in thousands) are presented in the table below. Variable rental revenue are primarily costs reimbursed related to common area maintenance.

		Three Months Ended September 30,				Nine Months Ended September 30,				
	-	2024		2023		2024		2023		
Fixed	\$	237	\$	1,030	\$	870	\$	3,014		
Variable		152		146		423		493		
Total	<u>s</u>	389	\$	1 176	S	1 293	\$	3 507		

Future minimum lease payments due to the consolidated funds under non-cancellable operating leases over the next five years and thereafter as of September 30, 2024, are as follows (in thousands):

Year	Amount	
October 1, 2024 - December 31, 2024	\$	98
2025		162
2026		_
2027		_
2028		_
Thereafter		_
Total	\$	260

Note 9 - Other Liabilities

Other Liabilities of the Company

Other liabilities consisted of the following as of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023 (in thousands):

	September 30, 2024	December 31, 2023
Below market leases, net	\$ 5	\$ 171
Tenant improvement allowance	2	99
Deposits (1)	154	113
Other	53'	37
Total other liabilities	\$ 763	\$ 420

⁽¹⁾ Includes tenant security deposits.

Other Liabilities of the Consolidated Funds

Other liabilities of the consolidated funds consisted of the following as of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023 (in thousands):

	Septe	ember 30, 2024	December 31, 2023		
Advance key money, net	\$		\$	825	
Deposits (1)		223		531	
Sales tax payable		112		674	
Other		352		370	
Total other liabilities	\$	687	\$	2,400	

⁽¹⁾ Includes hotel advance deposits and tenant security and pet deposits.

F-35

Note 10 - Supplemental Cash Flow Disclosures

Supplemental cash flow information consisted of the following for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023 (in thousands):

	Nine Months End	led Septe	ember 30,
	2024		2023
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information	 		
Cash paid for interest, none of which was capitalized for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023,			
respectively	\$ 3,878	\$	3,479
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information of Consolidated Funds			
Cash paid for interest, net of capitalized interest of \$2 and \$31 for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and			
2023, respectively	5,252		10,493
Supplemental Disclosures of Non-Cash Investing and Financing Activities			
Increase in note receivable - related party due to deconsolidation of VIEs	7,531		_
Increase in accounts receivable - related party due to deconsolidation of VIEs	3,519		_
Accounts receivable - related party eliminated in consolidation of VIEs	_		1,853
Increase in investments in unconsolidated entities due to deconsolidation of VIEs	8,843		_
Extinguishment of operating lease right-of-use assets	_		1,059
Extinguishment of operating lease liabilities	_		1,340
Cost of real estate investments included in accounts payable	_		14
Investments in unconsolidated entities included in accrued expenses	44		_
Issuance of common stock in lieu of cash payment for accounts payable	194		_
Supplemental Disclosures of Non-Cash Investing and Financing Activities of Consolidated Funds			
Note receivable eliminated in consolidation	_		2,946
Increase in note receivable - related party due to deconsolidation of VIEs	22,746		_
Cost of real estate investments included in accounts payable	41		738
Cost of real estate investments included in due to related parties	_		185

elated party notes payable - non-cash settlement	2,531	
onsolidation of VIEs		
Real estate investments, net	_	86,
Accounts receivable, net	_	4,
Due from related parties	_	
Operating lease - right of use assets	_	8,
Prepaid and other assets	_	2
Notes payable, net	_	80,
Notes payable - related parties	_	6,
Accounts payable and accrued expenses	_	8
Due to related parties	_	
Operating lease liabilities	_	12
Other liabilities	_	2
Noncontrolling interests		33
econsolidation of VIEs		
Real estate investments, net	137,571	74.
Accounts receivable, net	3,071	3
Operating lease - right of use assets	10,324	8
Prepaid and other assets	9,579	1
Due from related parties	3	
Due to related parties	1,049	
Notes payable, net	94,261	68
Notes payable - related parties	12,055	1
Accounts payable and accrued expenses	11,324	7
Operating lease liabilities	13,957	12
Other liabilities	1,293	1
Noncontrolling interests	16,360	21.

Note 11 - Commitments and Contingencies

Commitments and Contingencies of the Company

Environmental Matters

In connection with the ownership and operation of real estate assets, the Company may potentially be liable for costs and damages related to environmental matters. The Company believes it is in material compliance with current laws and regulations and does not know of any existing environmental condition nor has it been notified by any governmental authority of any non-compliance, liability or other claim, in each case, that could result in a material effect on our financial condition or results of operations.

F-36

Caliber Tax Advantaged Opportunity Fund LP

Caliber O-Zone Fund Manager, LLC (the "CTAF Fund Manager") is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and general partner and manager of Caliber Tax Advantaged Opportunity Fund LP ("CTAF"). In the event of a dissolution, winding-up, or termination, if the aggregate amount received by the CTAF limited partners does not equal or exceed an amount equal to a 6% IRR for the limited partners, the CTAF Fund Manager shall immediately contribute to CTAF funds in order to meet this minimum requirement for payment to the CTAF limited partners. As of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the Company estimated fair value of CTAF was less than the 6% IRR for the limited partners.

Caliber Tax Advantaged Opportunity Fund II LLC

Caliber O-Zone Fund II Manager, LLC (the "CTAF II Fund Manager") is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and general partner and manager of Caliber Tax Advantaged Opportunity Zone Fund II LLC ("CTAF II"). In the event of a dissolution, winding-up, or termination, if the aggregate amount received by the CTAF II investor members does not equal or exceed an amount equal to a 6% IRR for the investor members, the CTAF II Fund Manager shall immediately contribute to CTAF II funds in order to meet this minimum requirement for payment to the CTAF II investor members. As of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the Company estimated fair value of CTAF was less than the 6% IRR for the investor members.

Commitments and Contingencies of the Consolidated Funds

Franchise Agreements

The hospitality funds consolidated during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, are parties to franchise agreements where the fund is required to pay monthly fees, consisting of royalty, program, and food and beverage fees. At September 30, 2024, the consolidated hospitality fund is a party to a franchise agreement that expires in November 2026. The consolidated funds recognized total franchise fees of \$0.2 million and \$2.7 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, respectively, and \$0.8 million, and \$3.5 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023, respectively.

F-37

Note 12 - Net Income (Loss) Per Share

Basic earnings per common share is calculated by dividing net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders by the weighted average common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing net income attributable to common shareholders by the weighted-average number of shares outstanding plus the dilutive impact of all potential dilutive common shares, consisting of stock options and warrants using the treasury stock method, and convertible debt and preferred stock using the if-converted method.

The Company considered the two-class method in calculating the basic and diluted earnings per share; however, it was determined there was no impact to the calculation of basic and diluted net income (loss) per share attributable to common shareholders as Class A and Class B common stock share in the same earnings and profits; thus, having no

impact on the calculation.

The Company has calculated the basic and diluted earnings per share during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023 as follows (in thousands, except per share data):

	Three Mor Septem	 	Nine Months Septembe			
	 2024	2023		2024		2023
Numerator:	 					
Net income (loss) attributable to CaliberCos Inc.	\$ 146	\$ (3,409)	\$	(8,389)	\$	(10,342)
Convertible debt interest	21	15		64		16
Net income (loss) attributable to common shareholders of CaliberCos Inc.	\$ 167	\$ (3,394)	\$	(8,325)	\$	(10,326)
Denominator:						
Weighted average shares outstanding - basic	22,128	21,238		21,828		19,688
Dilutive shares - options, net	2,571	_		_		_
Dilutive shares - convertible debt, net	168	_		_		_
Weighted average shares outstanding - diluted	24,867	21,238		21,828		19,688
Basic net income (loss) per share attributable to common shareholders	\$ 0.01	\$ (0.16)	\$	(0.38)	\$	(0.53)
Diluted net income (loss) per share attributable to common shareholders	\$ 0.01	\$ (0.16)	\$	(0.38)	\$	(0.53)

The number of antidilutive shares consisted of the potential exercise of stock options and potential conversion of convertible debt. The following table summarizes these potential exercises and conversions during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, which have been excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share attributable to common shareholders (in thousands):

	Three Months I September 2		Nine Months l September	
	2024	2023	2024	2023
Additional common shares, if stock options were exercised		2,129	2,122	2,133
Additional common shares, if convertible debt were converted	_	175	168	175
		2,304	2,290	2,308

F-38

Note 13 - Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Fair Value of Financial Instruments of the Company

Fair values of financial instruments held by the Company are estimated using available market information and established valuation methodologies. Accordingly, the estimates presented are not necessarily indicative of the amounts the Company could realize on disposition of the financial instruments. The use of different market assumptions and/or valuation methodologies may have a material effect on the estimated fair value amounts.

Financial instruments that approximate fair value due to the short-term nature of the instruments consist of cash, restricted cash, accounts receivable, and accounts payable. The fair values of debt have been estimated based on current rates available for similar instruments with similar terms, maturities, and collateral. The fair value of the Company's fixed rate debt were measured with Level 2 inputs. The estimated fair value of the Company's real estate loan was determined by management based on a discounted future cash-flow model. As of September 30, 2024, the Company's real estate loan had a carrying value of \$16.0 million and a fair value of \$9.9 million. As of December 31, 2023, the Company's real estate loan had a carrying value of \$16.2 million and a fair value of \$9.5 million.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments of the Consolidated Funds

Fair values of financial instruments held by consolidated funds are estimated using available market information and established valuation methodologies. Accordingly, the estimates presented are not necessarily indicative of the amounts the consolidated funds could realize on disposition of the financial instruments. The use of different market assumptions and/or valuation methodologies may have a material effect on the estimated fair value amounts.

Financial instruments that approximate fair value due to the short-term nature of the instruments consist of cash, restricted cash, accounts receivable, and accounts payable. The fair values of debt, advance key money, and interest rate caps have been estimated based on current rates available for similar instruments with similar terms, maturities, and collateral. The carrying values of the consolidated funds' variable rate debt and advance key money as of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, approximated fair value. The fair value of the consolidated funds' fixed rate debt were measured with Level 2 inputs. The estimated fair values for the instruments below were determined by management based on a discounted future cash-flow model (in thousands).

	Septem	ber 30,	2024	 December	31,	2023
Note Payable	Carrying Value		Fair Value	Carrying Value		Fair Value
Hampton Inn & Suites Hotel (1)	\$ -	- \$	_	\$ 5,939	\$	4,762
Southpointe Fundco, LLC	1,050)	994	1,050		1,050
Tucson East, LLC (1)	_	-	_	11,901		11,067
	4,770	5	3,601	4,636		3,795
West Frontier LLC						

⁽¹⁾ During the nine months ended September 30, 2024, the Company deconsolidated Caliber Hospitality, LP and the Caliber Hospitality Trust, which included activity from six hospitality funds.

Note 14 - Derivative Instruments

Derivatives Designated as Hedging Instruments

As of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the Company did not have any derivatives designated as hedging instruments.

Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments

The consolidated funds have entered into interest rate caps and swaps. The following table summarizes the consolidated funds non-designated derivatives as of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023 (dollar amounts in thousands):

	Septembe	r 30, 2024	December	131, 2023
Type of Derivative	Number of Instruments	Notional Amount	Number of Instruments	Notional Amount
Interest rate swap (1)		\$ -	- 1	\$ 18,418
Interest rate cap ⁽²⁾	_	_	- 1	55,000
Total		\$ -		\$ 73,418

The following table presents the fair value of the consolidated funds' non-designated derivatives, as well as their classification on the consolidated balance sheets, as of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023 (in thousands):

Type of Derivative	Balance Sheet Location	September 30, 2024		December 31, 2023	
	Consolidated funds - Prepaid and other				
Interest rate swap (1)	assets	\$	_	\$	1,206
	Consolidated funds - Prepaid and other				
Interest rate cap ⁽²⁾	assets		_		10
Total		\$		\$	1,216

The following table presents the gain or loss recognized in consolidated funds - hospitality expenses in the consolidated statements of operations for three and nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023 (in thousands):

	Statement of	 Three Mon Septem		 Nine Mont Septem	
Type of Derivative	Operations Location	2024	2023	2024	2023
Interest rate swap (1)	Consolidated funds - hospitality expenses	\$ _	\$ 148	\$ 346	\$ 130
Interest rate cap ⁽²⁾	Consolidated funds - hospitality expenses	_	(64)	(35)	(16)
Total		\$	\$ 84	\$ 311	\$ 114

- (1) During the nine months ended September 30, 2024, the interest rate swap was terminated.
- (2) During the nine months ended September 30, 2024, the Company deconsolidated Caliber Hospitality, LP and the Caliber Hospitality Trust, which included activity from six hospitality funds.

Note 15 – Subsequent Events

Management has evaluated events and transactions that occurred after September 30, 2024 through November 13, 2024, the date these consolidated financial statement were available to be issued. There were no material events or transactions in addition to those matters discussed in Note 6 – Notes Payable.

F-40

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the shareholders and the Board of Directors of CaliberCos Inc. and subsidiaries

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of CaliberCos Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Company") as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity, and cash flows, for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2023, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the "financial statements"). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2023, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an

audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Tempe, Arizona April 15, 2024

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2020.

F-41

CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET (AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

	December 31, 2023	December 31, 2022
Assets		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Cash	\$ 940	* -,,
Restricted cash	2,569	
Real estate investments, net	21,492	,
Due from related parties	9,759	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Investments in unconsolidated entities	3,338	
Operating lease - right of use assets	193	
Prepaid and other assets	2,781	5,861
Assets of consolidated funds		
Cash	2,865	- ,
Restricted cash	11,266	
Real estate investments, net	185,636	
Accounts receivable, net	1,978	
Notes receivable - related parties	34,620	
Operating lease - right of use assets	10,318	
Prepaid and other assets	11,677	
Total assets	\$ 299,432	\$ 278,834
1 2-1-194 1 04 1 1 1 1 1 F 24		
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity	\$ 53,799	\$ 14,653
Notes payable	\$ 33,799	365
Notes payable - related parties	9 994	
Accounts payable and accrued expenses	8,886	
Buyback obligation	257	12,391
Due to related parties		-,-
Operating lease liabilities	119 420	
Other liabilities Liabilities of consolidated funds	420	04
Liabilities of Consoliaatea Junas	129,684	134,256
Notes payable, net	,	,
Notes payable - related parties	12,055	6,973
Accounts payable and accrued expenses	11,736	9,252
Due to related parties	101	68
Operating lease liabilities	13,957	12,461
Other liabilities	2,400	3,030
Total liabilities	233,414	201,645
Commitments and Contingencies		
Preferred stock, \$0.001 par value; 22,500,000 authorized and no shares issued and outstanding as of December 31,		
2023 and 12,500,000 shares authorized and 1,651,302 shares of Series B Preferred Stock issued and outstanding as		
of December 31, 2022	_	· _
Common stock Class A, \$0.001 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized, 13,872,671 and 10,790,787 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively	14	. 11
Common stock Class B, \$0.001 par value; 15,000,000 shares authorized, 7,416,414 shares issued and outstanding as	1-1	- 11
December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022	7	7
Paid-in capital	39,432	
Less treasury stock, at cost, 277,342 shares repurchased and 3,432,351 forward repurchase shares as of December 31,	,	
2022. As of December 31, 2023, there were 318,957 shares repurchased and no forward repurchase shares	_	(13,626)
Accumulated deficit	(36,830	(22,709)
Stockholders' equity (deficit) attributable to CaliberCos Inc.	2,623	
Stockholders' equity attributable to noncontrolling interests	63,395	
Total stockholders' equity	66,018	
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity	\$ 299,432	
	<u> </u>	Ψ 270,034

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

		Years Ended De	ecember 31,
		2023	2022
Revenues		<u> </u>	
Asset management revenues	\$	10,571	\$ 15,344
Performance allocations		3,639	2,543
Consolidated funds – hospitality revenues		68,905	59,564
Consolidated funds – other revenues		7,822	6,505
Total revenues		90,937	83,956
Expenses			
Operating costs		21,311	14,609
General and administrative		6,770	6,679
Marketing and advertising		1,052	1,179
Depreciation and amortization		550	58
Consolidated funds – hospitality expenses		80,669	60,667
Consolidated funds – other expenses		9,162	9,213
Total expenses		119,514	92,405
Consolidated funds - gain on sale of real estate investments		4,976	21,530
Other income, net		374	326
Gain on extinguishment of debt		_	1,421
Interest income		350	178
Interest expense		(4,717)	(1,055)
Net (loss) income before income taxes		(27,594)	13,951
Benefit from income taxes		_	_
Net (loss) income		(27,594)	13,951
Net (loss) income attributable to noncontrolling interests		(14,891)	11,931
Net (loss) income attributable to CaliberCos Inc.	\$	(12,703)	\$ 2,020
Basic net (loss) income per share attributable to common stockholders	\$	(0.63)	\$ 0.11
Diluted net (loss) income per share attributable to common stockholders			
\	\$	(0.63)	\$ 0.11
Weighted average common shares outstanding:			
Basic		20,087	18,003
Diluted		20,087	19,822

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

F-43

CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS)

	Preferred	Stock		Commo	n Stock						Total
_			Clas	s A	Clas	ss B	Paid in	Treasury	Accumulated	Noncontrolling	Stockholders'
	Shares	Par Value	Shares	Par Value	Shares	Par Value	Capital	Stock	Deficit	Interests	Equity
Balances as of December 31, 2021	1,650		10,523	10	7,416	7	29,249	(13,626)	(24,729)	58,782	49,693
Issuance of common stock	_	_	492	1	_	_	3,311	_	_	_	3,312
Repurchases of common stock	_	_	(277)	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
Equity based compensation expense	_	_	13	_	_	_	548	_	_	_	548
Contributions from noncontrolling interest holders	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	26,389	26,389
Redemptions of noncontrolling interest holders	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	(2,085)	(2,085)
Distributions to noncontrolling interest holders	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	(4,364)	(4,364)
Consolidation of VIE	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	3,864	3,864
Deconsolidation of VIEs	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	(14,119)	(14,119)
Other	1	_	40	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
Net income (loss)	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	2,020	11,931	13,951
Balances as of December 31, 2022	1,651	s —	10,791	\$ 11	7,416	\$ 7	\$ 33,108	\$ (13,626)	\$ (22,709)	\$ 80,398	\$ 77,189
Issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs	_		1,200	1	_		2,598				2,599
Repurchases of common stock	_	_	(42)	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
Conversions of preferred stock	(1,651)	_	1,651	2	_	_	_	_	_	_	2
Equity based compensation expense	_	_	273	_	_	_	3,726	_	_	_	3,726
Contributions from noncontrolling interest holders	_	_	_	_	_	_		_	_	27,927	27,927
Redemptions of noncontrolling interest holders	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	(10,045)	(10,045)
Distributions to noncontrolling interest holders	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	(10,014)	(10,014)
Consolidation of VIE	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	(20,805)	(20,805)
Deconsolidation of VIEs	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	10,825	10,825
Retirement of treasury stock	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	13,626	(1,418)	_	12,208
Net income (loss)	_	_	_	_	_	_	_		(12,703)	(14,891)	(27,594)
Balances as of December 31, 2023		s <u> </u>	13,873	\$ 14	7,416	\$ 7	\$ 39,432	s <u> </u>	\$ (36,830)	\$ 63,395	\$ 66,018

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS)

	Preferred	Stock		Commo	n Stock						Total
_		<u> </u>	Clas	s A	Clas	is B	Paid in	Treasury	Accumulated	Noncontrolling	Stockholders'
	Shares	Par Value	Shares	Par Value	Shares	Par Value	Capital	Stock	Deficit	Interests	Equity
Balances as of December 31, 2021	1,650		10,523	10	7,416	7	29,249	(13,626)	(24,729)	58,782	49,693
Issuance of common stock	_	_	492	1	_	_	3,311	_	_	_	3,312
Repurchases of common stock	_	_	(277)	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
Equity based compensation expense	_	_	13	_	_	_	548	_	_	_	548
Contributions from noncontrolling interest holders	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	26,389	26,389
Redemptions of noncontrolling interest holders	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	(2,085)	
Distributions to noncontrolling interest holders	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	(4,364)	(4,364)
Consolidation of VIE	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	3,864	3,864
Deconsolidation of VIEs	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	(14,119)	(14,119)
Other	1	_	40	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
Net income (loss)	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	2,020	11,931	13,951
Balances as of December 31, 2022	1,651	s —	10,791	\$ 11	7,416	\$ 7	\$ 33,108	\$ (13,626)	\$ (22,709)	\$ 80,398	\$ 77,189
Issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs			1,200	1			2,598				2,599
Repurchases of common stock	_	_	(42)	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
Conversions of preferred stock	(1,651)	_	1,651	2	_	_	_	_	_	_	2
Equity based compensation expense	_	_	273	_	_	_	3,726	_	_	_	3,726
Contributions from noncontrolling interest holders	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	27,927	27,927
Redemptions of noncontrolling interest holders	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	(10,045)	(10,045)
Distributions to noncontrolling interest holders	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	(10,014)	(10,014)
Consolidation of VIE	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	(20,805)	(20,805)
Deconsolidation of VIEs	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	10,825	10,825
Retirement of treasury stock	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	13,626	(1,418)	_	12,208
Net income (loss)	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	(12,703)	(14,891)	(27,594)
Balances as of December 31, 2023		<u> </u>	13,873	\$ 14	7,416	\$ 7	\$ 39,432	<u> </u>	\$ (36,830)	\$ 63,395	\$ 66,018

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

F-45

CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS)

		Years Ended Dece	
		2023	2022
Cash Flows From Operating Activities Net (loss) income	\$	(27,594) \$	13,951
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash from operating activities:	Ф	(27,394) \$	15,951
Depreciation and amortization		527	44
Non-cash lease expense and gain on lease extinguishment		(280)	(125)
Non-cash performance allocations		(2,382)	(123)
Equity-based compensation		3,726	547
Gain on the disposition of real estate		3,720	(122)
Gain on extinguishment of debt			
		1,339	(1,421)
Loss on investments in unconconsolidated entities		203	_
Amortization of above-market/below market leases and straight-line rent, net			_
Amortization of deferred financing costs		34	
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:			
Due from related parties		(1,897)	(4,028)
Prepaid expenses, right-of-use assets and other assets		3,169	(6,225)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses		931	3,145
Due to related parties		86	(556
Lease liabilities and other liabilities		94	1,286
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash from operating activities of consolidated funds:			
Depreciation		10,358	9,293
Non-cash lease expense		(53)	(106
Gain on the disposition of real estate		(4,976)	(20,419
Loss (gain) on extinguishment of debt		238	(3,131
Loss (gain) on derivative instruments		515	(1,646
Loss on disposal of furniture, fixtures and equipment		687	_
Impairment		_	144
Amortization of advanced key money		(75)	(75
Amortization of above-market/below market leases and straight-line rent, net		(409)	40
Amortization of deferred financing costs		1,543	643
Changes in operating assets and liabilities of consolidated funds:			
Accounts receivable, net		(375)	(1,012)
Due from related parties		3	190
Prepaid expenses, right-of use assets and other assets		(8,040)	(9,414
Accounts payable and accrued expenses		1,141	969
Due to related parties		1,503	170
Lease liabilities and other liabilities		1,264	10,429
Net cash used in the Company's operating activities		(18,720)	(7,429
Cash Flows From Investing Activities			
Investments in real estate assets		(250)	(275)
Acquisition of real estate assets		(3,015)	
Proceeds from the sale of real estate assets		10	239
Investments in unconsolidated entities		(182)	(774)
investments in unconsordated clittles		(102)	(774)

Funding of notes receivable - related party

(980)

Cash Flows From Investing Activities of consolidated funds				
Consolidation of VIEs	\$	12,927	\$	1,393
Deconsolidation of VIEs		(12,952)		(17,235)
Investments in real estate assets		(13,744)		(13,941)
Acquisition of real estate assets		(6,643)		(23,766)
Proceeds from the sale of real estate assets		26,075		30,734
Funding of notes receivable - related party		(15,963)		(13,052)
Payment received on notes receivable - related party		8,423		4,925
Net cash used in the Company's investing activities		(5,364)		(31,752)
Cash Flows From Financing Activities				
Payment of deferred financing costs		(253)		_
Proceeds from notes payable		26,605		10,390
Repayments of notes payable		(3,697)		(1,148)
Proceeds from notes payable - related parties		4,000		_
Repayments of notes payable - related parties		(4,365)		(490)
Proceeds from the issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs		2,599		13
Payments of treasury stock - buyback obligation		(183)		(313)
Cash Flows From Financing Activities of consolidated funds				
Payment of deferred financing costs		(2,782)		(510)
Proceeds from notes payable		69,654		35,563
Repayments of notes payable		(79,031)		(28,285)
Proceeds from notes payable - related parties		10,008		15,901
Repayments of notes payable - related parties		(2,802)		(12,478)
Contributions from noncontrolling interest holders		26,096		26,389
Redemptions of noncontrolling interests		(10,045)		(2,085)
Distributions to noncontrolling interest holders		(10,014)		(4,364)
Net cash provided by the Company's financing activities		25,790		38,583
Net Change in Cash and Restricted Cash		1,706		(598)
Cash and Restricted Cash at Beginning of Period		15,934		16,532
Cash and Restricted Cash at End of Period	\$	17,640	\$	15,934
Reconciliation of Cash and Restricted Cash				
Cash at beginning of period	S	7,657	\$	8,378
Restricted cash at beginning of period	*	8,277	*	8,154
Cash and restricted cash at beginning of period		15,934		16,532
cush and restricted each at beginning of period		13,934		10,332
Cash at end of period	\$	3,805	\$	7,657
Restricted cash at end of period		13,835		8,277
Cash and restricted cash at end of period		17,640		15,934

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

F-46

CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1 - Organization and Liquidity

Payment received on notes receivable - related party

Organization

CaliberCos Inc., a Delaware corporation, and its wholly-owned subsidiaries (the "Company") is an alternative asset manager of private syndication and direct investment real estate funds and provider of a full suite of traditional real estate services. The Company was formed in November 2014, and originally began as Caliber Companies, LLC, an Arizona limited liability company, which commenced operations in January 2009. The Company provides various support services to the investments we manage including asset management services, fund set-up services, lending support, construction and development management, and real estate brokerage. As of December 31, 2023, we had operations in Alaska, Arizona, Colorado, and Texas.

In general, our private equity real estate funds are organized as operating partnerships, in which multiple unrelated passive investors own partnership interests. In addition, we are designated as the manager and/or general partner of the partnership. Depending on the legal structure and arrangements between us and the funds, we may or may not consolidate the partnerships for financial reporting purposes. For funds in which we are determined to be the controlling party or primary beneficiary for financial reporting purposes, the fund is consolidated, and the passive investors' ownership is presented as noncontrolling interest in the accompanying consolidated financial statements ("Consolidated Funds", and collectively with the Company, the "Consolidated Company", "Caliber", "we", "our", and "us"). For funds in which we are not determined to be the controlling party for financial reporting purposes, the fund is not consolidated, and any fees earned from the fund are included in fund management revenue in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. See Note 2 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies for more detail.

Liquidity and Going Concern

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles applicable to a going concern, which contemplates the realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business.

The Company had individual corporate notes aggregating \$36.4 million at December 31, 2023 for which the maturity dates of the majority of these notes are within the 12-month period subsequent to when the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2023 were issued. Additionally, the Company has incurred operating losses and negative operating cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2023, and anticipates additional future operating losses and negative operating cash flows. The Company does not have sufficient cash on hand to satisfy such obligations. As such, these conditions and events raise substantial doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a going concern.

In response to these conditions, management plans to i) negotiate extensions of such loans or refinance such debt, ii) obtain new financing, iii) reduce operating costs, iv) collect receivables and return investments from the Consolidated Funds, and/or v) increase capital raise through continued expansion of fundraising channels. The Company has commenced discussions with the various lenders in pursuit of extending or refinancing its loans. As of the date of these financial statements, management was able to extend \$12.3 million of corporate notes for an additional 13 months (see Note 6 – Notes Payable). Management's plans include timely collection on the Company's outstanding accounts and notes receivable from affiliated entities for which management has influence and control and implementing strategies to reduce costs. As a result, the Company has concluded that management's plans are probable of being achieved to alleviate substantial doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a going concern.

F-47

CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Accounting Policies of the Company

Basis of Presentation and Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America ("U.S. GAAP"). The accompanying consolidated financial statements include our accounts, our consolidated subsidiaries, and legal entities in which the Company is deemed to have a direct or indirect controlling financial interest based on either a variable interest model or voting interest model. The equity and net income or loss attributable to noncontrolling interests in subsidiaries is shown separately in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, statements of operations, and statements of changes in stockholders' equity. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Variable Interest Entities

We determine if an entity is a variable interest entity ("VIE") based on several factors, including whether the equity holders, as a group, lack the characteristics of a controlling financial interest. We analyze any investments in VIEs to determine if we are the primary beneficiary. A reporting entity is determined to be the primary beneficiary if it holds a controlling financial interest in a VIE.

Determining which reporting entity, if any, has a controlling financial interest in a VIE is primarily a qualitative analysis focused on identifying which reporting entity has both (i) the power to direct the activities of the entity that most significantly impact the entity's economic performance and (ii) the obligation to absorb losses or the right to receive benefits from such entity that could potentially be significant to such entity. Performance of that analysis requires the exercise of judgment. We consolidate any VIEs for which we are the primary beneficiary and we disclose our maximum exposure to loss related to the consolidated VIEs. See Note 3 – VIEs for more detail.

Voting Interest Entities

Entities that do not qualify as VIEs are generally assessed for consolidation as voting interest entities ("VOEs"). For VOEs, we consolidate an entity if we have a controlling financial interest. We have a controlling financial interest in a VOE if (i) for legal entities other than partnerships, we own a majority voting interest in the entity or, for limited partnerships and similar entities, we own a majority of the entity's kick-out rights through voting limited partnership interests and (ii) non-controlling shareholders or partners do not hold substantive participating rights, and no other conditions exist that would indicate that we do not control the entity.

Reclassification

The asset management fees and transaction and advisory fees, previously presented in their own line items for prior periods presented, have been combined into one line item, asset management revenues in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations, to be consistent with the current year presentation. The reclassification does not affect prior period's total revenues or net income (loss).

Use of Accounting Estimates

The preparation of our consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. These estimates are made and evaluated on an ongoing basis using information that is currently available as well as various other assumptions believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could differ significantly from those estimates.

F-48

CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Cash

Cash includes cash in bank accounts. The Company deposits cash with several high-quality financial institutions. These deposits are guaranteed by the Federal Deposit Insurance Company ("FDIC") up to an insurance limit of \$250,000. At times, the Company's cash balances may exceed FDIC limits. Although the Company bears risk on amounts in excess of those insured by the FDIC, it has not experienced and does not anticipate any losses due to the high quality of the institutions where the deposits are held.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash consists of held in escrow accounts by contractual agreement with lenders as part of financial loan covenant requirements.

Investments in Unconsolidated Entities

If an entity is not a VIE, our determination of the appropriate accounting method with respect to our investments in limited liability companies and other investments is based on voting control. For our managing member interests in limited liability companies, we are presumed to control (and therefore consolidate) the entity, unless the other limited partners have substantive rights that overcome this presumption of control. These substantive rights allow the limited partners to remove the general partner with or without cause or to participate in significant decisions made in the ordinary course of the entity's business. We account for our non-controlling investments in these entities

under the equity method. Our investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries in which we have the ability to exercise significant influence over operating and financial policies, but do not control, or entities which are VIE in which we are not the primary beneficiary are accounted for under the equity method. The equity method of accounting requires the investment to be initially recorded at cost and subsequently adjusted for the Company's share of equity in the equity method investment's earnings and distributions. Our share of the earnings or loss from equity method investments is included in other income (expenses), net on the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Our determination of the appropriate accounting treatment for an investment in a subsidiary requires judgment of several factors including the size and nature of our ownership interest and the other owners' substantive rights to make decisions for the entity. If we were to make different judgments or conclusions as to the level of our control or influence, it could result in a different accounting treatment. Consolidating an investment generally would have no impact on our net income or stockholders' deficit attributable to CaliberCos Inc. in any accounting period, but a different treatment would impact individual income statement and balance sheet line items, as consolidation would effectively "gross up" our statement of operations and balance sheet.

As of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the carrying amount of our investments in unconsolidated entities was \$3.3 million and \$3.2 million, respectively. In certain situations, the Company has invested only a nominal amount of cash, or no cash at all, into a venture. As the manager of the venture, we are entitled to 15.0% – 35.0% of the residual cash flow produced by the venture after the payment of any priority returns. Under the equity method, impairment losses are recognized upon evidence of other-than-temporary losses of value. For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company had no impairment losses related to its investments in unconsolidated entities.

F-49

CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Depreciation and Amortization Expense

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company acquired its headquarters office building, recording the real estate assets at cost. Building and building improvements are depreciated over the estimated useful life of the respective asset, generally 15 to 40 years. Depreciation expense also includes costs associated with the purchase of furniture and equipment, which are recorded at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the asset, generally three to seven years beginning in the first full month the asset is placed in service. Intangible lease assets are amortized using the straight-line method over the lease term.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, depreciation expense for the Company was \$0.5 million. Depreciation expense for the Company was an immaterial amount for the year ended December 31, 2022.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Real estate and other long-lived assets to be held and used are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization, unless the carrying amount of the asset is determined not to be recoverable. If events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of a long-lived asset may not be recoverable, we test its recoverability by comparing the carrying amount to our estimate of the undiscounted net future cash flows resulting from the use of the asset, excluding interest charges. If the carrying amount exceeds the aggregate undiscounted future cash flows, we recognize an impairment loss to the extent the carrying amount exceeds the estimated fair value of the asset.

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company had no impairment losses related to its real estate and other long-lived assets.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Substantially all of the Company's revenues are generated from the management, ownership and/or operations of real estate assets located in Alaska, Arizona, Colorado, and Texas. The Company mitigates the associated risk by:

- diversifying our investments in real estate assets across multiple asset types, including hospitality, commercial, single-family, multi-family, and self-storage properties;
- · diversifying our investments in real estate assets across multiple geographic locations including different markets and sub-markets in which our real estate assets are located;
- · diversifying our investments in real estate assets across assets at differing points of stabilization, and in varying states of cash flow optimization; and
- · maintaining financing relationships with a diversified mix of lenders (differing size and type), including large national banks, local community banks, private equity lenders, and insurance companies.

Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Real Estate Partnerships

We report the unaffiliated partners' interests in the net assets of our consolidated real estate partnerships as noncontrolling interests within the accompanying consolidated statements of changes in stockholders' equity. Noncontrolling interests consist of equity interests held by limited partners in consolidated real estate partnerships. We attribute to noncontrolling interests their share of income or loss of the consolidated partnerships based on their proportionate interest in the results of operations of the partnerships, including their share of losses even if such attribution results in a deficit noncontrolling interest balance within our equity and partners' capital accounts.

The terms of the partnership agreements generally require the partnerships to be liquidated following the sale of the underlying real estate assets. As the general partner in these partnerships, we ordinarily control the execution of real estate sales and other events that could lead to the liquidation, redemption or other settlement of noncontrolling interests. The terms of certain partnership agreements outline differing classes of equity ownership, some of which are redeemable by the partnership at the partnership manager's discretion.

F-50

CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Revenue Recognition

In accordance with the Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers ("ASC 606"), management applies the five-step framework in determining the timing and amount of revenue to recognize. This framework requires an entity to: (i) identify the contract(s) with customers, (ii) identify the performance obligations within the contract, (iii) determine the transaction price, (iv) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations within the contract, and (v) recognize revenue when or as the entity satisfies a performance obligation.

Revenues from contracts with customers includes fixed fee arrangements with related party affiliates to provide certain associated activities which are ancillary to and

generally add value to the assets we manage, such as set-up and fund formation services associated with marketing, soliciting, and selling member interests in the affiliated limited partnerships, brokerage services, construction and development management services, loan placement and guarantees. The recognition and measurement of revenue is based on the assessment of individual contract terms. For performance obligations satisfied at a point in time, there are no significant judgments made in evaluating when the customer obtains control of the promised service.

For performance obligations satisfied over time, significant judgment is required to determine how to allocate transaction prices where multiple performance obligations are identified; when to recognize revenue based on appropriate measurement of the Company's progress under the contract; and whether constraints on variable consideration should be applied due to uncertain future events. Transaction price is allocated to each distinct performance obligation and recognized as revenue when, or as, the performance obligation is satisfied. Variable consideration is included in the estimated transaction price to the extent it is probable that a significant reversal of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur or when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is resolved. The Company's estimates of variable consideration and determination of whether to include estimated amounts in transaction price are based largely on an assessment of its anticipated performance and all information that is reasonably available to the Company. Revenues are recognized when control of the promised services is transferred to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for those services.

The following describes revenue recognition for the fees the Company earns from providing services under its asset management platform:

Fund set-up fees are a one-time fee for the initial formation, administration, and set-up of the private equity real estate fund. These fees are recognized at the point in time when the performance under the contract is complete and are included in asset management revenues in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. Fund set-up fees replaced fund formation fees that are earned at a point in time at a fixed rate based on the amount of capital raised into certain managed funds.

Fund management fees are generally based on 1.0% to 1.5% of the unreturned capital contributions in a particular fund and include reimbursement for costs incurred on behalf of the fund, including an allocation of certain overhead costs. These customer contracts require the Company to provide management services, representing a performance obligation that the Company satisfies over time. With respect to the Caliber Hospitality Trust (as defined in Note 3 – VIEs), the Company earns a fund management fee of 0.70% of the Caliber Hospitality Trust's enterprise value and is reimbursed for certain costs incurred on behalf of the Caliber Hospitality Trust. These revenues are included in asset management revenues in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Financing fees are earned for services the Company performs in securing third-party financing on behalf of our private equity real estate funds. These fees are recognized at the point in time when the performance under the contract is complete, which is essentially upon closing of a loan. In addition, the Company earns fees for guarantying certain loans, representing a performance obligation that the Company satisfies over time. These revenues are included in asset management revenues in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

F-51

CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Development and construction revenues from contracts with customers include fixed fee arrangements with related party affiliates to provide real estate development services as their principal developer, which include managing and supervising third-party developers and general contractors with respect to the development of the properties owned by the funds. Revenues are generally based on 4.0% of the total expected costs of the development or 4.0% of the total expected costs of the construction project. Prior to the commencement of construction, development fee revenue is recognized at a point in time as the related performance obligations are satisfied and the customer obtains control of the promised service, including negotiation, due diligence, entitlements, planning, and design activities. During the construction period, development fee revenue is recognized over time as the performance obligations are satisfied. These revenues are included in asset management revenues in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Brokerage fees are earned at a point in time at fixed rates for services performed related to acquisitions, dispositions, leasing, and financing transaction, and are included in asset management revenues in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Performance allocations are an arrangement in which we are entitled to an allocation of investment returns, generated within the investment funds which we manage, based on a contractual formula. We typically receive 15.0% to 35.0% of all cash distributions from (i) the operating cash flow of each fund, after payment to the related fund investors of any accumulated and unpaid priority preferred returns and repayment of preferred capital contributions; and (ii) the cash flow resulting from the sale or refinance of any real estate assets held by each fund, after payment to the related fund investors of any accumulated and unpaid priority preferred returns and repayment of initial preferred capital contributions. Our funds' preferred returns range from 6.0% to 12.0%, typically 6.0% for common equity or 10.0% to 12.0% for preferred equity, which does not participate in profits. Performance allocations are related to services which have been provided and are recognized when it is determined that they are no longer probable of significant reversal, which is generally satisfied when an underlying fund investment is realized or sold. These revenues are included in performance allocations in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Leases

Lessor

At the inception of a new lease arrangement, including new leases that arise from amendments, the Company assesses the terms and conditions to determine the proper lease classification. When the terms of a lease effectively transfer control of the underlying asset, the lease is classified as a sales-type lease. When a lease does not effectively transfer control of the underlying asset to the lessee, but the Company obtains a guarantee for the value of the asset from a third-party, the Company classifies the lease as a direct financing lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases. The Company did not have any sales-type or direct financing leases as of December 31, 2023. For operating leases with minimum scheduled rent increases, the consolidated funds recognize rental revenue on a straight-line basis, including the effect of any free rent periods, over the lease term when collectability of lease payments is probable. Variable lease payments are recognized as rental revenue in the period when the changes in facts and circumstances on which the variable lease payments are based occur.

The Company identified two separate lease components as follows: i) land lease component, and ii) single property lease component comprised of building, land improvements and tenant improvements. The Company's leases also contain provisions for tenants to reimburse the consolidated funds for maintenance and other property operating expenses, which are considered to be non-lease components. The Company elected the practical expedient to combine lease and non-lease components and the non-lease components will be included with the single property lease component as the predominant component.

Lessee

To account for leases for which the Company is the lessee, contracts must be analyzed upon inception to determine if the arrangement is, or contains, a lease. A lease conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Lease classification tests and measurement procedures are performed at the lease commencement date.

The lease liability is initially measured as the present value of the lease payments over the lease term, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if that rate is readily determinable; otherwise, the lessee's incremental borrowing rate is used. The incremental borrowing rate is determined based on the estimated rate of interest that the lessee would pay to borrow on a collateralized basis over a similar term at an amount equal to the lease payments in a similar economic environment. The lease term is the noncancelable period of the lease and includes any renewal and termination options the Company is reasonably certain to exercise. The lease liability balance is amortized using the effective interest method. The lease liability is remeasured when the contract is modified, upon the resolution of a contingency such that variable payments become fixed or if the assessment of exercising an extension, termination or purchase option changes.

The right-of-use ("ROU") asset balance is initially measured as the lease liability amount, adjusted for any lease payments made prior to the commencement date, initial direct costs, estimated costs to dismantle, remove, or restore the underlying asset and incentives received.

The Company's impairment assessment for ROU assets is consistent with the impairment analysis for the Company's other long-lived assets and is reviewed quarterly.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable primarily consists of reimbursable expenses from third-party development projects. The Company continually reviews receivables and determines collectability by taking into consideration the history of past write-offs, collections, current credit conditions, payment history, and the financial condition of the related third-party service providers. In the event that the collectability of a receivable is uncertain, the Company will record an increase in the allowance for doubtful accounts. Amounts that are determined to be uncollectible with a high degree of certainty are written-off through bad debt expense, which is included in operating costs on the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. The Company did not record an allowance for doubtful accounts as of December 31, 2023 and 2022.

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share attributable to common stockholders is computed by dividing net income (loss) attributable to the Company by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during each period. The computation of diluted income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders further assumes the potential dilutive effect of potential common shares, which includes common shares, consisting of (a) stock options and warrants using the treasury stock method, and (b) convertible debt and preferred stock using the if-converted method. To the extent the inclusion of potential common shares is anti-dilutive, the potential common shares are excluded from the computation of diluted income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders. See Note 13 – Net Income (Loss) Per Share for the calculation of earnings per share.

Related Parties

In the normal course of business, the Company enters into transactions with related parties. Related parties include affiliates of the entity, entities under common control of the Company, significant stockholders and executive management, and other parties that can significantly influence the management and operating policies of the Company.

F-53

CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method in accordance with ASC 740, Accounting for Income Taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on temporary differences between the financial reporting and tax basis of assets and liabilities and operating loss and tax credit carry forwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured by applying enacted tax rates and laws and are released in the years in which the temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. Valuation allowances are provided against deferred tax assets when it is more-likely-than-not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.

A valuation allowance is required to reduce the balance of a deferred tax asset if it is determined that it is more-likely-than-not that all or some portion of the deferred tax asset will not be realized due to the lack of sufficient taxable income or other limitation on the Company's ability to utilize the loss carryforward.

We recognize the impact of an income tax position, if that position is more-likely-than-not of being sustained on audit, based on the technical merits of the position. Any related interest and penalties would be classified as income taxes in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. See Note 10 – Income Taxes for more detail.

Share-Based Compensation

In July 2017, the Company's Board of Directors approved the 2017 Incentive Stock Plan (the "2017 Plan"), which was amended and restated in December 2021 to authorize the issuance of up to 10.0 million shares of common stock. The Company estimates the fair value of stock options using the Black-Scholes valuation model, which requires certain assumptions that can materially impact the estimation of fair value and related compensation expense. The assumptions used to estimate fair value include the price of our common stock, the expected volatility of our common stock, the risk-free interest rate, and the expected term of stock option awards. Management elected to recognize forfeitures as they occur pursuant to ASU 2016-09, Compensation — Stock Compensation. As a result, no forfeiture rate was assumed. The fair value of restricted stock units is based on the fair value of the Company's common stock at the date of grant.

Segments

Historically, the Company's operations were organized into three reportable segments, fund management, development, and brokerage. During the three months ended December 31, 2023, the Company reevaluated its reportable segments, considering (i) the evolution of the Company after closing its initial public offering and how the Company's chief operating decision maker ("CODM"), the Company's Chief Executive Officer, assesses performance and allocates resources, (ii) changes to the budgeting process and in key personnel driven by the Company's growth initiatives, and (iii) how management reports ongoing company performance to the Board of Directors. With the evolution and growth of the Company, the Company's CODM assesses performance and resource allocation on an aggregate basis under the Company's asset management platform, and no longer reviews operating results for development or brokerage activity separately. As such, management concluded that the Company operates through one operating segment.

The Company's CODM assesses revenue, operating expenses and key operating statistics to evaluate performance and allocate resources on a basis that eliminates the impact of the consolidated investment funds (intercompany eliminations required by U.S. GAAP) and noncontrolling interests. Management concluded that the consolidated investment funds do not meet the requirements in ASC 280, Segment Reporting, of operating segments, as The Company's CODM does not review the operating results of

these investment funds for the purposes of allocating resources, assessing performance or determining whether additional investments or advances will be made to these funds. The investment funds are consolidated based on the requirement in ASC 810, Consolidation, as the Company was determined to be the primary beneficiary of each of these variable interest entities since it has the power to direct the activities of the entities and the right to absorb losses, generally in the form of guarantees of indebtedness that are significant to the individual investment funds.

F-54

CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Accounting Policies of Consolidated Funds

Accounting for Real Estate Investments

Upon the acquisition of real estate properties, a determination is made as to whether the acquisition meets the criteria to be accounted for as an asset acquisition or a business combination. The determination is primarily based on whether the assets acquired, and liabilities assumed meet the definition of a business. The determination of whether the assets acquired, and liabilities assumed meet the definition of a business includes a single or similar asset threshold. In applying the single or similar asset threshold, if substantially all the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets, the assets acquired, and liabilities assumed are not considered a business. Most of our consolidated fund acquisitions meet the single or similar asset threshold, due to the fact that substantially all the fair value of the gross assets acquired is attributable to the real estate assets acquired.

Acquired real estate properties accounted for as asset acquisitions are recorded at cost, including acquisition and closing costs. Our consolidated funds allocate the cost of real estate properties to the tangible and intangible assets and liabilities acquired based on their estimated relative fair values. Our consolidated funds determine the fair value of tangible assets, such as land, building, furniture, fixtures and equipment, using a combination of internal valuation techniques that consider comparable market transactions, replacement costs and other available information and fair value estimates provided by third-party valuation specialists, depending upon the circumstances of the acquisition. Our consolidated funds determine the fair value of identified intangible assets or liabilities, which typically relate to in-place leases, using a combination of internal valuation techniques that consider the terms of the in-place leases, current market data for comparable leases, and fair value estimates provided by third-party valuation specialists, depending upon the circumstances of the acquisition.

If a transaction is determined to be a business combination, the assets acquired, liabilities assumed, and any identified intangibles are recorded at their estimated fair values on the transaction date, and transaction costs are expensed in the period incurred.

Cost Capitalization and Depreciation

Our consolidated funds capitalize costs, including certain indirect costs, incurred in connection with their development and construction activities. Included in these capitalized costs are payroll costs associated with time spent by site employees in connection with capital addition activities at the asset level. Interest, property taxes and insurance are also capitalized during periods in which redevelopment, development and construction projects are in progress. Capitalization of costs, including certain indirect costs, incurred in connection with our capital addition activities, commence at the point in time when activities necessary to get the assets ready for their intended use are in progress. This includes when assets are undergoing physical construction, as well as when apartment homes are held vacant in advance of planned construction, provided that other activities such as permitting, planning and design are in progress. Our consolidated funds cease the capitalization of costs when the assets are substantially complete and ready for their intended use, which is typically when construction has been completed and apartment homes or other properties are available for occupancy. Cost of ordinary repairs, maintenance and resident turnover are charged to operating expense, as incurred.

Depreciation for all tangible real estate assets is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. The estimated useful lives of our real estate assets are as follows:

Building and building improvements

15 - 40 years 3 - 7 years

Furniture, fixtures, and equipment

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, depreciation expense was \$10.4 million and \$9.3 million, respectively.

F-55

CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Real estate and other long-lived assets to be held and used are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization, unless the carrying amount of the asset is determined to not be recoverable. If events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of a long-lived asset may not be recoverable, we make an assessment of its recoverability by comparing the carrying amount to our estimate of the undiscounted net future cash flows resulting from the use of the asset, excluding interest charges. If the carrying amount exceeds the aggregate undiscounted future cash flows, our consolidated funds recognize an impairment loss to the extent the carrying amount exceeds the estimated fair value of the asset.

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, our consolidated funds did not record an impairment loss related to its real estate and other long-lived assets.

Cash

Cash includes cash in bank accounts. The consolidated funds deposit cash with several high-quality financial institutions. These deposits are guaranteed by the FDIC up to an insurance limit of \$250,000. At times, cash balances may exceed FDIC limits. Although the consolidated funds bear risk on amounts in excess of those insured by the FDIC, they have not experienced and do not anticipate any losses due to the high quality of the institutions where the deposits are held.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash consists of tenant security deposits and cash reserves required by certain loan agreements for capital improvements and repairs. As improvements and repairs are completed, related costs incurred by the consolidated funds are funded from the reserve accounts. Restricted cash also includes cash held in escrow accounts by mortgage companies on behalf of the consolidated funds for payment of property taxes, insurance, and interest.

Advance Key Money

Our consolidated funds have entered into certain arrangements in which hotel franchisors or their affiliates have provided the consolidated funds with financing as part of a franchise arrangement. The consolidated funds have been advanced funds upon entering into a franchise agreement and are not required to repay the funds as long as the franchise agreement is not terminated prior to its scheduled maturity. The potential amount of funds that would be required to be repaid decreases with the passage of time. The consolidated funds record a liability equal to the initial amount of funds received, which is amortized over the term of the franchise agreement and recorded as a reduction of franchise fee expense, which is included in consolidated funds - hospitality expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Deferred Financing Costs

Deferred financing costs represent costs incurred in connection with obtaining long-term debt and are capitalized and amortized over the term of the related debt obligation using the straight-line method. Capitalized deferred financing costs, net of accumulated amortization, are offset against and included in notes payable, net in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

F-56

CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated Fund Revenues

In accordance with ASC 606, our consolidated funds apply the five-step framework in determining the timing and amount of revenue to recognize. This framework requires an entity to: (i) identify the contract(s) with customers, (ii) identify the performance obligations within the contract, (iii) determine the transaction price, (iv) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations within the contract, and (v) recognize revenue when or as the entity satisfies a performance obligation. Our consolidated funds' revenues primarily consist of hospitality revenues, rental income and interest income.

Consolidated funds - hospitality revenue

Hospitality revenues are comprised of charges for room rentals, food and beverage sales, and other hotel operating activities. Revenues are recognized as earned, which is defined as the date upon which a guest occupies a room or utilizes the hotel's services. Revenues are recorded net of sales tax.

Our consolidated funds have performance obligations to provide accommodations and other ancillary services to hotel guests. As compensation for such goods and services, the consolidated funds are typically entitled to a fixed nightly fee for an agreed upon period and additional fixed fees for any ancillary services purchased. These fees are generally payable at the time the hotel guest checks out of the hotel. The consolidated funds generally satisfy the performance obligations over time and recognize the revenue from room sales and from other ancillary guest services on a daily basis, as the rooms are occupied, and the services have been rendered.

For food and beverage, revenue is recognized upon transfer of promised products or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration the consolidated funds received in exchange for those services, which is generally when payment is tendered at the time of sale.

The consolidated funds receive deposits for events and rooms. Such deposits are deferred and included in other liabilities on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The deposits are credited to consolidated funds – hospitality revenue when the specific event takes place.

Consolidated funds - other revenue

Consolidated funds – other revenue includes rental revenue of \$4.0 million and \$3.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Rental revenue includes the revenues generated primarily by the rental operations of the residential (multi-family and single-family) and commercial properties of our consolidated funds.

Upon adoption of ASC 842, Leases ("ASC 842"), effective January 1, 2022, at the inception of a new lease arrangement, including new leases that arise from amendments, the Company assesses the terms and conditions to determine the proper lease classification. When the terms of a lease effectively transfer control of the underlying asset, the lease is classified as a sales-type lease. When a lease does not effectively transfer control of the underlying asset to the lessee, but the Company obtains a guarantee for the value of the asset from a third-party, the Company classifies the lease as a direct financing lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases. The consolidated funds did not have any sales-type or direct financing leases as of December 31, 2023. For operating leases with minimum scheduled rent increases, the consolidated funds recognize rental revenue on a straight-line basis, including the effect of any free rent periods, over the lease term when collectability of lease payments is probable. Variable lease payments are recognized as rental revenue in the period when the changes in facts and circumstances on which the variable lease payments are based occur.

F-57

CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Company identified two separate lease components as follows: i) land lease component, and ii) single property lease component comprised of building, land improvements and tenant improvements. The Company's leases also contain provisions for tenants to reimburse the consolidated funds for maintenance and other property operating expenses, which are considered to be non-lease components. The Company elected the practical expedient to combine lease and non-lease components and the non-lease components will be included with the single property lease component as the predominant component.

In addition, consolidated funds - other revenue includes interest income of \$3.7 million and \$2.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, which is generated by a consolidated fund's lending activity. Interest income is recognized on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with the lending agreements over the term of the respective loan agreement.

Consolidated Fund Expenses

Consolidated fund expenses consist primarily of costs, expenses and fees that are incurred by, or arise out of the operation and activities of or otherwise related to, our consolidated funds, including, without limitation, operating costs, depreciation and amortization, interest expense on debt held by our consolidated funds, gain on extinguishment of debt, gain on derivative instruments, insurance expenses, professional fees and other costs associated with administering and supporting those funds.

Accounts receivable primarily consists of amounts due from guests or groups for hotel rooms and services provided by the hotel properties. Accounts receivable also include due, but unpaid, rental payments. Our consolidated funds continually review receivables and determine collectability by taking into consideration the history of past write-offs, collections, current credit conditions, tenant payment history, the financial condition of the tenants, business conditions in the industry in which the tenant operates and economic conditions in the area in which the property is located. In the event that the collectability of a receivable is uncertain, our consolidated funds will record an increase in the allowance for doubtful accounts. Amounts that are determined to be uncollectible with a high degree of certainty are written-off through bad debt expense, which is included in consolidated funds – hospitality expenses and consolidated funds – other expenses on the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. Our consolidated funds had no allowance for doubtful accounts as of December 31, 2023 and 2022.

Derivative Instruments

The consolidated funds record all derivative instruments on the consolidated balance sheets at fair value. The accounting for changes in the fair value of the derivative and the effect on the financial statements depends on its hedge designation and whether the hedge is highly effective in achieving offsetting changes in the fair value of cash flows of the asset or liability hedged. If the consolidated fund elects not to apply hedge accounting treatment, any changes in the fair value of the derivative instruments is recognized immediately in consolidated funds - hospitality expenses in the consolidated statements of operations. If the derivative is designated and qualifies for hedge accounting treatment, the change in fair value of the derivative is recorded in other comprehensive income (loss).

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair value of financial instruments is disclosed in accordance with ASC 825, Financial Instruments. The fair value of our financial instruments is estimated using available market information and established valuation methodologies. The estimates of fair value are not necessarily indicative of the amounts the consolidated funds could realize on disposition of the financial instruments. The use of different market assumptions and/or valuation methodologies may have a material effect on the estimated fair value amounts.

F-58

CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Fair Value Measurements

Fair value measurements and disclosures consist of a three level valuation hierarchy. The valuation hierarchy categorizes assets and liabilities measured at fair value into one of three different levels depending on the ability to observe the inputs employed in the measurement using market participant assumptions at the measurement date. An asset's or liability's categorization within the valuation hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The three levels are defined as follows:

- · Level 1 Inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that can be accessed at the measurement date.
- · Level 2 Inputs include quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly. If the asset or liability has a specified (contractual) term, a Level 2 input must be observable for substantially the full term of the asset or liability.
- · Level 3 Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. These unobservable inputs reflect assumptions about what market participants would use to price the asset or liability and are developed based on the best information available in the circumstances (which might include the reporting company's own data)

F-59

CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

The Company adopted ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments – Credit Losses and subsequent amendments (collectively, "Topic 326"), effective January 1, 2023. Topic 326 was intended to improve financial reporting by requiring more timely recognition of credit losses on loans and other financial instruments that are not accounted for at fair value through net income and required that financial assets measured at amortized cost be presented at the net amount expected to be collected, through an allowance for credit losses that was deducted from the amortized cost basis. The amendments in Topic 326 required the Company to measure all expected credit losses based upon historical experience, current conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect the collectability of the financial assets and eliminated the "incurred loss" methodology under current U.S. GAAP. Loans and receivables between entities under common control are not within the scope of this guidance. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.

In August 2020, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued ASU 2020-06, *Debt – Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and Derivatives and Hedging – Contracts in Entity's Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40)*, which simplifies the accounting for convertible instruments by reducing the number of accounting models for convertible debt instruments and convertible preferred stock, removes certain settlement conditions that are required for equity contracts to qualify for the derivative scope exception and also simplifies the diluted earnings per share calculation in certain areas. The amendments in ASU 2020-06 are effective for the Company for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2023, including interim periods within those fiscal years, with early adoption permitted beginning after December 15, 2020. We are currently evaluating the impact of ASU 2020-06, but do not believe the adoption of this standard will have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In November 2023, FASB issued ASU 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures, which serves to improve reportable segment disclosure requirements, primarily through enhanced disclosures about significant segment expenses on both an annual and interim basis. The guidance does not change the definition of a segment, the method for determining segments, or the criteria for aggregating operating segments into reportable segments and is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024, with early adoption permitted. We are currently evaluating the impact of the adoption of ASU 2023-07 on our consolidated financial statements.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, *Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures (Topic 740, Income Taxes)*. ASU 2023-09, which serves to enhance income tax disclosures by requiring a tabular rate reconciliation and additional information on income taxes paid. The guidance is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024, with early adoption permitted. We are currently evaluating the impact of the adoption of ASU 2023-09 on our consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company deconsolidated five hospitality funds which were contributed to the Caliber Hospitality, LP, whose sole general partner is Caliber Hospitality Trust, Inc. (the "Caliber Hospitality Trust"). In addition, the Company deconsolidated two VIEs, one that sold its investment in a commercial property and the Company was no longer determined to be the primary beneficiary upon repayment of the loan secured by the property, and one that was developing a multifamily property and the Company was no longer determined to be the primary beneficiary upon refinancing the loan agreement. During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company deconsolidated two VIEs, one that sold its investment in a multi-family residential property, repaid the loan secured by the property and therefore the Company was no longer determined to be the primary beneficiary and one that was developing a multi-family property and the Company was no longer determined to be the primary beneficiary upon refinancing the loan agreement. We aggregate and report the results of operations of these VIEs in consolidated fund revenues and consolidated fund expenses within the accompanying consolidated statements of operations through the date of deconsolidation.

F-60

CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Company consolidated Caliber Hospitality, LP and the Caliber Hospitality Trust, which include activity from five previously consolidated hospitality funds and one previously unconsolidated fund during the year ended December 31, 2023 because the Company was determined to be the primary beneficiary as it has the power to direct the activities and the obligation to absorb their losses through its guarantee of the indebtedness secured by the hospitality assets, which is significant to Caliber Hospitality Trust and Caliber Hospitality, LP. In addition, the Company consolidated West Frontier Holdco, LLC ("West Frontier") as the Company was determined to be the primary beneficiary as we have the power to direct the activities of West Frontier and the obligation to absorb their losses through its guarantee of their indebtedness which is significant to the fund. The consolidation of the Caliber Hospitality Trust and West Frontier consisted of the following, excluding intercompany eliminations at the time of consolidation (in thousands):

Assets		
Real estate investments, net	\$	87,897
Cash		3,667
Restricted cash		9,260
Accounts receivable, net		4,348
Notes receivable - related parties		10,411
Due from related parties		40
Investments in unconsolidated entities		84,076
Operating lease - right of use assets		8,775
Prepaid and other assets		5,953
Total assets	\$	214,427
Liabilities		
Notes payable, net	\$	80,278
Notes payable - related parties		34,786
Accounts payable and accrued expenses		7,858
Due to related parties		10,302
Operating lease liabilities		12,441
Other liabilities		2,158
Total liabilities		147,823
Stockholders' equity		66,604
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity	0	
Total habilities and stockholders' equity	2	214,427

F-61

CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company consolidated Northsight Crossing AZ, LLC ("Northsight") and Southpointe Fundco, LLC ("Southpointe") because the Company was determined to be the primary beneficiary as we have the power to direct the activities of Northsight and Southpointe and the obligation to absorb their losses through its guarantee of their indebtedness which is significant to the fund. The consolidation of Northsight and Southpointe consisted of the following (in thousands) at the time of consolidation:

Assets	
Real estate investments, net	\$ 23,611
Cash	233
Restricted cash	1,325
Prepaid and other assets	748
Total assets	\$ 25,917
Liabilities	
Notes payable, net	\$ 15,824
Notes payable - related parties	5,301
Accounts payable and accrued expenses	109
Due to related parties	7
Other liabilities	688
Total liabilities	21,929
Stockholders' equity	3,988
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity	\$ 25,917

Management has determined that the equity holders in our consolidated entities, as a group, lack the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the entity's economic performance and/or have disproportionate voting rights relative to their equity. The Company was determined to be the primary beneficiary of each of these entities since it has the power to direct the activities of the entities and the right to absorb losses, generally in the form of guarantees of indebtedness that are significant to the individual entities.

Generally, the assets of the individual consolidated VIEs can be used only to settle liabilities of each respective individual consolidated VIEs and the liabilities of the individual consolidated VIEs are liabilities for which creditors or beneficial interest holders do not have recourse to the general credit of the Company. When the VIE is consolidated, we reflect the assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and cash flows of the consolidated funds on a gross basis, and the interests in the VIEs are included in non-controlling interest in the consolidated financial statements. The Company has provided financial support to certain consolidated VIEs in the form of short-term financing and guarantees of the debts of certain VIEs. In general, our maximum exposure to loss due to involvement with the consolidated VIEs is limited to the amount of capital investment in the VIE, if any, or the potential obligation to perform on the guarantee of debts.

F-62

CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 4 - Real Estate Investments

Real Estate Investments of the Company

Asset Acquisitions

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company acquired its headquarters office building for an aggregate purchase price of \$19.5 million with the acquisition being accounted for as an asset acquisition under U.S. GAAP. There were no asset acquisitions by the Company during the year ended December 31, 2022.

The allocation of the purchase price among the assets acquired at their relative fair value as of the acquisition date, consisted of the following for the year ended December 31, 2023 (in thousands):

	 Year Ended December 31, 2023	
Real estate investments, at cost		
Land and land improvements	\$ 9,131	
Building and building improvements	9,332	
Furniture, fixtures and equipment	959	
Intangible lease assets	398	
Intangible lease liabilities	(348)	
Total purchase price of assets acquired	\$ 19,472	

Real Estate Investments of the Consolidated Funds

Asset Acquisitions by Consolidated Funds

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the consolidated funds acquired one multi-family residential property for an aggregate purchase price of \$6.6 million with the acquisition being accounted for as an asset acquisition under U.S. GAAP. During the year ended December 31, 2022, the consolidated funds acquired one commercial building and one property with vacant land for an aggregate purchase price of \$23.8 million with the acquisition being accounted for as an asset acquisition under U.S. GAAP.

The allocation of the purchase price among the assets acquired at their relative fair value as of the acquisition date, consisted of the following for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

	Years Ende	Years Ended December 31,		
	2023	2022		
Real estate investments, at cost				
Land and land improvements	\$ 599	\$ 13,185		
Building and building improvements	3,938	10,458		
Furniture, fixtures and equipment	2,106	_		
Tenant improvements	_	123		
Total purchase price of assets acquired	\$ 6,643	\$ 23,766		

CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

F-63

Dispositions by Consolidated Funds

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the consolidated funds sold its investment in one commercial property located in Scottsdale, Arizona, with a cost basis of \$21.7 million, resulting in a gain of \$5.0 million, which is included in consolidated funds - gain on sale of real estate assets on the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. During the year ended December 31, 2022, the consolidated funds sold its investment in one multi-family apartment building located in Phoenix, Arizona, with a cost basis of \$9.1 million, resulting in a gain of \$21.5 million, which is included in consolidated funds - gain on sale of real estate assets on the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Note 5 - Prepaid and Other Assets

Prepaid and other assets consisted of the following as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

	I	December 31, 2023	December 31, 2022
Pursuit costs (1)	\$	1,081	\$ 4,495
Prepaid expenses		981	704
Accounts receivable, net		205	62
Deposits		63	46
Other assets		451	554
Total prepaid and other assets	\$	2,781	\$ 5,861

(1) Pursuit costs represent expenses incurred related to new fund formation, primarily for professional, legal, consulting, accounting and tax services. As the funds raise equity investments and operating cash flow, as applicable, these costs are reimbursed by the respective funds to the Company. The Company assesses collectability and expenses any amounts in which collectability is not reasonably assured.

Prepaid and Other Assets of the Consolidated Funds

Prepaid and other assets of the consolidated funds consisted of the following as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

	December 31, 2023	December 31, 2022
Prepaid expenses	1,735	\$ 1,511
Derivative assets	1,216	1,646
Pursuit costs (1)	1,102	549
Deposits	669	742
Deferred franchise fees, net	278	372
Intangibles, net	184	361
Inventory	142	138
Other assets (2)	6,351	39
Total prepaid and other assets	11,677	\$ 5,358

- (1) Pursuit costs represent expenses incurred related to new fund formation and potential hospitality asset acquisitions, primarily for professional, legal, consulting, accounting and tax services. As the funds raise equity investments and operating cash flow, as applicable, these costs are reimbursed by the respective funds to the consolidated fund. Management assesses collectability and expenses any amounts in which collectability is not reasonably assured.
- (2) Other assets as of December 31, 2023, primarily represents incremental costs, including professional, legal, consulting, accounting and tax services, directly attributable to Caliber Hospitality Trust that are deferred and will be charged against the gross proceeds of the offering.

F-64

CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 6 - Notes Payable

Notes Payable of the Company

Notes payable consisted of the following as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

Notes Payable	Decer	December 31, 2023		December 31, 2022	Interest Rate (1)	Matu	rity Date (1)
Corporate notes	\$	36,442	\$	13,279	10.00% - 12.00%	January 20	024 - March 2025
Convertible corporate notes		1,324		1,374	8.25%	A	pril 2024
Real estate and other loans		16,252		_	4.30% - 9.07%	August 202	4 - November 2029
Total notes payable		54,018		14,653			
Deferred financing costs, net		(219)		_			
Total notes payable, net	\$	53,799	\$	14,653			

(1) As of December 31, 2023.

Real Estate Loans

The terms of the loan agreements described below include, among other things, certain financial covenants, as defined in the respective loan agreements, including key financial ratios and liquidity requirements.

Gateway II HoldCo, LLC

On January 31, 2023, Caliber assumed a loan which is secured by the Company's headquarters office building (see Note 4 – Real Estate Investments). The terms of the note require monthly principal and interest payments, with a balloon payment due at maturity. The loan has a fixed interest rate of 4.30% in effect through the maturity date in November 2029. The terms of the loan do not allow the prepayment of the outstanding balance in part or in whole at any time prior to the maturity date. The terms of the loan agreement include covenant clauses, which require certain key financial ratios and liquidity be met. As of December 31, 2023, the debt service coverage ratio required by the loan agreement was not satisfied, which per the terms of the agreement required the Company to transfer funds to a cash management account.

Corporate Notes and Convertible Corporate Notes

The Company has entered into multiple general corporate financing arrangements with third parties. The arrangements are generally evidenced in the form of a promissory note and require monthly or quarterly interest-only payments until maturity. Certain corporate notes are secured by the otherwise unencumbered assets of the Company. The loans generally have a 12-month term and may be extended upon the mutual agreement of the lender and the borrower. Management believes it can come to a mutual agreement with each lender to extend the maturities of the notes for an additional 12-month term.

CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As of December 31, 2023, there were 222 individual corporate notes outstanding, with an average outstanding principal balance of \$0.2 million, interest rates ranging from 8.25% to 12.00%, with weighted average interest rate of 11.42%, and maturity dates ranging from January 2024 to March 2025. During the year ended December 31, 2023, there were no conversions of debt into common stock. In April 2024, the Company entered into a loan extension agreement with certain corporate note holders to extend the respective maturity dates of multiple individual corporate notes, aggregating \$12.3 million, for an additional 13 months months, resulting in maturity dates of these corporate notes ranging from May 2025 to April 2026.

As of December 31, 2022, there were 124 individual corporate notes outstanding, with an average outstanding principal balance of \$0.1 million, interest rates ranging from 8.25% to 12.00%, with a weighted average interest rate of 10.19%, and maturity dates ranging from April 2023 to June 2024.

The Company has issued corporate notes with a conversion feature. The conversion price is \$7.57 per share of common stock. The holders of the convertible corporate notes can elect to convert all or any portion of the balance at any time. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the value of the conversion feature was zero.

Payroll Protection Program Loans

In January 2021, management was granted a Payroll Protection Program loan totaling \$1.4 million and in August 2022, the loan and related interest was forgiven.

Future Minimum Payments

The following table summarizes the scheduled principal repayments of our indebtedness as of December 31, 2023 (in thousands):

Year	 nount
2024	\$ 37,984
2025	391
2026	304
2027	317
2028	330
Thereafter	 14,692
Total	\$ 54,018

Deferred Financing Costs

Amortization of deferred financing costs for the Company was an immaterial amount and there were no deferred financing cost write-offs during the year ended December 31, 2023. There were no deferred financing costs or related amortization as of or during the year ended December 31, 2022.

F-66

CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes Payable of the Consolidated Funds

Notes payable of the consolidated funds consisted of the following as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively (in thousands):

Notes Payable	December 31, 2023		December 31, 2022		Interest Rate (1)	Maturity date (1)
Real Estate Loans						
Hampton Inn & Suites Hotel	\$	5,939	\$	6,136	6.12%	July 2025
Four Points by Sheraton Hotel (2)		11,000		11,000	18.00%	September 2023
Holiday Inn Ocotillo Hotel		9,250		9,250	11.34%	February 2024
Airport Hotel Portfolio		55,631		56,470	13.75%	January 2025
DoubleTree by Hilton Tucson Convention Center		18,418		18,856	4.22%	August 2027
Hilton Tucson East		11,901(3)		_	6.25%	November 2025
DT Mesa Holdco II, LLC		3,000		3,000	7.34%	February 2024
Circle Lofts, LLC		(4)		4,889	N/A	N/A
Northsight Crossings AZ, LLC		(5)		14,320	N/A	N/A
Southpointe Fundco, LLC		1,050		1,050	11.99%	March 2024
West Frontier Holdco, LLC		4,636(6)			6.35%	February 2038
Total Real Estate Loans		120,825		124,971		
Revolving line of credit		4,500		4,500	8.75%	October 2024
Member notes		5,600		5,025	10.00%	June 2025
Economic injury disaster and other loans		475		450	3.75% - 12.05%	March 2024 - June 2050
Total notes payable		131,400		134,946		
Deferred financing costs, net		(1,716)		(690)		
Total notes payable, net	\$	129,684	\$	134,256		

⁽¹⁾ As of December 31, 2023.

⁽²⁾ During the year ended December 31, 2023, the hotel ceased operations as the Company is converting the property into a multi-family residential assets.

⁽³⁾ In March 2023, the asset was contributed to Caliber Hospitality, LP and the fund was consolidated because the Company was determined to be the primary beneficiary as we have the power to direct the activities and the obligation to absorb their losses through its guarantee of the indebtedness secured by the hospitality assets, which is significant to Caliber Hospitality, LP and the Caliber Hospitality Trust.

⁴⁾ During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company deconsolidated Circle Lofts, LLC, as the Company was no longer determined to be the primary beneficiary of the fund upon refinancing the loan agreement.

⁵⁾ In October 2023, Northsight Crossings AZ, LLC sold its investment in the commercial property and paid its existing property loan in full. As a result, the Company determined it was no longer the primary beneficiary of the fund and therefore the fund was deconsolidated.

(6) In March 2023, the fund was consolidated as the Company was determined to be the primary beneficiary as we have the power to direct the activities of West Frontier and the obligation to absorb their losses through its guarantee of their indebtedness which is significant to the fund.

F-67

CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Real Estate Loans

The terms of the loan agreements described below include, among other things, certain financial covenants, as defined in the respective loan agreements, including key financial ratios and liquidity requirements. Unless otherwise noted below, the consolidated funds were in compliance with the required financial covenants as of December 31, 2023

Hampton Inn & Suites Hotel

In July 2015, the consolidated fund entered into a loan agreement which is secured by a leasehold deed of trust and assignment of leases and rents of a hotel property in Scottsdale, Arizona. The terms of the note require monthly principal and interest payments, with a balloon payment due at maturity. The loan has a fixed interest rate of 6.12% in effect through the maturity date in July 2025. The terms of the loan allow the prepayment of the outstanding balance in part or in whole at any time prior to the maturity date. The loan is guaranteed by an individual who is an affiliate of the Company. The terms of the loan agreement include covenant clauses, which require certain key financial ratios and liquidity be met. As of December 31, 2023, liquidity required by the loan agreement was not satisfied. However, compliance was reestablished in January 2024 and the lender has not declared an event of default as of April 15, 2024.

Four Points by Sheraton Hotel

In June 2018, the consolidated fund entered into a loan agreement which is secured by a deed of trust and assignment of leases and rents of a hotel property in Phoenix, Arizona. The loan requires monthly interest-only payments until maturity. The loan is guaranteed by the Company and matured in September 2023. Per the terms of this agreement, the interest rate on the loan is equal to US Prime Rate plus 2.25%, with a floor rate of 9.65%, until August 31, 2023, at which time, the interest rate increased to 18% until the loan is paid in full or replaced with construction financing from the lender. The lender has not called the loan as of April 15, 2024 and the consolidated fund is current on monthly interest payments. The Company is negotiating a construction loan and expects to repay the loan upon execution of the construction loan.

Holiday Inn Ocotillo Hotel

In July 2018, the consolidated fund entered into a loan agreement which is secured by a deed of trust and assignment of leases and rents of a hotel property in Chandler, Arizona. The loan requires monthly interest-only payments. The interest rate on the loan is equal to 1-month LIBOR plus 6.00%, with a floor rate of 11.00% until maturity in May 2023. In May 2023, the loan agreement was amended and restated with the lender, extending the maturity date to November 2023 and amending the interest rate to SOFR plus 600 basis points, with a floor rate of 11.00%. In November 2023, the loan agreement was amended with the lender, extending the maturity date to February 1, 2024 The loan is guaranteed by the Company. In February 2024, the loan agreement was amended with the lender, extending the maturity date to May 2024.

Airport Hotel Portfolio

In September 2018, the consolidated fund entered into a portfolio loan agreement which was secured by a deed of trust and assignment of leases and rents of the Airport Hotel Portfolio. The loan had a variable interest rate equal to one-month LIBOR plus 3.75% and the loan required interest-only payments until maturity. The loan was guaranteed by the Company and individuals who are affiliates of the Company. In January 2023, the consolidated fund paid the loan amount outstanding in full.

F-68

CALIBERCOS INC, AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In January 2023, the consolidated fund entered into a loan agreement which is secured by a deed of trust and assignment of leases and rents of the Airport Hotel Portfolio. Per the terms of the loan agreement, the loan has a variable interest rate equal to SOFR plus 8.75% and matures in January 2025. In connection with the loan, the consolidated fund entered into an interest rate cap agreement, which sets the maximum SOFR rate for the loan at 5.00% through January 2024. The loan requires interest-only payments until maturity. The terms of the loan do not allow the prepayment of the outstanding balance in part prior to the maturity date but can be prepaid in whole subject to certain conditions, terms and fees outlined in the loan agreement. The terms of the loan agreement require an exit fee equal to 1.25% of the original principal amount of the loan and a minimum return equal to 30.0% of the original principal amount of the loan less any interest payments made at the time the loan is repaid in full. The exit fee was accrued upon entering into the loan and recorded as a deferred financing cost to be amortized over the life of the loan. The loan is guaranteed by the Company and individuals who are affiliates of the Company.

DoubleTree by Hilton Tucson Convention Center

In August 2019, the consolidated fund entered into a loan agreement which is secured by a deed of trust and assignment of rents of the DoubleTree by Hilton Tucson Convention Center located in Tucson, Arizona. The loan has a variable interest rate per annum equal to LIBOR plus 2.50%. In connection with the loan, the consolidated fund entered into an interest rate swap agreement, which sets the interest at a fixed rate of 4.22% from September 2022 through August 2027. The loan required interest-only payments until September 2022 and principal and interest payments thereafter until maturity. The terms of the loan allow for the prepayment of the outstanding balance in whole or in part at any time prior to the maturity date. The loan matures in August 2027 and is guaranteed by the Company.

Hilton Tucson East

In November 2021, the consolidated fund entered into a loan agreement which is secured by the deed of trust and assignment of rents of the Hilton Tucson East hotel located in Tucson, AZ. The loan has a fixed interest rate of 6.25% and matures in November 2025. The loan required interest-only payments until June 1, 2023 and principal and interest payments thereafter until maturity. The loan amount may be prepaid prior to maturity subject to certain conditions and terms and a prepayment fee as outlined in the agreement. The terms of the loan agreement include covenant clauses, which require certain key financial ratios and liquidity be met. As of December 31, 2023, the debt service coverage ratio required by the loan agreement was not satisfied. However, the lender has not declared an event of default as of April 15, 2024.

In November 2019, the consolidated fund entered into a loan agreement which is secured by the deed of trust of three commercial building in Mesa, Arizona. The loan requires interest-only payments until maturity and the terms of the loan allow the prepayment of the outstanding balance in part or in whole at any time prior to the maturity date with no prepayment penalty. In December 2022, the terms of the loan agreement were renegotiated, extending the maturity date of the loan to November 2023 and amending the interest rate to the greater of (i) the federal home loan bank rate plus 2.75%% or (ii) 6.50%. In November 2023, the loan agreement was amended with the lender, extending the maturity date to February 2024. The loan is guaranteed by the Company. In February 2024, the loan agreement was amended with the lender, extending the maturity date to May 2024 and waiving the minimum liquidity covenant default.

F-69

CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Circle Lofts, LLC

In July 2020, the consolidated fund entered into a loan agreement which is secured by a deed of trust and assignment of rents of a multi-family property located in Scottsdale, Arizona. The loan bore interest at a fixed annual rate of 5.25% until August 1, 2023. On August 1, 2023, and each six months thereafter until the maturity date in August 2050, the interest rate was adjusted to a rate which is equal to the sum of the six-month LIBOR plus 3.75%. The loan required interest-only payments until July 2021 and principal and interest payments thereafter until maturity. The loan was guaranteed by individuals who are affiliates of the Company. In October 2023, the consolidated fund paid the loan amount outstanding in full.

In October 2023, the consolidated fund entered into a \$6.3 million loan agreement which is secured by a deed of trust and assignment of leases and rents of a multi-family property located in Scottsdale, Arizona. Per the terms of the loan agreement, the loan has a fixed interest rate of 7.42% and requires interest-only payments until maturity in November 2028. The terms of the loan allow the prepayment of the outstanding balance prior to the maturity date, subject to certain conditions, terms and fees outlined in the loan agreement. The loan is not guaranteed by the Company or any individuals who are affiliates of the Company, therefore, the Company deconsolidated Circle Lofts, LLC as the Company was no longer determined to be the primary beneficiary upon refinancing the loan agreement.

Northsight Crossings AZ, LLC

In January 2022, the consolidated fund entered into a loan agreement which is secured by a deed of trust and assignment of rents of a commercial property in Scottsdale, Arizona. The loan bore interest at an annual rate of 3.75% for the first five years, thereafter, the interest rate would adjust annually to a rate which is equal to the sum of the published prime rate as defined by the agreement and a margin of 0.5% with a floor of 3.75%. The maturity date of the loan was February 2029. The loan was guaranteed by the Company. In October 2023, the consolidated fund sold its investment in the commercial property and paid its existing property loan in full.

Southpointe Fundco, LLC

In June 2022, the consolidated fund entered into a loan agreement which is secured by a deed of trust and assignment of rents of a residential development property in Phoenix, Arizona. The loan has a fixed rate per annum equal to 9.99%. In May 2023, an extension agreement was executed with the lender, extending the maturity date to December 2023. In November 2023, an extension agreement was executed with the lender, extending the maturity date to March 2024 and amending the interest to a fixed rate of 11.99%. The terms of the loan allow the prepayment of the outstanding balance in part or in whole at any time prior to the maturity date with no prepayment penalty. The loan is guaranteed by an individual who is an affiliate of the Company. In February 2024, an extension agreement was executed with the lender, extending the maturity date to September 2024.

West Frontier Holdco, LLC

In March 2023, the consolidated fund entered into a construction loan agreement which is secured by a deed of trust and assignment of rents of a multi-family residential property in Payson, Arizona. Upon completion of the construction project, subject to conditions in the agreement, the loan converts to a term loan. The loan requires interest-only payments until March 2025 and principal and interest payments until March 2028, at a fixed interest rate of 6.35%. In April 2028, the loan requires principal and interest payments until maturity in February 2038, at a rate of the five year Treasury Constant Federal Reserve Index plus 2.50%. The terms of the loan allow the prepayment of the outstanding balance in part or in whole at any time prior to the maturity date with no prepayment penalty. The loan is guaranteed by individuals who are affiliates of the Company.

F-70

CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Revolving Line of Credit

In August 2019, a consolidated fund entered into a revolving line of credit ("LOC") with a maximum borrowing amount of \$4.5 million. The LOC is secured by the consolidated fund's assets and is guaranteed by the Company. The LOC has a variable interest rate equal to the greater of (i) Wall Street Journal Prime Rate plus 0.25% per annum or (ii) 4.75%, resulting in a rate of 8.75% as of December 31, 2023. The Company is required to pay a fee of 0.20% of the unused revolving balance. In August 2023, the agreement was amended extending the maturity date of the LOC to October 2024 and removing certain restrictive covenants. The terms of the LOC include certain financial covenants and as of December 31, 2023, the consolidated fund was in compliance with all such covenants.

Member Notes

During 2022 and the year ended December 31, 2023, the consolidated fund, Southpointe Fundco, LLC, entered into 10.0% unsecured promissory notes with individual investors. The notes mature in June 2025 and may be extended up to two additional 12-month periods by the fund manager. The notes require quarterly interest-only payments. The terms of the notes allow the prepayment of the outstanding balance in part or in whole at any time prior to the maturity date with no prepayment penalty.

Economic Injury Disaster Loans

In June 2020, the consolidated funds were granted Economic Injury Disaster Loans, which are secured by the assets of the respective funds and have a fixed interest rate of 3.75% and mature in June 2050. At each of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the outstanding principal balance was \$0.5 million. Fixed monthly installment payments began in December 2022 with payments applied first to accrued interest and then the balance, if any, will be applied to principal outstanding. The loans allow for prepayment of principal plus accrued interest prior to maturity. The loan agreements contain certain usual and customary restrictions and covenants relating to, among other things, insurance, and other indebtedness. In addition, the terms of the loans include a cross-default provision whereby the Small Business Administration may, in its discretion,

without notice or demand require immediate payment of all amounts outstanding under the loans.

Future Debt Maturities

As of December 31, 2023, the future aggregate principal repayments due on the Company's notes payable are as follows (in thousands):

Year	A	mount
2024	\$	29,698
2025		79,174
2026		555
2027		17,051
2028		72
Thereafter	<u></u>	4,850
Total	\$	131,400

Deferred Financing Costs

Amortization of deferred financing costs was \$1.5 million and \$0.7 million during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. There was \$0.4 million and \$0.1 million of deferred financing cost write-offs during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

F-71

CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 7 - Related Party Transactions

Related Party Transactions of the Company

Revenues

The table below shows the consolidated revenues earned for providing services under the Company's asset management platform as described in the Revenue Recognition section of Note 2 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.

	Years Ended December 31,		
	 2023		2022
Fund set-up fees	\$ 370	\$	5,897
Fund management fees	5,115		4,497
Financing fees	221		721
Development and construction fees	4,025		2,444
Brokerage fees	840		1,785
Total asset management	 10,571		15,344
Performance allocations	3,639		2,543
Total related party revenue	\$ 14,210	\$	17,887

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, amounts due to the Company from related parties for services performed under the Company's asset management platform was \$7.8 million, which is included in due from related parties on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Other

In the normal course of business, the Company has various amounts due from and/or due to related parties, including affiliate entities and individuals, for various expenses paid for by the Company on their behalf and other charges. These amounts are generally unsecured, interest-free, and due on demand. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, other amounts due from related parties was \$1.9 million, which is included in due from related parties on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, other amounts due to related parties from the Company were \$0.3 million and \$0.2 million, respectively, which are included in due to related parties on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Notes Receivable

The Company entered into unsecured promissory notes with related parties. No payments are required prior to the maturity of the notes. The notes may be prepaid in whole, or in part, without penalty.

The following table summarizes the notes payable – related parties as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

Notes Receivable - Related Parties	Decembe	er 31, 2023	Dec	ember 31, 2022	Interest Rate (1)	Maturity Date (1)
Olathe Behavioral Health	\$	25	\$	_	12.00%	May 2025
DFW Behavioral Health LLC		25		_	14.00%	May 2025
Total Notes Receivable - Related Parties	\$	50	\$	_		

(1) As of December 31, 2023.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company earned an immaterial amount of interest in connection with the notes, which is included in interest income on the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. Interest that accrues on certain related party notes receivable can be added to the principal outstanding balance, due at the respective loan maturity date and incurs interest at the respective interest rate. There was an immaterial amount of interest due to the Company as of December 31, 2023.

Notes Payable

The Company entered into unsecured promissory notes with related parties. The notes may be repaid in whole, or in part, without penalty.

The following table summarizes the notes payable – related parties as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

Notes Payable - Related Parties	Decembe	er 31, 2023	Decem	ber 31, 2022	Interest Rate (1)	Maturity Date (1)
Caliber Residential Advantage Fund, LP	\$		\$	365	7.50%	May 2024
Caliber Tax Advantaged Opportunity Fund II, LLC (2)		_		_	12.00%	January 2024
Total Notes Payable - Related Parties	\$	_	\$	365		

⁽¹⁾ As of December 31, 2023.

During each of the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company incurred an immaterial amount of interest expense in connection with the notes payable – related parties, which is included in interest expense on the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. There was no interest payable due to related parties as of December 31, 2023 and 2022.

Related Party Transactions of the Consolidated Funds

Notes Receivable

The consolidated funds entered into unsecured promissory notes with related parties. The notes may be repaid in whole, or in part, without penalty. The notes receivable – related parties consisted of the following as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

Notes Receivable - Related Parties	Decer	nber 31, 2023	December 31, 20	22 Interest Rate ⁽¹⁾	Maturity Date ⁽¹⁾
SF Alaska, LP	\$	14,976	\$ 11,	671 12.00%	May 2025
The Ketch, LLC		7,198	5.	152 12.00%	May 2024
Caliber Hospitality LP (Tucson East)	(2)	_	3.	780 12.00%	May 2024
J-25 Development Group, LLC		4,804	3.	794 12.00%	May 2024
Caliber Diversified Opportunity Fund II, LP		109		449 12.00%	March 2024
Encore, LLC		_	1.	014 12.00%	December 2024
Ridge II, LLC		846		845 12.00%	December 2024
Southridge, LLC		2,187		— 13.00%	July 2025
Ironwood, LLC		2,703	1.	524 13.00%	September 2025
Circle Lofts, LLC	(3)	1,797		— 12.00%	May 2024
Total Notes Receivable - Related Parties	\$	34,620	\$ 28,	229	

F-73

CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the consolidated fund earned \$3.7 million and \$2.9 million, respectively, of interest in connection with the notes, which is included in consolidated funds – other revenues on the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. Interest that accrues on certain related party notes receivable, in which the consolidated fund and respective borrower mutually agreed, is added to the principal outstanding balance, due at the respective loan maturity date and incurs interest at the respective interest rate. No interest was due to the Company as of December 31, 2023 and 2022.

Notes Payable

The consolidated funds entered into unsecured promissory notes with related parties. The notes may be repaid in whole, or in part, without penalty. The notes payable – related parties consisted of the following as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

Notes Payable - Related Parties	Decem	December 31, 2023		31, 2022	Interest Rate ⁽¹⁾	Maturity Date ⁽¹⁾
Roosevelt III HOLDCO, LLC	\$	_	\$	2,748	12.00%	March 2024
CDIF, LLC		_		1,725	12.00%	May 2024
Caliber Tax Advantaged Opportunity Zone Fund, LP		8,012		2,500	12.00%	June 2025
Caliber Tax Advantaged Opportunity Zone Fund II, LP		4,043		_	12.00%	October 2024
Total Notes Payable - Related Parties	\$	12,055	\$	6,973		

⁽¹⁾ As of December 31, 2023.

During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the consolidated funds incurred \$1.2 million and \$0.9 million, respectively, of interest expense in connection with the notes payable – related parties, which is included in consolidated funds – hospitality expenses and consolidated funds – other expenses on the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, there was \$0.1 million of interest expense payable which is included in due to related parties on the accompanying

⁽²⁾ The Company entered into a \$4.0 million unsecured promissory note with a related party and subsequently repaid the note during the year ended December 31, 2023.

⁽¹⁾ As of December 31, 2023.

⁽²⁾ In March 2023, the asset was contributed to Caliber Hospitality, LP and the fund was consolidated because the Company was determined to be the primary beneficiary as we have the power to direct the activities and the obligation to absorb their losses through its guarantee of the indebtedness secured by the hospitality assets, which is significant to Caliber Hospitality, LP and the Caliber Hospitality Trust.

⁽³⁾ During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company deconsolidated Circle Lofts, LLC, as the Company was no longer determined to be the primary beneficiary of the fund upon refinancing the loan agreement.

consolidated balance sheets. Management expects to extend these notes at maturity.

Other

In the normal course of business, the consolidated funds have various amounts due from and/or due to related parties, including affiliate entities and individuals, for various expenses paid by the funds on their behalf and other charges. These amounts are generally unsecured, interest-free, and due on demand. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, there were an immaterial amount of other amounts due from related parties. As of December 31, 2023 there was an immaterial amount of other amounts due to related parties and as of December 31, 2022, there were no other amounts due to related parties.

F-74

CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 8 - Leases

Lessee - Company

As of December 31, 2023, the Company is the lessee under one corporate office lease which meets the criteria of an operating lease. The operating lease has a remaining lease term of 3.8 years and a 9.4% discount rate as of December 31, 2023. As the Company's lease does not specifically state an implicit rate, the Company uses a discount rate indicative of synthetic credit rate based on a market-specific analysis, and applied based on the lease term as of the lease commencement date or upon a remeasurement event when calculating the present value of the remaining lease payments. Therefore, the incremental borrowing rate used reflects the cost to borrow on a securitized basis. The remaining lease term does not reflect all renewal options available to the Company, only those renewal options that the Company has assessed as reasonably certain of being exercised. The operating lease agreement does not contain any material residual value guarantees or material restrictive covenants. As of December 31, 2023, the Company does not have any material operating or financing leases with related parties or that have not yet commenced, or any sale-leaseback arrangements. During the year ended December 31, 2023, there was \$0.1 million of fixed lease expense, which is included in operating costs on the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. During the year ended December 31, 2022, there was \$0.5 million of fixed lease expense and an immaterial amount of variable lease expense, which is included in operating costs on the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. Variable lease expense are primarily costs related to common area maintenance. During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, there was \$0.1 million and \$0.6 million, respectively, of cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of operating lease liabilities. There were no lease liabilities arising from obtaining right-of-use assets or lease modifications during the year ended December 31, 2022, there was \$0.3 million of lease liabilities

The following represents maturities of operating lease liabilities as of December 31, 2023 (in thousands):

Year	Amount
2024	\$ 35
2025	37
2026	38
2027	32
2028	_
Thereafter	_
Total lease payments	 142
Less: interest	(23)
Total	\$ 119

F-75

CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Lessee - Consolidated Funds

As of December 31, 2023, the consolidated funds are the lessee under two ground lease arrangements that meet the criteria of an operating lease. The operating leases have a weighted average remaining lease term of 55.7 years and a 9.6% weighted average discount rate as of December 31, 2023. As the consolidated funds leases do not specifically state an implicit rate, the consolidated funds use discount rates indicative of synthetic credit rate based on a market-specific analysis, and applied based on the lease term as of the lease commencement date or upon a remeasurement event when calculating the present value of the remaining lease payments. Therefore, the incremental borrowing rate used reflects the cost to borrow on a securitized basis. The remaining lease term does not reflect all renewal options available to the consolidated funds, only those renewal options that the consolidated funds has assessed as reasonably certain of being exercised. The operating lease agreements do not contain any material residual value guarantees or material restrictive covenants. As of December 31, 2023, the consolidated funds do not have any material operating or financing leases with related parties or that have not yet commenced, or any sale-leaseback arrangements. During the year ended December 31, 2023, there was \$1.4 million and \$0.1 million of fixed and variable lease expense, respectively, which is included in consolidated funds — hospitality expenses on the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. During the year ended December 31, 2022, the there was \$1.1 million of fixed lease expense and an immaterial amount of variable lease expense, which is included in operating costs on the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. Variable lease expense are primarily costs related to common area maintenance. During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, there was \$1.3 million and \$1.2 million, respectively, of cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of operating lease liabilities. During the

The following represents maturities of operating lease liabilities as of December 31, 2023 (in thousands):

Year		Amount
2024	\$	1,336
2025		1,336
2026		1,336
2027		1,336
2028		1,336
Thereafter	_	68,849

Total lease payments	75,529
Less: interest	(61,572)
Total	\$ 13,957

Lessor - Company

Rental revenue of the Company includes the revenues generated by the rental operations of one commercial office property, which was acquired in January 2023. As of December 31, 2023, the leases have non-cancelable remaining lease terms from 1.2 years to 3.4 years. Certain leases contain options to extend the term of the lease and impose financial penalties, including paying all future payments required under the remaining term of the lease, if the tenant terminates the lease. The leases do not contain any lessee purchase options. As of December 31, 2023, the Company does not have any material related party leases as a lessor. During the year ended December 31, 2023, there was \$1.6 million and an immaterial amount of fixed and variable rental revenue, respectively, which is included in other income, net on the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. The Company had no rental revenue for the year ended December 31, 2022. Variable rental revenue are primarily costs reimbursed related to common area maintenance.

F-76

CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Future minimum lease payments due to the Company under non-cancellable operating leases over the next five years and thereafter as of December 31, 2023 are as follows (in thousands):

Year	Amount
2024	\$ 1,359
2025	977
2026 2027	679
2027	206
2028	_
Thereafter	_
Total	\$ 3,221

Lessor - Consolidated Funds

Rental revenue of the consolidated funds includes the revenues generated primarily by the rental operations of three multi-family residential properties, including Circle Lofts which was deconsolidated during the year ended December 31, 2023 and GC Square Apartments which was sold in March 2022, and two commercial properties, including Northsight Crossing which was sold in October 2023. As of December 31, 2023, the leases have non-cancelable remaining lease terms from 0.1 years to 9.7 years. Certain leases contain options to extend the term of the lease and impose financial penalties, including paying all future payments required under the remaining term of the lease, if the tenant terminates the lease. The leases do not contain any lessee purchase options. As of December 31, 2023, the consolidated funds do not have any material related party leases as a lessor. The components of rental revenue for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands) are presented in the table below. Variable rental revenue are primarily costs reimbursed related to common area maintenance.

	Years En	Years Ended December 31,		
	2023		2022	
Fixed	\$ 3,	\$20	3,066	
Variable	5	25	531	
Total	\$ 4,	45 \$	3,597	

Future minimum lease payments due to the consolidated funds under non-cancellable operating leases over the next five years and thereafter as of December 31, 2023 are as follows (in thousands):

Year	Amount
2024	\$ 1,025
2025	679
2026 2027	690
2027	569
2028	584
Thereafter	2,888
Total	\$ 6,435

F-77

CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 9 - Other Liabilities

Other Liabilities of the Company

Other liabilities consisted of the following as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

	December 31	, 2023	December 31, 2022
Below market leases, net	\$	171	\$ _
Tenant improvement allowance		99	_

Deposits (1)	113	23
Other	37	41
Total other liabilities	\$ 420	\$ 64

(1) Includes tenant security deposits.

Other Liabilities of the Consolidated Funds

Other liabilities of the consolidated funds consisted of the following as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

	Decem	ber 31, 2023	Dec	ember 31, 2022
Advance key money, net	\$	825	\$	900
Deposits (1)		531		710
Sales tax payable		674		566
Below market leases, net		_		461
Other		370		393
Total other liabilities	\$	2,400	\$	3,030

⁽¹⁾ Includes hotel advance deposits and tenant security and pet deposits.

Note 10 - Income Taxes

The following table shows the components of the income tax provision (benefit) from total operations for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

	Years	Ended December 31,
	2023	2022
Current income tax provision (benefit)		
Federal	\$	_ \$
State		<u> </u>
Total		
Deferred income tax provision (benefit)		
Federal	((2,887) 159
State		(451) (25)
Total		(3,338) 134
Adjustment to valuation allowance		3,338 (134)
Total income tax provision (benefit)	<u>\$</u>	<u> </u>

F-78

CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following table reconciles the U.S. federal statutory tax rate to the effective income tax rate for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022:

	Years Ended Decei	mber 31,
	2023	2022
U.S. federal statutory tax rate	21.0%	21.0%
State taxes, net of federal benefit	3.6%	1.6%
Income passed through to noncontrolling interest, federal tax	(11.3)%	(18.0)%
Income passed through to noncontrolling interest, state tax	(2.0)%	(1.4)%
Permanent differences, VIEs	(0.8)%	0.5%
Prior period return-to-provision adjustments	1.9%	(0.8)%
Nondeductible expenses	(0.3)%	(2.0)%
Change in valuation allowance	(12.1)%	(0.9)%
Effective income tax rate	0.0%	0.0%

The following table summarizes the components of the Company's deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

	December 31	, 2023	December 31, 2022	2
Deferred tax assets:				
Net operating loss carryforwards	\$	13,632	\$ 13,6	38
Sec 362 basis Step-up		439	4	38
Deferred compensation		1,780	1,4	90
Fixed assets		_	1:	21
Employee stock based compensation		820		_
Allowance for doubtful accounts		_		_
Other		1,769	6	73
Total deferred tax assets		18,440	16,3	60
Deferred tax liabilities:				
Passthrough income/loss from partnerships		(9,399)	(11,1	03)
Fixed assets		(447)		_
Other		(1,622)	(1,6	23)
Total deferred tax liabilities		(11,468)	(12,7	(26)
Valuation allowance		(6,972)	(3,6	
Net deferred tax assets	\$		\$	

As of December 31, 2023, the Company had approximately \$55.4 million and \$53.5 million of federal and state net operating losses ("NOL"), respectively, available to offset future taxable income. As of December 31, 2022, the Company had approximately \$55.1 million each of federal and state NOL available to offset future taxable income. The federal NOLs arising in 2017 and prior, if not utilized, begin expiring in the year 2035. Federal NOLs arising in tax years ending after December 31, 2017 can be carried forward indefinitely but are subject to an 80% of taxable income limitation. The Arizona state NOLs arising in 2015, if not utilized, begin expiring in the year 2035. In accordance with Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code, deductibility of the Company's federal NOL carryovers may be limited in the event of a change in control of ownership.

In assessing the need for a valuation allowance against its net deferred tax assets, the Company considers both positive and negative evidence related to the likelihood of realization of the deferred tax assets to determine, based on the weight of available evidence, whether it is more-likely-than-not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. In evaluating the need for a valuation allowance, the Company considered cumulative tax losses as a significant piece of negative evidence and established a full valuation allowance of \$7.0 million and \$3.6 million against the Company's net deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

F-79

CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The changes to the Company's valuation allowance during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 were as follows (in thousands):

	 Years Ended December 31,			
	2023		2022	
Valuation allowance at the beginning of the year	\$ 3,634	\$	3,768	
Changes in valuation allowance recorded during the year	3,338		(134)	
Valuation allowance at the end of the year	\$ 6,972	\$	3,634	

Vacus Ended December 21

Vears Ended December 31

The Company and its subsidiaries are subject to the following significant taxing jurisdictions: U.S., Alaska, Arizona, California, Colorado, Florida, Illinois, Minnesota, Missouri, New York, Oregon, South Carolina, Texas, and Utah. The Company is currently not under income tax examination in any tax jurisdiction.

Although we believe our tax returns are correct, the final determination of tax examinations and any related litigation could be different from what was reported on the tax returns. We are currently open to audit under the statute of limitations by the United States Internal Revenue Service as well as state taxing authorities for the past four years (three years in some states). However, due to NOL carryforwards not being utilized, all periods are open to potential examinations. Any penalties and interest related to unrecognized tax benefits would be classified as income tax expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

We apply U.S. GAAP related to accounting for uncertainty in income taxes, which prescribes a recognition threshold that a tax position is required to meet before recognition in the financial statements and provides guidance on derecognition, measurement, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition issues. We do not believe that there are any positions taken by the Company which would require recognition or disclosure in these financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.

F-80

CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 11 - Supplemental Cash Flow Disclosures

Supplemental cash flow information consisted of the following for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

	Years Ended December 31,			per 31,
	<u></u>	2023		2022
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information				,
Cash paid for interest, none of which was capitalized for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively	\$	4,875	\$	1,444
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information of Consolidated Funds				
Cash paid for interest, net of capitalized interest of \$33 and \$18 for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively		14,731		9,582
Supplemental Disclosures of Non-Cash Investing and Financing Activities				
Real estate investments moved from held for sale		_		1,703
Accounts receivable - related party eliminated in consolidation of VIEs		1,853		_
Assumption of note payable		16,457		_
Extinguishment of operating lease right-of-use assets		1,059		_
Extinguishment of operating lease liabilities		1,340		_
Cost of real estate investments included in accounts payable		242		_
Investments in unconsolidated entities included in accrued expenses		1,339		_
Issuance of common stock in connection with legal settlement		_		3,200
Issuance of common stock in lieu of cash payment for accounts payable		_		100
Establishment of operating right-of-use assets		_		1,765
Establishment of finance right-of-use assets		_		55
Establishment of operating lease liabilities		_		2,067
Establishment of finance lease liabilities		_		55
Supplemental Disclosures of Non-Cash Investing and Financing Activities of Consolidated Funds				
Real estate investments moved to held for sale		_		21,282
Real estate investments moved from held for sale		_		21,761
Note receivable eliminated in consolidation		2,946		_
Cost of real estate investments included in accounts payable		382		268
Cost of real estate investments included in due to related parties		10		299

Contributions from noncontrolling interests in connection with settlement of notes payable - related party stablishment of operating right-of-use assets or increase from lease modifications	1,831 1,516	8,742
stablishment of operating lease liabilities or increase from lease modifications	1,516	12,540
consolidation of VIEs	1,510	12,340
Real estate investments, net	86,402	
Accounts receivable, net	4,348	_
Due from related parties	4,346	_
Operating lease - right of use assets	8,775	_
Prepaid and other assets	2,042	568
Notes payable, net	80,449	300
Notes payable - related parties	6,589	_
	8,148	130
Accounts payable and accrued expenses Due to related parties	28	130
	- *	_
Operating lease liabilities Other liabilities	12,441 2,158	688
Noncontrolling interests		
econsolidation of VIEs	33,732	1,972
****************	95 220	15.004
Real estate investments, net	85,239	15,905
Accounts receivable, net	4,973	4
Operating lease - right of use assets	8,775	
Prepaid and other assets	1,658	53
Due from related parties	2	
Due to related parties	1,218	791
Notes payable, net	74,643	16,953
Notes payable - related parties	6,882	1,61:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses	7,139	298
Operating lease liabilities	12,441	_
Other liabilities	1,980	4
Noncontrolling interests	23,777	2,882

F-81

CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 12 - Commitments and Contingencies

Commitments and Contingencies of the Company

Environmental Matters

In connection with the ownership and operation of real estate assets, the Company may potentially be liable for costs and damages related to environmental matters. The Company believes it is in material compliance with current laws and regulations and do not know of any existing environmental condition and has not been notified by any governmental authority of any non-compliance, liability or other claim, in each case, that could result in a material effect on our financial condition or results of operations.

Caliber Tax Advantaged Opportunity Fund LP

Caliber O-Zone Fund Manager, LLC (the "CTAF Fund Manager") is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and general partner and manager of Caliber Tax Advantaged Opportunity Fund LP ("CTAF"). In the event of a dissolution, winding-up, or termination, if the aggregate amount received by the CTAF limited partners does not equal or exceed an amount equal to a 6% IRR for the limited partners, the CTAF Fund Manager shall immediately contribute to CTAF funds in order to meet this minimum requirement for payment to the CTAF limited partners. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company estimated the fair value of CTAF was less than the 6% IRR for the limited partners.

Caliber Tax Advantaged Opportunity Fund II LLC

Caliber O-Zone Fund II Manager, LLC (the "CTAF II Fund Manager") is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and general partner and manager of Caliber Tax Advantaged Opportunity Zone Fund II LLC ("CTAF II"). In the event of a dissolution, winding-up, or termination, if the aggregate amount received by the CTAF II investor members does not equal or exceed an amount equal to a 6% IRR for the investor members, the CTAF II Fund Manager shall immediately contribute to CTAF II funds in order to meet this minimum requirement for payment to the CTAF II investor members. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company estimated the fair value of CTAF II was less than the 6% IRR for the investor members.

Buyback Program

In September 2018, the Company agreed to repurchase 3,709,693 shares ("Buyback Program") owned by one of its non-participating founders for \$4.54 per share of common stock in exchange for an amendment to such non-participating founder's shareholder voting rights and other Company protections. Due to the length of time of the liability, the Company recorded a liability of \$13.6 million and a corresponding reduction to equity in treasury stock at the inception of the Buyback Program using a present value discount rate of 10.00%. As of December 31, 2022, remaining number of shares to be repurchased was 3,432,351 and the balance of the liability was \$12.4 million, which is included in buyback obligation on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company repurchased 41,615 shares of Class A common stock pursuant to the Buyback Program and on May 19, 2023, the Company's Class A common stock began trading on the NASDAQ Capital Market, at which point the buyback obligation was relieved and no further amounts were due under the Buyback Program.

Commitments and Contingencies of the Consolidated Funds

Franchise Agreements and Advance Key Money

The consolidated hospitality funds are parties to various franchise agreements where, pursuant to the respective agreements, the respective fund is required to pay monthly fees, generally consisting of royalty, service contribution, technology, program and/or marketing fees. The franchise agreements expire on various dates from June 2025 through August 2033. The consolidated funds recognized total franchise fees of \$5.0 million and \$3.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As a part of one franchise agreement, the consolidated funds received an advance of \$1.5 million ("Advance Key Money") for the consolidated funds to retain the franchisor on the hotel property for 20 years. The consolidated funds are not required to repay any part of the Advance Key Money unless the franchise agreement is cancelled before the termination date of August 2033.

Note 13 - Net Income (Loss) Per Share

Basic earnings per common share is calculated by dividing net income (loss) attributable to common shareholders by the weighted average common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing net income attributable to common shareholders by the weighted-average number of shares outstanding plus the dilutive impact of all potential dilutive common shares, consisting of stock options and warrants using the treasury stock method, and convertible debt and preferred stock using the if-converted method.

The Company considered the two-class method in calculating the basic and diluted earnings per share, however, it was determined that there was no impact to the calculation of basic and diluted net income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders as Class A and Class B common stock share in the same earnings and profits, thus, having no impact on the calculation.

The Company has calculated the basic and diluted earnings per share during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 as follows (in thousands, except per share data):

	Years Ended December 31		
	2023		2022
Numerator:	 _		_
Net (loss) income attributable to CaliberCos Inc.	\$ (12,703)	\$	2,020
Convertible debt interest	 88		90
Net (loss) income attributable to common shareholders of CaliberCos Inc.	\$ (12,615)	\$	2,110
Denominator:			
Weighted average shares outstanding - basic	20,087		18,003
Dilutive shares - options, net	_		1,637
Dilutive shares - convertible debt, net	 		182
Weighted average shares outstanding - diluted	20,087		19,822
Basic net (loss) income per share attributable to common shareholders	\$ (0.63)	\$	0.11
Diluted net (loss) income per share attributable to common shareholders	\$ (0.63)	\$	0.11

The number of antidilutive shares consisted of the potential exercise of stock options and potential conversion of convertible debt. The following table summarizes these potential exercises and conversions during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, which have been excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share attributable to common shareholders (in thousands):

	Years Ended I	December 31,
	2023	2022
Additional common shares, if stock options were exercised	2,267	
Additional common shares, if convertible debt were converted	175	_
	2,442	(1)
	· <u> </u>	

F-83

CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(1) There were no antidilutive shares for the year ended December 31, 2022.

Note 14 - Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Fair Value of Financial Instruments of the Company

Fair values of financial instruments held by the Company are estimated using available market information and established valuation methodologies. Accordingly, the estimates presented are not necessarily indicative of the amounts the Company could realize on disposition of the financial instruments. The use of different market assumptions and/or valuation methodologies may have a material effect on the estimated fair value amounts.

Financial instruments that approximate fair value due to the short-term nature of the instruments consist of cash, restricted cash, accounts receivable, and accounts payable. The fair values of debt have been estimated based on current rates available for similar instruments with similar terms, maturities, and collateral. The fair value of the Company's fixed rate debt were measured with Level 2 inputs. The estimated fair value of the Company's real estate loan was determined by management based on a discounted future cash-flow model. As of December 31, 2023 the Company's real estate loan had a carrying value of \$16.2 million and a fair value of \$9.5 million.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments of the Consolidated Funds

Fair values of financial instruments held by consolidated funds are estimated using available market information and established valuation methodologies. Accordingly, the estimates presented are not necessarily indicative of the amounts the consolidated funds could realize on disposition of the financial instruments. The use of different market assumptions and/or valuation methodologies may have a material effect on the estimated fair value amounts.

Financial instruments that approximate fair value due to the short-term nature of the instruments consist of cash, restricted cash, accounts receivable, and accounts payable. The fair values of debt, advance key money, and interest rate caps have been estimated based on current rates available for similar instruments with similar terms, maturities, and collateral. The carrying values of the consolidated funds' variable rate debt and advance key money as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 approximated fair value. The fair value of the consolidated funds' fixed rate debt were measured with Level 2 inputs. The estimated fair values for the instruments below were determined by

management based on a discounted future cash-flow model (in thousands).

	December 31, 2023			December 31, 2022			, 2022	
		Carrying				Carrying		·
Note Payable		Value		Fair Value		Value		Fair Value
Hampton Inn & Suites Hotel	\$	5,939	\$	4,762	\$	6,136	\$	4,594
Northsight Crossing AZ, LLC (1)		_		_		14,319		9,302
Southpointe Fundco, LLC		1,050		1,050		1,050		1,004
Circle Lofts, LLC ⁽²⁾		_		_		4,889		1,915
Tucson East, LLC		11,901		11,067		_		_
West Frontier, LLC		4,636		3,795		_		_

⁽¹⁾ In October 2023, Northsight Crossings AZ, LLC sold its investment in the commercial property and paid its existing property loan in full. As a result, the Company determined it was no longer the primary beneficiary of the fund and therefore the fund was deconsolidated.

F-84

CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 15 - Derivative Instruments

Risk Management Objective of Using Derivatives

The consolidated funds utilize derivative instruments, including interest rate caps and swaps, to reduce interest rate risk associated with its borrowings. Our consolidated funds do not intend to utilize derivatives for purposes other than interest rate risk management.

Derivatives Designated as Hedging Instruments

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company did not have any derivatives designated as hedging instruments.

Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments

The consolidated funds have entered into interest rate caps and swaps. The following table summarizes the consolidated funds non-designated derivatives as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 (dollar amounts in thousands):

	December 31, 2023		December 31, 2022				
	Number of		Notional	Number of		Notional	
Type of Derivative	Instruments	Amount		Instruments		Amount	
Interest rate swap	1	\$	18,418	1	\$	18,856	
Interest rate cap	1		55,000	_		_	
Total		\$	73,418		\$	18,856	

The following table presents the fair value of the consolidated funds' non-designated derivatives, as well as their classification in the consolidated balance sheets, as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

Type of Derivative	Balance Sheet Location	December 31, 2023		December 31, 2022
Interest rate swap	Consolidated funds - Prepaid and other assets	\$	1,206	\$ 1,646
Interest rate cap	Consolidated funds - Prepaid and other assets		10	_
Total		\$	1,216	\$ 1,646

The following table presents the gain or loss recognized in consolidated funds— hospitality expenses in the consolidated statements of operations for years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

			Years Ended Dece	mber 31,	
Type of Derivative	Statement of Operations Location	2	2023	2022	
Interest rate swap	Consolidated funds - hospitality expenses	\$	(440) \$		
Interest rate cap	Consolidated funds - hospitality expenses		(75)		_
Total		\$	(515) \$		

Note 16 - Stockholders' Equity and Share-Based Payments

In May 2023, the Company filed a third amended and restated certificate of incorporation. The Company is authorized to issue 137,500,000 shares consisting of:
(a) 115,000,000 shares of common stock consisting of (i) 100,000,000 shares of Class A common stock with a par value of \$0.001 per share, (ii) 15,000,000 shares of Class B common stock with a par value of \$0.001 per share; and (b) 22,500,000 shares of preferred stock with a par value of \$0.001 per share.

F-85

CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

⁽²⁾ During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company deconsolidated Circle Lofts, LLC, as the Company was no longer determined to be the primary beneficiary of the fund upon refinancing the loan agreement.

basis into shares of Class A common stock. All other rights, privileges, and rank will be shared equally and be identical in all respects as to all matters.

Common Stock

The holders of common stock shall be entitled to receive dividends when, as, and if declared by the board of directors. The holders of common stock shall at all times vote together as one class on all matters. Class A common stock shall be entitled to one vote for each share of common stock and Class B common stock shall be entitled to 10 votes for each share of common stock. No holder of shares of common stock shall have the right to cumulate votes. In the event of liquidation, subject to the prior rights of holders of preferred stock to share ratably in the Company's assets, the holders of common stock and holders of any shares of preferred stock which are not entitled to any preference in liquidation shall share equally and ratably in the Company's assets available for distribution after giving effect to any liquidation preference of shares of preferred stock. The holders of Class A common stock shall not have any conversion, redemption, or other preemptive rights. The holders of Class B common stock are entitled to a conversion upon notice or an automatic conversion upon transfer at which time the Class B Common stockholder will be entitled to one fully paid and nonassessable share of Class A common stock. In addition, Class B common stock shall not have any redemption or other preemptive rights.

2017 Incentive Stock Plan

The Company may award stock options to employees under the Amended and Restated 2017 Incentive Stock Plan ("2017 Plan"). The 2017 Plan allows the Company to: (i) grant stock awards, (ii) grant stock options, and (iii) offer restricted stock purchases to directors, executives and selected employees, consultants, and advisors. Options will vest if the recipient maintains constant employment through the end of the requisite service period. The following inputs and assumptions were used to calculate the weighted average fair values of the options granted for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022:

	 December 31		31,
	 2023		2022
Expected term (in years)	6.13		6.13
Volatility	36% - 40%		30% - 40%
Dividend Yield	0.00%		0.00%
Risk-free rate	4.42% - 4.61%		0.97% - 4.10%
Grant date fair value	\$ 0.38	\$	2.79

Compensation expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the service period. During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company recognized \$3.7 million and \$0.5 million, respectively, in compensation expense, related to the 2017 Plan. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, there was \$0.6 million and \$1.0 million, respectively, of unrecognized compensation expense related to the 2017 Plan stock options.

F-86

CALIBERCOS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following tables detail the activity of the 2017 Plan during the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022:

Stock Options

	Stock Options	Weighted Average Exercise Price	Weighted Average Remaining Contractual Term (in Years)	Aggregate Intrinsic Value (in thousands)
Outstanding December 31, 2021	2,053,931	\$ 4.51	3.43	\$ 3,166
Granted - Employee	126,631	7.56	_	
Granted - Nonemployee	14,863	9.25	_	_
Exercised	(1,784)	6.73	_	_
Forfeited	(153,105)	6.73	_	_
Expired	(37,448)	6.71	_	_
Outstanding December 31, 2022	2,003,088	4.58	5.15	2,098
Granted - Employee	330,967	2.47	_	_
Forfeited	(25,046)	6.40	_	_
Expired	(23,408)	6.47	_	_
Outstanding December 31, 2023	2,285,601	\$ 4.23	4.89	\$ 535

Restricted Stock Units

	Restricted Stock Units	d Average Value
Unvested restricted stock units at December 31, 2021	286,971	\$ 6.73
Granted - Employee	109,984	6.73
Unvested restricted stock units at December 31, 2022	396,955	6.73
Granted - Employee	2,282,086	1.36
Vested	(272,197)	6.57
Forfeited	(20,058)	1.49
Unvested restricted stock units at December 31, 2023	2,386,786	\$ 1.66

The restricted stock units are subject to forfeiture if the participant does not meet certain conditions such as continued employment and/or the attainment of the specified performance target over the specified service period. The performance target related to the outstanding restricted stock units is the completion of an initial public offering or exchange listing. As of December 31, 2023, there was \$3.4 million of unrecognized compensation expense related to the restricted stock units. The restricted stock units have a remaining term of 3.0 years as of December 31, 2023.

Note 17 - Preferred Stock

The Company is authorized to issue up to 22,500,000 shares of preferred stock pursuant to its third amended and restated certificate of incorporation. As of December 31, 2023, no shares of preferred stock were issued and outstanding.

Management has evaluated events and transactions that occurred after December 31, 2023 through April 15, 2024, the date these consolidated financial statement were available to be issued. In addition to those matters discussed in Note 6 – Notes Payable, the following is a summary of the significant events and transactions that took place during this period:

- · On March 7, 2024, a subsidiary of Caliber Hospitality Trust closed on the first of nine hotels as part of the contribution agreement with L.T.D. Hospitality Group LLC ("L.T.D") for \$28.6 million and entered into a \$14.1 million loan securing the property. As part of the settlement, Caliber Hospitality, LP issued \$9.6 million of Caliber Hospitality, LP operating partnership units to LTD.
- The Company's board of directors approved the issuance of \$25.0 million to \$35.0 million of corporate notes to pay off maturing notes.

F-87

PART III - EXHIBITS

- 1.1 Form of Managing Broker Dealer Agreement
- 2.1 Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of CaliberCos Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of CaliberCos Inc.'s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 19, 2023
- 2.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of CaliberCos Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of CaliberCos Inc.'s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 19, 2023)
- 2.3 Certificate of Designation of Preferences, Rights and Limitations of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of CaliberCos Inc.'s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 3, 2024)
- 2.4 ** Certificate of Designation of Preferences, Rights and Limitations of Series AA Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock
- 3.1 Form of Class A common stock Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-1/A, filed with the SEC on October 28, 2022 (File No. 333-267657))
- 3.2 Amended and Restated Stockholders' Agreement dated March 22, 2023, by and among the Company, John C. Loeffler, Jennifer Schrader and Donnie Schrader (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-1/A, filed with the SEC on March 22, 2023 (File No. 333-267657))
- 3.3 Stock Purchase Agreement dated September 21, 2018, by and among the Company and Donnie Schrader (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of CaliberCos Inc.'s offering statement on Form 1-A (File No.024-11016), filed with the SEC on June 13, 2019)
- 3.4 Form of Senior Indenture (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.6 of CaliberCos Inc.'s Registration Statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-280243), filed with the SEC on June 14, 2024)
- 3.5 Form of Subordinated Indenture (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.7 of CaliberCos Inc.'s Registration Statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-280243), filed with the SEC on June 14, 2024)
- 4.1 ** Form of Subscription Agreement
- 4.2 <u>Form of Subscription Agreement</u>
- 6.1+ CaliberCos Inc. Amended and Restated 2017 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of CaliberCos Inc.'s Form S-8 (File No. 333-272078), filed with the SEC on May 19, 2023)
- 6.2 Loan Agreement, dated as of January 20, 2023, among 47th Street Phoenix Airport LLC, CHPH Holding, LLC, and 44th and McDowell Holding, LLC, as Borrower and Trimont Real Estate Advisors, LLC, as Agent for BP Holdings SIGMA LLC, as Lender (Incorporated by reference to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-04321), filed with the SEC on June 23, 2023)
- 6.3 Guaranty of Recourse Obligations dated January 20, 2023, by John C. Loeffler, II, Jennifer Schrader, CDIF, LLC, Caliber Diversified Opportunity Fund II, LP, and CaliberCos Inc. for the benefit of BP Holdings Sigma, LLC (Incorporated by reference to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-04321), filed with the SEC on June 23, 2023)
- 6.4 Loan Agreement dated as of October 17, 2019 between Pollock Gateway II DE LLC, as borrower and Barclays Capital Real Estate Inc., as lender (Incorporated by reference to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-04321), filed with the SEC on June 23, 2023)
- Assumption Agreement dated January 25, 2023 by and among Pollock Gateway II DE LLC, original borrower, Gateway II Holdco, LLC, new borrower, Guila Pollock and Vita Piazza, trustees of The James and Guila Pollock Trust dated June 27, 2006, original guarantor, CaliberCos Inc., new guarantor, and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Trustee for the benefit of the registered holders of BBCMS Mortgage Trust 2019-C5, Commercial Mortgage Pass Through Certificates, Series 2019-C5, lender (Incorporated by reference to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-04321), filed with the SEC on June 23, 2023)
- 6.6+ Executive Employment Agreement dated January 1, 2019 by and among CaliberCos Inc. and Jennifer Schrader (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 6.5 of CaliberCos Inc.'s offering statement on Form 1-A (File No.024-11016), filed with the SEC on August 19, 2019)

111

- 6.7+ Executive Employment Agreement dated January 1, 2019 by and among CaliberCos Inc. and John C. Loeffler II (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 6.6 of CaliberCos Inc.'s offering statement on Form 1-A (File No.024-11016), filed with the SEC on August 19, 2019)
- 6.8+ Executive Employment Agreement dated January 1, 2019 by and among CaliberCos Inc. and Roy Bade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 6.7 of CaliberCos Inc.'s offering statement on Form 1-A (File No.024-11016), filed with the SEC on August 19, 2019)

- Executive Employment Agreement dated January 1, 2019 by and among CaliberCos Inc. and Jade Leung (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 6.8 of CaliberCos Inc.'s 6.9+ offering statement on Form 1-A (File No.024-11016), filed with the SEC on August 19, 2019) 6.10 Form of Indemnification Agreement between CaliberCos Inc. and its directors and officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-1/A, filed with the SEC on November 23, 2022 (File No. 333-267657)) Form of Escrow Agreement by and among CaliberCos Inc., SI Securities, LLC and The Bryn Mawr Trust Company of Delaware (incorporated by reference to 6.11 Exhibit 8.1 of CaliberCos Inc.'s offering statement on Form 1-A (File No.024-11016), filed with the SEC on January 3, 2020) 6.12 Caliber/ Encore Opportunistic Growth Fund Limited Liability Company Agreement dated May 1, 2022 by and between CaliberCos Inc. and Encore Caliber Holdings LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-1/A, filed with the SEC on April 12, 2023 (File No. 333-267657)) 6.13 Form of Managing Dealer Agreement by and among CaliberCos Inc., Skyway Capital Markets, LLC and Issuer (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-1/A, filed with the SEC on April 12, 2023 (File No. 333-267657)) Sponsor Consulting Agreement dated December 1, 2022 by and among CaliberCos Inc. and Skyway Capital Markets, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-1/A, filed with the SEC on April 12, 2023 (File No. 333-267657)) 6.14 Contribution Agreement dated June 30, 2023 (Incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 024-11016), filed with the SEC on 6.15 July 7, 2023) 6.16 +Employment Agreement dated May 25, 2023 by and between Caliber Services, LLC and Ignacio Martinez (Incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 024-11016), filed with the SEC on April 5, 2024) 6.17 +CaliberCos Inc. 2024 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Appendix A to the Company's Definitive Proxy Statement (Schedule 14A) filed with the Commission on May 16, 2024) CaliberCos Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Appendix B to the Company's Definitive Proxy Statement (Schedule 14A) filed with the 6.18 +Commission on May 16, 2024) 10.1 ** Power of Attorney (contained on signature page hereto). Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP 12.1** Opinion of Manatt, Phelps and Phillips, LLP as to the legality of the securities being qualified To be filed by amendment.
- ** Drawing ly filed
- ** Previously filed.
- + Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

112

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Regulation A, the issuer certifies that it has reasonable grounds to believe that it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form 1-A and has duly caused this offering statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in Scottsdale, Arizona, on February 27, 2025.

CaliberCos Inc.

By: /s/ John C. Loeffler, II

Name: John C. Loeffler, II

Title: Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, this Offering Circular has been signed by the following persons in the capacities and on the date indicated.

Signature	Title	Date
/s/ John C. Loeffler, II John C. Loeffler, II	Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive officer)	February 27, 2025
* Jade Leung	Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)	February 27, 2025
* Jennifer Schrader	President, Chief Operating Officer and Vice-Chairperson	February 27, 2025
* William J. Gerber	Director	February 27, 2025
* Michael Trzupek	Director	February 27, 2025
* Dan Hansen	Director	February 27, 2025
* Lawrence Taylor	Director	February 27, 2025
* By: /s/John C. Loeffler, II		

MANAGING BROKER-DEALER AGREEMENT

This Managing Broker-Dealer Agreement (this "Agreement") is entered into between CaliberCos Inc., a Delaware limited liability company ("Caliber" or "Issuer"), and ARKap Markets, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company ("ARKap" or "Company"), effective December 4, 2024 (the "Effective Date") regarding the sale of specific securities by the Issuer or its affiliated issuers (each an "Offering") for which ARKap provides services as set forth herein (the "Services").

Appointment of ARKap.

- 1.1 On the basis of the representations, warranties, and covenants contained herein, but subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, ARKap is hereby appointed as the exclusive managing dealer and agrees to perform the Services for Offerings under an executed Deal Sheet, which is incorporated into this Agreement by reference. Each mutually executed Deal Sheet sets forth the specific scope of Services for an Offering under this Agreement. ARKap is authorized to engage (i) registered investment advisers ("Federal RIAs") under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, as amended (the "Advisers Act"); (ii) investment advisers registered under state law ("State RIAs" and collectively with Federal RIAs, "RIAs"); (iii) family offices; or (iv) a bank trust department acting on behalf of trust accounts over which it serves in a fiduciary capacity, and not required to register under the Advisers Act or state investment adviser laws (a "Bank" and collectively with the RIAs and family offices, "Participating RIAs") and (b) other broker-dealers who are members of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc. ("FINRA") in good standing ("Participating Dealers" together with Participating RIAs, the "Selling Group Members") to solicit purchasers of the Issuer's securities, in each case, through the distribution channels and at the purchase price to be paid in accordance with, and otherwise upon the other terms and conditions set forth in, the Offering Materials, and ARKap hereby accepts such engagement and agrees to use its best efforts to engage Selling Group Members to offer the securities in the Issuer's private offering.
- 1.2 No sale of an Offering will be effective unless and until accepted by the Issuer. The Issuer reserves the right, in its sole discretion, to accept or reject any purchase agreement for an Offering (the "Investment Agreement") in whole or in part for a period of 10 days after receipt of the Investment Agreement. Any proposed purchase of an Offering not accepted within 30 days of receipt will be deemed rejected. The performance of Services will commence on the date specified on the Deal Sheet and will continue until this Agreement is terminated.
- 1.3 Subject to the performance by the Issuer of all its obligations and the completeness and accuracy of all the Issuer's representations and warranties in this Agreement, ARKap accepts such agency and agrees to use its best efforts during the Offering Period to find qualified investors for the Issuer's Offering on the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement.
- 2. Representations and Warranties of the Issuer. The Issuer represents and warrants to the Company and its Selling Group Members that:
- 2.1 The Issuer is duly organized and is validly existing in the state of incorporation or formation referenced on the Deal Sheet, has all requisite power and authority to enter into this Agreement, and has all requisite power and authority to conduct its business.
- 2.2 No defaults exist in the due performance or observance of any material obligation, term, covenant, or condition of any agreement or instrument to which the Issuer is a party or by which it is bound.
- 2.3 Subject to Section 3.4, the Offering Materials do not include, nor will they include at any time during the term, any untrue statement of a material fact nor do they nor will they omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading. The Company shall be entitled to rely upon the accuracy and completeness of the information set forth in the Offering Materials, and shall have no obligation, nor shall it have any responsibility, to independently verify the accuracy or completeness of such information other than information relating to the Company and its affiliates.
- 2.4 The Issuer has obtained all necessary approvals, consents, licenses and registrations from any governmental entity or any other person or entity necessary to perform its obligations hereunder and shall maintain all such approvals, consents and registrations in full force and effect during the term of this Agreement and the performance of such obligations will not, in any material respect, contravene or result in a breach of any provision of its certificate of incorporation, by-laws or other organizational document or any agreement, instrument, order, law or regulation binding upon it.
 - 2.5 All Offering Materials provided by the Issuer to the Company comply in all material respects with all requirements of applicable law.
- 2.6 The Issuer has complied and will comply in all material respects with all applicable federal and state securities laws in connection with the offering of the securities. In connection with the offer and sale of securities pursuant to this Agreement, the Issuer has not published, distributed, issued, posted or otherwise used or employed and shall not publish, distribute, issue, post or otherwise use or employ any form of general solicitation or advertising within the meaning of Rule 502 under the Securities Act (as defined herein) ("General Solicitation") other than with the express prior written consent of ARKap and in compliance with Rule 506 under the Securities Act.
- At the time of the issuance of an Offering, the Issuer will have authorized and issued the securities. Upon payment, the securities will be fully paid, nonassessable, and will conform to the description contained in the Offering Materials.
- 2.8 The Issuer is not required, and upon the issuance and sale of the securities as herein contemplated and the application of the net proceeds therefrom, or upon any other activities of the Issuer, will not be required to register as an "investment company" under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended.
- As of the Effective Date and at the time of any Offering (each, an "Applicable Date"), none of the Issuer, any of its predecessors, any director, executive officer, other officer of the Issuer participating in the Issuer's private offering or any beneficial owner of 20% or more of the Issuer's outstanding voting equity securities, calculated on the basis of voting power, any promoter (as that term is defined in Rule 405 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), but specifically excluding the Company, any Selling Group Member and/or any of their respective affiliates, directors, officers or representatives) connected with the Issuer in any capacity at the time of sale, nor the Company's manager/general partner(s) or any director, executive officer or other officer of the manager or general partner(s), as applicable, participating in the Offering (each, an "Issuer Covered Person" and, together, "Issuer Covered Persons") is subject to any of the "Bad Actor" disqualifications described in Rule 506(d)(1)(i) to 506(d)(1)(viii) under the Securities Act (a "Disqualifying Event"), except for a Disqualifying Event covered by Rule 506(d)(2) or Rule 506(d)(3) under the Securities Act. The Issuer has exercised reasonable care to determine: (i) the identity of each person that is an Issuer Covered Person and (ii) whether any Issuer Covered Person is subject to a Disqualifying Event. The Issuer has complied, to the extent applicable, with its disclosure obligations under Rule 506(e) under the Securities Act, and has furnished to the Company a copy of any disclosures provided thereunder.

- 2.10 With respect to each Issuer Covered Person, the Issuer has established procedures reasonably designed to ensure that the Issuer receives notice from each such Issuer Covered Person of: (i) any Disqualifying Event relating to that Issuer Covered Person and (ii) any event that would, with the passage of time, become a Disqualifying Event relating to that Issuer Covered Person, in each case, occurring up to and including, the last date on which securities are offered in the Offering.
- 2.11 The Issuer is qualified to do business and is in good standing in every jurisdiction in which the conduct of its business requires such qualification, except where the failure to do so would not result in a material adverse effect on the condition, financial or otherwise, results of operations or cash flows of the Issuer taken as a whole (an "Issuer Material Adverse Effect").
- 2.12 To the knowledge of the Issuer, there is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry or investigation before or brought by any court or governmental agency or body, domestic or foreign, now pending, or, to the knowledge of the Issuer, threatened against or affecting the Issuer (i) asserting the invalidity of this Agreement, (ii) seeking to prevent the issuance of the securities or the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, or (iii) which could reasonably be expected to result in an Issuer Material Adverse Effect.
- 2.13 Neither the Issuer nor any of its subsidiaries is in violation of its certificate of formation, limited liability company agreement and other organizational and operating documents. The execution and delivery of this Agreement, the issuance, sale and delivery of the securities, and the performance of this Agreement, do not and will not, in any material respect, conflict with or violate the terms of or constitute or result in a breach of or default under or result in a breach of any of the terms and provisions of, or constitute a default under: (i) the Issuer's or any of its subsidiaries' certificate of formation, limited liability company agreement or limited partnership agreement, as applicable, or other organizational documents; (ii) any indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, voting trust agreement, note, lease or other agreement or instrument to which the Issuer or any subsidiary is a party or by which the Issuer, any of its subsidiaries or any of its or their properties is bound; (iii) any law, rule or regulation applicable to the Issuer promulgated under the Securities Act, the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), the rules of FINRA, or any state securities law of any state in which the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries is, or is required to be, qualified to transact business or as may be required by subsequent events which may occur; or (iv) any writ, injunction or decree of any government, governmental instrumentality or court, domestic or foreign, having jurisdiction over the Issuer, any of its subsidiaries or any of its or their properties, except to the extent that any conflict with, violation of, breach of or default under (i) through (iv) above have not and would not reasonably be expected to result in an Issuer Material Adverse Effect.
- 2.14 The representations and warranties made in this Section 2 are made as of the date of this Agreement and will be continuing representations and warranties throughout the Term. In the event that any of these representations or warranties becomes untrue or is incorrect, the Issuer will immediately notify ARKap in writing of the fact which makes the representation or warranty untrue or incorrect.

3. <u>Duties and Obligations of the Issuer. The Issuer agrees that:</u>

- 3.1 The Issuer will deliver to ARKap the Offering Materials, including any amendments, supplements, or appendices, as ARKap may reasonably request for the purposes contemplated by federal and applicable state securities laws. The Issuer will also deliver to ARKap copies of any printed sales literature or other materials as it may reasonably request in connection with an Offering.
- 3.2 The Issuer will comply with all requirements imposed upon it by the rules and regulations of the SEC, and by all applicable state securities laws and regulations, to permit the continuance of offers and sales of securities, in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement and the Offering Materials, and will amend or supplement any Offering Materials in order to make the Offering Materials comply with the requirements of federal and applicable state securities laws and regulations.,
- 3.3 The Issuer will notify the Company in writing, prior to any offering of securities offered pursuant to the Offering, of: (i) any Disqualifying Event relating to any Issuer Covered Person and (ii) any event that would, with the passage of time, become a Disqualifying Event relating to any Issuer Covered Person.
- 3.4 If at any time any event occurs as a result of which the Offering Materials would include an untrue statement of a material fact or, in view of the circumstances under which it was made, omit to state any material fact necessary to make the statements not misleading, the Issuer will immediately notify ARKap, correct such statement or omission, and deliver to ARKap as many copies of such amendment or supplement to the Offering Materials as ARKap may reasonably request.
 - 3.5 The Issuer will apply the net proceeds from an Offering in the manner set forth in the Offering Materials.
- 3.6 Subject to ARKap's actions and the actions of others in connection with an Offering, any affiliated Issuer will comply with all requirements imposed upon it by Regulation A or other applicable federal or state securities laws. Upon request, the Issuer will provide ARKap with a copy of any documents filed by the Issuer in connection with any such exemption.
- 3.7 The Issuer agrees that it will submit to ARKap any documents to be filed with the SEC for advanced review and approval. The Issuer will not submit any documents to the SEC listing ARKap as the broker-dealer on an Offering unless it has written approval from ARKap. Any such documents must be substantially in the form ARKap approves. The Issuer will notify ARKap immediately upon submission to the SEC.
 - 3.8 In order to use electronic delivery for documents pertaining to an Offering, the Issuer will:
 - 3.8.1 Provide a form of consent to electronic delivery to be signed by prospective investors; and
 - 3.8.2 Comply with Sections I(A)1 (b) (e), I(A)2(d), I(B)2, and I(C), (E), (G), (H), (I) and (J) of the NASAA Statement of Policy Regarding Use of Electronic Offering Documents and Electronic Signatures.
- 3.9 In order to use electronic signatures, the Issuer will (i) retain electronically signed documents in compliance with applicable laws and regulations, (ii) not condition participation in an Offering on the use of electronic signatures, and (iii) provide a form of consent to electronic signatures to be signed by prospective investors.
 - 3.10 The Issuer will either pay all commissions directly to ARKap or agree to allow ARKap to withhold commissions from distributions of Gross Proceeds.
- 4. Representations and Warranties of ARKap. ARKap represents and warrants to the Issuer as of the date hereof and as of each date that securities are sold hereunder:
 - 4.1 ARKap is a duly organized Georgia limited liability company in good standing and has all requisite power and authority to enter into this Agreement.
 - 4.2 This Agreement, when executed by ARKap, is duly authorized and is a valid and binding agreement of ARKap, enforceable in accordance with its terms.

- 4.3 The consummation of the transactions contemplated in this Agreement will not result in a material breach or violation of any order directed to ARKap by any court, FINRA, or any federal or state regulatory body or administrative agency having jurisdiction over ARKap or its affiliates.
- 4.4 ARKap is, and during the Term of this Agreement will remain, duly registered as a broker-dealer pursuant to the provisions of the Exchange Act, a member in good standing with FINRA, and a broker or dealer duly registered as a broker-dealer in any state where offers are made by ARKap. ARKap will comply in all material respects with all applicable laws, regulations, requirements, and rules of the Securities Act, the Exchange Act, applicable state law, and FINRA. ARKap has all required licenses and permits.
- 4.5 This Agreement, or any supplement or amendment hereto, may be filed by the Issuer with the SEC or FINRA, if such filing should be required, and may be filed with and may be subject to the approval of any applicable federal and applicable state securities regulatory agencies, if required.
 - 4.6 No agreement will be made by ARKap with any person permitting the resale, repurchase, or distribution of the Securities purchased by such person.
- 4.7 With respect to its participation and the participation by each Selling Group Member in the offer and sale of the securities (including, without limitation any resales and transfers of the securities), ARKap agrees, and, by virtue of entering into a Selling Agreement, each Selling Group Member shall have agreed, to comply in all material respects with all applicable requirements of (i) the Securities Act, the Exchange Act, the rules and regulations promulgate under the Securities Act and the Exchange Act and all other federal rules and regulations applicable to an Offering and the sale of the securities, (ii) applicable state securities or "blue sky" laws, and (iii) with respect to Participating Dealers, the rules set forth in the FINRA rulebook applicable an Offering, including but not limited to rules promulgated by FINRA, the National Association of Securities Dealers and the New York Stock Exchange. ARKap shall obtain written consent from the Issuer prior to executing a Participating Dealer Agreement with a Participating Dealer or a Participating Advisor Agreement with a Participating RIA (each agreement, a "Selling Agreement") that materially deviates from the form attached as Exhibit A and Exhibit B, 1 respectively, and to the extent such Selling Agreement is consented to and executed, ARKap shall provide to the Issuer a copy of such agreement and a summary of such deviations in form reasonably acceptable to the Issuer.
- 4.8 ARKap has established and implemented anti-money-laundering compliance programs ("AML"), in accordance with FINRA Rule 3310 and Section 352 of the Money Laundering Abatement Act and Section 326 of the USA PATRIOT Act of 2001.
- 4.9 None of ARKap, any of its predecessors, any director, executive officer, other officer of ARKap in the Offering or any beneficial owner of 20% or more of ARKap' outstanding voting equity securities, calculated on the basis of voting power, any promoter (as that term is defined in Rule 405 under the Securities Act, but specifically excluding the Issuer, the Issuer's manager or general partner(s), as applicable, and/or any of their respective affiliates, directors, officers or representatives) connected with ARKap in any capacity at the time of sale, participating in an Offering (each, a "Dealer Manager Covered Person" and, together, "Dealer Manager Covered Persons") is subject to any of the "Bad Actor" disqualifications described in Rule 506(d)(1)(i) to 506(d)(1)(viii) under the Securities Act (a "Disqualifying Event"), except for a Disqualifying Event covered by Rule 506(d)(2) or Rule 506(d)(3) under the Securities Act. ARKap has exercised reasonable care to determine: (i) the identity of each person that is a Dealer Manager Covered Person and (ii) whether any Dealer Manager Covered Person is subject to a Disqualifying Event. ARKap has complied, to the extent applicable, with its disclosure obligations under Rule 506(e) under the Securities Act, and has furnished to the Issuer a copy of any disclosures provided thereunder.
- 4.10 With respect to each Dealer Manager Covered Person, ARKap has established procedures reasonably designed to ensure that ARKap receives notice from each such Dealer Manager Covered Person of: (i) any Disqualifying Event relating to that Dealer Manager Covered Person and (ii) any event that would, with the passage of time, become a Disqualifying Event relating to that Dealer Manager Covered Person, in each case, occurring up to and including, the last date on which securities are offered in an Offering.

5. <u>Duties and Obligations of ARKap.</u>

- 5.1 ARKap will serve in a "best efforts" capacity during the performance of the Services. ARKap may perform Services as an agent, but all sales will be made by the Issuer, acting through ARKap as an agent, and not by ARKap as a principal. ARKap will not have any authority to appoint any person or other entity as an agent or subagent of ARKap or the Issuer, except to appoint Selling Group Members as set forth herein.
- 5.2 ARKap will provide independent due diligence services with respect to the material information and representations contained in the Offering Materials. ARKap will provide feedback to the Issuer with respect to any Offering Materials. ARKap will promptly bring to the attention of the Issuer any circumstance or fact that causes ARKap to believe the Offering Materials, any other literature distributed pursuant to an Offering, or any information supplied by prospective investors in their subscription materials may be inaccurate or misleading.
- 5.3 ARKap will notify the Issuer in writing, prior to any offering of securities of: (i) any Disqualifying Event relating to any Dealer Manager Covered Person not previously disclosed to the Issuer in accordance with Section 4.10 above and (ii) any event that would, with the passage of time, become a Disqualifying Event relating to any Dealer Manager Covered Person.
- 5.4 ARKap will not execute any transaction in which an investor invests into an Offering in a discretionary account without prior written approval of the transaction by the investor.
 - 5.5 ARKap will comply in all material respects with the subscription procedures and plan of distribution set forth in the Offering Materials.
- 5.6 In the event ARKap receives any customer funds for the Securities, ARKap will transmit such customer funds not later than noon of the next business day, following receipt of such funds.
- 5.7 In its activities in connection with the offer and sale of securities, ARKap has complied, and shall comply, in all material respects with applicable (i) federal, state and local securities laws, and any other applicable laws relating to the placement of securities, and (ii) applicable requirements of other governmental, regulatory and self-regulatory authorities and organizations having jurisdiction over an Offering, including those relating to anti-money laundering activities (including collection of required "know your customer" information from purchasers of securities).
 - 5.8 ARKap will process all commissions that are to be reallowed to the Selling Group Members.
 - 5.9 ARKap will terminate an Offering upon request of the Issuer at any time and will resume an Offering upon subsequent request of the Issuer.

- 5.10 ARKap will:
 - 5.10.1 Maintain written policies and procedures covering the use of electronic offering documents;
 - 5.10.2 Store the electronic offering documents in a non-rewriteable and non-erasable format;
 - 5.10.3 Take prompt action in the event of a security breach to (i) identify and locate the breach, (ii) secure the affected information, (iii) suspend the use of the particular device or technology that has been compromised until information security has been restored, and (iv) provide notice of the security breach to any investor whose confidential personal information has been improperly accessed in connection with the security breach. Compliance with this item after the discovery of a security breach or any other breach of personal information will not substitute or in any way affect other requirements or obligations, including notification, imposed on ARKap pursuant to applicable laws, regulations, or standards.
- 5.11 ARKap will require each Selling Group Member in its Selling Agreement (if it uses electronic signatures in connection with an Offering), to:
 - 5.11.1 Receive a prospective investor's prior, informed consent to obtain the use of electronic signatures in the form provided by the Issuer; and
 - 5.11.2 Comply with all of the provisions of the Policy Regarding Use of Electronic Signatures included in the NASAA Statement of Policy Regarding Use of Electronic Offering Documents and Electronic Signatures.
- 5.12 ARKap will maintain written policies and procedures covering the use of electronic signatures.
- 5.13 ARKap will prepare and file required FINRA filings.
- 5.14 ARKap may provide the Broker-Dealer of Record Services for investments from RIAs.
- 5.15 ARKap may provide additional services if indicated on an executed Deal Sheet.
- 6. <u>Compensation</u>. Subject to Section 7, as compensation for services rendered by ARKap under this Agreement, ARKap will be entitled to receive the following fees from the Issuer:
 - 6.1 Diligence Fee: The Issuer will pay the diligence fee per Offering for ARKap's diligence of an Offering.
- 6.2 Managing Broker-Dealer Fee: The Issuer will pay ARKap the Managing Broker Dealer Fee outlined in the Deal Sheet payable out of Gross Proceeds as compensation for the Services.
- 6.3 Retail Commissions: If stated in an executed Deal Sheet, the Issuer will pay the Retail Commissions and Allowances to ARKap as set forth in the Deal Sheet. ARKap may re-allow this fee to Selling Group Members.
- 6.4 Wholesale Commissions: If stated in an executed Deal Sheet, the Issuer will pay the Wholesale Commissions to ARKap in the amount detailed in the Deal Sheet. ARKap may re-allow this fee, in whole or in part, to certain wholesalers, some of which may be internal to the Issuer and its Affiliates.
- 6.5 Filing Fee: If indicated on the Deal Sheet, the Issuer will pay ARKap the Filing Fee for each filing of Form D, state blue sky notices, or 5110, as applicable. The Issuer agrees to pay any additional filing fees associated with any filings under this Agreement.
 - 6.6 ARKap may also sell an Offering as a Selling Group Member, thereby becoming entitled to selling commissions.
- 6.7 The Issuer will pay ARKap, for sales of securities, an amount up to 1.0% of the Total Sales as a nonaccountable marketing and due diligence allowance, which ARKap may reallow to the Selling Group Members.
- 6.8 Overdue Fees under this Agreement and the Rep Supervision Appendix are subject to: (x) interest of 8.0% per annum or the maximum rate permissible by law, whichever is less; and (y) all costs of collection including attorney's fees; *provided that* the total amount that ARKap is entitled for overdue Fees, including interest, costs, and attorney's fees may not exceed 8.0% of the total amount sought to be raised.
- 6.9 Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 6, the Issuer reserves the right, in its sole discretion, to refuse to accept any or all Investment Agreements tendered by ARKap or to terminate the Offering at any time.

7. <u>Conditions to Payment of Commissions, Allowances and Expense Reimbursements.</u>

- 7.1 No selling commissions, allowances, expense reimbursements, or other compensation will be payable with respect to any Investment Agreements that are rejected by the Issuer. No selling commissions, allowances, expense reimbursements, or other compensation will be payable to ARKap with respect to any sale of an Offering by ARKap unless and until such time as the Issuer has received the total proceeds of any such sale.
- 7.2 Except as provided in Section 17, all other expenses incurred by ARKap in the performance of its obligations, including, but not limited to, expenses related to the Offering and any attorneys' fees, will be at ARKap' sole cost and expense. This limitation will apply even if the Issuer does not consummate an Offering.
- 8. Offering. An Offering must be at the offering price and upon the terms and conditions set forth in the Offering Materials.
- 9. Reserved.
- 10. **Indemnification.**

10.1 To the extent permitted by applicable law, the Issuer shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless ARKap, each Selling Group Member and each of their respective officers, directors, employees, members, partners, affiliates, agents and representatives, and each person, if any, who controls the Dealer Manager or Selling Group

Member within the meaning of Section 15 of the Securities Act or Section 20 of the Exchange Act (collectively, the "ARKap Indemnified Persons") from and against any losses, claims (including reasonable attorneys' fees and the reasonable cost of investigation and defense of such claims), damages or liabilities, joint or several ("Losses"), to which any ARKap Indemnified Person may become subject insofar as such Losses arise out of or are based upon: (i) any (1) untrue statement or alleged untrue statement of a material fact contained in any Offering Materials or (2) omission or alleged omission of a material fact required to be stated in any Offering Materials or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; provided, however, that such indemnity shall not apply to any such Losses arising out of or based upon an untrue statement or alleged untrue statement of material fact or an omission or alleged omission of material fact in any written information furnished by or on behalf of ARKap or by or on behalf of any Selling Group Member for inclusion in the Offering Materials; (ii) any material breach by the Issuer of a representation, warranty, covenant or agreement made by the Issuer in this Agreement; (iii) any material breach by ARKap of a representation, warranty, covenant or agreement made by ARKap in this Agreement or (iv) any material failure by the Issuer to perform its obligations hereunder or to comply with state or federal securities laws applicable to an Offering (other than as a result of a material breach by ARKap of its obligations hereunder); provided, however, that the Issuer shall not provide any such indemnification to the extent it has been determined by a court of competent jurisdiction that such Losses resulted from ARKap' (or any of its respective affiliates, agents or representatives) fraud, willful misfeasance, gross negligence, or material breach of a representation, warranty or covenant herein.

- 10.2 To the extent permitted by applicable law, ARKap will indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Issuer and each of its officers, directors, shareholders, principals, employees, members, managers, partners, affiliates, agents and representatives, and each person, if any, who controls the Issuer within the meaning of Section 15 of the Securities Act or Section 20 of the Exchange Act (collectively, the "Issuer Indemnified Persons") against all Losses to which any Issuer Indemnified Person may become subject insofar as such Losses arise out of or are based upon: (i) any action or omission by ARKap or any other Dealer Manager Covered Person in connection with the performance of its duties under this Agreement that is determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to have constituted fraud, willful misconduct or gross negligence, (ii) a material breach by ARKap or any other Dealer Manager Covered Person of any representation, warranty or covenant made by it pursuant to this Agreement, (iii) any material failure by ARKap or any other Dealer Manager Covered Person to perform its obligations hereunder or a material breach by ARKap or any other Dealer Manager Covered Person of applicable securities laws or regulations, or (iv) any (1) untrue statement or alleged untrue statement of material fact contained in any Offering Materials or (2) omission or alleged omission of a material fact required to be stated in any Offering Materials or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; provided, that, in each case described in this clause (iv) to the extent, but only to the extent, that such untrue statement or alleged untrue statement of material fact or omission or alleged omission of a material fact was made in reliance upon and substantially in conformity with written information that was furnished to the Issuer by ARKap specifically for use with reference to ARKap in the preparation of and inclusion in the Offering Materials.
- By virtue of entering into a Selling Agreement, each Selling Group Member severally will agree to, and shall, indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Issuer, ARKap and each of their respective officers, directors, shareholders, principals, employees, members, managers, partners, affiliates, agents and representatives, and each person, if any, who controls the Issuer or ARKap within the meaning of Section 15 of the Securities Act or Section 20 of the Exchange Act, from and against any Losses to which any such person may become subject, as more fully described in each Selling Agreement.
- Promptly after receipt by an ARKap Indemnified Person or an Issuer Indemnified Person (each, an "Indemnified Person") and collectively, "Indemnified Persons") under this Section 10 of notice of any claim or the commencement of any action, such Indemnified Person shall, if a claim for indemnification in respect thereof is to be made against any indemnifying party under this Section 10 (each an "Indemnifying Party"), notify such Indemnifying Party in writing of the claim or the commencement of that action; provided, that, the failure to notify the Indemnifying Party will not relieve such Indemnifying Party from any liability which it may have to an Indemnified Person unless such failure materially affects or prejudices such Indemnifying Party. If any such claim or action is brought against any Indemnified Person, and an Indemnifying Party is notified thereof, the Indemnifying Party shall be entitled to participate therein, and, to the extent that it wishes, jointly with any other similarly notified party, to assume the defense thereof, with counsel reasonably satisfactory to the Indemnified Person (which consent may not be unreasonably withheld or delayed). After notice from the Indemnifying Party to the Indemnified Person of its election to assume the defense of such claim or action, the Indemnifying Party shall not be liable to the Indemnified Person under this Section 10 for any legal or other expenses subsequently incurred by the Indemnified Person in connection with the defense thereof other than reasonable costs of investigation in connection with the defense. The Indemnified Person will have the right to employ its own counsel in any such action, provided that the fees, expenses and other charges of such counsel will be at the expense of such Indemnified Person unless (i) the employment of counsel by the Indemnified Person has been authorized in writing by the Indemnifying Party, (ii) a conflict or potential conflict exists (based on advice of counsel to the Indemnified Person) between the Indemnified Person and the Indemnifying Party (in which case the Indemnifying Party will not have the right to assume the defense of such action on behalf of the Indemnified Person) or (iii) the Indemnifying Party has not in fact employed counsel to assume the defense of such action within a reasonable time after receiving notice of the commencement of the action, in each of which cases the reasonable fees, disbursements and other charges of counsel will be at the expense of the Indemnifying Party or Parties. No compromise or settlement of any claim may be effected by an Indemnifying Party without the Indemnified Person's prior consent, unless (i) such compromise or settlement does not include a finding or admission by the Indemnified Person of any violation of any law, rule or regulation or any violation of the rights of any person, (ii) each Indemnified Person is unconditionally released from all liability arising therefrom, and (iii) the sole relief provided is monetary damages that are paid in full by the Indemnifying Party.

Contribution.

- 11.1 If the indemnification provided for in Section 10 is for any reason unavailable to or insufficient to hold harmless an Indemnified Person in respect of any Losses referred to therein, then each Indemnifying Party shall contribute to the aggregate amount of such Losses actually incurred by such Indemnified Person, as incurred, (a) in such proportion as is appropriate to reflect the relative benefits received by the Issuer, ARKap and Selling Group Member, respectively, from the offer and sale of the securities pursuant to this Agreement and any Selling Agreement or (b) if the allocation provided by clause (a) is not permitted by applicable law, in such proportion as is appropriate to reflect not only the relative benefits referred to in clause (a) above but also the relative fault of the Issuer, ARKap and Selling Group Member, respectively, in connection with the statements or omissions which resulted in such Losses.
- 11.2 The relative benefits received by the Issuer, ARKap and Selling Group Member, respectively, in connection with the offer and sale of the securities pursuant to this Agreement and any Selling Agreement shall be deemed to be in the same respective proportion as the total net proceeds from an Offering (before deducting expenses) received by the Issuer, and the total selling commissions and wholesale fees received by ARKap and Selling Group Member, respectively, bear to the aggregate initial price of the securities as set forth in the Offering Materials.
- 11.3 The relative fault of the Issuer, ARKap and any Selling Group Member, respectively, shall be determined by reference to, among other things, whether any such untrue or alleged untrue statement of a material fact or omission or alleged omission to state a material fact related to information supplied by the Issuer, ARKap or such Selling Group Member, respectively, and the parties' relative intent, knowledge, access to information and opportunity to correct or prevent such statement or omission (as finally determined by a court of competent jurisdiction).
- 11.4 The Issuer, ARKap and each Selling Group Member (by virtue of entering into a Selling Agreement) agree that it would not be just and equitable if contribution pursuant to this Section 11 were determined by pro rata allocation or by any other method of allocation which does not take account of the equitable contributions referred to above in this Section 11. The aggregate amount of Losses incurred by an Indemnified Person and referred to above in this Section 11 shall be deemed to include any legal or other expenses reasonably incurred by such Indemnified Person in investigating, preparing or defending against any litigation, or any investigation or proceeding by any

governmental agency or body, commenced or threatened or any claim whatsoever based upon any such untrue statement or omission or alleged omission.

- 11.5 For the purposes of this Section 11, ARKap' Indemnified Persons shall have the same rights to contribution of ARKap, and the Issuer's Indemnified Persons shall have the same rights to contribution of the Issuer. The Selling Group Members obligations to contribute pursuant to this Section 11 are several in proportion to the number of securities sold by each such Selling Group Member and not joint.
- 11.6 Notwithstanding the provisions of this Section 11, the Selling Group Member shall not be required to contribute any amount by which the total price at which the securities sold to the public by a Selling Group member exceeds the amount of any damages which the Selling Group Member would have otherwise been required to pay by reason of any untrue or alleged untrue statement or omission or alleged omission.
- 11.7 No party guilty of fraudulent misrepresentation (within the meaning of Section 11(f) of the Securities Act) shall be entitled to contribution from any party who was not guilty of such fraudulent misrepresentation.
- Confidentiality. No party hereto shall use any confidential information relating to another party's business, operation, clients, systems and technology provided by such other party provided in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement ("Confidential Information") for any purpose other than as permitted or required for the performance of its obligations under this Agreement. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, ARKap will not use any Confidential Information provided by the Issuer or its affiliates pursuant to this Agreement in connection with the performance by ARKap of services for other parties or for any reasons other than in connection with providing the services contemplated hereunder. Each party agrees not to disclose to any person any Confidential Information of any party hereto without the express written consent of such other party, except (i) to officers, directors, principals, managers, members, employees, designees, advisors, service providers or agents of such party who have a need to know such information in the course of performing their obligations hereunder; provided, that, such officers, directors, principals, managers, members, employees, designees, advisors, service providers or agents retain the confidentiality of Confidential Information in accordance with this Agreement, (ii) as may be required by applicable laws, regulations, or order of any court or governmental or regulatory (including self-regulatory) body to whose supervisory authority such Party is subject and (iii) with respect to the Issuer, disclosure of investor information that is otherwise required by applicable law in connection with the placement of the securities and the management of investor relations of the Issuer. Each Party agrees to take all reasonable measures (including, without limitation, measures taken by such Party to safeguard its own Confidential Information) to prevent any such disclosure by its employees, designees, advisors, service providers and agents. Confidential Information shall not include information that (i) was already in the public domain or known to a Party at the time of its disclosure by another Party; (ii) is hereafter publicly disclosed, except information disclosed in violation of this Section 12; or (iii) is obtained by a party to this Agreement from a third party (a) whom such party to this Agreement does not know to have violated, or to have obtained such information in violation of, any confidentiality obligation (whether contractual, fiduciary or otherwise) owed to another party to this Agreement with respect to such information, and (b) who does not require such party to refrain from disclosing such information. Notwithstanding the foregoing, each party and each party's employees, representatives and other agents, may disclose to their advisors (including, without limitation, their attorneys and accountants) or to the U.S. Internal Revenue Service or other U.S. taxing authority, without limitation of any kind, the U.S. federal and state income and franchise tax treatment and U.S. federal and state income and franchise tax structure of the transactions contemplated hereby and all materials of any kind (including opinions or other tax analyses) that are provided to such party relating to such tax treatment or tax structure to the extent relevant to understanding the tax treatment and tax structure of such transactions.

13. <u>Disclaimers; Limitations of Liability</u>

- 13.1 Disclaimer. EXCEPT FOR THE WARRANTIES SET FORTH ABOVE, THE SERVICES ARE PROVIDED "AS IS." ARKAP DISCLAIMS ALL WARRANTIES: EXPRESS, IMPLIED, OR STATUTORY, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY AND FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE AND NON-INFRINGEMENT OF THIRD-PARTY RIGHTS. OTHER THAN AS SET FORTH HEREIN, ARKAP DOES NOT WARRANT THAT THE SERVICES WILL MEET THE ISSUER'S REQUIREMENTS. THE ISSUER ACKNOWLEDGES THAT UNDER NO CIRCUMSTANCES DOES ARKAP REPRESENT OR WARRANT THAT THE ISSUER'S OR AN AFFILIATED ISSUER'S GOALS FOR AN OFFERING WILL BE MET. ARKAP IS NOT RESPONSIBLE FOR THE ACCURACY OR COMPLETENESS OF INFORMATION PROVIDED BY OR ON BEHALF OF THE ISSUER.
 - 13.2 Limitations of Liability. EXCEPT AS PROVIDED IN SECTION 13.3, AND EXCEPT TO THE EXTENT PROHIBITED BY LAW:

A PARTY HAS NO LIABILITY TO THE OTHER PARTY OR TO THIRD PARTIES FOR SPECIAL, INCIDENTAL, INDIRECT, EXEMPLARY, OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES (INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, LOSS OF USE, LOSS OF BUSINESS, LOSS OF PROFITS OR REVENUE, GOODWILL, OR SAVINGS, OR DAMAGE TO, LOSS OF, OR REPLACEMENT OF DATA OR COST OF PROCUREMENT OF SUBSTITUTE SERVICES) RELATING IN ANY MANNER TO THE SERVICES (WHETHER ARISING FROM CLAIMS BASED IN CONTRACT, TORT, OR OTHERWISE), EVEN IF THE PARTY HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH CLAIM OR DAMAGE; AND

THE DISCLAIMERS AND LIMITATIONS CONTAINED IN THIS SECTION 13 ARE A FUNDAMENTAL PART OF THE BASIS OF THE BARGAIN HEREUNDER, AND ARKAP WOULD NOT PROVIDE THE SERVICES TO ISSUER AND ISSUER WOULD NOT ENGAGE ARKAP' SERVICES WITHOUT THEM.

- 13.3 Exclusions. The limitations of liability set forth in Section 13.2 do not apply to a party's: (i) obligations under Section 10 (Indemnification); (ii) obligations under Section 15 (Privacy Act); and (iii) fraud, gross negligence, or intentional misconduct. ARKap' liability is limited as follows: ARKAP'S ENTIRE LIABILITY FOR SERVICES UNDER THIS AGREEMENT IS LIMITED TO THE LESSER OF (a) THE TOTAL FEES RECEIVED BY ARKAP UNDER THIS AGREEMENT FOR PROVIDING THE SERVICES OR (B) ONE MILLION DOLLARS (\$1,000,000.00) IN THE AGGREGATE FOR THE TERM OF THE AGREEMENT.
- 14. <u>Compliance.</u> All actions, direct or indirect, by ARKap and its agents, members, employees, and affiliates will conform to (i) requirements applicable to broker-dealers under federal and applicable state securities laws, rules, and regulations and (ii) applicable requirements and rules of FINRA.
- 15. **Privacy Act.** To protect Customer Information (as defined below) and to comply with the requirements of the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act, relevant state and federal regulations pursuant, and state privacy laws, the parties wish to agree to the following confidentiality and non-disclosure obligations:
- 15.1 "Customer Information" means any information contained on a customer's investment documentation or other form and all nonpublic personal information about a customer that a party receives from the other party. Customer Information includes, but is not limited to, name, address, telephone number, social security number,

health information, and personal financial information (which may include consumer account number).

- 15.2 The parties understand and acknowledge that they may be financial institutions subject to applicable federal and state customer and consumer privacy laws and regulations, including Title V of the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act (15 U.S.C. 6801, et seq.) and regulations (collectively, the "Privacy Laws"). Any Customer Information that one party receives from the other party is received with limitations on its use and disclosure. The parties agree that they are prohibited from using the Customer Information received from the other party other than (i) as required by law, regulation, or rule or (ii) to carry out the purposes for which one party discloses Customer Information to the other party pursuant to this Agreement, as permitted under the use in the ordinary course of business exception to the Privacy Laws.
- 15.3 The parties will establish and maintain safeguards against the unauthorized access, destruction, loss, or alteration of Customer Information in their control which are no less rigorous than those maintained by a party for its own information of a similar nature. In the event of any improper disclosure of any Customer Information, the party responsible for the disclosure will promptly notify the other party.
 - 15.4 The provisions of this Section 15 will survive the termination of this Agreement.
- 16. <u>Survival.</u> Except as the context otherwise requires, all representations, warranties, and agreements contained in this Agreement, including the indemnity agreements contained in Sections 10 and 11, and Section 20, will survive the termination of this Agreement.
- 17. Costs of the Offering. Except for the compensation payable to ARKap and the allowances and reimbursements described in Section 6, which are the sole obligations of the Issuer or its affiliates, ARKap will pay all of its own costs and expenses, including, but not limited to, all expenses necessary for ARKap to remain in compliance with any applicable federal, state, or FINRA laws, rules, or regulations in order to participate in an Offering as a broker-dealer, and the fees and costs of ARKap's counsel. The Issuer agrees to pay all other expenses incident to the performance of its obligations hereunder, including all expenses incident to filings with federal and state regulatory authorities and to the exemption of an Offering under federal and state securities laws, including fees and disbursements of the Issuer's counsel and ARKap' counsel as it relates to an Offering, and all costs of reproduction and distribution of the Offering Materials and any amendment or supplement thereto.
- 18. **Term.** The Term of this Agreement will commence on the Effective Date and continues until the earlier of (i) termination of all outstanding Deal Sheets and (ii) termination pursuant to Section 19 below.

19. **Termination.**

- 19.1 This Agreement is terminable:
 - 19.1.1 by mutual agreement of the parties;
- 19.1.2 by the non-breaching party, for the other party's material breach of this Agreement: (x) upon ten (10) days' written notice if the breach is curable and remains uncured at the end of the notice period; or (y) immediately, upon written notice, if the breach is not curable in the reasonable discretion of the non-breaching party.
 - 19.1.3 by the non-breaching party for the other party's material breach relating to its obligations under Section 15 of this Agreement;
 - 19.1.4 by either party as required by applicable law;
 - 19.1.5 by one party if the other party is subject to a Bankruptcy Event; or
 - 19.1.6 by ARKap if it determines, in its reasonable discretion, that Issuer is unable to solicit securities due to a violation of law, rule, or regulation.
- 19.2 Such termination will not affect the indemnification or contribution agreements set forth in Sections 9, 10 and 11 or the contribution agreements set forth in Section 12.
- 20. Waiver of Jury Trial; Consent to Jurisdiction; Arbitration; Governing Law.
- 20.1 **EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO WAIVES ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION, SUIT, PROCEEDING OR COUNTERCLAIM** (WHETHER BASED UPON CONTRACT, TORT OR OTHERWISE) RELATED TO OR ARISING OUT OF THIS AGREEMENT. The parties agree that any action or proceeding arising directly, indirectly, or otherwise in connection with, out of, related to, or from this Agreement, any breach hereof, or any transaction covered hereby, shall be resolved within the Fulton County, Georgia and the State of Georgia. Accordingly, the Parties consent and submit to the jurisdiction of the federal and state courts and any applicable arbitral body located within Fulton County, Georgia and the State of Georgia. The parties further agree that any such action or proceeding brought by either party to enforce any right, assert any claim, or obtain any relief whatsoever in connection with this Agreement shall be brought by such party exclusively in the federal or state courts, or appropriate arbitral body, located within Fulton County, Georgia or the State of Georgia.
- 20.2 Subject to applicable law, any dispute, controversy or claim arising out of or relating to this Agreement that cannot be settled through good faith negotiation shall be settled by arbitration in accordance with the then current American Arbitration Association Commercial Arbitration Rules by a sole arbitrator agreed upon by the parties (or, if the parties are unable to so agree, such arbitrator shall be selected as otherwise provided in such rules). The arbitration shall be governed by the United States Arbitration Act, and judgment upon the award rendered by the arbitrator may be entered by any court having jurisdiction thereof. The place of arbitration shall be located in Fulton County, Georgia. The expenses of arbitration shall be borne by the party that does not substantially prevail on the matters at issue, provided that if no party substantially prevails on the matters at issue, the expenses of arbitration shall be shared equally between the parties. The parties hereby irrevocably agree to settle or resolve any dispute under this agreement by arbitration as described above.
- 20.3 This Agreement and any matters arising out of or relating in any way whatsoever to this Agreement (whether in contract, tort or otherwise) shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of New York without regard to the conflicts of law principles.
- 21. <u>Severability.</u> If any portion of this Agreement is held invalid or inoperative, then so far as is reasonable and possible (i) the remainder of this Agreement will be considered valid and operative and (ii) effect will be given to the intent manifested by the portion held invalid or inoperative.
- 22. <u>Counterparts; Electronic Delivery.</u> This Agreement may be executed in 2 or more counterparts and may be executed and/or delivered by way of electronic means

(such as facsimile, PDF, DocuSign) each of which will be deemed to be an original, and together which will constitute one and the same instrument.

23. Notices.

- 23.1 The parties will provide notice under this Agreement in writing in one of the following ways: (i) by personal delivery or overnight delivery, which is effective immediately upon delivery; (ii) by certified mail, return receipt requested, which is effective three (3) business days after notice is sent; or (iii) by email, which is effective one (1) business day after the date successfully sent (subject to the notifying party providing proof of successful transmission upon request).
 - 23.2 ARKap will send notice to the Issuer to the address specified in the applicable Deal Sheet and the Issuer will send notice to ARKap as follows:

ARKap Markets, LLC Attention: Nate Romero 2827 Peachtree Road NE, Suite 510 Atlanta, Georgia 30305

- 24. Waiver. A waiver by any party of a provision or right under this Agreement does not constitute a waiver of any other provision or right under this Agreement.
- 25. **Entire Agreement.** This Agreement sets forth the entire agreement between the parties with respect to the services anticipated under this Agreement. This Agreement may not be modified or amended, except by written agreement of the parties.
- 26. Confirmation. The Issuer agrees to notify ARKap and the Selling Group Members of the acceptance by the Issuer of purchases in the Offering.
- 27. <u>Due Diligence.</u> The Issuer will authorize a collection of information regarding an Offering, which collection the Issuer may amend and supplement from time to time, to be delivered by ARKap to the Selling Group Members (or their agents performing due diligence) in connection with their due diligence review of an Offering. In the event a Selling Group Member (or its agent performing due diligence) requests access to additional information or otherwise wishes to conduct additional due diligence regarding an Offering, the Issuer and ARKap will reasonably cooperate with such Selling Group Member to accommodate such request. All due diligence information received by ARKap or the Selling Group Members in connection with their due diligence review of an Offering is confidential and must be maintained as confidential and not disclosed by ARKap or the Selling Group Members except to the extent such information is disclosed in the Offering Materials.
- 28. <u>Binding Agreement; Successors and Assigns.</u> This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns, and shall inure to the benefit of the Selling Group Members to the extent set forth in Sections 2, 10 and 11 hereof. Nothing in this Agreement is intended or shall be construed to give any other person any right, remedy or claim, except as otherwise specifically provided herein. Neither this Agreement, or any party's rights or obligations hereunder, may be assigned by any party without the prior written consent of the other parties.
- 29. No Third-Party Beneficiaries. Except for the persons and entities not a party to this Agreement referred to in Sections 10, 11 and 29, there shall be no third-party beneficiaries of this Agreement, and no provision of this Agreement is intended to be for the benefit of any person or entity not a party to this Agreement, and no third party shall be deemed to be a beneficiary of any provision of this Agreement. Except for the persons and entities not a party to this Agreement referred to in Section 9, no third party shall by virtue of any provision of this Agreement have a right of action or an enforceable remedy against any party to this Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, each Selling Group Member is a third-party beneficiary with respect to this Agreement and may enforce its rights, to the extent set forth herein, against any party to this Agreement.

30. **Definitions.**

"Advertising Materials" means, but is not limited to, websites, offering landing pages, emails, and all written materials about an Offering provided by Issuer, or any party acting as Issuer's agent or on Issuer's knowledge, to prospective investors, and all written materials that include a disclaimer stating that securities are offered through ARKap Markets, LLC or otherwise mentions ARKap Markets, LLC.

"Affiliate" means a person or entity controlling, controlled by, or under common control with that party.

"Agreement" means this Managing Broker-Dealer Agreement between the parties.

"Applicable Date" means as of the Effective Date and at the time of any performance of the Services.

"Bankruptcy Event" means a party becomes the subject of: (x) a petition in bankruptcy or any proceeding related to its insolvency, receivership, or liquidation, in any jurisdiction, that is not dismissed within sixty (60) days of its commencement; or (y) an assignment for the benefit of creditors.

"Exchange Act" means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

"Fees" collectively means all fees Issuer owes to ARKap under this Agreement.

"Gross Proceeds" means the aggregate proceeds received from the sale of Securities for which ARKap provides Services subject to a fully-executed Deal Sheet under this Agreement.

"Investment Advisers Act" means the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, as amended.

"Investment Agreement" means the agreement that an investor signs to effectuate the purchase of Securities.

"Issuer-Affiliated Representative" means a registered representative of ARKap who is also employed by the Issuer or its Affiliate.

"Loss" means any and all loss, liability, claim, damage, and expense whatsoever.

"Offering" means the Issuer's specific offer of securities for sale for which ARKap performs Services under this Agreement.

"Offering Materials" means all written or oral communications the Issuer intends to provide a prospective investor related to an Offering, including, as applicable, the private placement memorandum, operating agreement, partnership agreement, Investment Agreement, and Advertising Materials, as approved by Issuer the prior to such use.

"Offering Period" means the period of time for which ARKap provides Services for the Issuer's Offering.

"Securities Act" means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

"Securities" means the debt or equity securities that the Issuer makes available in an Offering.

"Services" means, collectively, all services that ARKap provides under this Agreement consisting of investment management or advisory services on behalf of the Issuer and its affiliates of the type customarily provided by Managing Dealers of similar investment products, including, but limited to:

- · Assisting Issuer in preparing and updating the Offering Materials and making available to any prospective Selling Group Member Offering Materials approved by the Issuer;
- Assisting Issuer in the preparation and implementation of a marketing plan with respect to the Offering in accordance with applicable laws and regulations, including those in the jurisdiction of each prospective investor in Securities;
- Using its "best efforts" to organize a Selling Group to arrange the placement of the Securities;
- Distribute the Offering Materials to Selling Group Members and coordinate Selling Group Members' due diligence trips, site visits, meetings with management, etc.;
- File all sales material and marketing literature with the FINRA Advertising Regulation Department for review;
- Comply, and cause each Selling Group Member by agreement to comply, with all applicable record keeping requirements under any applicable federal
 or state securities laws;
- · Remain (i) duly registered as a broker-dealer pursuant to the provisions of the Exchange Act, (ii) a member in good standing of FINRA, and (iii) a broker or dealer duly registered as such in those jurisdictions where ARKap is required to be registered in order to carry out the Offering as contemplated by this Agreement;
- Conduct the Offering in a transaction or series of transactions intended to be exempt from the registration requirements under the Securities Act and
 will cause each Selling Group Member by agreement to conduct all of its offering and solicitation efforts in conformity with Regulation A and all other
 applicable federal and state securities laws;
- · Timely furnish or cause to be furnished to the Issuer upon request a complete list of all persons who have been offered the Securities by the Selling Group Members, including, without limitation, all information required for the Issuer to comply with Regulation D and all other applicable federal and state securities laws;
- · Provide status reports to the Issuer with respect to the Offering upon its commercially reasonable request; and
- Provide such other information and execute and deliver such documents as the Issuer may reasonably request to verify the accuracy of ARKap's representations and warranties contained herein.

"Term" means the period of time during which this Agreement remains valid and is in effect.

[Remainder Intentionally Blank; Signature Page Below to Follow]

The parties' authorized representatives execute this Managing Broker-Dealer Agreement as of the date first stated above.

COMPA	ANY	ISSUEI	₹
ARKAP	MARKETS, LLC	CALIBI	ERCOS INC.
Ву:	/s/ Nate Romero	By:	/s/ Ignacio Martinez
Name:	Nate Romero	Name:	Ignacio Martinez
Title:	Managing Director	Title:	<u>coo</u>

[Signature Page to ARKap Managing Broker-Dealer Agreement with CaliberCos Inc.]

This Deal Sheet, effective December 4, 2024, is between ARKap Markets, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company ("ARKap" or "Company") and CaliberCos Inc., a Delaware limited liability company ("Caliber" or "Issuer") and is incorporated by reference into the Managing Broker-Dealer Agreement between the parties effective December 4, 2024 (the "Agreement").

1. Offering Identification

- a. Name of Offering: CaliberCos Inc. Series AA Preferred Stock
- b. Registration Exemption: Reg A+ (Tier 2)
- c. Maximum / Minimum Amount of Raise: \$20,000,000 / None
- d. Is there a contingency for the first Escrow Release for the Offering? No
- e. Additional Deal Parameters: See Offering Circular
- Is ARKap providing Broker-Dealer of Record services for RIA Investments? Yes.

Fee Summary

- Summary of Fees for this Offering.
 - (i) Managing Dealer Fee: 100 bps of Gross Proceeds
 - (ii) Wholesaling Fee: 100 bps of Gross Proceeds
 - (iii) Retail Commissions and Allowances: 500 bps of Gross Proceeds
 - (iv) Regulatory Filing Services Fees: Actual Costs
 - (v) Marketing Reallowance: 100 bps of Gross Proceeds
- b. Managing Broker-Dealer Services.
- (i) The Managing Dealer Fee is a fee payable based on a percentage of the Gross Proceeds of each individual investment attributable to the Company as set forth in Section 2(a) of the Deal Sheet, above.
- (ii) Company will perform Managing Broker-Dealer Services for this Offering. In addition to the Transaction Fee, Issuer shall also remit to Company all applicable Retail Commissions and Retail Allowances, which Company will re-allow to Selling Group Members as set forth in its agreement with the Selling Group Members.
- Regulatory Filing Services.
 - (i) ARKap shall file on Issuer's behalf all required federal and state filings, including notice filings at the cost set forth in Section 2(a) above.
- d. Termination. Services under this Deal Sheet end upon the first occurrence of one of the following events: (i) the Offering reaches its end date as set forth in the Offering Materials; (ii) the Issuer terminates the Offering on a date that is earlier than the end date as set forth in the Offering Materials; (iii) upon 60 days' written notice by the Issuer or Company; or (iv) upon Company's written notice to Issuer of a Major Offering Impediment. Upon the occurrence of an event in the preceding sentence: (x) Company shall wind down its Services for the Offering, including corresponding with the escrow agent to facilitate proper distribution of funds; and (y) Issuer shall cease use of all Offering Materials for the Offering that reference Company.

"Major Offering Impediment" means the following relating to an Offering: potential litigation, a violation of applicable law or regulation, a circumstance which would preclude an Offering from exemption from registration pursuant to Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act; a state or SEC sanction or investigation; or a circumstance that, when reasonably evaluated, creates a material adverse effect on Issuer's ability to raise capital in the Offering.

3. Other Terms, including Additional Services and Fees

a. [Omitted]

4. <u>Issuer Certifications</u>

- a. During the Offering and for six (6) months following the final closing of the Offering, the Issuer agrees to notify Company of an Investor's transfer or assignment of: (x) the Securities; or (y) any of the obligations or rights associated with the Securities.
- b. The Issuer represents and warrants all its associated persons participating in the sale of Securities that are not Issuer-Affiliated Representatives: (x) are exempt from registration as a broker under the registration safe harbor provided by 17 C.F.R. 240.3a4-1; and (y) will remain exempt from registration as a broker by meeting the conditions and restricting participation in the Offering as set forth in 17 C.F.R. 240.3a4-1.

[Remainder Intentionally Blank; Signature Page Below to Follow]

The parties' authorized representatives execute this Deal Sheet as of the date first stated above.

COMPANY ISSUER

By:	/s/ Nate Romero	Ву:	/s/ Ignacio Martinez
Name:	Nate Romero	Name:	Ignacio Martinez
Title:	Managing Director	Title:	<u>COO</u>
	[Deal Sheet Sig (Arkadios Managing Broker-Dealer		

CALIBERCOS INC.

ARKAP MARKETS, LLC

NOTICE TO INVESTORS

THIS INVESTMENT INVOLVES A HIGH DEGREE OF RISK, SUITABLE ONLY FOR PERSONS WHO CAN BEAR THE ECONOMIC RISK FOR AN INDEFINITE PERIOD OF TIME AND WHO CAN AFFORD TO LOSE THEIR ENTIRE INVESTMENT. INVESTORS SHOULD FURTHER UNDERSTAND THAT THIS INVESTMENT IS ILLIQUID AND IS EXPECTED TO CONTINUE TO BE ILLIQUID FOR AN INDEFINITE PERIOD OF TIME.

THE SECURITIES OFFERED HEREBY HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE "SECURITIES ACT"), OR ANY STATE SECURITIES OR BLUE SKY LAWS AND ARE BEING OFFERED AND SOLD IN RELIANCE ON EXEMPTIONS FROM THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES ACT AND STATE SECURITIES OR BLUE SKY LAWS. ALTHOUGH AN OFFERING STATEMENT (THE "OFFERING STATEMENT") HAS BEEN FILED WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION (THE "SEC"), THAT OFFERING STATEMENT DOES NOT INCLUDE THE SAME INFORMATION THAT WOULD BE INCLUDED IN A REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT. THE SECURITIES OFFERED HEREBY HAVE NOT BEEN APPROVED OR DISAPPROVED BY THE SEC, ANY STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION OR OTHER REGULATORY AUTHORITY, NOR HAVE ANY OF THE FOREGOING AUTHORITIES PASSED UPON THE MERITS OF THE OFFERING TO WHICH THIS SUBSCRIPTION AGREEMENT RELATES OR THE ADEQUACY OR ACCURACY OF THIS SUBSCRIPTION AGREEMENT OR ANY OTHER MATERIALS OR INFORMATION MADE AVAILABLE TO PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS IN CONNECTION WITH THE OFFERING TO WHICH THIS SUBSCRIPTION AGREEMENT RELATES. ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY IS UNLAWFUL.

THE SECURITIES OFFERED HEREBY CANNOT BE SOLD OR OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED, EXCEPT IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE SECURITIES ACT. IN ADDITION, THE SECURITIES OFFERED HEREBY CANNOT BE SOLD OR OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED, EXCEPT IN COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES OR "BLUE SKY" LAWS.

TO DETERMINE THE AVAILABILITY OF EXEMPTIONS FROM THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES ACT AS SUCH MAY RELATE TO THE OFFERING TO WHICH THIS SUBSCRIPTION AGREEMENT RELATES, THE COMPANY IS RELYING ON EACH INVESTOR'S REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES INCLUDED IN THIS SUBSCRIPTION AGREEMENT AND THE OTHER INFORMATION PROVIDED BY EACH INVESTOR IN CONNECTION HEREWITH.

PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS MAY NOT TREAT THE CONTENTS OF THIS SUBSCRIPTION AGREEMENT, THE OFFERING CIRCULAR OR ANY OF THE OTHER MATERIALS PROVIDED BY THE COMPANY (COLLECTIVELY, THE "OFFERING MATERIALS"), OR ANY PRIOR OR SUBSEQUENT COMMUNICATIONS FROM THE COMPANY OR ANY OF ITS OFFICERS, EMPLOYEES OR AGENTS (INCLUDING "TESTING THE WATERS" MATERIALS), AS INVESTMENT, LEGAL OR TAX ADVICE. IN MAKING AN INVESTMENT DECISION, INVESTORS MUST RELY ON THEIR OWN EXAMINATIONS OF THE COMPANY AND THE TERMS OF THE OFFERING TO WHICH THIS SUBSCRIPTION AGREEMENT RELATES, INCLUDING THE MERITS AND THE RISKS INVOLVED. EACH PROSPECTIVE INVESTOR SHOULD CONSULT SUCH INVESTOR'S OWN COUNSEL, ACCOUNTANTS AND OTHER PROFESSIONAL ADVISORS AS TO INVESTMENT, LEGAL, TAX AND OTHER RELATED MATTERS CONCERNING SUCH INVESTOR'S PROPOSED INVESTMENT IN THE COMPANY.

THE OFFERING MATERIALS MAY CONTAIN FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS AND INFORMATION RELATING TO, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE COMPANY, ITS BUSINESS PLAN, ITS OPERATING STRATEGY AND ITS INDUSTRY. THESE FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS ARE BASED ON THE BELIEFS OF, ASSUMPTIONS MADE BY, AND INFORMATION CURRENTLY AVAILABLE TO, THE COMPANY'S MANAGEMENT. WHEN USED IN THE OFFERING MATERIALS, THE WORDS "ESTIMATE," "PROJECT," "BELIEVE," "ANTICIPATE," "INTEND," "EXPECT" AND SIMILAR EXPRESSIONS ARE INTENDED TO IDENTIFY FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS, WHICH CONSTITUTE FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS. THESE STATEMENTS REFLECT MANAGEMENT'S CURRENT VIEWS WITH RESPECT TO FUTURE EVENTS AND ARE SUBJECT TO RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES THAT COULD CAUSE THE COMPANY'S ACTUAL RESULTS TO DIFFER MATERIALLY FROM THOSE CONTAINED IN THE FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS. INVESTORS ARE CAUTIONED NOT TO PLACE UNDUE RELIANCE ON THESE FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS, WHICH SPEAK ONLY AS OF THE DATE ON WHICH THEY ARE MADE. THE COMPANY DOES NOT UNDERTAKE ANY OBLIGATION TO REVISE OR UPDATE THESE FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS TO REFLECT EVENTS OR CIRCUMSTANCES AFTER SUCH DATE OR TO REFLECT THE OCCURRENCE OF UNANTICIPATED EVENTS.

SUBSCRIPTION AGREEMENT

This subscription agreement (the "Subscription Agreement" or the "Agreement") is entered into by and between CaliberCos Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Company"), and the undersigned investor ("Investor"), as of the date set forth on the signature page hereto. Any term used but not defined herein shall have the meaning set forth in the Offering Circular (defined below).

RECITALS

WHEREAS, the Company is offering for sale a maximum of 800,000 shares of Series AA Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock (each a "Share" and collectively, the "Shares") pursuant to Tier 2 of Regulation A promulgated under the Securities Act (the "Offering") at an offering price of \$25.00 per Share (the "Share Purchase Price"), on a best-efforts basis.

WHEREAS, Investor desires to acquire that number of Shares as set forth on the signature page hereto at the Share Purchase Price.

WHEREAS, the Offering will terminate at the earliest of (a) the date at which the maximum offering amount has been sold, (b) one (1) year from the date upon which the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") qualifies the offering statement, and (c) the date at which the Offering is earlier terminated by the Company, in its sole discretion (in each case, the "Termination Date").

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the premises and the mutual covenants hereinafter set forth, the parties hereto do hereby agree as follows:

1. Subscription.

(a) Investor hereby irrevocably subscribes for, and agrees to purchase, the Shares set forth on the signature page hereto at the Share Purchase Price, upon the terms and conditions set forth herein. The aggregate purchase price for the Shares subscribed by Investor (the "Purchase Price") is payable to the Company in the manner provided in Section 2.

(b) Investor understands that the Shares are being offered pursuant to the Offering Circular dated [•], 2025, and its exhibits, as supplemented from time to time (the "Offering Circular"), as filed with the SEC. By subscribing for the Shares, Investor acknowledges that Investor has received and reviewed a copy of the Offering

Circular and any other information required by Investor to make an investment decision with respect to the Shares.

- (c) This Subscription Agreement may be accepted or rejected in whole or in part, for any reason or for no reason, at any time prior to the Termination Date, by the Company in its sole and absolute discretion. The Company will notify Investor whether this Subscription Agreement is accepted or rejected. If rejected, Investor's payment shall be returned to Investor without interest and all of Investor's obligations hereunder shall terminate, except for Section 5 hereof, which shall remain in force and effect.
- (d) The terms of this Subscription Agreement shall be binding upon Investor and Investor's permitted transferees, heirs, successors and assigns (collectively, the "Transferees"); provided, however, that for any such transfer to be deemed effective, the proposed Transferee shall have executed and delivered to the Company, in advance, an instrument in form acceptable to the Company in its sole discretion, pursuant to which the proposed Transferee shall acknowledge and agree to be bound by the representations and warranties of Investor and the terms of this Subscription Agreement. No transfer of this Agreement may be made without the consent of the Company, which consent may be withheld by the Company in its sole and absolute discretion.
- 2. Payment and Purchase Procedure. The Purchase Price shall be paid simultaneously with Investor's delivery of this Subscription Agreement. Investor shall deliver payment of the Purchase Price of the Shares in the manner set forth in Section 8 hereof. Investor acknowledges that, to subscribe for the Shares, Investor must comply fully with the purchase procedure requirements set forth in Section 8 hereof.

2

- **3. Representations and Warranties of the Company.** The Company represents and warrants to Investor that each of the following is true and complete in all material respects as of the date of this Subscription Agreement:
- (a) The Company is a corporation duly formed, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of Delaware. The Company has all requisite power and authority to own and operate its properties and assets, to execute and deliver this Subscription Agreement, the Shares and any other agreements or instruments required hereunder. The Company is duly qualified and is authorized to do business and is in good standing as a foreign corporation in all jurisdictions in which the nature of its activities and of its properties (both owned and leased) makes such qualification necessary, except for those jurisdictions in which failure to do so would not have a material adverse effect on the Company or its business.
- (b) The issuance, sale and delivery of the Shares in accordance with this Subscription Agreement have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of the Company. The Shares, when issued, sold and delivered against payment therefor in accordance with the provisions of this Subscription Agreement, will be duly and validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable.
- (c) The acceptance by the Company of this Subscription Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of the Company. Upon the Company's acceptance of this Subscription Agreement, this Subscription Agreement shall constitute a valid and binding agreement of the Company, enforceable against the Company in accordance with its terms, except (i) as limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other laws of general application affecting enforcement of creditors' rights and (ii) as limited by general principles of equity that restrict the availability of equitable remedies.
- (d) Assuming the accuracy of Investor's representations and warranties set forth in Section 4 hereof, no order, license, consent, authorization or approval of, or exemption by, or action by or in respect of, or notice to, or filing or registration with, any governmental body, agency or official is required by or with respect to the Company in connection with the execution, delivery and performance by the Company of this Subscription Agreement except (i) for such filings as may be required under Regulation A or under any applicable state securities laws, (ii) for such other filings and approvals as have been made or obtained, or (iii) where the failure to obtain any such order, license, consent, authorization, approval or exemption or give any such notice or make any filing or registration would not have a material adverse effect on the ability of the Company to perform its obligations hereunder.
- (e) The authorized and outstanding securities of the Company immediately prior to the initial investment in the Shares is as set forth in the Offering Circular. Except as set forth in the Offering Circular, there are no outstanding options, warrants, rights (including conversion or preemptive rights and rights of first refusal), or agreements of any kind (oral or written) for the purchase or acquisition from the Company of any of its securities.
- (f) Complete copies of the Company's financial statements meeting the requirements of Form 1-A under the Securities Act (the "Financial Statements") have been made available to Investor and appear in the Offering Statement. The Financial Statements are based on the books and records of the Company and fairly present in all material respects the financial condition of the Company as of the respective dates they were prepared and the results of the operations and cash flows of the Company for the periods indicated. The auditing firm which has audited the Financial Statements is an independent accounting firm within the rules and regulations adopted by the SEC.
- (g) Except as set forth in the Offering Circular, there is no pending action, suit, proceeding, arbitration, mediation, complaint, claim, charge or investigation before any court, arbitrator, mediator or governmental body, or to the Company's knowledge, currently threatened in writing (a) against the Company or (b) against any consultant, officer, manager, director or key employee of the Company arising out of his or her consulting, employment or board relationship with the Company or that could otherwise materially impact the Company.

2

- **4. Representations and Warranties of Investor.** Investor represents and warrants to the Company that each of the following is true and complete in all material respects as of the date of this Subscription Agreement:
- (a) <u>Requisite Power and Authority</u>. Investor has all necessary power and authority under all applicable provisions of law to execute and deliver this Subscription Agreement and to carry out the provisions hereof. Upon due delivery hereof, this Subscription Agreement will be a valid and binding obligation of Investor, enforceable in accordance with its terms, except (i) as limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other laws of general application affecting enforcement of creditors' rights and (ii) as limited by general principles of equity that restrict the availability of equitable remedies.
- (b) Company Offering Circular; Company Information. Investor acknowledges the public availability of the Offering Circular which can be viewed on the SEC Edgar Database at www.sec.gov, and that Investor has reviewed the Offering Circular. Investor acknowledges that the Offering Circular makes clear the terms and conditions of the Offering and that the risks associated therewith are described. Investor has had an opportunity to discuss the Company's business, management and financial affairs with management of the Company and has had the opportunity to review the Company's operations and facilities. Investor has also had the opportunity to ask questions of, and receive answers from, the Company and its management regarding the terms and conditions of the Offering. Investor acknowledges that, except as set forth herein, no representations or warranties have been made to Investor, or to any advisor or representative of Investor, by the Company with respect to the business or prospects of the Company or its financial condition.
 - (c) Investment Experience; Investor Suitability. Investor has sufficient experience in financial and business matters so as to be capable of evaluating the

merits and risks of an investment in the Shares, and to make an informed decision relating thereto. Alternatively, Investor has utilized the services of a purchaser representative and, together, they have sufficient experience in financial and business matters so as to be capable of evaluating the merits and risks of an investment in the Shares, and to make an informed decision relating thereto. Investor has evaluated the risks of an investment in the Shares, including those described in the section of the Offering Circular entitled "Risk Factors", and has determined that such an investment is suitable for Investor. Investor has adequate financial resources for an investment of this character. Investor is capable of bearing a complete loss of Investor's investment in the Shares.

- (d) No Registration. Investor understands that the Shares are not being registered under the Securities Act on the ground that the issuance thereof is exempt under Regulation A promulgated under the Securities Act, and that reliance on such exemption is predicated, in part, on the truth and accuracy of Investor's representations and warranties, and those of the other purchasers of the Shares in the Offering. Investor further understands that the Shares are not being registered under the securities laws of any state, on the basis that the issuance thereof is exempt as an offer and sale not involving a registrable public offering in such state. Investor covenants not to sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of any Shares, unless such Shares have been registered under the Securities Act and under applicable state securities laws or exemptions from such registration requirements are available.
- (e) Illiquidity and Continued Economic Risk. Investor acknowledges and agrees that there is a limited public market for the Shares and that there is no guarantee that a market for their resale will continue to exist. Investor must, therefore, bear the economic risk of the investment in the Shares indefinitely and Investor acknowledges that Investor is able to bear the economic risk of losing Investor's entire investment in the Shares.
- (h) <u>Valuation</u>; <u>Arbitrary Determination of Share Purchase Price by the Company</u>. Investor acknowledges that the Share Purchase Price of the Shares in the Offering was set by the Company on the basis of the Company's internal valuation and no warranties are made as to value. Investor further acknowledges that future offerings of securities of the Company may be made at lower valuations, with the result that Investor's investment will bear a lower valuation.
 - (i) Domicile. Investor maintains Investor's domicile (and is not a transient or temporary resident) at the address provided herein.
- (j) Foreign Investors. If Investor is not a United States person (as defined by Section 7701(a)(30) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended), Investor hereby represents that Investor is in full compliance with the laws of Investor's jurisdiction in connection with any invitation to subscribe for the Shares or any use of this Subscription Agreement, including, without limitation, (1) the legal requirements within Investor's jurisdiction for the purchase of the Shares, (2) any foreign exchange restrictions applicable to such purchase, (3) any governmental or other consents that may need to be obtained, and (4) the income tax and other tax consequences, if any, that may be relevant to the purchase, holding, redemption, sale or transfer of the Shares. Investor's subscription and payment for and continued beneficial ownership of the Shares will not violate any applicable securities or other laws of Investor's jurisdiction.

4

- (k) <u>Fiduciary Capacity</u>. If Investor is purchasing the Shares in a fiduciary capacity for another person or entity, including, without limitation, a corporation, partnership, trust or any other juridical entity, Investor has been duly authorized and empowered to execute this Subscription Agreement and all other related documents. Upon request of the Company, Investor will provide true, complete and current copies of all relevant documents creating Investor, authorizing Investor's investment in the Company and/or evidencing the satisfaction of the foregoing.
- 5. Indemnity. The representations, warranties and covenants made by Investor herein shall survive the consummation of this Subscription Agreement. Investor agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Company and its officers, directors and agents, and each other person, if any, who controls the Company within the meaning of Section 15 of the Securities Act, against any and all loss, liability, claim, damage and expense whatsoever (including, but not limited to, any and all reasonable attorneys' fees, including attorneys' fees on appeal) and expenses reasonably incurred in investigating, preparing or defending against any false representation or warranty or breach of failure by Investor to comply with any covenant or agreement made by Investor herein or in any other document furnished by Investor to any of the foregoing in connection with the transaction contemplated hereby.
- **6. Governing Law; Jurisdiction.** This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware, applicable to agreements made in and wholly to be performed in that jurisdiction with regards to the choice of law rules of such state, except for matters arising under the Securities Act or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, which matters shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with such laws.
- 7. Notices. Notice, requests, demands and other communications relating to this Subscription Agreement and the transactions contemplated herein shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given if and when (a) delivered personally, on the date of such delivery; or (b) mailed by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, in the third day after the posting thereof; or (c) e-mailed on the date of such delivery to the address of the respective parties as follows, if to the Company, to CaliberCos Inc., 8901 E. Mountain View Rd. Ste. 150, Scottsdale, Arizona 85258, Attention: Investor Services. If to Investor, at Investor's address supplied in connection herewith, or to such other address as may be specified by written notice from time to time by the party entitled to receive such notice. Any notices, requests, demands or other communications by email shall be confirmed by letter given in accordance with (a) or (b) above.
- 8. Purchase Procedure. Investor acknowledges that, to subscribe for the Shares, Investor must, and Investor does hereby, deliver (in a manner described below) to the Company:
- (a) a single executed counterpart of the Subscription Agreement, which shall be delivered to the Company either by (1) physical delivery to: UMB Bank, N.A., Corporate Trust & Escrow Services, 928 Grand Blvd, 12th Fl, Kansas City, MO 64106, Attention: Lara Stevens; or (2) e-mail to: escrows@umb.com; and
- (b) payment of the Purchase Price, which shall be delivered in the manner set forth under the Investment Method Information on page 10 and made a part hereof.

5

9. Miscellaneous. All pronouns and any variations thereof shall be deemed to refer to the masculine, feminine, neuter, singular or plural, as the identity of the person or persons or entity or entities may require. Other than as set forth herein, this Subscription Agreement is not transferable or assignable by Investor. The representations, warranties and agreements contained herein shall be deemed to be made by, and be binding upon, Investor and Investor's heirs, executors, administrators and successors and shall inure to the benefit of the Company and its successors and assigns. None of the provisions of this Subscription Agreement may be waived, changed or terminated orally or otherwise, except as specifically set forth herein or except by a writing signed by the Company and Investor. In the event any part of this Subscription Agreement is found to be void or unenforceable, the remaining provisions are intended to be separable and binding with the same effect as if the void or unenforceable part were never in this Subscription Agreement. This Subscription Agreement supersedes all prior discussions and agreements between the Company and Investor, if any, with respect to the subject matter hereof and contains the sole and entire agreement between the Company and Investor with respect to the subject matter hereof. The terms and provisions of this Subscription Agreement are intended solely for the benefit of each party hereto and their respective successors and assigns, and it is not the intention of the parties to confer, and no provision hereof shall confer, third-party beneficiary rights upon any other person. The headings used in this Subscription Agreement have been inserted for convenience of reference only and do not define or limit the provisions hereof. In the event that either party hereto shall commence any suit, action or other proceeding to interpret this Subscription

Agreement, or determine to enforce any right or obligation created hereby, then such party, if it prevails in such action, shall recover its reasonable costs and expenses incurred in connection therewith, including, but not limited to, reasonable attorneys' fees and expenses and costs of appeal, if any. All notices and communications to be given or otherwise made to Investor shall be deemed to be sufficient if sent by e-mail to such address provided by Investor herein. Unless otherwise specified in this Subscription Agreement, Investor shall send all notices or other communications required to be given hereunder to the Company via e-mail at investorservices@caliberco.com. Any such notice or communication shall be deemed to have been delivered and received on the first business day following that on which the e-mail has been sent (assuming that there is no error in delivery). As used in this Section 9, the term "business day" shall mean any day other than a day on which banking institutions in the State of Delaware are legally closed for business. This Subscription Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts. No failure or delay by any party in exercising any right, power or privilege under this Subscription Agreement shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise thereof preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power or privilege. The rights and remedies herein provided shall be cumulative and not exclusive of any rights or remedies provided by law.

10. Consent to Electronic Delivery of Notices, Disclosures and Forms Investor understands that, to the fullest extent permitted by law, any notices, disclosures, forms, privacy statements, reports or other communications (collectively, "Communications") regarding the Company, Investor's investment in the Company and the Shares (including annual and other updates and tax documents) may be delivered by electronic means, such as by e-mail. Investor hereby consents to electronic delivery as described in the preceding sentence. In so consenting, Investor acknowledges that e-mail messages are not secure and may contain computer viruses or other defects, may not be accurately replicated on other systems or may be intercepted, deleted or interfered with, with or without the knowledge of the sender or the intended recipient. Investor also acknowledges that an e-mail from the Company may be accessed by recipients other than Investor and may be interfered with, may contain computer viruses or other defects and may not be successfully replicated on other systems. Neither the Company, nor any of its respective officers, directors and affiliates, and each other person, if any, who controls the Company within the meaning of Section 15 of the Securities Act (collectively, the "Company Parties"), gives any warranties in relation to these matters. Investor further understands and agrees to each of the following: (a) other than with respect to tax documents in the case of an election to receive paper versions, none of the Company Parties will be under any obligation to provide Investor with paper versions of any Communications; (b) electronic Communications may be provided to Investor via e-mail or a website of a Company Party upon written notice of such website's internet address to such Investor. In order to view and retain the Communications, Investor's computer hardware and software must, at a minimum, be capable of accessing the Internet, with connectivity to an internet service provider or any other capable communications medium, and with software capable of viewing and printing a portable document format ("PDF") file created by Adobe Acrobat. Further, Investor must have a personal e-mail address capable of sending and receiving e-mail messages to and from the Company Parties. To print the documents, Investor will need access to a printer compatible with his or her hardware and the required software; (c) if these software or hardware requirements change in the future, a Company Party will notify the Investor through written notification. To facilitate these services, Investor must provide the Company with his or her current e-mail address and update that information as necessary. Unless otherwise required by law, Investor will be deemed to have received any electronic Communications that are sent to the most current e-mail address that the Investor has provided to the Company in writing; (d) none of the Company Parties will assume liability for non-receipt of notification of the availability of electronic Communications in the event Investor's e-mail address on file is invalid; Investor's e-mail or Internet service provider filters the notification as "spam" or "junk mail"; there is a malfunction in Investor's computer, browser, internet service or software; or for other reasons beyond the control of the Company Parties; and (e) solely with respect to the provision of tax documents by a Company Party, Investor agrees to each of the following: (1) if Investor does not consent to receive tax documents electronically, a paper copy will be provided, and (2) Investor's consent to receive tax documents electronically continues for every tax year of the Company until Investor withdraws its consent by notifying the Company in writing.

Investor certifies that Investor has read this entire Subscription Agreement and that every statement made by Investor herein is true and complete.

The Company may not be offering the Shares in every state. The Offering Materials do not constitute an offer or solicitation in any state or jurisdiction in which the Shares are not being offered. The information presented in the Offering Materials was prepared by the Company solely for the use by prospective investors in connection with the Offering. Nothing contained in the Offering Materials is or should be relied upon as a promise or representation as to the future performance of the Company.

The Company reserves the right, in its sole discretion and for any reason whatsoever, to modify, amend and/or withdraw all or a portion of the Offering and/or accept or reject, in whole or in part, for any reason or for no reason, any prospective investment in the Shares. Except as otherwise indicated, the Offering Materials speak as of their date. Neither the delivery nor the purchase of the Shares shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the Company since that date.

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Subscription Agreement on the date set forth below. Dated: INDIVIDUAL INVESTOR (Subscription Amount) (Signature) (Number of Shares Subscribed) (Printed Name) CORPORATION/LLC/TRUST INVESTOR (Name of Corporation/LLC/Trust) (Subscription Amount) (Number of Shares Subscribed) (Signature) (Printed Name)

(Title)					
	PARTNERSH	IP INVESTOR			
(Manus of Danta anglia)		\$	(S. L. mintin Amanut)		
(Name of Partnership)			(Subscription Amount)		
(Signature)			(Number of Shares Subscribed)		
(Printed Name)					
(Title)					
	8		-		
	INVESTOR IN	NFORMATION			
Name of Investor			SSN or EIN		
Street Address					
City	State		Zip Code		
*					
Phone	E-mail		State/Nation of Residency		
Name and Title of Authorized Representative, if investor is an en	ntity or custodial accoun	nt			
Type of Entity or Custodial Account (IRA, Keogh, corporation, p	partnership, trust, limite	ed liability company, etc.)			
Jurisdiction of Organization	Date of Organization		Account Number		
CHECK ONE: Individual Investor Community Property* LLC Joint Tenants with Right of	Survivorship (JTWRO	Custodian Entity Corporation Partnership	Tenants-in-Common* Joint Tenants* Trust		
* If the Shares are intended to be held as Community Property, as	Tenants-In-Common o	r as Joint Tenancy, then eac	h party (owner) must execute this Subscription Agreement.		
INVESTMENT METHOD INFORMATION					
Please choose the method for investing capital with CaliberCos	Inc.				
☐ ELECTRONIC TRANSFER			□ PAPER CHECK		
Wire Instructions:		Please make check payable to: UMB Bank Escrow Agent for CaliberCos Inc.			
UMB Bank, N.A.		OND	and send to:		
928 Grand Blvd			UMB Bank, N.A.		
Kansas City, MO 64106			Attn: Lara Stevens		
D. I.N.			orporate Trust & Escrow Services		
Bank Name:		928 Gran	d Blvd, 12th Fl, Kansas City, MO 64106		
ABA Routing No:					
Account Name:					
Ref/OBI/BBI:					
	9				
The foregoing subscription for Shares, a Subscripti day of, 2025.	on Amount of \$, is hereby accepted on	behalf of CaliberCos Inc., a Delaware corporation, this		
		CALIBERCOS INC.			
		Ву:			
		Name:	<u>-</u>		
		Title:			

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the use in this Offering Circular on Form 1-A of our report dated April 15, 2024, relating to the financial statements of CaliberCos Inc. and subsidiaries. We also consent to the reference to us under the heading "Experts" in such Offering Circular.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP Tempe, Arizona February 27, 2025